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Oral evidence

Taken before the Home Affairs Committee

on Tuesday 12 January 2010

Members present

Keith Vaz, in the Chair

Tom Brake Gwyn Prosser
Mr James Clappison Bob Russell
Mrs Ann Cryer Martin Salter
David TC Davies Mr Gary Streeter
Mrs Janet Dean Mr David Winnick
Patrick Mercer

Witness: Ms Louise Casey, Director-General, Neighbourhood, Crime and Justice Group, Home OYce, gave
evidence.

Q1 Chairman: Good morning. I would draw the
attention of all those present to the Register of
Members’ Interests, where the interests of Members
are noted. Welcome to this new inquiry on the
Government’s approach to crime prevention. This
Committee will look at what the Government has
done in preventing crime, in particular youth crime.
We will be taking evidence from individuals and
community groups, as well as the Opposition
spokespersons on behalf of their parties. Our first
witness is Louise Casey, Director-General of the
Neighbourhood, Crime and Justice Group.
Welcome, Ms Casey. Thank you for coming to give
evidence to us at the start of this inquiry. I wonder
whetheryouwould start by tellingus a little about the
Respect agenda, which I understand was very much
your invention. Do you think that it has achieved
whatyouhoped itwouldachievewhenyousetout the
vision behind this agenda?
Ms Casey: Yes. It is fair to say that over quite a long,
sustained time period reductions in antisocial
behaviour have been fairly well recorded and fairly
well known. From the British Crime Survey to the
local government place based survey, their very
formidable research has shown that it has all moved
in the right direction. One of the things I feel quite
proud of is the implementation of the Respect
strategy. What was amazingly powerful about the
Respect strategy to me personally was not giving up
on an unrelenting—and I use that word in quite a
determinedway—focusonenforcementof standards
in communities. That was one of the things we drove
forward asmuch as humanly possible but at the same
time having a sense of wanting to prevent problems.
There are two big things that are quite symbolic
policies. One is Family Intervention Projects. If you
were asked to cite a number of things in your life that
you think are particularly powerful, I would say the
Family Intervention Projects are one of them, and I
would like to talk about those because I think they
really, really make a powerful diVerence.

Q2 Chairman: Yes, we will be coming on to that.
Ms Casey: The other one is parenting. I think
parenting is the Exocet missile to challenging and
changing antisocial behaviour. Certainly when we

published the Respect Action Plan, by then we had
persuaded the then Prime Minister and others—and
the public are alreadypersuaded of it—that you have
to tackle poor parenting and get parents back in
charge of their households. The evidence of that is
incredibly compelling. I would say the Respect
strategy has worked, in so far as the statistics and the
evidenceshowthatantisocialbehaviourhasmovedin
the right direction for the public, and I would say the
powerful mixture of enforcement and support was
the way forward that has made that work.

Q3 Chairman: As part of our inquiry, the Committee
staV are looking at all the initiatives that the
Government has announced or launched in the last
13 years, trying to work out what has happened to all
those initiatives. You mentioned the previous Prime
Minister. One of his most famous quotes was “We
need to be tough on crime and the causes of crime.”
Do you think the Government has been tough on the
causes of crime? What are the causes of crime?
MsCasey: Iwould sayyouhave tobe toughoncrime,
tough on criminals, and then do rehabilitation or
reform, whatever word you want to use.

Q4 Chairman: If we could go to the causes of crime,
whatwouldyousay the causesofcrimeare?Sinceyou
are an expert in this field—and you cannot have an
initiative unless it addresses a problem—if you were
to define, say, the top four causes of crime, what
would they be?
Ms Casey: You have to crack down on the very small
number of absolutely problematical families that
cause themosthavoc incommunities, andthat ranges
fromthe lowest levelofdisorder thatwecallantisocial
behaviour to the nastiest crimes. They are few in
number but the problems that they cause in
communities are phenomenal, and itwould prevent a
great deal of crime if we got to those people very
eVectively. Another cause of crime is poor parenting.
It is a subject that quite often people in public life and
politics are afraid to take on. It is not about having a
viewonevery singleparent, but it is havingaviewand
a judgment to be made on people whose children are
out of control. A significant proportion of the
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teenagers who are recidivist criminals—and I could
look at my file and quote the statistic to you, but I
think it is something like 90 per cent—had conduct
disorder as children. That tells a committee that is
looking at crime prevention that the first weapon in
trying to prevent crime is looking at the family and
lookingat the families that aremessingupandcannot
cope or are deliberately choosing not to cope.

Q5 Mr Streeter: It is not rocket science.
Ms Casey: As the gentleman on the left has said, it
is absolutely not rocket science.

Q6 Chairman: Mr Streeter.
Ms Casey: Mr Streeter. Forgive me, I do not have my
glasses on.

Q7 Mr Streeter: I am agreeing with you.
Ms Casey: You are agreeing. What is really
interesting about this is that the public get it. The
public are not daft when it comes to how they think
crime should be prevented or dealt with: 58% of the
public think that parents are the most important
weapon in tackling antisocial behaviour, and
something like 80-plus% think that antisocial
behaviour is the responsibility of poor parents.

Q8 Chairman: May I stop you there, because there
are a number of other questions.
Ms Casey: I am sorry.

Q9 Chairman: All these aspects will be covered.
Ms Casey: I could talk for Britain. Forgive me.
Chairman: I am sure you can. Members of the
Committee will come in and ask you questions, but
perhaps we could have briefer answers.

Q10 Mrs Cryer: I want to ask you about working
with parents and families. We are in a position now,
quite possibly because of pressure from the press, et
cetera, where we are losing a lot of social workers.
When we are talking about working with parents
and families, are we talking about social workers
intervening with them? Who is going to do this
intervention? Who is going to make a decision that
this is a lifestyle choice and they are entitled to make
that choice? Who is it who is going to do this?
Ms Casey: First, again, forgive me, it is common
sense to the public and anybody paid by the public
that, for example, a ten-year-old being on the streets
at ten o’clock at night on a Thursday is a lifestyle
choice we should be taking a judgment about.
Secondly, the Dundee Families Project (set up in
Dundee and run centrally by Dundee Council and
what was then called NCH Action for Children and
is now called Action for Children), in my life when I
worked at Shelter, which is a hell of a long time ago,
and subsequently, people had gone in and out and in
and out of that project. Nobody had every replicated
it because it is a diYcult thing to replicate. The
answer to your question is, on average, each of the
families in that project had about 14 diVerent
organisations taking an interest in them. The issue
here is that the families I am talking about have a
panoply of social workers, YOT workers, housing

oYcers, police oYcers, ex-oYcers, floating support
workers, drugs people, domestic violence people—
upwards of 14 diVerent organisations and
individuals—taking an interest in those families, but
my point is that you need a collaborative
enforcement eVort and eVort made by all of those
people to say, “This behaviour is out of control, it is
not acceptable. We will, frankly, punish you, using
enforcement methods, if you do not shape up your
act, but we will give you in equal quantity a huge
amount of help.” The evidence is there. Apparently,
according to a 2004 piece of research, the Exchequer
showed that the average amount of money we are
already spending on these families—so these people
are already being dealt with, Mrs Cryer, it is not like
anybody is not seeing them already, they are on
everybody’s radar—is between £250,000 and
£330,000 a year. The average cost of a Family
Intervention Project in the evaluation research that
I was responsible for showed that the cost was
between £8,000 and £20,000. As ever with these
things, where there is a will there is a way. People use
hundreds of excuses as to why things cannot be
done, and that is, I am afraid, just what we do not
have to have in the world of crime prevention.

Q11 Chairman: Do you think the Government has
used excuses and some of these initiatives that they
have launched in the last 13 years were really not
necessary? This is plain speaking, is it not, what you
are telling this Committee? As Mr Streeter says, it is
not rocket science. Have we had too much spin over
this area rather than some practical work that
should have been done?
Ms Casey: That is a question you might want to put
to politicians rather than me. My own view is that
the evidence is that crime is down and, therefore,
something has worked in order to bring crime down.
I would imagine that quite a number of the things
that have been in place are working. Obviously I am
incredibly subjective, as is every other person who
comes before this Committee: we all have our own
views that we want you to hear, believe and
understand. I think the relentless focus on tackling
low level crime and disorder is incredibly important.
The enforcement of standards relentlessly—no let-
up in it—is really important in preventing crime, and
parents and then cracking down on the worst
families are the other two elements where I feel the
evidence is absolutely compelling.

Q12 Tom Brake: You have talked a lot about
clamping down on dysfunctional families and I do
not think people would disagree with you on that
point. Do you feel that it is your role to stop families
becoming dysfunctional in the first place?
Ms Casey: That is one of the most interesting things
about the strategy on antisocial behaviour. Let me
talk about something that is incredibly current that
I am not responsible for and did not set up, so I will
try to be objective about it. There is something at the
moment called Operation Staysafe. Where it works
well, a parenting expert, the police and the local
authority antisocial behaviour team and others all
go out and essentially sweep the streets on a
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particular evening. They do not just then leave it at
that and tell the school or the parent: they do follow
up interventions with those people. I do not think
that on the first occasion you find a 12-year-old on
the streets of South Tyneside with a can in his hand
you necessarily want to lock him up in a youth
oVenders’ institution. I sure as hell believe that you
need to tell him oV, you need to get his parents in,
and in many cases put them on a structured
parenting programme. That is the other evidence
that I feel passionately about. There is no evidence
that just giving people a little bit of a parenting chit-
chat works. Putting them on structured parenting
programmes, even as short as 12 weeks, does work.
You can nip problems in the bud, which stops that
level of dysfunctionality that creeps. Where you do
not nip problems in the bud—and that is the BMA
(British Medical Association) research, by Desforges
(I do not know whether I have got the accent right—
I believe it is French) showing that much more is
made of the parent’s view than even the school’s
view—it just stacks up. I think much more emphasis
around that is needed in the future.

Q13 Chairman: I am sorry, I have to say it again,
briefer answers, and then more questions can come
from us.
Ms Casey: I am sorry.

Q14 Bob Russell: The perception of crime and the
fear of crime is such, and that is why we are having
an inquiry. We are not talking about a little rascal
who jolly japes, are we? Does the Neighbourhood,
Crime and Justice Group have any dialogue with the
established youth organisations?
Ms Casey: I would be interested to know why you
are asking that question. Yes, of course we do. It is
our job to have dialogue with anybody who is
involved in tackling crime. It is interesting—and I
may as well get it on the record—that the most
fundamental thing that came across during the
course of the review was that the public do not
believe that the criminal justice system is on their
side, and that—in huge letters—would include the
youth oVending/youth justice industry. 15% of the
public think youth courts do a good job. It is not a
figure to be terribly proud of. The confidence in the
system to stand up for what the public want in terms
of tackling crime is not huge. That matters a great
deal, because if the public are not confident in the
fact that criminals face a consequence when they
break the law whether they are 12, 22 or 52, it means
that they do not pick up the phone when they want
to report crime. I think that is important. We never
hear about the punishment of criminals at all. We
have no sense of what the service is of the police.
That is fundamental. As a Committee, you want to
prevent crime. Can anybody in this room, oV the top
of their head, tell me what the single non-emergency
number is for their police? We are really bad at giving
the public what they want and then getting them to
help prevent or tackle crime.

Q15 Bob Russell: In summary, the answer to my
question is yes.

Ms Casey: Yes. I work for the Home OYce. You
have to talk to endless people all the time about
things that you want to do to improve things. The
problem with all these things is that there is a sense
that, if you believe in enforcement of standards,
somehow that means that you are anti-youth. That
is my take on quite a lot of the debate that goes on.
That is a bad place to be.

Q16 Bob Russell: I will keep trying. Ms Casey, would
you confirm that all the evidence suggests that the
vast majority of young people who get caught up in
troubles are not members of recognised youth
organisations?
Ms Casey: Structured activities for young people are
very powerful. I have been very, very clear right from
the outset as part of the Respect Action Plan that
there needed to be structured activities for young
people. One of the things I am on record as saying,
supported very much by the British public, is that
they want activities for young people open on Friday
and Saturday nights. We still have a way to go in
getting a commonsense approach to youth activities
open. One of the least reformed areas of public
service has to be the Youth Service. In some areas of
the country they are working to term times. It is very
reminiscent of when I was responsible for the
strategy on rough sleeping, when we had outreach
workers who were supposed to be working with
homeless people at night who were going out
between nine and five and we had to get them to
change their hours to go out in the evenings. I feel
some of the issues around the youth industry are in
that place and need reform.
Bob Russell: If I could come back to where I am with
the question.
Chairman: Final question.

Q17 Bob Russell: Chairman, I have not even asked
the question yet because the witness is going all
around the houses. The point I was trying to get at
is your survey by the Engaging Communities review
showed that 15% of respondents said they would be
interested in giving up time to help run activities for
young people. Every youth organisation I know is
desperately short of volunteers to run their
organisations. Please, a very simple answer to a
relatively simple question: what is the
Neighbourhood, Crime and Justice Group at the
Home OYce doing to try to engage that 15% of the
population to go out and help youth groups who are
desperate for adult helpers?
Ms Casey: That is a very easy question to answer.
Last year we trained over 4,000 members of the
public who were tenants’ leaders, Neighbourhood
Watch leaders, and so on and so forth, key
leadership members in their communities, to do a
number of things, including setting up activities in
community groups, knowing what their rights were
by the police. The Community Crime Fighters
programme is one of the things I am most proud of,
and that answers your question quite directly.
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Q18 Martin Salter: Ms Casey, you were talking
about problem families. I know from my own
constituency that the vast proportion of crime
disorder, particularly low level semi-serious crime
disorder, is perpetrated by a handful of people, a lot
of whom were perpetrating it 20 years ago, and it
becomes a generational thing. We do not appear to
have broken the cycle. In respect of what we do with
young oVenders in youth custody, our youth re-
oVender rates are appalling. Over 70% of young
people who go into first-time custodial sentences re-
oVend within two years. I totally agree with you on
the inadequacy of the Youth Service, and it clearly
needs to be brought up to speed. But is this not one
of the missing pieces in the jigsaw—that we have to
be serious about what we do with young people
when they are in a custodial situation for the first
time? Surely it is crazy to be moving them around the
prison estate, sometimes for two weeks at a time, and
not giving them proper detox or literacy
programmes or the host of things you can do with
somebody when you know you have them in a
defined place for a specific period of time?
Ms Casey: It is fair to say that I have never been
responsible for that area of policy. I think you are
seeing the people who are and who have more
expertise in that area. I can only say that I think we
would prevent an awful lot more people ending up
in that situation if we took a more robust approach,
particularly in the youth criminal justice system, to
involving parents in every single stage. I am so sorry
to sound like a broken record on this, but it
frustrates me that in the run-up to people going into
custody and secure units and so on and so forth, it
seems to me that sometimes we do not deploy the
toughest methods we can to stop people ending up
in the position you have just described—and then
they end up in that position. I took a quick look
yesterday. It was quite hard to find statistics, but
when we eventually found the statistics I saw that in
youth courts, in the disposals (that is the sentences
handed out to individuals), in something like 60,000
individual oVenders only about 1,000 or 1,500 were
also getting a parenting intervention simultaneously.
I just cannot urge the Committee enough to think
about the ASBOs again. I was so frustrated over
those years. It seemed to me that people did not grip
that if you did an ASBO on a young person, you had
to look at what was happening in their families. So
many of those individuals in those institutions have
siblings growing up in exactly the same situation,
and parents who have been there before them. If we
want to stop this, we have to take a really tough
approach which involves support, but a tough
approach to dealing with those families and those
individuals.

Q19 Mr Streeter: Two questions from me, and I am
very much enjoying your evidence. If you had an
unlimited hand in this and the systems were working
correctly, as they should, how good could things get?
There have always been problem families, there has
always been crime of course, but what is your vision
for this? How much could we really do if things were
working well?

Ms Casey: Again, I am on record as saying that I
have been frustrated at points. The Home Secretary
used the expression “coasting on antisocial
behaviour”. I would agree with that. You cannot
coast on low level disorder. They are all crimes. Me
spitting at an old lady in the street may not end up
in a court but it cannot be left unchecked. There is a
sense that that is sometimes diYcult to do. The
National Audit OYce took a long hard look, the
previous Home AVairs Select Committee, the Audit
Commission, and what is interesting is that we
cannot leave bad behaviour and low level crime and
antisocial behaviour unchecked. That is my first
thing. I feel sometimes that we do, and I think the
evidence speaks for itself. Secondly, on Family
Intervention Projects my advice to the Government
would be that I am very, very clear that we need to
have residential projects, core units that I would
almost equate to taking a family into care. Literally
do not just deal with one individual: take the lot.
That is what Dundee, Manchester, SheYeld and
Redcar have done, but it stops there. A brave
approach would be to have a small number—we do
not need a lot because there are not a lot of families
where it is bad—that you have targeted. It is not
about everybody being a problem; it is about a
minority being a problem. You zero-tolerance them
and give them huge amounts of support so that they
change. Again the evidence is compelling: 85% of
people in that original FIP evaluation, which would
include the residential as well as the others, stopped
behaving that way. They come oV at-risk registers. If
I could wave a magic wand, I would open up youth
clubs on Friday nights, when everybody is out and
creating problems. It is not just the Government we
are trying to encourage but everybody.

Q20 Mr Streeter: Things would get a lot better if you
had a free hand.
Ms Casey: Indeed.

Q21 Mr Streeter: Going on to talk about preventing
crime generally, although I entirely agree with why
you said that, how eVective are Neighbourhood
Watch groups?
Ms Casey: The interesting thing about
Neighbourhood Watch is that the evidence is it is
mixed. I think that is fair. It comes back to the review
that I did which shows really clearly that there is a
fundamental mismatch between what the public
want and what the public get. The public want to
know that people are punished for breaking the law.
They do not hear anything about that at all. They
want to know how to get hold of people when they
have a problem. Getting a policing pledge agreed
and implemented across the country is happening,
but I would not say it is a smooth process. They want
to know that the issues that they are bothered about
in their communities are being tackled. When you do
all of that, you can rely on people coming forward.
There is a real expectation that people volunteer
when we do not have the basics right in terms of the
public role. One small thing. I was in West Yorkshire
and a great, fantastic Chief Superintendent said to
me, “Louise, we’re great here”—this is about 12/18
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months ago, and they are a great force and they have
changed—“In West Yorkshire we do alerts to
Neighbourhood Watch: ‘Could you keep an eye out
for this person and let us know what is going on. If
you see anything about him or her, let us know’.”
They never alerted Neighbourhood Watch to say,
“We’ve caught them. This is what has happened to
them.” I wonder how much more powerful some of
these community groups would be if they were
armed with that information. I published this leaflet
specifically to encourage the Community Crime
Fighters and others to show what their rights were
from the police and what they should expect.

Q22 Chairman: It would be very helpful to have a
look at those leaflets. How many Neighbourhood
Watch groups are there now in the country?
Ms Casey: I would have to look that up.

Q23 Chairman: Are they funded at all?
Ms Casey: I do not know whether it is in the Home
OYce submission to you, but I think they get limited
amounts of money to run their networks. I have to
say I have a huge amount of time for things like
residents’ associations and tenants’ organisations. I
would urge the Committee not just to rely on
Neighbourhood Watch. If I think of the people in
many communities in poor areas, there often is not
a Neighbourhood Watch there. Neighbourhood
Watch is the more Surrey world, the slightly richer
world. In some of the tougher and higher crime
areas, it is the residents’ groups and tenants’ groups.

Q24 Gwyn Prosser: You have anticipated part of my
question, because anecdotally it looks as if
Neighbourhood Watch schemes are in the areas of
least crime and least antisocial behaviour. Is that
the case?
Ms Casey: There is a piece of research from 2004 that
I looked at during the course of the review that said,
yes, that was the case. In fairness to Neighbourhood
Watch, which is a national organisation, they are at
pains to extend their network. I just wonder
sometimes if we did more to give the public what
they wanted, we would empower (to use the word of
last year) a lot of these organisations. Not giving
them the information that then allows them to do
their jobs as community leaders, I think they find
very frustrating. I am not sure why, if we have not
given the public a fair wind at crime, we are levelling
any criticism at Neighbourhood Watch and others.

Q25 Gwyn Prosser: Coming back to the issue of
involving the public in voluntary schemes, in a
survey you did as part of your review, you found that
29% of people wanted more information on that.
You have said something about that this morning.
When they get that information and they find that
they have to go through quite rigorous CRB checks,
do you think that is a further barrier? Is there
anything that can be done to alleviate that?
Ms Casey: The most fundamental thing is that the
review found that the public are almost cut oV from
the criminal justice system; they do not hear about

the consequences for criminals—hence I have been
trying to push forward and get information out to
the public about what happens in court. They have
no idea what their service is from them. We all know
how to get hold of our GP, but we have no idea how
to get hold of the police in a non-emergency. Some
of the things we take for granted in other areas, we
do not get in crime. We have been trying, since I have
been back in the Home OYce, to push the police, the
local authorities and the courts and others to give the
public what they want, which is greater information.

Q26 Martin Salter: How are the public supposed to
know how this jigsaw of involvement fits together?
We have Neighbourhood Watch—which, you are
absolutely right, tends to be in more aZuent areas—
residents’ and tenants’ groups; and then, over that,
the Neighbourhood Action groups.
Ms Casey: What is fascinating about what the
review showed—sorry, I should have answered your
question more directly, and I think this is the same
question—is that 3% of the public would consider
themselves active at the moment in helping tackle
crime. Good luck to them if they are in
Neighbourhood Watch in Surrey. I am glad that they
are doing it, the same way I am glad that there are
tenants’ leaders in some of the other areas I have
met. Another 3% of the public say they would be
active if they had the right circumstances. It might be
that if they were shown how to volunteer on a Friday
night, they might do it. The most phenomenal piece
of research is that what the public want is basic
information. Crime is the thing this public care
about more than anything else—more than health,
more than housing, more than local authorities. It is
second only to the economy at the moment. For the
entire time I have worked as a civil servant it has
been the top issue, until September a year ago when
it fell below the economy, yet do we give the public
what they want on information? No. 80% of the
public want basic information. They want to know
who to get hold of when they have a problem. They
understand it is not always an emergency, but they
want somebody to come back to them, they want to
know that somebody is tackling the priorities they
care about in their community. It does not mean to
say they will show up at the meeting. Why should
they? I do not have to go to a meeting to tell a GP
how to run health in my area; why do I have to go to
a meeting to tell the police? I will turn up if there is
a problem. And they want to know there are
consequences for criminals. Since I published the
review, that is very much what I have been trying to
drive forward within government. I think that is the
way forward. You need to give the public
information. When you do, they will pick up the
phone, they will report crime, they will stand up in
court, they will help each other out in their
communities. That is why the information and
having confidence in those services is so important.
Martin Salter: Not a question but a follow-up
memorandum on precisely those points would be
incredibly helpful.
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Q27 Chairman: Why has the Government failed to
give this information? It has been in oYce for 13
years. You have been a senior civil servant for a great
deal of time. Why are you telling the Home AVairs
Select Committee now, after 13 years of this
Government, that not enough information has been
provided?
Ms Casey: What is interesting about it is that they
asked me to do the review, which is now 18 months
ago/two years ago, because they realised that crime
was down very significantly. If you committed a
crime as a child ten or 15 years ago, you would be an
adult before you ended up in court. There was a real
sense of how long the criminal justice system took to
prosecute crimes. They have improved on those
things. They were concerned to meet the public’s
desire for more police oYcers on the streets. But they
found themselves in a situation which they asked me
to look into, which is why then does the public not
feel they are getting what they need on crime. What
is interesting is that you cannot just level this at the
Government; you have to level it at the police, the
local authorities, youth organisations, the Youth
Justice Board.
Chairman: We will be hearing from all of them.

Q28 David Davies: What percentage of the children
that you deal with are living with their natural
mothers and fathers?
Ms Casey: I do not deal with them personally.

Q29 David Davies: No.
Ms Casey: I would have to check. I would have to go
back to our Respect Action Plan in 2006. We can get
something like DCSF to let you have that.
Chairman: That would be very helpful, if you could
let us have that information.

Q30 David Davies: Earlier on you were saying that
we must not have a go at single parents. That is
something I entirely agree with you on. Nobody
wants to stigmatise them, but there is an issue with
young women who are impregnated by young
men—and we often forget about the men involved in
this—who often are not really ready to deal with
motherhood but who end up having two, three or
four more children. They are going to find it very,
very diYcult, are they not, to bring them up in a
responsible fashion if they are living in a deprived
estate? Is that a reasonable assumption to make?
Ms Casey: One of the things which the public felt
was common sense—and I think the evidence backs
it up—is that in proposal 10 I suggested that if a child
is excluded from school, if they are persistently
truanting and they are found on their own late at
night, if they are found behaving antisocially, or
where a parent themselves are involved in drugs or
crime and, I would say, other diYculties, it is
common sense that there are at-risk groups. Some
young parents will struggle. I would say somebody
ought to be talking to them about whether they want

to go on a parenting programme before the word
“crime” is ever mentioned.

Q31 David Davies: I agree.
Ms Casey: That is really important.

Q32 David Davies: I almost feel that we are coming
to a consensus on it, although I suspect we come
from very diVerent political viewpoints. I am just
wondering whether you also think we might want to
look at the benefits system, which appears to give
financial encouragement to young women to have
more than one child, and whether or not you think
that is also something we should be looking at.
Ms Casey: In brief, I would say first of all that I am
not from a political point. I am a civil servant and so
I work for the ministers of the day. The second point
to make is that I would say to you that over the years
quite a number of ministers have asked to look at
whether benefit incentivises or disincentivises
people’s behaviour. Each of the evidence each time
has proved inconclusive.
Chairman: Thank you. And, indeed, you could end
up working for Mr Davies after the election possibly.
David Davies: It is unlikely, but maybe for one of my
colleagues.

Q33 Mr Winnick: Apart from working possibly with
other people, Ms Casey, the job which you currently
hold—Director-General of the Neighbourhood,
Crime and Justice Group at the Home OYce is your
full title—was that advertised at the time, or did you
apply on the oV-chance, or what?
Ms Casey: No, it was not. I was already an existing
civil servant. I had worked in the Home OYce. I
came in through open competition in 1999—open
and fair competition. Like many civil servants, you
are then asked to do diVerent things, so in 2003 I was
asked to move to the Home OYce, I was then asked
to do Respect. You will find that civil servants move
around and I have moved around.

Q34 Mr Winnick: You have given evidence before to
this Committee either in your current position or
previously. Ms Casey, as Director-General, how
many staV do you have in your particular unit?
Ms Casey: This is also a very interesting thing: you
can do a lot with a little. I have about 15 to 18 people
in total.

Q35 Mr Winnick: Fifteen to 18 people under your
support as Director-General.
Ms Casey: Yes.

Q36 Mr Winnick: And you are directly answerable
to whom?
Ms Casey: The Permanent Secretary at the Home
OYce and I have a dotted line to Jerry Heywood in
Number 10 and to Suma Chakrabarti, Permanent
Secretary in the Ministry of Justice. My team and the
work we do, as you can see, spans the criminal
justice system.
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Q37 Mr Winnick: If you do not want to answer the
question, I will not press you, but since everyone
wants to be transparent these days, including
Members of Parliament on their expenses, could you
tell us how much your salary is?
Ms Casey: You can look up the rate of what a
Director-General of the Civil Service is paid. I am
happy for that to be in the public domain.

Q38 Mr Winnick: Would you like to give your
salary?
Ms Casey: No. I am not going to give you my salary.
I am here today to answer questions of policy.

Q39 Chairman: We can look it up on the website.
Ms Casey: You are more than welcome to look it up
on the website. We have given that answer in
parliamentary questions.
Chairman: I think we will leave it at that.
Mr Winnick: Yes, of course, Chairman. I said I
would not press it. Ms Casey, let us say that your unit
was not in existence, and the work undertaken by
you, which I would not in any way want to
denigrate—far from it, and I mean that—and your
position did not exist and you did not have these 15
to 18 people working with you in the unit, how far
would criminality be diVerent, one way or the other?

Q40 Chairman: I think the question is, have you
provided value for money?
Ms Casey: I think the answer to the question is yes.
As we sit here, there are greater numbers of the
general public who have a sense of what their rights
are from the police. That is an Exocet missile: they
will then have more confidence to contact the police.
If you want to prevent crime, which I believe this
Committee is looking at, you need to give the public
the information they can contact, so that when they
see a crime they can do something about it. Second,
we have pushed very, very clearly forward and got
policies such as not just leaving it to prison to be a
punishment for people, but community payback.
Having people in orange jackets cleaning the streets
across the country would not have happened if there
had not been a Neighbourhood, Crime and Justice
Unit. That is a very clear, coherent policy to try to
improve the sense that criminals do not get away
with it but they are punished. Prison is one
punishment; doing community payback is another.
Giving the public what they want from the pledge;
the 4,000 Community Crime Fighters was done
directly by those 15 to 18 people during the course of
last year; I have a relentless focus on visits.
Obviously I think I am value for money.

Q41 Chairman: Thank you.
Ms Casey: But it is for you to decide.

Q42 Patrick Mercer: In your view, what will be the
impact of the recession, Ms Casey, first of all on
youth oVending rates, and, secondly, on the funding
for programmes?

Ms Casey: That is an interesting question, and in a
way it follows on neatly from the other one. I would
be upset and concerned if people used the recession
as an excuse for not continuing to tackle youth crime
or crime more generally. As I think I have made clear
during the course of the evidence so far, a lot of what
I have talked about does not cost money. For
example, shifting from a Wednesday night to a
Friday night, if it is, say, a youth activity, does not
cost anything: it is just a change of approach. In the
same way, public organisations like the police and
local authorities give endless information to the
public; they just do not give them what they want.
Again, that is a change of approach. I would say that
each of the things in which I have been involved over
the last ten years as a civil servant—you might not
want just to look at my salary, you might want to
look at the budgets they have given me, tiny in
comparison to some of the other things—you can do
an awful lot to change culture if you have bold,
relentless strategies that you follow through on. I do
not think there is an excuse just to say, “Oh, there’s
a recession. Crime is going to go up.” That would be
a very disappointing position for anybody to take.

Q43 Patrick Mercer: I understand your aspiration,
but do you think there will be an eVect of the
recession or have you seen evidence that there is
already?
Ms Casey: The evidence is mixed at the moment.
Without wanting to get into endless statistical
debate, the British Crime Survey continues to show
that crime has fallen and remains fallen. There are
recorded crime statistics that show small rises in
things. Burglary is certainly going in the wrong
direction. I have to say that if you look at things they
call “integrated oVender management”—another
very public, user-friendly expression, which
essentially means zero tolerance of people who
commit endless crime, particularly burglars, and we
follow them from the minute they leave prison to
keep them out of as much trouble as possible and to
make their lives a misery if they are thinking about
it—through to what they call “target hardening”—
another extremely user-friendly expression, which is
about making sure the public know to put a light
outside their door—a lot has gone on. We are in a
much better state of preparedness, but I would not
like to see it used as an excuse.

Q44 Chairman: Are you telling this Committee that
the fundamental answer to the question “What is the
cause of crime?” is dysfunctional families?
Ms Casey: I would say dysfunctional families and
families that are not coping that you could help very
early on. You have extreme dysfunctional families
that we should do much more with than we are. We
started well: FIPs are great; Respect is great; all the
evidence is right, you have to do that. You need an
unrelenting focus on the enforcement of standards, I
really believe that, and to let the public know that
that is happening. Then you do parenting for people
who are not at the level of dysfunctionality but are
risk groups. You do not just leave it to taking them
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back to school and having a chat; you get their
parents in and you put them on a parenting
programme.

Q45 Chairman: Since you are before the Committee,
there was a rather large article in the Evening
Standard yesterday indicating that you were to be
running as Mayor for London. Would you like to use
the opportunity to dispel this rumour?

Witnesses: Ms Fiona Blacke, Chief Executive, Ms Peta Halls, Development OYcer, National Youth Agency,
and Mr Adnan Mohammed, User Voice, gave evidence.

Q46 Chairman: Good morning. Thank you very
much for coming to give evidence. I am afraid I am
going to be a little bit tougher on you than I was on
the first witness, because you are the second
witnesses, simply because time is marching on, and
ask you for brief answers. Ms Blacke, is there
evidence that you have that diverting young people
to positive diversionary activities works in
preventing oVending in young people?
Ms Blacke: Absolutely, Chairman. We were involved
on behalf of the Department Children, Schools and
Families in working with 15 areas which were
piloting positive activities for young people. Those
areas put on diversionary activities. My colleague,
Petra Halls, who is a specialist in this area, will say
something about one project, if that would be
helpful, just to give you an idea as to how that
impacted directly.
Ms Halls: I want to talk a little bit about Conker
Island in Birmingham. This was a particular project
in a very small area of Birmingham where there was
a particular problem of antisocial behaviour, and it
got to the point when relationships between the
police and young people were very antagonistic,
with high levels of antisocial behaviour. The area
itself, if I could briefly describe it, is a park, it is about
150 metres wide, and it was a focal point of the
community, in terms of young people congregating
there, surrounded by shops and residential. As I say,
antisocial behaviour rates at that time were about
140 per annum and they increased quite quickly. The
project got young people together, they got the
community together, they worked with the police,
and they looking at what the issues were and they
resolved the issues to the point where the antisocial
behaviour is less than half what it was and there is a
real sense of community. The relationships between
young people and the police are much improved, as
are young people in the community, and there is a
real sense of intergenerational work that has gone
on, and there have been lots of activities that have
helped to form this relationship.

Q47 Chairman: If we are looking for key messages
from youth workers about what particular kinds of
activities work, as opposed to the practical examples
you have given, what are the key messages?

Ms Casey: Yes. Again, I do not like answering
personal questions at these things, but I suppose that
is the nature of the beast. It is nonsense.
Chairman: Thank you very much. Ms Casey, thank
you very much for the evidence. We have asked for
a number of memoranda, if you could kindly let us
have them, and, also, if you have any examples of
good practice around the country, of projects that
are involved in crime prevention, we would be very
keen to see them. Thank you very much.

Ms Blacke: There is a range of activities, Chairman.
It ranges from the push that has come for Friday and
Saturday night opening, which Louise Casey talked
about. I have to say I rather take a diVerent stance
in relation to the number of local authorities which
are attempting to deliver that. I think many of them
are attempting to move services towards that. Open
universal provision of high-adrenalin activities that
work as a real alternative to misbehaving on the
streets, very targeted provision, targeting groups of
young people who are perceived as being at risk or
targeting young people already involved in oVending
behaviour. Perhaps really importantly detached and
outreach work, which picks up the point that Mr
Salter made about those young people who are not
involved in any kind of youth provision. Those are
the kinds of activities where people are engaging
with young people who nobody is reaching.

Q48 Mr Winnick: Arising from what we heard from
the previous witness, would you say that it is children
from dysfunctional families who are causing first
and foremost problems relating to criminality?
Ms Blacke: Yes, but I think it is broader than that.
We are seeing an intergenerational eVect. It picks up
the issues around teenage pregnancy, for example,
very young people with very low parenting skills
then having children themselves and not having the
ability, the skills or the support to parent those
children eVectively. I think it is about family support
but I also think it is about community support. One
of the issues is the extent to which communities
believe they have a responsibility to grow their own
young people into responsible adults.

Q49 Mr Winnick: I mentioned families in a diVerent
inquiry into black youth criminality. There is
criminality from all kinds of users, as we all know,
regardless of race or colour, but the point was made
about the particular problems faced by a society as
a result of criminality carried out by those where the
father is absent, where in fact the father has hardly
showed any interest, to say the least, in the children
which he has been responsible for, in the sense of
producing, being responsible biologically. Is that a
particular aspect?
Ms Blacke: One of the things that we know from all
the work that we have done as an agency over many
years is that the most important thing for young
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people is long-term relationships with trusted adults.
If you are a young man and you do not have an adult
role model in your life, then there will definitely be
issues for you, which is why we lobby very strongly
for resources to go into individuals and communities
so that people can take on their roles where fathers
or, indeed, mothers are absent.

Q50 Mr Winnick: Perhaps in some respects this is
historical, but is there any real diVerence in the
pattern of youth criminality if you take a century
ago and now, regardless of colour or race? It is
basically from the same social grouping. You do not
expect prosperous families, in the main, to have
children engaged in criminality. It just would not
make any sense. Am I right?
Ms Blacke: There has always been white collar crime
of one form or another. It is a diVerent sort of
oVending behaviour, I suspect, and perhaps you are
less likely to be caught. I think you are right. If you
had asked me the questions about what were the
main causes of crime and disorder, I probably would
have started with poverty, intergenerational poverty.

Q51 Chairman: As opposed to dysfunctional
families.
Ms Blacke: I think dysfunctional families are a result
of intergenerational poverty.

Q52 Mrs Cryer: Adnan, can I ask you to give us your
views on the sort of provision for young people in
your area—and I am not sure where you come from,
so I do not know where the area is. Perhaps you
could widen that to say whether any organised
activity would have helped you in your earlier life
before you got into trouble with the law.
Mr Mohammed: I live in South East London. I grew
up in Lambeth, the Croydon Borough, around that
area. Basically, it is really non-existent. I have
recently come out of prison. I only got released on 18
September 2009. Before, I was in prison for three
years. Before I was in prison, the social activities that
were put on by charities, clubs, social clubs, anything
like that, the people that I knew and I grew up with
that were in my area would not attend anything to
do with any of that. Where you have YOT teams that
work from nine to five, they seem to think that they
have the answers for young people but they have
not. Because the crime that we did was always ours,
so when we needed to see people or needed to be
interacted with, it was not nine to five, it was
unsociable hours, maybe 12 o’clock in the morning,
on the streets. No, I do not think there are any
activities. There are certain activities. Sporting
activities really help, because kids love to be
competitive. There is an achievement and there is
something out there, as opposed to playing pool or
just sitting in an empty space playing table tennis. I
do not think that helps anybody or achieves what we
are after here, which is reducing the crime.

Q53 Mrs Cryer: Your friends do not use the facilities
that are available, whether it is with a pool table or
table tennis or anything like that.

Mr Mohammed: No.

Q54 Mrs Cryer: In my constituency probably 30% of
young people are Muslim, and I have a great deal of
sympathy with them because they do not have
anywhere to go and often finish up just chatting in
cars. The people who live in the houses adjacent to
those cars get a bit worried and ring the police, but
they are not doing anything wrong. What do you
think we should be doing to replace this sort of car
mentality, where perhaps four young men are sitting
in a car because they do not have anywhere to go,
and all they want to do is chat without parents
overhearing them?
Mr Mohammed: The scenario you just explained
now gets played out day in, day out in where I am
from, and where I grew up. I am from a Muslim
background as well. To answer your question
specifically, regardless of the person’s background of
whatever, when they find that they do not feel that
the laws that govern the society that we all live in—
as in working a nine-to-five job and being a
responsible person in society—do not apply to you,
then you do not feel part of society, so you are
governed by your own rules and regulations. In my
society in South London there are certain people
within the community who have a lot more influence
than other people. They will be someone’s mum, a
grandmother or someone who lives on our street,
and when she walks past, everyone stops what they
are doing and has total respect for her because she
is involved in the community. Whereas when you are
not, when you are just a face and no-one knows you
and you do not get yourself involved in the
community, and we are sitting outside your house in
a parked car and you come out and ask us to turn the
music down, you would probably be ignored. To
answer your question, I think there are two parts.

Q55 Chairman: Could you not make it too long.
Briefly, please, Mr Mohammed.
Mr Mohammed: If there was inclusion and the
young people were asked what they would like to do,
I think that would help.
Chairman: Thank you. That is excellent.

Q56 Bob Russell: We just heard Adnan’s account,
and I was going to put a supplementary question to
him: were you ever asked what activities you wanted
to do? Perhaps I could put that question to you. Do
you engage the disaVected, if I could use that term,
to become engaged in purposeful activity?
Ms Blacke: Up and down the country there are great
examples. Many of you will be involved in them,
whether they be the Young Mayors, the Youth
Parliament or even local committees of young
people who are being engaged and invited to shape
local provision, everything from the Youth
Opportunity Fund to the Youth Capital Fund,
where young people are making decisions about
what is going to be spent. By 2018 the Government
is determined under Aiming High that young people
will have control of 25% of youth budgets. All of
those seem to me really important opportunities. In
the main, that is happening. Peta will know
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examples, and if you want them we can send them to
you if that would be helpful. We do know that makes
a diVerence.

Q57 Bob Russell: Both of you will have heard my
question to the previous witness, and I am going to
put it in similar terms to you. What is the role of the
voluntary sector in crime prevention? How can we
collectively encourage more volunteers to come
forward?
Ms Blacke: The voluntary sector has an absolutely
central role. You heard Adnan saying it is local
people with local influence who are known and
respected in the community who can make the
biggest diVerence. There are barriers to people
becoming involved as volunteers, or indeed to
accessing funding, to establishing provision, so there
are a number of things that need to happen. One is
that there has to be really good commissioning by
the local authority, really sensitive commissioning,
which is not just about funding the obvious and the
visible but recognises what the needs of young
people are, engages young people in shaping that,
and then commissions the right organisation, and
sometimes builds the capacity. The smallest
organisations are often the ones that do not have the
systems and processes in place to secure government
funding for these projects.

Q58 Tom Brake: Ms Blacke, you mentioned the
Youth Parliament as being one of the ways in which
you engage young people. Is not the problem with
that that those young people would tend not to be
disaVected, that they are very engaged young people
who are involved? Can you give us some examples of
successful projects that have engaged perhaps the
sort of people that Adnan or Ann Cryer were talking
about, who are sitting in a car somewhere, who are
not going to join the Youth Parliament necessarily
but it might be possible to engage them in another
way?
Ms Halls: We do an awful lot of engagement and
consultation work with young people who are
traditionally deemed “hard to reach”. We call them
“easy to ignore” because that is what many people
and organisations do. I have recently undertaken
some work with some young people who are on the
periphery of extremism, some Muslim young people
who live in an area which is fairly volatile, and also
some gang-involved young people, very hard to
reach. To engage with those young people and to
gain their trust, as somebody who is not from their
community was extremely diYcult. We found it
incredibly interesting that they absolutely never
would engage with the police. They have total
distrust of authority. There is so much work to be
done with these young people to make them feel a
part of society, because at the moment they are living
in another place.

Q59 Tom Brake: How do you do that?
Ms Halls: We engage with them. We have built the
bridges, we have made the trust, but it is listening to
them in terms of their views as to how to improve,
and to open dialogue. For example, this piece of

work was to open dialogue between them and the
police as to how to make improvements, so those
young people will feel they are being listened to and
for the police then to come around with realistic
actions to take forward, to start to improve not only
relationships but to improve the situation for them
so that they have trust and confidence in the police.
Ms Blacke: That ability to engage with young
people, to listen to them and help young people
represent their own views is a central skill set of
youth work. One of the issues is about the under-
resourcing of youth work. I am not talking about
local authority statutory services, I am talking abut
everything from supporting local people to
developing those skills through to mainstream
services.

Q60 Chairman: What happened to the
Government’s proposals that money in dormant
bank accounts should be used to fund the Youth
Service?
Ms Blacke: I think it was the Government’s
proposals that that money would be used to fund
youth centres.

Q61 Chairman: Whatever it was supposed to be for,
what happened to it?
Ms Blacke: They are not necessarily synonymous.

Q62 Chairman: No, but did they build a single
centre?
Ms Blacke: Yes. There are a number of My Place
Centres. Some of you will have those, with young
people intimately involved in the design and shaping
of those organisations, like the Sorrell Foundation
working with young people.

Q63 Chairman: Would you have a list of these
centres?
Ms Blacke: Absolutely.
Chairman: It would be very helpful if you could let
us have them.

Q64 Gwyn Prosser: Ms Blacke, you have mentioned
some of the youth funding schemes which the
Government is putting in through local authorities.
In my Dover constituency the Sea Cadet Corps have
just failed to access the £30,000 which would ensure
their continuance, because the MoD are selling oV
their property. Perhaps I should declare an interest
there, Chairman. In terms of these various funding
schemes, Capital Fund Plus and the other funding,
what is your view of the future in terms of spending
cuts across departments? What sort of impact do
you think the work you are doing and the work your
colleague is doing will have in terms of keeping
young people oV the streets?
Ms Blacke: We are currently doing a survey in
England of the proposed cuts that heads of
integrated youth services are being asked to make in
every local authority. We are doing that in
conjunction with the heads of young people services.
The indication at the moment is that in almost every
area people are being asked to plan for significant
cuts in youth services, sometimes in excess of a third
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of those budgets. It is not that local authorities think
they are unimportant or that directors of children’s
services think these are unimportant services; the
problem is that once you take direct schools grant
out of the local authority equation for children’s
services and they are having to make 10% cuts as a
result of loss of capital receipts or other rises in costs
or perhaps the Icelandic aVair, you are finding that
there is a much bigger hit on youth services than you
might expect. I am not optimistic. The other thing to
note is that those cuts in youth services are not about
mainstream local authority services, because those
directors of children’s services are also then the ones
who are commissioning or grant aiding local
organisations and voluntary organisations to
deliver. The other thing I would say, and it perhaps
answers a little the question in relation to the
partnership approaches to the delivery of crime
prevention and preventative services, is that there
has been some fantastic joint working between
police, health, local authority youth services,
voluntary organisations, inter-safety partnerships
coming together to do this. The problem is that when
you come to a recession, when every department is
looking at its budgets and how to make savings, the
natural instinct is to cut those things which are not
core, and we are already getting reports of that.

Q65 Gwyn Prosser: In particular, are you aware of
any moves to cut the Youth Capital project, for
instance?
Ms Blacke: No. In terms of the Capital projects, I
am not aware of cuts, although we still do not know
what is going to happen to the bulk of the
unclaimed assets.

Q66 Gwyn Prosser: Have you heard anything about
plans to cut the PAYP?
Ms Blacke: PAYP is not a discrete budget. It is not
ring-fenced. In many local authorities, when they are
talking about 10% or 20% cuts in service, PAYP falls
into that, so I think we are already hearing about
services being cut.

Q67 Martin Salter: There has been a lot of work
done and a lot of talk about the value of engaging ex-
oVenders in working with young people at risk of
getting involved in crime and antisocial behaviour,
but it seems not to be that successful in achieving
that. What barriers do you think there are to
engaging ex-oVenders in this process—obviously
Adnan is doing valuable work—and what more
could be done to encourage them?
Ms Blacke: I will let Adnan say something in a
minute, because I know he has a particular view
about some of the barriers. There are issues around
CRB checking, not the process of Criminal Records
Bureau checking but the risk assessment associated
with that. If, as an employer, you get a positive
Criminal Records Bureau check back on someone,
you then undertake a risk assessment process to
decide whether you are going to let that person
undertake the duties and what you need to put in
place to make sure the young people they are
working with are safe. Most employers are very

unsophisticated in that, so there is an instant
reaction. The other is about access to training in
youth work. I was involved 15 years ago in a project
in a Young OVenders Institute where we trained
young people to be literacy tutors. We accredited
them in adult education qualifications. It would be
great if we had similar things happening in some of
our young oVenders’ institutes, whereby young
people could access level 1 youthwork qualifications
and begin to develop those skills and then come out
and use it with their peers, because it does seem to me
that would be incredibly helpful.
Mr Mohammed: Not just the CRB checks, but the
way I got involved with the work I am doing at the
moment was through User Voice, a charity started
by Mark Johnson. He is a columnist for the
Guardian and if you read one of his pieces where he
was writing about the CRB checks as well, this is a
big problem because ex-oVenders are most impacted
by people who have been through the same
experience that they have been. These are the people
that most likely they will listen to. If you remove
young ex-oVenders talking to young people, then the
only thing we are left to talk to is people that we have
always felt are on the other side to us, either clinical
psychologists or social workers. We are speaking to
civil servants mainly and people that we feel have
always tested us. We cannot relate to them. It is very
important that, as long as there is risk assessment as
standard, I think ex-oVenders should be able to talk
to and mentor others.

Q68 Martin Salter: For the clerk’s benefit it would
be very useful to note that recommendation about
level I youthwork course in young oVenders’
institutions. Should we not be saying that there is a
massive advantage in people having been involved in
the criminal justice system in this type of work, so
that far from being a barrier, it could almost be a
qualification.
Mr Mohammed: 100%. Our life experience is our
qualification.
Martin Salter: I agree entirely.

Q69 David Davies: There is a lot of talk here, I have
heard it today and I hear it all the time, that the
police must do more to engage with young people
and must understand their point of view. Turning it
around, as somebody who is a Special Constable
myself, who has been abused on the street, may I say,
by young people, do you not think there might be an
argument for saying young people ought to
understand what it is like to be a police oYcer, to
work eight hours, 40 hours a week, to be abused,
spat at, not treated with any respect whatsoever? It is
not surprising that in some instances, unfortunately,
police oYcers perhaps say things that they should
not say when they are confronted yet again with
somebody who is having a go at them for no good
reason.
Mr Mohammed: Time and time again the police are
seen as being the enemy when they are not. They are
there doing their job and they should enforce the law
at all times. At the same time, with the school system
we have in this country, it detaches people from
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knowing what their nine-to-five is. The young people
have no idea. When kids are young and they are in
primary school, they like police oYcers. When they
get to high school, that is when they start disliking
the police. That is the crucial time that the work
should be done between the police and young
people.
Ms Blacke: Mr Davies, we can send you examples of
projects we have been involved in brokering
relationships between the police and young people,
and older people actually, to have discussions about
how policing should take place and the relationships
they should have. Peta has been very involved in
work in Birmingham and around that area.

Q70 Mr Clappison: Adnan has touched on what I
wanted to ask about. We do appreciate the work you
are doing in this field. Could I draw on your personal
experience a little bit more and talk about your
experience of institutions. What sorts of
programmes were available for you when you were
serving your sentence for helping you to stay out
of trouble?

Mr Mohammed: I think there were a lot of course
that were meant for tick boxes, a lot of courses that
were there just so that people could say that they had
done something. I think we have missed the whole
point of prison. It is there as a punishment, but it
should be there to rehabilitate people as well. I think
we just storage people: put them in storage and leave
them to fester and then they come out with no skills.
They do not understand. I was asked the question
once: what would I change if I went back? If I had
the power, what would be the one thing I could
change? I said I would change the first month when
you are in prison, because I think that is the most
eVective plan. If people were shown, “Look, you
have done something wrong, this is your
punishment, the judge has given you this and the
jury of your case has found you guilty, but at the
same time we want you to come back out and be a
positive member of society,” if that was enforced
right from the start, that would help people and that
would empower them to change their lives. While I
was in prison, no courses. The first rule is that only
the oVender can stop oVending, so if you do not
choose to stop oVending in the first place, prison
does nothing for you. There is nothing. We should
not kid ourselves to think that when you put
someone in a cell, and it is a small cell, that is what
changes them. It really does not. It is the person who
changes himself.

Q71 Chairman: Did you learn any more criminal
activities while you were in prison? Did you learn to
do more than you knew before you went in?
Mr Mohammed: If I went in with that intention, I
could have. I could have learned a lot more if I had
wanted to, but that was not my intention. That was
only because it was the choice that I made. It was
nothing to do with the prison environment I was in.

Q72 Mr Clappison: On the positive side, was there
any practical training oVered to you; for example, to
get another skill, to learn something?
Mr Mohammed: They emphasise basic skills, as in
numeracy and literacy, and I think that is the target-
driven side of it, where they try to help as many
people that have low numeracy and English skills
basically.

Q73 Mr Clappison: That is a good thing. What about
if somebody wanted to do a course in, say,
construction, mechanics or something like that,
something practical which would help them to get a
job when they came out?
Mr Mohammed: Unfortunately, if you were to go to
a prison today, you would see that there are
workshops where you go to where the prison makes
money from the people who work, and it is not really
geared to help people to learn new skills.

Q74 Mr Clappison: It is not training them.
Mr Mohammed: It is not at all.

Q75 Mr Clappison: It is not giving them skills.
Mr Mohammed: Not at all. When I was in the camp
on the Isle of Wight, there is something called Prison
Council and we made some suggestions. They were
always telling us there was not enough funding, so
we said, “Why can’t we have the prisoners that are
in the prison with us”—the mechanics and the
electricians that have skills—“empowered to let us
help learn the skills?” If you had the workshop, the
space, and then you had a conveyor belt of oVenders
to be able to use that to teach others, then that would
help them and that would help us as well. They could
not see the mutual benefit.

Q76 Patrick Mercer: Are there any key
recommendations which you would advocate in
this area?
Ms Halls: I want to go back to the point about
having a trusted person in young people’s lives. That
is really, really important. Whether the young person
be involved with the youth oVending service,
whether they be out in the community on prevention
programmes, or whether they be within a youth
club, one of the overwhelming concerns and requests
from young people is a constant responsible and
trusted person in their lives.
Ms Blacke: There is going to be in the region of £360
million going from custodial budgets out to local
authorities or sub-regional partnerships. If even a
small percentage of those was focused on
prevention, on ensuring that there were activities
when young people needed them and that young
people were involved in shaping those activities—
and I am not talking about mainstream young
people, I am talking about young people like
Adnan—then I think that would make an absolutely
enormous diVerence.
Mr Mohammed: The main thing we could do is
include people within the system, because we always
feel like we are being dictated to, we always feel like
we are being talked at and not being talked to. Right
now, I know so many of my friends and people I have
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grown up with that have no idea that there is a Home
OYce Select Committee that is going on that is
trying to solve these problems. Why am I the only
young person here? Should we not be involved in the
solutions? We are part of the problem: should we not
be included in the solution as well?

Q77 Chairman: How many members of your group
User Voice are there?
Mr Mohammed: User Voice only started six months
ago. It is really for ex-oVenders. We say that only
oVenders can stop re-oVending, so if you do not
include us in the whole picture—and not as a token,
because we have got some great ideas of ways to
solve it—

Q78 Chairman: Mr Mohammed, there is a way of
doing this. Why do you not get together a group of
people? We will either visit them wherever your
community group is or we would like them to come
here. If you feel this is too intimidating, we will come
to you.
Mr Mohammed: It is not a community group. User
Voice is a national charity.

Q79 Chairman: Yes, I understand that. I am saying
that here is our challenge to you. You have made a
very valid point: we need to include you and we need
to include young oVenders. We want to get to the
bottom of this. Why do you not get together a
suitable group of people, the kinds of people the
Select Committee on Home AVairs should talk to, so
that it is not just men and women in suits talking to
you—at you, as you say—but involved in a dialogue,
we would be delighted to give you that challenge and
we would be delighted to work with you. Can you do
that for us?
Mr Mohammed: 100%. I am delighted.

Q80 Chairman: Could I ask you one question of a
personal nature. Why do you think people commit
crimes? You may want to draw on your own
experience. Why do they go out and commit crimes
in the first place? Is it the dysfunctional family that
we have heard about? Is it poverty?
Mr Mohammed: To be real honest, it is the socio-
economic background and situation that you find
yourself in. As a young person, I did not ask to be
brought up in the environment I was brought up in,
but that is where I found myself. When I walk out of
my front door and I do not feel like I am being
involved in anything, I feel everything is happening
to me. You feel victimised to a certain extent, and
from there there is a resentment that grows. If you
then go back to your house and you live in a
dysfunctional house, then that just exacerbates the
situation. But if I tell you the truth, I did not come
from a dysfunctional background. I have got a great

mum. My mum is very law-abiding. She always
taught us right from wrong. But that was not why I
committed crime.

Q81 Chairman: Then why did you commit your
crime?
Mr Mohammed: The reason why I committed crime
was basically financially. That was the real reason for
it. Because I did not want to do the nine-to-five. I
saw people like you walking down the road. I have
seen you on television—
David Davies: We do not want to work nine to five
either. It is the only way to make a living.

Q82 Chairman: Let us keep focused on this.
Mr Mohammed: Basically I did not want to do the
nine-to-five and struggle when I looked out my front
door and I saw other people that did not have to
that, that were above the law to a certain extent. I did
not have the motivation to be a part of society. I was
not given that motivation. I was not empowered
enough to think I could do it. I was very bright at
school. I am at university. I have been at university.

Q83 Chairman: It is because of that you felt you had
to go out and commit your crime. What was the
crime that led to you going to prison?
Mr Mohammed: I was in prison for five counts of
robbery.

Q84 Chairman: And you did it because you needed
the money.
Mr Mohammed: It was not that I needed the money.
It was not even that I needed the money; it was that
someone owed me the money and I got my money
back oV them. But then they went to the police and
said that I robbed them, and when we went to court
I was not believed. That is just how it simply
happened. But I was guilty for my crime. I really
was. But the question you are asking, Chairman,
what you are trying to get at is why did I commit the
crimes in the first place, and the fact of the matter is
that it is the socio-economic background that you
find yourself in. That is first, and then, on top of that,
you get hurt and you feel disenfranchised by this
whole big machine that is British life. That is what it
is. Because I walk around the streets and I see people
like you in suits and we do not live in the same world.
We do not live in the same world, we really do not.
We could walk past you and we could be on the tube,
we could walk past you on the streets, but we do not
live in the same world. My problems at night are not
the same problems you have. The pain and the
problems I went through, where do I get help from?
Who helps me? Is it my MP? Is it the police? Is it the
social workers? Where does the buck stop at the end?
Chairman: Thank you. It would be very helpful if
you would get together a group of people we can talk
to and engage with, because these are very serious
matters and we want to conduct a serious inquiry
into dealing with the reasons why we prevent crime.
That would be very helpful. I would like to thank our
witnesses very much. Thank you.
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Q85 Chairman: Mr Drew and Mr Ashford, thank
you very much for coming to give evidence to this
Committee. You have heard, as we have done,
evidence from our witnesses this morning. The
evidence seems to be a little depressing in the sense
that what we have heard is that this is a cycle that
starts virtually from birth, the environment in which
young people live in. Can we predict from birth or
from a very young age whether a child is going to be
someone who is going to go on to commit oVences
in the future?
Mr Drew: You cannot predict from birth whether
someone is going to commit oVences or not. There
are a whole series of factors that make it more likely
or less likely that a child or a young person will
oVend, and they build as the child goes through their
childhood. I think in our submission of evidence to
you we highlighted the four main areas which
certainly include the family background, parenting,
but also include what is happening within the school
environment, that include the wider community
within which the child was being raised and will also
include the really important influence of peers, of
other children.

Q86 Chairman: The Youth Justice Board was the
creation of this Government, was it not?
Mr Drew: It was.

Q87 Chairman: Just to remind this Committee,
could you tell us what your budget is and how many
people you employ?
Mr Drew: Yes, our budget is £511 million for this
year.

Q88 Chairman: Half a billion pounds.
Mr Drew: Yes, that is correct. Directly employed, the
Youth Justice Board has a headcount of 260
members of staV, not all of those are full-time.
Obviously that £511 million does a lot more than just
employ those people. Within that budget you will
have all the money for youth custody, a number of
establishments of diVerent sorts throughout the
country, and for the 22,000 paid and unpaid staV
who work within the Youth OVending Teams for
whom we provide 20% of their funding.

Q89 Mr Winnick: How much of the work and
budget of your organisation is dedicated, Mr Drew,
first and foremost to crime prevention?
Mr Drew: Specifically money that is labelled as
prevention money is £36 million, Sir, although a
number of our other budgets are spent on things
that, depending on what you define as being
prevention, are preventive activity in the sense that
they are there to prevent reoVending. The money
that is specifically targeted on preventing oVending
in the first place and, therefore, is for work with
youngsters who have not as yet oVended is £36
million.

Q90 Mr Winnick: I wonder if I can take you
somewhat wider. There is a feeling, certainly
amongst many of my own constituents, and I would

be surprised if it was diVerent for colleagues around
the table and generally in the House, that for those
who commit crime and where crime prevention has
not worked and criminality takes place amongst
young people, appropriate punishment—and I am
not talking about what happened in the past or
anything like that, the hanging or flogging
brigade,—is not taking place which encourages
criminality. Do you have a view on that?
Mr Drew: I do, Sir, and I believe it is very important
that the first response is punitive. That is the purpose
we are seeking to achieve. Beyond that, you have to
move beyond pure punishment in order to try to
prevent reoVending. You are, I know, only too aware
that is the primary task of the criminal justice system
so far as it concerns young people. Punishment is
incredibly important and punishment exists in a
number of diVerent ways. Firstly, obviously, for the
2,600 young people in custody today, their loss of
liberty is a punishment, and that figure taken
through the year will be about 8,000 young people
who are in custody at some stage or other during the
year, but also a number of our community sentences,
particularly the more intensive ones, intensive
supervision and surveillance, are punitive, that is one
part of the intention of the sentence, and indeed it
would not be credible with the youth courts were it
not so.

Q91 Mr Winnick: If I can take you up on community
service, which certainly to me, I do not know about
other colleagues, makes sense, where it is
appropriate as an alternative to a custodial sentence.
Again, does it really mean much? The general
impression, it may be wrong, amongst the public is
that you turn up and perhaps if you do not turn up
nothing much is done, you do a bit of street cleaning
or picking up leaves and the rest of it and it is not
considered much of a punishment by those who have
committed criminality of one kind or another. What
is your response to that?
Mr Drew: I think two things. Firstly, we do need to
remember here that what we are talking about are
children and young people and so society would
rightly set diVerent types of punishment for children
and young people than they would for adult
oVenders. Secondly, the direction, “You will be in
such and such a place, you will take part in such and
such an activity” is punitive and is experienced as
such by the young people doing it. Then our
sentences in the community are backed up by and
enforced through breach procedures.

Q92 Mr Winnick: Are you satisfied community
sentencing is tough enough? Have you gone round
and seen for yourself what is actually happening?
Mr Drew: I have spent, in eVect, all my working life
in this area. I believe that we engage young people,
we confront them with the consequences of their
behaviour in a much more purposeful way than we
did when I started which was in the mid-1970s. I
believe we have got the balance broadly right. Of
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course there are always areas where programmes are
better run and less well run but I do believe we have
got the balance broadly right, yes, Sir.

Q93 Mrs Cryer: Mr Drew, can I ask you, because I
have had the same experience as Mr Winnick in that
I have a very good organisation in my constituency
which does work with probation oYcers in giving
work for persons doing community work, but when
those persons do not turn up and they ring a
probation oYcer to say, “Fred has not turned up
today”—which is very discouraging for the people
who are trying to organise the work—the probation
oYcer frequently cannot do anything because they
just do not have enough probation workers. Is this
what you are finding? Do we have enough probation
workers or have we got rid of too many and they are
unable to make these community programmes work
eVectively?
Mr Drew: I think you are probably describing in that
particular example the adult system, but the youth
system is not fundamentally diVerent.

Q94 Mrs Cryer: No, they were young people.
Mr Drew: Right. Apologies. Someone in my role is
always going to say that there is more that could be
done if you had higher levels of staYng. I referred
earlier to the fact that centrally through the YJB
only 20% of the funding for Youth OVending Teams
is brought about, 80% comes from local authorities,
local health care trusts and the like. There has been
a very substantial expansion over the last ten years,
and broadly I think we have got the resources to
deliver the range of community sentences that are
available.

Q95 David Davies: Mr Drew, I went on one of these
community sentences once and amongst other
highlights was one of the young people turning
round to his social worker telling her, “Go and get
me my f . . . ing chips, I’m not going to queue” and
even more surprisingly she obediently trotted oV and
bought them for him. I last saw her trying to stop six
of them going oV to the shops. I was going there as
a Member of Parliament and they presumably roll
the red carpet out to try and make these things look
gone. I was frankly horrified by what I saw. Is my
experience typical or did I just go on the only one
which is hopelessly run?
Mr Drew: No, I am sure you did not go on the only
one, but clearly you are also absolutely right in
suggesting that is completely unacceptable. It makes
a mockery of the idea of community sentences. I
have to say if that was widespread then the youth
courts would be aware of it. Magistrates have got
pretty good antennae in that sense.

Q96 David Davies: Can I throw out a challenge to
you. Since then, I have raised it before and everyone
has said, “Oh, Mr Davies, come back and have a
look at one of ours”. What I would like to do is say,
“Yes, that is fine, I will do that” but I am not going
to tell you when I am going to turn up. I want you to

give me one in the Gwent area with a whole load of
dates, sometime over the next 12 months, and I will
make a surprise visit. I would love it and if you, Mr
Drew, could arrange that I will report back honestly
what I find. I am not prepared to do it unless I can
turn up by surprise. Can you help me?
Mr Drew: Chairman, I can most certainly discuss
that with the local authority in Gwent.

Q97 David Davies: Excellent.
Mr Drew: I do not have the authority to direct them
because of the way we are cast constitutionally. I
completely take your point. I do not know whether
or not my colleague, Mr Ashford, wants to say
anything more about that.
Mr Ashford: I was just going to come in if I could,
Chairman, to say we are concentrating rather a lot
on the punishment and enforcement and of course a
lot of the work we do and a lot of the work the Youth
OVending Teams do is to try to oVer support and to
identify the needs of young people to try to change
their behaviour because clearly that is somewhere
that we do want to go. Of course enforcement and
punishment is absolutely critical in the work we do.

Q98 David Davies: Let me forego my other questions
and just ask you this then. As a victim of crime who
dealt with the youth justice team in Gwent I wanted
to know when that criminal was going to be in court,
he was a young person, up for burglary, I wanted to
know what his punishment was. I was not told when
he was in court. The punishment was not explained
to me at all even though I kept writing as a member
of the public and eventually from that board I got a
patronising letter referring to him by his first name
and sort of implying that it was pretty wrong of me
to be demanding that he be banged up and wanting
to know what was going to happen to him saying,
“This poor lad was going to be incarcerated”,
treating me in a patronising and disgraceful fashion
and telling me more or less that I needed counselling,
ie some social worker coming round to drink my tea
when I was justifiably angry with both him and the
way I was treated by these people who are supposed
to be victim-focused. Gwent Youth Justice Team, or
whatever they are called these days, are an absolute
disgrace and are not interested in victims of crime at
all, but only in protecting the perpetrators in my
view.
Mr Ashford: It is diYcult obviously to comment on
a certain instance like that within a certain Youth
OVending Team.

Q99 Chairman: Maybe you can comment on the
principle involved.
Mr Ashford: In principle, the general principle is we
try to do, and the Youth OVending Teams try to do,
and have been increasing the work they are doing
with victims over the past ten years. Indeed, in many
Youth OVending Teams it is actually the police
oYcer within the Youth OVending Team who makes
that first initial contact with victims because of the
experience that police have in dealing with victims.
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There are numerous other schemes we are involved
with, for instance restorative justice, which has
increased dramatically over the last ten years and of
course restorative justice is about trying to put right
the deed the young person has done but also to try
to address victims needs as well. In many of the
approaches we have, both in terms of community
punishments and, indeed, in pre-court interventions,
restorative justice is in fact a key strand of that work
that Youth OVending Teams do. We can always do
more and clearly there will always be instances when
that does not work.

Q100 David Davies: Can I say I have first hand
experience of it being a failure. Maybe everywhere
else in the country is fine, I do not know
Mr Drew: I do not think we are saying that, no, but
clearly it is a bad experience. I would just like to pick
up, if I might, Chairman, the point that Louise
Casey made about at times the invisibility of the
criminal justice system and the public not knowing
what happens.

Q101 Chairman: The issue of information.
Mr Drew: Absolutely. I think you are going where I
am going in the sense that there is a dilemma in
relation to youth justice in respect of this because it
is enshrined in statute, the anonymity in most
instances of the young oVender, and given that they
are children and young people there are reasons
behind that. I think my Board does recognise that
actually we ought to and are doing more to make
what happens in the youth justice system more
apparent, to make the nature of the sentencing,
whether it be community or custodial, more clear to
the public so that they can more assured. If I can just
give one instance of that. We launched in November
a new scheme called Making Good whereby
members of the public, in the first instance in the
North West but then to be spread out throughout the
country, can nominate schemes for community
reparation. They can see something that needs to be
put right in their community and they can nominate
that. We will act as the broker and pass it on to the
local authority concerned In the first six weeks of
operation that has proved very popular with the
public. On the first day we had more than 3,000 hits
on the website, our anxiety that it might fold
fortunately did not materialise. That is just one
immediate, perhaps easy example but we are
concerned to look further because I think Louise
Casey has a strong point.

Q102 Mr Streeter: Moving the conversation on a
little, though I think it is quite relevant, there are no
doubt a lot of young people who get tangled up in
the criminal justice system because they commit
crimes but then they grow out of it. Do we have any
statistics about what number of people that happens
to and, whether you do or do not have numbers it is
obviously something that does happen, how does
that help us to prioritise where we place resources?
We do not want to criminalise young people if they

will grow out of it, we do not want them to grow out
of it with a huge problem in their history but can you
talk to us about that for a moment?
Mr Drew: I can and then I will hand over to Bob as
well. Firstly the phenomenon is right, broadly
speaking. We will provide your Committee with a
graph which shows the pattern of oVending against
age and you will see very clearly a peak somewhere
around the 18/19 age range and a rapid fall away
after that as well as a build up from 10 onwards.
There are real dilemmas here. I do not think there is a
case, as some critics of the current system would say
there is, for saying, “They are going to grow out of
it so we will leave them alone”, not least because I
think that would be unacceptable to the
communities who are blighted by the oVending
behaviour. What we try to do is to strike a really
delicate balance and it is based ultimately on looking
at the individual and assessing the risk they represent
to themselves, to their community, to the people who
may be the victims of their crime, to strike a sensible
balance between those cases where we do divert
away from the criminal justice system and those
cases where we are very actively involved. We
elaborate a bit on that in our evidence to your
Committee.
Mr Ashford: I think it is fair to say when the Youth
Justice Board started just over ten years ago, and the
Youth OVending Teams started just over ten years
ago, the emphasis of both the YJB and Youth
OVending Teams was really on preventing
reoVending. What we have done over the last ten
years is to shift that emphasis away not just from
preventing reoVending, which we have done very
successfully, but also to prevent oVending in the first
place. Again, the primary aim of the Crime and
Disorder Act is to prevent oVending by children and
young people. We have developed over the last ten
years a range of services through Youth OVending
Teams, a range of programmes through Youth
OVending Teams, and been happy in attracting
additional funding over that ten years from
Government to give to Youth OVending Teams to be
able to identify those very young people that we
believe and the Youth OVending Teams believe are
going to go on to become oVenders. It is not really
rocket science either because where a young person’s
parents, for instance, or their father has been in
prison or their elder brother or sister has been
involved in oVending it is fairly likely that young
person is going to go on to start oVending
themselves. The trick is to identify within local
communities who the most predictable young people
are who are going to go on to commit crime and to
try to bring about interventions designed to divert
them from that possible oVending behaviour. I think
we have been fairly successful in the last ten years at
doing that. Certainly within the last three or four
years where we have seen the number of first-time
entrants to the youth justice system fall very
significantly. I think that has been a record of the
programmes that we and Youth OVending Teams
have managed to put in place during that time.

Q103 Bob Russell: In the spirit of joined-up
government, a lovely phrase which probably dates
back to a golden age that may never have existed but
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in the spirit that hopefully we can still have some of
it, in 2004 the Audit Commission argued that
preventative activity needs to be better co-ordinated
and overseen from a single source. To what extent is
this still the case five or six years on?
Mr Drew: I think there have been improvements in
the last five years in relation to local co-ordination
and we have yet got a long way to go. The key point
here is that co-ordination, as your question implied,
can only take place locally. As a central funder we
can make, as a grant condition, all sorts of
requirements, and indeed we do, about funding
streams being joined-up locally. The key thing is that
it has to be joined-up on the ground in local
authorities. There are two key places for that: one,
the Children’s Trust and in the evolution of the
Children’s Trust increasingly it is a commissioning
body, a place where people with funds come together
to discuss the delivery of programmes, so that is one,
and the other is the Crime and Disorder Partnership.
Again, a number of funding streams now have to be
spent and commissioning decisions have to be made
within the Crime and Disorder Partnership.

Q104 Bob Russell: So I can get a better feel of these
funding streams, so I can get a comparison, what is
the annual cost of keeping a young person in a
Young OVender’s Institution?
Mr Drew: It does vary because there are three main
categories.

Q105 Bob Russell: Let us have the three categories.
Mr Drew: The Young OVenders Institution, broadly,
is about £51,000 to £52,000.1

Q106 Bob Russell: £1,000 a week.
Mr Drew: Yes. The secure training centre is about
£165,000 and a secure children’s home is about
£212,000.2 If I could try and illustrate that in terms
of numbers. Secure children’s homes today, 168
children are in secure children’s homes out of the
2,600 who are in custody in total. There is capacity
in the secure training centres for 301 children at any
one time, although actually in terms of placements
today the number is about 240/250, and the bulk is
taken up by YOIs.3 From that you will deduce a
number of things, the principal one of which is that
most young people in custody are aged 16 and 17
and most of those are in YOIs.
Mr Ashford: Can I come in as well on that question,
if I may? In terms of joined-up government, there
have been other advances as well in the last few

1 The witness later clarified that, the latest published average
annual cost per place figure for under 18s in YOIs (as of
April 2009) is £60,000.

2 The witness later clarified that, the latest published average
annual cost per place figures are £160,000 for secure training
centres and £215,000 for secure children’s homes. All the
above figures exclude VAT where it is applicable.

3 The witness later clarified that, the figures for the end of
December/start January were actually slightly lower than
quoted. The total in custody at the time was c. 2,400 not
2,600 with 160 in secure children’s homes and 230 in secure
training centres.

years, particularly around central Government
joined-upness. It was around three or four years ago
the Youth Justice Board had a single sponsor
department in terms of the Home OYce. Machinery
of government changes now mean that both DCSF
and the Ministry of Justice have become our joint
sponsors, if you like. That has given us a better
bridge between children and young people and
justice elements in terms of central Government and
better understanding there. We have also, of course,
seen the Public Service Agreement developments
and national indicator sets also developed over the
last few years as well. What that has done is to shift
away the onus of what was seen as the responsibility
of the YJB and YOTs just by ourselves to reduce
reoVending upon local authorities and their partners
to also be seen to be responsible for preventing
oVending and reoVending as well because there are
national indicators now which local authorities and
their partners have to adhere to in terms of both the
prevention of crime and the prevention of
reoVending as well.

Q107 Bob Russell: Can I just ask one linked question
to that. Local authorities are being screwed down
now on their finances, is that not going to impact on
their contribution for dealing with preventative
crime measures and if that is not happening then it
is going to push even more people into these very
costly dealing with the consequences of criminal
activity by young people?
Mr Ashford: There is a huge possibility there and,
again, one of our challenges, if you like, to
Government is to say, “We believe we have made
some significant advances over the last ten years in
both preventing oVending, reoVending and indeed in
the last 12 months in reducing the numbers of young
people in custody”. The challenge now is to sustain
that and it would be very easy to say prevention
funding particularly is something which is a sort of
icing on the cake, if you like. It is not, it is the
foundation of the youth justice system, both in terms
of central Government funding and local
government funding as well. The challenge is to
maintain that.

Q108 Mrs Dean: Could you tell us what is the
rationale behind the introduction of the Youth
Rehabilitation Orders and what is your view about
how this can contribute to reducing reoVending?
Mr Drew: The YRO was an attempt to rationalise
the various sentencing options and I could link that
back to this issue about public understanding, if I
might. The public need to understand the shape of
sentences. The more complex sentencing options are
the less likely they are to understand it. It was
principally an attempt to codify, to bring together, a
range of separate sentences which existed. Secondly,
and this is perhaps a more distinctive feature of the
YRO, it has set an explicit test around the use of
custody in the sense that now when youth courts are
considering custody they have to set down expressly
why it is that they have chosen not to take any of the
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stiVer community sentences prior to ordering a
period in custody, so there is a change there. Then,
lastly, I suppose what the YRO is doing is it is
pushing certain sentencing options, so clauses within
the YRO which are not at the moment universally
available and it is trying to create pressure for that.
The most obvious example of that is intensive
fostering where a young person who would have
otherwise gone into custody goes and lives with
foster parents for a specific period of time. That is
only available at the moment in pockets of the
country. It is now a clause within the YRO and our
hope is that we will be able to use a variety of
mechanisms, which I could talk about if time
allowed, in order to see funding spread out so that
intensive fostering is available. We know from our
work with the Magistrates’ Association that broadly
speaking magistrates across the country wish to have
that as one of the ranges of sentences.

Q109 Mrs Dean: How many YROs have been
issued, do you know?
Mr Drew: That I do not know. I am sure we could
get that statistic but it is very early days because of
the particular point about when you can make a
YRO relates not just to the implementation of the
act but also the commission of the oVence. We are
still in very early days.

Q110 Mrs Cryer: Can I ask you again about
reoVending. If I was a young person today coming
oV a community sentence or I had been in prison and
I just came home, what would be the diVerence in
what would happen to me now than would have
happened to me perhaps two years ago in order to
persuade me not to reoVend?
Mr Drew: There are diVerences everywhere you
look. I will not talk about the work that we are doing
on resettlement simply because Bob Ashford leads
on that and he ought to talk about it and take the
credit for the work that we are doing. What I will
talk about, therefore, is the oVender behaviour work
that we are doing within custody in particular. I was
as disappointed as I suspect your Committee were
hearing Adnan’s evidence about the apparent lack of
work done with him while he was in custody to aVect
his behaviour. Our take on custody is very simply
this: it is a punishment and the punishment is the loss
of liberty. Once thereafter you have a youngster
under 18 in custody your task is to do everything you
can to equip them to not reoVend when they come
out of custody and, therefore, oVender behaviour
schemes within custody are very important. In the
best institutions there are now well-developed
programmes supported by psychological input
which take each individual youngster through their
oVences and confronts them with the consequences
of it and explores what can be done to make sure
they do not reoVend. There is still much more that
can be done, but I was reading in preparation for this
session a review of the unit that the YJB opened at
Wetherby YOI during the summer, the Keppel Unit,
which is targeted specifically on a sub-set of young

men who would be in YOIs where they were praising
the oVender behaviour management programmes
within the YOI and from the point of view of
inspectors saying it was the most purposeful thing
that they had seen in a long period of time. That
would be one example of how we are trying to roll
out real improvements in how we engage with
youngsters in custody. Bob will now talk about
resettlement.
Mr Ashford: In July 2008 the Youth Crime Action
Plan announced some new initiatives around the
resettlement of young people from custody, because
that was something we most definitely wanted to see
in the Youth Crime Action Plan. Over the last couple
of years we within the YJB have formed a
programme board with several work streams. First
of all, integrated resettlement support is a new
scheme we are developing. It is based on the old
resettlement and aftercare programme but is, if you
like, an enhanced version of that programme. We
have been lucky enough to drawdown some
additional funding of £3 million last year and this
year for that particular programme and we have
issued new guidance to Youth OVending Teams but,
importantly, what we have also done is to try to
ensure that it is not just Youth OVending Teams that
are working on the resettlement of those young
people from custody but also local authorities,
children’s services, housing authorities especially
because what we do know is that young people
leaving custody in terms of trying to gain
accommodation, trying to gain employment, trying
to gain education, those are the three areas where
they find it incredibly diYcult. The reality is unless
we can find something for young people to do when
they leave custody they will very quickly go within
that revolving door back into custody again. We also
know that, happily, whilst the numbers of young
people in custody are going down, those young
people who leave custody very often do go on, as we
have heard this morning, to reoVend and we know,
in fact, that those young people can be some of the
most prolific young oVenders. It really is incumbent
upon all of us, both Youth OVending Teams and
local authority children’s services, to actually do
whatever we can to try to reduce that number of
young people going back via that revolving door. We
have another initiative, which is called Resettlement
Consortia. We have developed both in the North
West area and we are developing in the South West
area, based around Ashfield YOI in the South West
and Hindley YOI in the North West, the notion of
trying to bring local authorities and Youth
OVending Teams closer together to try to identify
and work with the YOI within that particular area,
to try to identify those young people who are going
to be the most vulnerable, the most likely to commit
oVences again when they leave custody and to try to
produce what we call an enhanced oVer to those
young people to try to ensure that local services are
brought to bear to try to produce education
opportunities, accommodation opportunities and
employment opportunities. That is looking
extremely promising as I speak.
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Q111 David Davies: A quick question: have you met
the targets that have been set for preventing people
going into custody and for preventing them from
reoVending?
Mr Crew: There are two areas and I will talk about
custody after that. The first target is in relation to
numbers of first time entrants. We have met the
target, in fact we have met the target for 2020 so we
are there. The second target is in relation to the
frequency of reoVending, that is the measure that the
Government wished to measure, there are other
ways of measuring reoVending. So frequency
measures the number of times that someone having
gone through a sentence will reoVend. On frequency
we are ahead of trajectory for our end target, that is
that we have reduced the rate greater than we would
need to do through the period of the target but we
are not at the end of the target period now and from
memory it is 2011. I am confident we will make that
target. Then in relation to custody—I can talk all
day about this—there is a history in relation to target
setting for custody. The Government has in the past
set targets and then has moved away from targets.

Q112 David Davies: I think I asked for the maximum
number of people going into custody?
Mr Drew: Set targets for the total number of young
people in custody at any one time in terms of seeking
a reduction. At the moment there is no target but on
31 December last year there were 12% fewer young
people in custody than there were the previous year.
It is a diYcult issue which I am sure you will rapidly
get, what is the right level to be achieved.

Q113 David Davies: Can you give us a list of all the
targets you are meant to achieve?
Mr Drew: Of course I can, yes.

Q114 Mrs Dean: Overall, what is your view of the
Government’s approach to youth crime prevention
and is there anything you think should be done
diVerently?
Mr Drew: I think what has happened over the last
ten years, and clearly the Government has led this
but it is more than just the Government, is there has
been a huge amount of focus on youth oVending in
a way that was not there beforehand. That is
reflected in the legislation, it is reflected in the
creation of Youth OVending Teams, the bringing
together of a wide range of people from diVerent
backgrounds—police, social services, health and the
like—to work together in a co-ordinated way which
is the integrated Government question. I think that
is why we are seeing the sorts of results we have just
been talking about in terms of achievement of
targets. That is very praiseworthy. In terms of areas
where there is a need for another step, Bob has
already talked about one which is especially in
relation to resettlement, but there is actually a
broader range of people, organisations and the like
that need to be brought in to really make a step
change in relation to resettlement. I will illustrate
that, if I might, with just one statistic. I was looking
at figures for one YOI the other day and of the 1,000
young people discharged, having completed their

sentence there, over a third went into bed and
breakfast in terms of their accommodation.
Sometimes that will be the right thing, I am not
saying it will not be always, but I think you and I
both know that some of our bed and breakfasts are
amongst the most unsatisfactory temporary types of
accommodation, and it brings with it all the risks
that custody does in terms of who else is there and
what habits might be passed on. That highlights, for
example, in that area in relation to housing but I am
an ex local authority director of housing and I think
housing services need much more to be linked into
this field. Lastly, I think we are probably due a
discussion around what is the proper length of a
custodial sentence. There is a view within the secure
estate that actually if they had young people in
custody for longer they could do more with them
and there is clearly a trade-oV there because it is the
taking away of a young person’s liberty. The average
period in custody as things stand is 73 days and if we
see custody as being about changing young people’s
behaviour, that is a very short period of time. Having
said which, as we have already highlighted, custody
is an immensely expensive disposal. My broadest
belief would be that if there was to be a serious
debate about length of sentence that would have to
be balanced by looking at some of the young people
who are in custody at the moment and saying,
“Actually the response to their oVences can just as
satisfactorily be dealt with within the community”.
The Canadian Government in recent times has
achieved that balance. You might through that
balance be able to come up with something that was
more eVective than what we have done today, even
though I think the last ten years in terms of young
oVending has been a very impressive period.

Q115 Chairman: A final question from me, Mr Drew.
Do you feel that you have met the Government’s
objectives as far as preventative work is concerned?
You mentioned your budget was half a billion
pounds a year. What kind of proportion of that do
you think has gone to prevention as opposed to
dealing with the crimes after they have been
committed?
Mr Drew: The simplest way is to say that £36 million
has specifically gone to prevention.

Q116 Chairman: Only £36 million out of £501
million?
Mr Drew: That is correct. The reason for that is
because the custody bill is with us, so I do not make
a decision as to what proportion of the YJB’s budget
is spent on custody, that decision is in eVect made
within the courts. The only decision that I make is
what sort of level of capacity do I run at in order to
guarantee to the courts there is always a place
available and also to guarantee to the young people
that intelligent decisions can be made with a very
young child, for example, being sent to custody at 11
or 12, it can happen, that they are not with 17 year
olds.
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Q117 Chairman: It would, I know, be very helpful to
the Committee, because this inquiry relates
specifically to prevention, if you would let us have a
note as to how this £36 million is spent?
Mr Drew: Of course.

Q118 Chairman: I do not know whether you were in
for Miss Casey’s evidence. How often would you
meet someone like Louise Casey to discuss the issue
of prevention?
Mr Drew: I seem to bump in to Louise Casey quite
a lot.

Q119 Chairman: You do at seminars and giving
evidence, but sitting round the table and talking
about the nuts and bolts of prevention, how many
times would you be able to sit down with her and her
team and say, “Look, let us try and work together as
part of the criminal justice system to prevent crime
rather than deal with the aftermath of crime”?
Mr Drew: The Government has a very complex
system of boards and oYcials—

Q120 Chairman: Is it too complex? Are there too
many boards? Are there too many structures?
Mr Drew: No, in this regard the board that oversees
our work in relation to prevention is the PSA 14
board, young people on the pathway to success, and
around that table you will find all the groups who
have an interest in relation to this area.

Q121 Chairman: That is the central co-ordinating
committee, if I can borrow something from the
Soviet Union here, the central committee that brings
together all these various agencies.
Mr Drew: Within Westminster. Then locally there
are equivalent forums to plan this work locally.

Q122 Chairman: You referred to it as complex, is it
too complex? Should it be simpler?
Mr Drew: Personally I think it works.

Q123 Chairman: Would you let us have a little map
showing how it all works?
Mr Drew: I was going to say we will draw you up a
note on that.
Chairman: Mr Drew, Mr Ashford, thank you very
much for giving evidence today.
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Q124 Chairman: I welcome everyone to this
evidence session of the Select Committee on Home
AVairs. We are holding two sessions this morning:
the first is about the government’s approach to
crime prevention and the second is about the DNA
database. Mr Wheatley, thank you for coming to
give evidence to us today. I start by asking you
about re-oVending rates. Have they gone up or
down? Are you meeting the government’s targets?
How does this help with the overall approach to
crime prevention?
Mr Wheatley: At the moment we are meeting the
targets set for the agency. Since 2000 the rate of re-
oVending has dropped by 20.3% for adults, which
is a reasonably substantial achievement. I also keep
an eye on the older measure which compares actual
with predicted re-oVending on the basis of whether
somebody re-oVends in a year’s follow-up period
rather than the rate of re-oVending. That is
interesting from my point of view because you can
predict the rate at which people will re-oVend but
you cannot predict the rate of re-oVending. You
might get low oVending because you have dealt
with lots of people who have a very low probability
of oVending, that is, the police have taken a lighter-
weight group of oVenders, whereas comparing it
with the prediction means you can see whether you
are adding value. Comparing it with prediction, the
evidence shows that we are adding value. The best
results are being seen with the longer sentenced
prisoners where we can spend more time with them.
Because they are serving longer sentences we can
put in more eVort. For the four years and over
group in 2000 the actual re-oVending rate was
23.4% and in 2007 it was 17.6%, so there was a real
drop. The predicted rate was 25.1% in 2000. That
rate had gone up; it was a heavier-weight group of
oVenders in 2007. Therefore, we are reducing
oVending on all measures and that rate of reduction
in re-oVending appears to relate to the rate at which
we put in new resources.

Q125 Chairman: The Committee is conducting this
inquiry to examine the statement made by the
former prime minister that the government would
be tough on crime and the causes of it. For how
many years have you been involved in this area of
criminal justice?
Mr Wheatley: Forty and a half years.

Q126 Chairman: It may not be fact but I am
seeking your opinions now. What do you say are
the causes of crime?
Mr Wheatley: Crime has not changed. Crime is
tempting to lots of people. Obviously, many people
are attracted to breaking the rules if they can gain
from it. Most of us are restrained by moral training
by our parents, schools and social contacts, in the
sense that if you engage in crime it will be the end
of your career and nobody will want to pay any
attention to you. It would be a tremendous thing
to do. If you are at the bottom of the heap where
you lose a lot less by engaging in crime, particularly
if you are surrounded by people who would be
supportive of crime—it is what happens round
there—the restraints are considerably less. The
restraints are considerably less in a deterrent system
if you are not very good at thinking ahead. All the
Members of this Committee will be very good at
thinking ahead. If you have a mental health
problem you probably are not good at it. A lot of
young people who are not brought up in very
consistent homes are not taught to think and will
have diYculty thinking ahead and crime flows
from that.

Q127 Chairman: As far as concerns our criminal
justice system do you think we pay enough
attention to causes rather than the consequences
which you deal with in the National OVender
Management Service? You deal with the end
product; you cannot do anything about it once they
get to you because they have already committed
their crimes. Have we paid enough attention to
dealing with the causes?
Mr Wheatley: It is a very diYcult question to
answer. How do you deal with people who have
oVended? We could still do more. If somebody gave
me more money I would spend it fruitfully in this
area, but there is not endless money and I do not
make that bid. It is obvious that resources are
always constrained. As a society we have lots of
choices. Some societies have very low crime rates,
of which Singapore is a rather good example. It is
organised in a quite diVerent way from our society
and it has a diVerent culture with diVerent policing
and sentencing. The atmosphere of the place is
wholly diVerent. With the freedom we enjoy to
make choices also comes the freedom to choose to
commit crime. It is a diYcult question for you as
politicians rather than me.
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Q128 Bob Russell: Last week I witnessed a
presentation of research undertaken by the
University of Exeter. It indicated that the majority of
people who entered prison at some stage in their lives
had suVered an acquired brain injury. Are you aware
of any evidence to that eVect?
Mr Wheatley: I have heard people make that
statement but I have seen no consistent, hard
evidence from suYciently large samples to convince
me that is the case. My position is based on
scepticism rather than disbelief. Certainly, it is not
something that I feel is right from what I have known
in the past, and I have not seen evidence to suggest
that is right.

Q129 Bob Russell: Bearing in mind that the National
OVender Management Service delivers a range of
accredited programmes should there be an
investigation into the percentage of the prison
population who have experienced an acquired brain
injury some time in life?
Mr Wheatley: I am all for having more research—
that costs money and we must be careful about how
much we do—that gives us a better background as to
why people oVend. I believe it is highly unlikely that
that will be a fruitful area. I see lots of people
entering prison who have shown no sign of a
previous brain injury or an inability to think but who
perhaps have chosen a life of crime.

Q130 Bob Russell: Perhaps we can revisit that on
another occasion. How have resources allocated to
reducing re-oVending in the Prison and Probation
Services varied over the years, if they have?
Mr Wheatley: They have varied. We have always
worked to try to reduce re-oVending but in terms of
investment we have had a substantial additional
investment since 2000 as new money comes in.
Before coming here I looked at base information.
Going back to 1998–99, we were spending £745 per
prisoner per year on reducing re-oVending by way of
oVending behaviour programmes, drug treatment
programmes and education. By 2008–09, the last
year for which I have full information, that had gone
up to £4,300. That is a big increase in resources
specifically spent on drug treatment, oVending
behaviour programmes and education. There has
been a similar increase in resources on the probation
side. There has been a 40% increase in money going
to the Probation Service since the start of the
national service. I believe that has produced a
reduction in re-oVending. I am less sure I can tell you
precisely which of the things we have put in has made
the biggest diVerence.

Q131 Bob Russell: That is my next question. Linking
that answer to the area of questioning with which the
Chairman started this session, where do resources
make the most diVerence in terms of preventing re-
oVending?
Mr Wheatley: In prison we deal mainly with people
who have either done something dangerous or
horrendous or are persistent. There are not that
many first-timers unless they have come in for
horrendous oVences. People get out of oVending

because somebody convinces them that they could
be diVerent. That needs a persuasive individual who
understands the person’s problems, who is not a soft
touch and can convince him that the world can be
diVerent for him and he can really make that stand.
Once that has been done you have to stack up behind
it some practical things to help people: you have to
get them de-toxed if they are using drugs; you
probably have to help them get accommodation that
is not with other criminals. They will do much better
if they can get work, particularly work that gives
them some social standing and is not mindless and
boring which carries the danger of making the
individual think that a straight life not what it is
cracked up to be. If you can put those things behind
them and keep them motivated they will give up
crime. You need a combination of things; it is not a
single factor, and it is best to target the riskiest
group. Obviously, if there is only one in a hundred
chance of certain people re-oVending, a lot of money
is invested in it and you make a 20% reduction in a
very large group it will not result in a big diVerence.
If I can target people who have a 60% or 70% chance
of re-oVending and get a 20% reduction that is quite
a lot of crime prevented.

Q132 Tom Brake: On the subject of research, you
said that pre-2000 £745 was being spent per prisoner.
Mr Wheatley: That was the figure for 1998–99.

Q133 Tom Brake: We are now up to £4,300. Are you
aware of any research done to show that for every
pound spent on trying to address re-oVending you
save the Prison Service x pounds by people not going
to prison?
Mr Wheatley: Not in quite that way. Using results
published each year I can show you the first
quarter’s releases. The first quarter’s releases are a
tranche of oVenders including those who are on
community sentences, so it is both prison and
probation. They are followed up for a full year with
a proper gap to make sure we have all the
convictions. The results are published showing the
rate and frequency of re-oVending by sentence, age
and sex. There are lots of data. That is changing over
time. The research techniques needed to work out
which things make a diVerence are incredibly
complicated. You would normally need to do
random controlled trials in which everything else
remained static. Take an individual prisoner who is
greeted in reception by a particularly powerful
oYcer who is able to persuade him to be diVerent.
Then he undertakes an oVending behaviour
programme and education. In the mean time he is
de-toxed and comes oV drugs. The Probation Service
links the individual to a group outside to support
him in coming oV drugs, find him accommodation
and supervise him. How do you work out which of
those things has made a diVerence? It is very
complicated. It may be the reception oYcer, the
Probation Service at the end or the drug treatment.
It is probably a combination of all of them, but it is
not easy to do and I would be foolish if I said I had
a pat answer to that.
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Q134 Mr Winnick: What is the prison population as
of today, yesterday or whatever?
Mr Wheatley: Friday’s figures which are published
show there were 82,761.

Q135 Mr Winnick: As I understand it, the Ministry
of Justice will increase capacity to somewhere in the
region of 96,000 by 2014.
Mr Wheatley: That is the plan.

Q136 Mr Winnick: In 2002 the Social Exclusion Unit
said that the current balance of resources did not
enable the Prison and Probation Services to deliver
beneficial education and rehabilitation programmes
to “anything like the number who need them”. What
has been the position since 2002?
Mr Wheatley: Probation and prison resources for
reducing re-oVending per head for the people we are
looking after have gone up substantially. It has
tripled for education and gone up 15 times for drug
treatment. Looking at the data, my maths are not
good but an increase from £745 to £4,300 is more
than a quadrupling of resources. One has to take
account of inflation. There has been a substantial
increase. I do not expect these increases to continue
but I expect to be able to maintain what we are doing
at the moment. The resources for reducing re-
oVending have substantially increased and produced
a measurable result.

Q137 Mr Winnick: I do not question what you have
just said but, however true that is, is it not a fact that
a prison population of 83,000 means that the prisons
are hopelessly overcrowded?
Mr Wheatley: They are not hopelessly overcrowded
because we will not overcrowd them more than we
think we can safely do, and we take that operational
judgment carefully. They are crowded.

Q138 Mr Winnick: To say the least!
Mr Wheatley: Having said that, the capacity in the
system is over 86,000. Currently, I have available
86,000 places and we are now looking after under
83,000 prisoners. This is a time of year when the
numbers are always low. There is seasonality in the
prison population caused by Christmas. Nobody
can quite work out why that is, but I can speculate
without giving a straightforward answer. We have
spare capacity at the moment and we are not
hopelessly overcrowded. We are slightly less
overcrowded than we have been and we will not
overcrowd to a level that we think makes prisons
hopeless.

Q139 Mr Winnick: Therefore, reports about the
diYculty in finding accommodation for prisoners
and all the rest of it do not really reflect the situation?
Mr Wheatley: We have been very near to maximum
capacity on a number of occasions over the past
seven or eight years, and before that. This is not a
new problem. At that point we are moving prisoners
around from prison to prison to make the maximum

use of the estate. That is diYcult and I do not try to
minimise it. At the moment we do not have to do
that. There is some seasonality in it. But the
government is building so we can contain the
population without being in a hopeless position.

Q140 Martin Salter: I may have misheard you, but
did you say at one point that the Ministry of Justice
planned to increase the capacity of prisons to
96,000?
Mr Wheatley: Yes.

Q141 Martin Salter: Is that not predicated on the
assumption that people choose to commit crime and
receive custodial sentences?
Mr Wheatley: It is based on the predictions of what
the prison population will be which certainly
includes some estimation about what oVending will
be, how the courts operate and police eYciency. It is
an attempt by statisticians using all available past
data to forecast the future. As with any forecast, the
future is a little diVerent from what people think it
might be.

Q142 Martin Salter: You are telling us that re-
oVending rates are going down and yet the prison
population will rise?
Mr Wheatley: Not only that but, looking at the
national data, re-oVending is going down and
oVending is reducing. What is primarily driving the
increase in the population is an increase in the
number of prisoners serving very long sentences. To
go back to 1969 when I joined, the average life
sentence was about nine years; now it is about 16
years.

Q143 David Davies: You made a very interesting
point earlier. I wonder whether you can confirm that
the longer the prison sentence the less likely it is that
the prisoner will re-oVend.
Mr Wheatley: The lowest predicted rate is for long-
term oVenders. That is probably related to the fact
that in the long-term population there are a number
of oVenders who have committed some horrendous
acts on the very first occasion and have a very low
probability of re-oVending. What I can tell you,
which I believe is the point you pick up, is that in
percentage terms the actual versus predicted results
show we have made the biggest reductions in
oVending with long-sentence prisoners because they
are the people to whom we have been able to devote
the most resources.

Q144 David Davies: That is the point I want to get
on the record. I have done some research into the
figures. Correct me if I am wrong, but even if you
remove sentences for murder, where in a lot of cases
an individual has killed another in a bout of temper
or something, you find that somebody serving a 10-
year prison sentence is only about 30% likely to re-
oVend in two years, whereas somebody who has
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served less than one year is 70% or 80% likely to re-
oVend. My figures may be a little bit out but I think
it is of that order.
Mr Wheatley: That is roughly right. The predicted
rate for the four-year and over group is 25.1%; for
the 12-month and over group it is 42.1%; and for
very short sentences it is 51.2%. Some of that arises
because the people who pick up short sentences are
very often drug users who do a lot of shoplifting.

Q145 David Davies: Do we agree that with people
like that the longer we can keep them in the more
help we can give them?
Mr Wheatley: It is not really a product of time. With
very short sentences it is diYcult to do anything with
them. Realistically, you do not have time to work
with people who do only a week. For longer
sentences we are able to devote more resources. We
also have targeted resources for our riskiest
oVenders.

Q146 David Davies: To put it on record, there is a
strong argument, is there not, for saying that even
when a persistent oVender commits what may be
seen as a relatively trivial crime it may be the 50th

time he or she—usually a he—has done it and there
should be a mandatory six or 12-month sentence,
not to victimise him but to help him get oV the
ground to deal with his other problems and give him
some sort of education?
Mr Wheatley: If you wanted me to work more in
prison with anybody you would have to give him
longer than a very short sentence. That would give
rise to a substantial public expenditure implication.
They do not have to get a four-year sentence. The
gains that we have been able to make show a 17.2%
improvement in results for the 12 months and over
group and 29.5% for the two to four-year group.
Therefore, we have achieved that for the shorter
sentence groups.

Q147 David Davies: The costs to the public purse are
a lot less than your figures suggest, are they not? The
vast majority of people who are in that category are
in receipt of a range of benefits when they are outside
anyway, so even if you leave out the cost of
investigating any crimes they commit the net cost to
the public of putting somebody into a category D or
C prison is not that much greater than the cost of
housing them and keeping them on benefits outside,
is it?
Mr Wheatley: I cannot say; I do not know enough
about the costs to the benefit system and the fact that
they normally leave relatives outside who may go
onto benefit because they are not able to work.

Q148 David Davies: But most of them are not
working nine to five in well-paid jobs?
Mr Wheatley: Some will be, but I would not like to
speculate; I do not know enough.

Q149 Chairman: Remind us of the cost in England
and Wales of keeping somebody in prison.

Mr Wheatley: It is about £3,200 a month, so the
annual sum is under £40,000.

Q150 Chairman: Is that broken down to the daily
rate?
Mr Wheatley: No. I have just divided the annual
figure by 12.

Q151 David Davies: That is the average cost?
Mr Wheatley: Yes.

Q152 David Davies: It is very important we
remember that category A prisoners are far more
expensive than Ds and Cs, so if you take an average
across-the-board cost that includes the cost of
category A prisoners.
Mr Wheatley: It is an average cost. There are a small
number of high-security prisons which drive up the
costs. I cannot give you the categories C and D
average; I have not brought it with me.

Q153 Chairman: It would be helpful if you could
write to us and tell us the cost in each category.
Mr Wheatley: We can do that.

Q154 Gwyn Prosser: I want to ask about the prolific
and priority oVender programmes to some elements
of which you have made reference. What recent
research is there to show the impact of those
programmes on reducing re-oVending?
Mr Wheatley: I am aware there has been some
research, mainly action research, ie people looking at
how the process has worked. There has not been a
sound two-year criminological follow-up study.
Certainly, the evidence I have suggests that the PPO
scheme has been eVective. Probation services are
working very closely with the police to target the
most prolific and some local anecdotal evidence
suggests that it is making really big reductions in re-
oVending. Some of the police evidence I have seen
suggests that they are very pleased with the
reduction in re-oVending by some well-known
prolific oVenders as a result of the intervention.

Q155 Gwyn Prosser: We are told that the
eVectiveness of it depends very much on the co-
location of the parties involved in it, but that does
not happen in all areas. What is your view on that?
What are the barriers to further co-locations?
Mr Wheatley: There are no legal barriers. I am keen
on co-locating probation staV and police staV where
that is possible. There are some practical
considerations such as whether there is space. Can
we get oYce space in the right place to do that? There
are barriers on the two systems sharing IT.
Obviously, the police have some very sensitive data
about intelligence that they would normally not
share openly with other agencies. The more we can
share base information the better this works. The
very best co-working involves the two agencies
crossing over in their work rather than saying this is
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the police bit and that is the probation bit, but even
where we cannot get complete cohesion it is better
than two silos operating quite diVerently.

Q156 Tom Brake: In the past year the government in
its Cutting Crime strategy announced the “new,
single, comprehensive prolific oVending scheme”.
Can you explain what that is and whether any work
has started on implementing that new scheme?
Mr Wheatley: I would not like to do so because it is
not my area; it is mainly a Home OYce-led piece of
policy. We are working with prolific oVenders in an
increasingly joined-up way with other agencies.
Prolific oVender schemes also play a part in the
integrated oVender management initiative which a
number of areas are driving forward with lots of the
work being led by local authorities at crime and
disorder partnership level. I have just reorganised
the Probation Service so that its leadership lines up
with the BCU police command unit to match the

Witness: Mr Paul McDowell, Chief Executive, Nacro, gave evidence.

Q158 Chairman: Mr McDowell, you know why the
Committee is conducting this inquiry.
Mr McDowell: Yes, I do.

Q159 Chairman: You will realise that we are trying
to look at the causes of crime. What do you believe
to be the root causes of crime, and do you believe the
government has addressed them? If you were to
think of the five most important causes what would
they be?
Mr McDowell: These things are as ever very complex
to summarise. The experience that we as a charity
have had over many years in working with those at
risk of committing crime and oVenders themselves is
that many diVerent elements connected to social
deprivation are probably among the biggest causes.
For instance, I refer to young people who are
excluded from school, do not have a sound
education or level of attainment, are unable to get
employment and have not had great role models in
their family and upbringing, so there is a broad lack
of opportunity which leads them into crime.
Potentially, it could lead everybody into crime, but a
mixture of those missing opportunities which most
of us take for granted tends to lead those who do
commit crime in that direction.

Q160 Chairman: Can you profile from birth?
Mr McDowell: What I am describing is based on the
experience that all of our people on the ground have
had over many years. Typically, the people who
come through the door and attend and benefit from
the programmes we deliver very much fit that profile.
Very often they will tick that list I have described.

Q161 Bob Russell: From your long history in the
Prison Service you must have been a very nice game-
keeper to have the job you have now. You will have

overall strategy which allows local variation to take
account of local factors, which is one of the major
improvements in the way we have been working.

Q157 Tom Brake: Am I right in thinking from your
response that if a “new, single, comprehensive
prolific oVending scheme” is in the process of being
introduced it does not appear to have hit your desk?
Mr Wheatley: I do not think that is entirely accurate
because what I am describing is our bit of it. That is
the bit I need to know about, but apart from
knowing that we are delivering the things the Home
OYce want us to deliver—because we still work in an
integrated way with the department—I would not
like to comment on what is a major area of policy
for them.
Chairman: Mr Wheatley, thank you so much for
coming to give evidence today. If you would be kind
enough to write to us about the pieces of information
we requested we would be grateful.

heard my question to the previous witness. From
your experience are there many people who enter
prison with an acquired brain injury?
Mr McDowell: I am not able to add to the answer
that has been provided to you. In the time I was in
the Prison Service I was never exposed to any
discussion or evidence to suggest that either way.

Q162 Bob Russell: That will have to be revisited
because the evidence from the University of Exeter
indicates otherwise. Statistics appear to show
reductions in re-oVending of both adults and
juveniles since 2002. What do you believe are the
reasons for this decline?
Mr McDowell: This is key work for us. We are very
clear that the focus on the delivery of basic joined-
up resettlement processes is most likely to have made
the diVerence in respect of that reduction in re-
oVending. The key factors that we know are likely to
help oVenders make diVerent decisions to change
their lives are: level of educational attainment; the
ability to get a job; dealing with housing issues;
maintaining family ties; dealing with health-related
issues; and individual assessment, recognising what
the individual might need and delivering on that.
Crucially, following the delivery of those services
through the gate back into the community is in our
view most likely to have had the biggest eVect in
that respect.

Q163 Martin Salter: I declare an interest in having
been involved in both the Nacro-sponsored Jail
Guitar Doors campaign and the Reading Angling
Action project. I am aware of your work and
support a lot of the initiatives you do on the ground
certainly in my constituency. The government is
talking about focusing even more intensely on
prolific oVenders. We have to an extent got our head
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round what could work in terms of people entering
the prison estate for the first time. Of course prolific
oVenders fall into a diVerent category. In your
experience what sorts of programmes work best in
targeting prolific oVenders and attempting to change
their behaviour?
Mr McDowell: The theme to which I shall keep
returning is joined-up services. We are weakest when
we stick to our silos and do not join up the relevant
work of the agencies. In terms of prolific oVenders
individual needs must be assessed. It will depend on
the background of oVending, the oVending history
and the particular problems of that individual. The
delivery of relevant oVending behaviour
programmes is dependent on their individual need
but an assessment of their resettlement needs and the
level of support they might get once they leave prison
is very important as far as we are concerned. One of
the things we believe should be a distinct part of
what we do in relation to prolific oVenders is an
increased level of relevant mentoring for oVenders
by well-trained adults once they are released back
into the community. We are running those types of
schemes around the country especially for young
oVenders. We believe that to be quite eVective.

Q164 Martin Salter: Presumably, a prolific oVender
is someone who has oVended before and therefore
we come back to the point Mr Davies raised earlier
about how we deal with people when they first enter
the prison estate. At that point they are not prolific
but obviously if they re-oVend, re-oVend and re-
oVend they soon hit the “prolific” category. Based on
research from the Social Exclusion Unit I note that
20% of prisoners have the writing skills, 35% the
numeracy skills and 50% the reading skills of an 11
year-old child. Sixty to 70% of prisoners use drugs
and 70% of prisoners suVer from at least two mental
disorders. If you have that toxic cocktail does it not
tell us that we must begin to address those basic
deficiencies at the moment people enter the prison
estate before they can get to the stage of being
prolific oVenders?
Mr McDowell: Yes. To add one more statistic to
your list, over one quarter have levels of educational
attainment below those of a seven year-old. When I
list the resettlement pathway outcomes that need to
be joined up and delivered on an individual basis
education and training is a key element in that.
There is no doubt in my mind that if you do not deal
with that issue you will not deal with employment
and therefore you are unlikely to be very successful
in the work you do.

Q165 Martin Salter: Does that lead to the inevitable
conclusion we have been pushing that you cannot do
any of this in the context of a short first-time
custodial sentence? If you are to put people on
eVective programmes you cannot do it if you have
people in the prison estate for only a short period
of time?
Mr McDowell: That depends very much on the
quality of the interventions and resettlement
programmes that you can deliver in a joined-up way

both in custody and beyond. We are not necessarily
very good at the moment in joining up through the
gates. When people are back in the community there
is a tendency for us not to continue with the delivery
of eVective services.

Q166 David Davies: In terms of the resettlement of
oVenders one of the criticisms levelled at prisons is
that they become universities of crime and prisoners
pick up other tricks from them. I have never
accepted that. Is it not the case that when prisoners
are resettled they are just as likely to go back to their
old haunts and meet with the people who introduced
them to crime in the first place?
Mr McDowell: To a great extent both of those things
are true. Early intervention and how you prevent
crime from being committed in the first place is a key
part of this debate. Tackling those very diYcult
issues in our communities is absolutely key. In a
sense I would not want us to give up on the idea of
changing people’s lives and reducing their likelihood
of re-oVending simply on the basis that we shall
return them to damaged communities where they are
likely to link up with the same people who influenced
their decisions in the first place. Let us deal with
what is going on in those communities.

Q167 Mr Winnick: The previous witness whose
evidence you listened to gave us the picture that if all
was not well in prisons it was better than it used to be
and he denied there was overcrowding and the rest of
it. Do you go along with that?
Mr McDowell: As the Committee is aware, I have
only just left the Prison Service after 20 years’
service.

Q168 Mr Winnick: You were a prison governor, were
you not?
Mr McDowell: Yes, I was. What I can tell the
Committee is that the quality of the work delivered
in the Prison Service now compared with when I
joined has changed significantly. Levels of
educational provision, the quality of oVender
behaviour programmes we deliver, even the ability of
the service to join up with other agencies, which has
improved though there is a long way to go, and the
involvement of the voluntary sector which is crucial
to Nacro have improved and increased significantly.
There are huge challenges. Nobody could have
predicted that the prison population would double
eVectively in the past 20 years, but a lot more work is
being done with individual prisoners than was being
done before.

Q169 Mr Winnick: Most people, certainly Members
of Parliament, opinion-formers and the general
public for that matter would take the view that a
large percentage of those who go to prison once
released will hopefully have learnt their lesson, have
the opportunity of a job or job training and not re-
oVend. What percentage of oVenders find a job on
leaving custody?
Mr McDowell: I do not have that figure.
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Q170 Mr Winnick: Will you write to us in due course
and provide that figure?
Mr McDowell: I will certainly try.

Q171 Chairman: Is it over 50%?
Mr McDowell: We know that the rate of re-oVending
is still high despite the progress we have made. We
will certainly look into it and provide the Committee
with the information. We know for sure that it is very
diYcult for ex-oVenders once released to get
employment as a consequence of their record. We
take calls in their thousands from ex-oVenders who
seek advice from us about how they overcome the
restrictions on them in terms of employment
opportunities.

Q172 Mr Clappison: I dare say that if we hear the
figure we will come to the conclusion that not
enough oVenders find a job on leaving custody. Do
you believe enough is being done to provide
prisoners, particularly young oVenders, with
practical training in particular and skills to help
them find a job in a trade or line of work?
Mr McDowell: We are doing a lot more of that.
Nacro is itself involved in delivering vocational
training outside custody. I was formerly governor of
Coldingley in Surrey which is a prison set up to do
precisely what you describe. It has workshops and
everybody is employed and learns skills. When I was
there we tried to make links with employers. A lot
more could be done. Education in terms of academic
achievement is helpful and important but sometimes
vocational training, the qualifications that come
from it and the link that can be made to employers,
if only we could overcome the challenge of
encouraging them to employ ex-oVenders, are
crucial. Lots of oVenders are much more open to
that kind of training.

Q173 Mr Clappison: Should we not have a lot more
prisons and institutions like Coldingley where
people can do training and work?
Mr McDowell: Yes.

Q174 Mr Winnick: Statistics given to us show that in
2002 nearly three out of five prisoners were
reconvicted within two years of leaving prison. As I
understand it, since then the situation has improved.
To what extent has it improved?
Mr McDowell: I do not have figures to show the
percentage improvement.

Q175 Mr Winnick: Would it be right to say that the
majority of those who leave prison re-oVend within
a period of two years?
Mr McDowell: My understanding without having
the figures in front of me is that even though an
improvement has been achieved in relation to the
level of re-oVending it has not occurred to an extent
where we can say more prisoners do not re-oVend
than do. Your point is well taken in that respect.

Q176 Mr Winnick: Insofar as you are able to do so
will you supply us with some figures about re-
oVending within two years?

Mr McDowell: Levels of re-oVending within that
period are still far too high.

Q177 Chairman: Would you write to us with the
figures or, if not, tell us where to find them?
Mr McDowell: If we have those figures we shall
supply them.

Q178 Gwyn Prosser: You have underlined the
importance of training and more education. Other
witnesses have also talked about more eVective use
of those tools when oVenders have longer rather
than shorter sentences for pretty obvious reasons.
What about the churning eVect? During the
Committee’s previous inquiry into these matters
which concentrated on prisoners themselves we
heard quite worrying stories about a prisoner being
moved three or four times in as many months. That
must also be debilitating in terms of being able to
resettle.
Mr McDowell: That is absolutely right, and we are
also very concerned about it. There is potential
wastage in the system in that respect. There is a lot
of investment in education in prisons but if
individuals are unable to complete the particular
education in which they are engaged because they
are moved on, or there is population pressure which
leads to that, and that is not picked up in the place
at which they arrive clearly that is not good for the
individual and potentially we have wasted the
original resource by delivering only half the
education. That is definitely a challenge.

Q179 Gwyn Prosser: How much importance do you
place on the treatment of drug-abusers and people
with mental health problems?
Mr McDowell: In relation to both of those issues it
is absolutely vital. From my experience I have a very
clear understanding that unless you deal with the
underlying causes of individual oVending—in
relation to mental health and drug addiction it is
abundantly clear that it is likely those two causes will
have a massive eVect—you are unlikely to move
people to a position where they will stop oVending in
future. It is massively important.

Q180 Gwyn Prosser: In that case, are the
government’s policies and measures satisfactory? If
not, what single recommendations would you make?
Mr McDowell: My personal view is that there are too
many individuals in prison who are mentally ill. For
a long time as chief executive of Nacro and as a
prison governor I would have liked to see a diVerent
kind of investment in terms of the facilities that
might be available to deliver mental health care
treatment and for those individuals to be treated in a
diVerent way. It comes back to the old debate about
prisoners versus patients. Who come first? Was it a
mental health problem that led to oVending or did
the oVending in part lead to the mental health
problem? We need to be more honest and braver
about that as a society.
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Q181 Chairman: I am sure you will answer that you
do not have the statistics, but can you give me a
rough percentage of those you have to deal with in
Nacro in two categories, namely those who may
have mental health problems and those who use
drugs?
Mr McDowell: Your prediction is absolutely spot
on.

Q182 Chairman: Can you provide a rough estimate?
Mr McDowell: I have worked for Nacro for only
three months and I am not in a position to give you
even a rough estimate. I would not like to hazard a
guess but I shall certainly clarify it.

Q183 Chairman: Putting on your old hat—
obviously, you do not have today’s figures—do you
know the rough percentage of prisoners who went
into Brixton who had either drug or mental health
problems?
Mr McDowell: I can give you a rough percentage
based on my three-year experience at Brixton. I left
there last August. In relation to drug addiction
probably 60% of oVenders who came in had some
level of drug addiction. The level of addiction varied
quite significantly. As to mental health it is more
diYcult to judge because often such problems are
hidden for various reasons, but I would say that at
least one quarter of them had suVered mental health
problems at some level or other.

Q184 Chairman: So, 25% had mental health
problems and 60% had drug problems?
Mr McDowell: Yes. I am separating mental health
from some sort of drug addiction.

Q185 Tom Brake: You may have heard me ask the
same question of Mr Wheatley. Are you aware of
any research to show how much you save if you
spend £1 on supporting ex-prisoners or training
them while they are in prison because those
individuals do not reappear in the prison system at
some future point? Is there any research that can tell
us the answer to that question?
Mr McDowell: I heard your question and was very
interested in it. For all of us who work in various
sectors of the criminal justice system an
understanding of the savings we can make if we do
x is almost like the Holy Grail. I know there are
attempts ongoing to try to identify those figures.
Nacro is now measuring the work it does in relation
to the potential saving to the taxpayer that might be
realised. I am not aware of any solid evidence in the
form of figures to back that up at this stage.

Q186 Tom Brake: I urge you to pursue that line of
inquiry because if you were able to tell the
Committee that spending £1 would result in a saving
of £3 down the line that is the sort of thing politicians
want to hear. Given we are entering an era when
there is likely to be less rather than more money
available, are you aware of current areas of spending
that you believe are unnecessary, are targeted at the
wrong things or could be more eVectively spent
elsewhere?
Mr McDowell: Speaking on behalf of Nacro, one of
the big frustrations for us is the level of bureaucracy
built into many of the commissioning systems. Drug
treatment is an interesting example of that. To go
back to my experiences as governor of Brixton
prison, in order to implement the integrated drug
treatment system there the process was one where the
money flowed down from the government
department to the NHS, the PCT, the prison and the
private prison health provider with whom we had
contracted inside the prison. All sorts of people were
taking an interest from the side, for instance the
National Drug Treatment Agency. You get into a
situation where there are people employed to check
the checkers. That is very frustrating. I am clear that
there is a lot of wastage in that respect.

Q187 Chairman: Too many managers?
Mr McDowell: Too many managers, too many levels
and too much bureaucracy. What we would very
much like to see—commissioning services is what
keeps Nacro able to deliver the work it does in
contributing to the reduction in crime—is straight
line commissioning arrangements so we can deliver
horizontal joined-up services. For us that would be
an ideal outcome.

Q188 Tom Brake: In relation to that particular
example, who would get the pot of money which
could be drawn down instantly without having to go
through the long chain of organisations before the
funding eventually dribbled down to the oVender?
Mr McDowell: I absolutely believe that you must
have a degree of checking. My concern is that there
is just too much of it. I would have thought that at
least a couple of levels could be cut out. It would be
interesting to know—before you ask I confess that I
have not made the calculation—how much more
money could have been used on the frontline
delivery of those services had we been able to cut out
some of that bureaucracy.
Chairman: Thank you very much for giving evidence
today. What you have to say is extremely important
to our inquiry. Please write to us with the statistics
that you have. I am sure they will help us in our
deliberations.
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Q189 Chairman: Thank you very much for coming
to give evidence. From what you have heard so far I
am sure you know why we are conducting this
inquiry. Thirteen years ago the government said it
wanted to be tough on crime and on the causes of it.
You at Reading deal with a number of those who
have committed crimes and ended up in the young
oVender centre. You know Mr Salter who doubt will
declare his interest, not as an inmate at Reading but
a visitor to it. A number of your prisoners have taken
part in the National Grid young oVender
programme. What is their re-oVending rate and how
successful do you believe that programme has been?
Mr Barber: It is quite diYcult to quantify in the sense
that when they leave the establishment sometimes
we lose sight of them because they then go into the
Probation Service. What I can say to you is that since
the programme started 66 prisoners from Reading
have been through it and I am aware of only four
who have come back in. That does not mean to say
they have not gone into other establishments; they
may have gone over our age threshold and gone into
an adult establishment. I know that National Grid
did an evaluation at one stage and said that its re-
oVending rate was about 7% of prisoners from all the
establishments who had gone through its
programme.

Q190 Chairman: The witnesses have between them
years and years of experience of the criminal justice
system. Ms Bryant, how many years have you spent
in the system?
Ms Bryant: I have spent 23 years in the system
starting at Holloway. The past six years have been
spent at Reading. Before that I was at Aylesbury
which is a young oVender institution but is
concerned with longer-term oVenders.
Mr Barber: I have spent 35 years in the system
starting with long-term dispersal prisons.

Q191 Chairman: Combined you have over half a
century’s experience. What do you believe are the
causes of crime?
Ms Bryant: Speaking for the lads we have at
Reading, they have a very low educational
attainment. Entry level three which is about ages
nine to 11 is the general consensus. A lot of them
come from areas where they have been excluded
from school and have problems within the family.
They are not so much prolific drug-users because we
have huge alcohol problems among some of our
young oVenders. That is their background.

Q192 David Davies: What proportion of inmates
would be eligible for release under the programme?
Mr Barber: We are a young oVender establishment
and we have a mixed population inasmuch as
probably two-thirds of the population are remand
prisoners and about a third have been sentenced. As
for release under temporary licence, which I think is
the question you ask, only those prisoners who are
sentenced are eligible. There are certain other
criteria. For example, if they are high risk or have a
further charge down the line they are ineligible for it.

Ms Bryant: To quantify that, Kennet unit holds
about 20 prisoners. We accept up to 24 year-olds and
we struggle to fill it with prisoners who are of a risk
low enough to release them on temporary licence.

Q193 David Davies: Yesterday there was an article in
the papers about an individual who had helped to
murder a young woman. Within three years he was
out on an early licence scheme and supposedly doing
work placement, but it seems that he was night-
clubbing and had found another girlfriend in the
interim. Many law-abiding people would be
horrified by stories like that. Can you assure us that
that is not happening in Reading?
Ms Bryant: Absolutely. They are not eligible and
obviously we do not even consider them. They have
to be eligible to go out in the first instance and with
those sorts of numbers we consider very carefully
beforehand the risk to the public and any victim
issues. Usually, they have gone out on a placement
first, perhaps to something like a charity shop,
before they go on to work. We have a very high
success rate with any prisoners who have gone out.
Mr Barber: All of our prisoners who are released in
the morning come back in the evening after they
have finished their job or training.

Q194 Gwyn Prosser: What about those inmates who
do not meet the criteria? They are not left to wither
on the vine. What do you do to help them with
training?
Mr Barber: When they first come into the prison
they have all sorts of issues. We have to get them
through de-tox; some have quite prolific self-
harming as an issue. In a sense coming into prison is
another problem they have to face. Initially,
sometimes it is about stabilising those individuals
and dealing with them through our safe custody
team in terms of self-harm monitoring and also in
terms of drug-related issues, putting them through
de-tox, getting them to engage initially with our drug
counsellors at work within the prison and from that
induction there is a series of assessments for
education. We also give them information about
what we do in the prison and how they can access
that. They are seen by people with various functions
working within the prison to assess them. From that
they are signposted. If they have literacy or
numeracy deficits obviously there is education. It
may be a drug programme or a cognitive thinking
skills programme that we operate at Reading. If they
have a very short-term sentence—we have some for
only a couple of weeks—and they have
accommodation it may be as simple as ensuring that
the landlord is aware of where they are and trying to
make sure they do not lose it. If they do not have
accommodation it is a matter of trying to find them
somewhere to go on release. There is a whole raft of
issues. It is very much tailored to the individual and
his circumstances.
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Q195 Gwyn Prosser: In general what is their attitude
to education and training? Do they look upon it as
just another chore and soldier on or do they
welcome it?
Mr Barber: Having worked with National Grid and
other employers, prisoners are aware of the Kennet
unit in the prison and it is something to which they
aspire. If they want to change but cannot read or
write clearly that will limit them in getting a job or
even doing things like going to some of our
workshops, the gymnasium or reading some of the
safety notices. Within the prison what we do is not
purely education. We map it across to other things
we do in the prison that is more on the vocational
side. They may attend a Duke of Edinburgh course.
We will map communication across to that as well so
that at the end of it they are doing a presentation to
parents or visitors who come in. There is a whole raft
of ways to get round it. Let us take the example of
numeracy. If you have weights on the end of a bar
you need to be able to count them. It is a question of
mapping it across not just purely in terms of
education.

Q196 Martin Salter: If the witnesses have found it
inconvenient to come here it is my fault but also their
fault for inspiring me in the work they do and some
of the things they have told me. I wanted you to be
able to share that with the Committee, for which we
are grateful. Are you still using the musical
instruments provided through the Jail Guitar Doors
programme and is that still working?
Ms Bryant: Yes, with a caveat: we have had to silence
them so they do not disturb everybody else. We
choose a time when they can make a noise with other
noisy classes rather than disrupt anyone who is
trying to learn how to speak English, for example.
There are some limitations to the rather noisy
musical instruments we received via yourself.

Q197 Martin Salter: I want to explore one matter we
talked about previously both at Reading and in
discussion with the other witnesses: the appalling
literacy rates. The figures we have show that the
average reading skill is that of an 11 year-old child.
Ms Bryant, I think your experience is that it is as low
as nine. For example, in order to put together an
eVective literacy programme in an institution like
yours how long a period of time do you need? How
often do you find yourself with young oVenders who
are moved around the prison estate so even though
you may want to put them on a three-month
programme you have them for only a few weeks?
Ms Bryant: We have tried some innovative ways to
engage people in key skills. We have a multi-skill
workshop which is one of the things we tailor for
remands. We used to call it the Planner Kitchen.
When prisoners came in we made sure we engaged
them in education that could interest them and
throw in with it key skills. For example, we would
get them to measure up an area of a kitchen. They
would make the kitchen and cost it; they would build
the kitchen and do simple plumbing and electrical
work. It was a four-week course. At the end their
families would come in. It would give them

experience of work and practical skills to move them
on. Once we have convicted prisoners we tend to
move them on. Our two main places are Onley and
Portland because we do not have the facilities. We
have to service the courts at Reading. A very small
group goes to the Kennet unit and also works
outside, so there are issues about being able to keep
people for that specific length of time. We worked
out that the average stay for prisoners was about 12
weeks which is clearly not long enough. If you are to
engage in any sort of programme with prisoners you
need to have more time. Our four-week courses are
taster courses form which move on to something
else. We have tried to dovetail our courses to things
that are going on in Portland and Onley afterwards
so that whatever they start with us they can pick up
at other prisons and have continuity. As long as
people have sentences of perhaps over 12 months—
in other words, they are serving at least six months—
you can do some serious intervention work to make
a diVerence, but you must have them for six months;
you have to give them the sense that they want to do
something, and all of that takes a little bit of time.

Q198 Martin Salter: This is important to us and may
be reflected in our recommendations. To be
absolutely clear, are you telling us it is diYcult for the
prison estate to do anything meaningful in terms of
training for sentences of less than six months, and
even if you are required to move them on there needs
to be joining up between the young oVender
institution and the host prison?
Ms Bryant: Yes.

Q199 Martin Salter: We talked previously about
perverse performance indicators. Such indicators
apply across a whole range of public services, but
clearly they can have perverse and unintended
consequences. Can you give us some examples of
where you have performance indicators that might
prevent you from delivering other objectives,
particularly in terms of trying to reduce re-
oVending?
Ms Bryant: I am struggling at this particular
juncture.

Q200 Martin Salter: Are you required to do one
thing which then inhibits your ability to do
something else? You can always write to us later.
Ms Bryant: We have an operational capacity which
suggests that we should have a certain number of
prisoners in there. We are unable to meet that
because of the risks posed by some of our prisoners.
We are constantly unable to meet targets in that sort
of fashion. Some of the other ones are related to
employment, training and education. While we can
probably attain some of the employment targets,
and have done successfully, we are not attaining all
of the training targets because we have not got
people there long enough or they are being released
from Reading. Some of them need to be tailor-made
to the prisoners, but I am not quite sure about the
other targets. Did you have anything in particular
in mind?
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Q201 Martin Salter: I recall a conversation that
you and I had a few months ago.
Ms Bryant: That is probably where we are.

Q202 Martin Salter: Perhaps you can follow that
up with a letter to us.
Ms Bryant: Yes.

Q203 Bob Russell: Ms Bryant, in response to Mr
Salter’s questions about prisoners moving on with
their rehabilitation and education programme to
the next place you said “We have tried that”. I got
the impression that that was not necessarily a
roaring success.
Ms Bryant: We have a head of learning and skills.
We have gone out to Portland and Onley and
tailored some of the courses we oVer so people can
continue with our taster course at the next prison.
It may be plumbing or something else in that vein.
It is a growing area. It was recognised by Ofsted
last June when it visited us that we were doing a
lot of work at an embryonic stage to address the
needs of young oVenders.

Q204 Bob Russell: I apologise. When you said “We
have tried that” it was a positive response. I
interpreted it as something you had tried but
nothing had come of it.
Ms Bryant: We continue to try it.

Q205 Bob Russell: It may be that in due course
there will be feedback as to how successful it has
been at other establishments?
Ms Bryant: Yes.

Q206 Bob Russell: When young people arrive at
Reading do their health records indicate whether
any of them have experienced acquired brain injury
at some point in their lives?
Ms Bryant: I was intrigued by that. I have not come
across it.
Mr Barber: We have a mental health team within
the prison which sees all the new people coming in
and do an assessment. It is not something of which
I am aware.

Q207 Bob Russell: The Committee may need to
revisit that at a subsequent separate inquiry. When
youngsters come in with appalling levels of literacy
and social deprivation, which is a damning
indictment on society generally, are any of them
ever asked whether they have been members of a
recognised youth organisation at any time in
their lives?
Ms Bryant: I do not think they are asked that
specific question but they usually come with some
antecedents and information. We have quite large
numbers who are aYliated to gangs but not other
youth services. We are usually aware of quite a
good deal of their background via the police
liaison oYcer.

Q208 Bob Russell: They are not asked the specific
question, “Have you ever been a member of a
recognised youth organisation?”

Ms Bryant: No.

Q209 Bob Russell: When is the critical intervention
point for oVender rehabilitation, if there is one?
Mr Barber: We have a number of interventions. It
is probably the point at which we make a very
thorough assessment when they first come in so we
can signpost them to some of the facilities and
programmes in the institution. In terms of critical
intervention I think one of the earlier witnesses said
that it could be any of a number of things that
we do.

Q210 Tom Brake: Is there anything in the current
sentencing process that you would change to
maximise rehabilitation? You have heard from
some of the earlier questioning that perhaps there
is a push from the right to ensure people spend a
much longer time in prison to maximise the
rehabilitation potential. Perhaps at the other end of
the spectrum there is a demand for tougher or more
heavily supervised community sentences. What
would you change if you had a free hand?
Ms Bryant: I believe we have a very good
relationship with the Thames Valley Probation
Service. We get an increasingly better service in
terms of oVender management from outside. All
young oVenders get at least three months’
supervision when they come out of prison, so they
are addressing the needs of young oVenders
probably better than they do adults who can just
fall out of the system and then move on. Certainly,
community sentences are increasingly more
acceptable because people have long since
recognised that very short sentences in prison just
do not do any good. If anything, as long as the
Probation Service is able to address the needs of the
oVender and convince the courts that interventions
can take place outside that is the way forward.

Q211 Tom Brake: Obviously, it is not your area of
responsibility but in terms of community sentences
are you happy that as far as you can tell they are
being properly supervised?
Ms Bryant: I am content that they are quite well
supervised. In addition, quite a lot of work can be
done in the area. We are next to Forbury Gardens
where some people work. Some of our young
prisoners have gone out into the community and
done community service projects that have been
tremendously successful. There has been some talk
that perhaps some of our prisoners can go with
other community service oVenders to help them
along and convince them that they really do not
want to go into prison, but I am not too sure; it
could also cause problems and would depend on
the supervision. We can do a few things.
Community service orders for short sentences
would be far better.

Q212 Chairman: A few months ago Members of the
Committee visited Feltham and spoke to some
young oVenders. There was a view that though
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some had come in as a result of having committed
serious crimes they left with additional skills to
commit more crimes; in other words, for some these
young oVender institutions was an education
process. What are you doing to ensure that they do
not pick up new skills they did not have before and
commit further crimes when they come out?
Ms Bryant: We have a comprehensive violence
reduction strategy. We have had some problems
with an existing gang culture. Southampton has a
particularly active gang culture which quite
surprised me. We have had quite a few problems
with other gangs that have come from
overcrowding drafts from the London area. The
sorts of things with which we have most problems
are bullying, people being coerced by others to pass
canteens and the sort of behaviour they display. We
address those with a work book and we work quite
eVectively with prisoners who show those sorts of
tendencies. That is our biggest problem. Are you
referring to things like stealing from other people
while they are inside?

Q213 Chairman: Maybe they come in for burglary
but go out knowing how to commit fraud; it is the
kind of place where they graduate with more
criminal skills. Are we conscious of this and are we
doing our best to deal with it?
Ms Bryant: I would not be confident that those are
the sorts of problems we have particularly at
Reading.

Q214 Chairman: The lesson of Feltham is that you
have to be extremely careful where you place young
people in terms of their accommodation.
Presumably, we have learnt all the lessons about
that.
Mr Barber: Yes. We make the same risk
assessments that Feltham conduct and those have
been adopted nationally in the Prison Service.
Chairman: Thank you for coming to give evidence
today; it has been very helpful. If there are any
other issues that you think the Committee should
look at in this inquiry please let us know. If
Members have the opportunity to pay a visit to
Reading they or Mr Salter will contact you.
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Q215 Chairman: Good morning. I would refer
everyone present to the Register of Members’
Interests, where the interests of all members of the
Committee are registered. This is an inquiry into
crime prevention. We are looking at the
Government’s initial phrase: “Tough on crime and
tough on the causes of crime,” and we are assessing
what the Government has done in respect of crime
prevention over the last 13 years. Welcome to
Sebastian Conran and Jack Wraith, both of whom
are involved in this area. We have looked at the
intervention by the state. Your role today is to give
us evidence about other aspects of crime prevention,
specifically designing out crime, and we are hopeful
that you will give us particular examples of what you
have done to try and design out crime. I will start
with a question to both of you. Are there examples
of areas where crime can be designed out, therefore
ensuring that the opportunity to commit crime is not
before those who wish to become criminals?
Mr Conran: Without a doubt. When designing
products and designing services and the way things
work, we can put in anticipatory features, with
benefits and consequences, at an early stage of their
conception.

Q216 Chairman: Are the benchmarks cost benefits?
Are they linked to statistics or figures which show
there has been a reduction of crime in a particular
area? How do you know that what you are doing in
designing out crime is successful?
Mr Conran: There will be evidence. We are halfway
through a process where we are analysing where the
problems are, gathering information, understanding
what the problems are, synthesising concepts for
dealing with those problems and then looking to
implement them. We have some early examples to
demonstrate how this works, if you would be
interested.

Q217 Chairman: Thank you. We will certainly look
at those examples as the session progresses.
Mr Wraith: To give you a comparison: in the late
1990s we had handsets which contained security
aspects which could very easily be manipulated by
just about anyone; today we have handsets which
make that manipulation, not impossible, because of
the way the unit is designed, but certainly a lot more
challenging technically. As you will see as we go on
during the morning, we have introduced a number of
security measures within the handset, based around
something which is called the International Mobile

Equipment Identity number, or IMEI, and it is the
IMEI which gives the unit a unique identity. The UK
have very much led this particular initiative in
getting both the handset manufacturers and the
GSM Association, both global organisations, to
make the IMEI as robust and as secure as possible,
thus enabling us on the backend of that to be able to
do security types of activity against those
particular units.
Chairman: Thank you.

Q218 Martin Salter: In your view where does the
current risk lie in terms of products or services that
are most vulnerable to criminal exploitation? Is it
credit cards? Is it accessing details online? I have had
my credit card skimmed twice now: once as a result
of a purchase online and once as a result of a
purchase at a garage. Is it copying, for example, with
innovative products immediately being sent across
to China, or wherever, to be copied and then flooded
back into the market? Which are the most vulnerable
areas of which we should be most aware?
Mr Conran: Identity theft is a key area. About
800,000 phones a year are stolen, and 80% of users
carry personal information on them and 18% keep
their bank details on them as well. This highlights
the focus on mobile phones. We are looking at quite
a few non-technical areas, like alcohol-related
crimes, and at fairly low-tech things, like designing
safer kitchen knives, and at setting standards of best
practice in housing design as well. The high-tech hot
product area is an opportunity for crime that we
should anticipate, but it is just one of five streams
that we are looking at.
Mr Wraith: My answer would be: all of the above.
There will always be theft and there will always be
people who will target items which they can sell on
or use in an illegal way. It is very, very diYcult to
prevent that. The position the industry has taken is
to accept that will happen and to see what we can do
after that event to mitigate the impact of someone
losing the phone or someone losing the credit card.
Most of the procedures and the processes that we
have put into place are geared towards that.
Education of the consumer is a very important area
which is often overlooked. We have seen consumers
change their attitude quite significantly over the
years. The current economic climate has seen a
change in the way people treat their personal
possessions. They are more likely to take much more
care, consciously, of their mobile phone than they
would have done, say, five or six years back. There
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has been a change in attitude since we have
introduced the smart phone. As Sebastian has
indicated, there are phones now which are holding a
lot of personal details, and people are conscious of
that. They are conscious of the various adverts, the
educational aspects of identity theft. They have
made them aware, and in fact sometimes have gone
a little too far and put them in fear. There is always
this balance of trying to educate people without
making them too fearful of using the product, and so
getting the best out of the product as it was designed
to be.
Martin Salter: Thank you, Chairman.

Q219 Mrs Dean: Could you tell us where the demand
for designing out crime tends to come from? Is it
from the consumer or the manufacturer? Is it from
police forces, local authorities, or even the
Government?
Mr Conran: In the case of business, there is a bit of
a paradox: if a product is stolen, there is a
displacement sale for the business. Although initially
business may seem to benefit inadvertently from a
theft, the reality is that, as the thief becomes more
sophisticated, he will begin to target business itself
and so that will be self-defeating. Another issue is
that, as people become more aware of the benefits of
crime-resistant design, it will become a sales benefit
and a feature that people will look for, in the same
way that maybe environmental issues have now
become features that people are conscious of and for
which there is a demand. There is probably a similar
paradigm to follow with designing out crime as has
happened with the popularity of environmental
issues.
Mr Wraith: It comes from two main areas. One is the
consumers themselves, who are looking for an article
or an item or a product which they feel they can
operate in a safe environment. It also of course
comes from the manufacturers, who are looking for
that niche market in order to get ahead of the
competition. We have seen a move within the
market-place of using safety as a marketing tool,
where, again, if one goes back ten or 15 years that
was never the case. People would never mention the
safety; it would be at the back of the pamphlet, in
annex whatever. There is now much more
encouragement to put that upfront and to say what
the security aspects of the item are. If one takes the
iPhone as an example, one can set the iPhone up so
that if it is illegally accessed a number of times it will
automatically wipe the information that is therein.

Q220 Mr Streeter: How do people go about the
process of designing out crime? Who do you speak
to? Obviously the police, consumers, experts—but
would you talk us through the process.
Mr Conran: The methodology is to identify the
problem, either through historical statistics,
engaging with law enforcement. We have
criminologists. Gloria Laycock—from whom you
will be hearing later, I believe—has been identifying
crime patterns and trends directly with Merseyside
Police, and this seems to have been successful. Also,
by anticipating social and technological changes,

which are driven by cause and eVect, we seek to
understand what opportunities there are for the
criminal, how the criminal will try to take advantage
of these trends, and the ramifications and the issues
that arise from them. Then we will seek to engage
with experts, with professionals in the field (for
instance, communications technologists), and look
to develop robust solutions which are also
convenient and usable to the customer. We do not
want fortress products; we want products which are
engaging and useful to use, which people will feel
safer with, as Jack was saying earlier. We seek to
validate these through testing and quantifying the
results, and we then implement action through
establishing best practice and policy and inspiring
business—both the manufacturers and, most
importantly, the retailers, because it is the retailers
who will drive the manufacturers.
Mr Wraith: Over the years, we have tried to listen to
the consumer and take on board what the consumer
has been telling us with respect to design. This is in
all age groups. Over the years, we have held a
number of workshops with very young people and
we have had some very good ideas in that respect. We
have held workshops with people who are directly
concerned with the security of the product and we
have had feedback in that respect. The challenge is
feeding those ideas into the manufacturing chain,
because, inevitably, that is outside a national focus.
We have had a varying degree of success: what we
have wanted to be taken on board has not always
been taken on board. That is where market forces
come into play. A global market-place, when it
comes to mobile phones, is very much where
manufacturers want their focus. If it is something
which is UK -specific or does not appear to have the
attraction in a wider market-place, then it is very
diYcult to get a manufacturer to take it on.

Q221 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Wraith, you have told us
this morning, in eVect, that there will always be theft
and there will always be misbehaviour and perhaps
the best we can do is to reduce the impact of theft.
Does that mean we are never going to be keeping up
with the game?
Mr Wraith: No, I think we are keeping up with the
game. The British Crime Survey of last year would
show that mobile phone robberies have maintained
a very low percentage, as for the previous year,
despite a fairly significant increase in the number of
mobile phones which are in the market-place. One
has to be realistic: there will always be thefts. Whilst
there is that level of crime against the person, be it a
burglary or be it an individual, the robber is not
going to leave a device which will enable the person
to alert the authorities of what has occurred, so there
will always be that theft. There will always be theft
with young people which has a lot more other social
aspects to it, in terms of bullying and the like. How
do we mitigate that beyond the point of it occurring?
That is where the blocking of handsets comes in.
That is where the educational aspect for young
people comes in. Since 2003, year-on-year, we have
had an annual project in conjunction with the police
and the Home OYce to educate young people within
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the school environment/within the youth club
environment of the dangers of mobile phones and
how to be more mature in the use of mobile phones.

Q222 Gwyn Prosser: Martin Salter mentioned that
he has twice had the details of his card cloned or
stolen. I have never had that experience, thank
goodness, but I once had my mobile phone snatched
out of my hand in the high street. In those days—and
I speak as a lay person—there was the feeling that,
although I reported the theft immediately, the Sim
card or the phone itself could be used. There was
then a discussion, was there not, between the likes of
yourselves and the manufacturers to take on your
recommendations for stricter controls? If that were
to happen today, what immediate benefit would
there be to the person who stole my phone?
Mr Wraith: If a phone is stolen, once the network is
informed—and that is the key: the network must be
informed—the Sim card will be disabled almost
immediately. Under the agreement we have with the
Home OYce, that home network has 24 hours to
disable the handset on its own network and to pass
that information to the other networks for them to
be able to action it in the following 24 hours. I
personally have the responsibility of running an
independent test each year against those networks,
to ensure that they meet the criteria which the Home
OYce has laid down in what is called the Mobile
Industry Crime Action Forum Charter, which says
that 80% of all phones must be disabled within 24
hours on their home network and within 48 hours on
the other networks. You might be thinking, and I
would not blame you, “Why does it take so long?”
Quite simply, it takes so long because the initial
contact with the home network will disable the
account, and that is not a problem, but we must then
ensure that the IMEI, which we are now going to use
in a security function, is the correct one. In order to
do that, we must go back into the network to find out
what unit was being operated by that Sim card at the
time of the reported theft or loss. That may take
some time, because the network might not feed that
information down to a terminal where it can be fed
into for four or five hours. We have to allow that to
happen, and, once that IMEI is identified, then the
unit, the actual handset, is disabled on the home
network and it is that information which is passed,
in the case of the United Kingdom, to the other four
networks via a central platform which is operated
globally by the GSM Association. They will then use
that information to populate their own networks, so
that within 48 hours that handset will not work. We
have found that the mere fact that that is in
operation, the knowledge that that is in operation,
has cut down on a lot of the types of handset sales
that used to go on on a Friday night in the pub or a
Thursday night in the pub, because people know
that, yes, the phone might work if it has just been
stolen outside, but come Monday morning it will not
work. We have had that impact. We would like to
improve on those times and we are under constant
pressure by the Home OYce to do so.
Gwyn Prosser: Thank you very much.

Q223 Mr Winnick: Would it not be a realistic
viewpoint to take that the criminals will always try
to increase their game? They will find new ways.
Criminal gangs will certainly use all the intelligence
that they have—too much on many occasions—to
commit the sort of crimes we have been talking
about. It is a matter of trying to catch up with them,
and minimizing the harm which obviously they do,
as well as the tremendous amount of commercial loss
involved.
Mr Wraith: Yes, the criminal will always try to
exploit whatever situation, and they are much, much
more flexible and have been much more flexible in
the past than some of the industries in their response.
For example, since the blocking database was
introduced in 2003, we have seen a shift in the way
mobile phones are disposed of after they have been
stolen. We have seen the growing exportation from
the UK of mobile phones. This is because the
blocking database that we operate is a national
database. It only operates within the UK, and the
criminal is well aware, as you quite rightly point out,
that there is a way of getting those phones out. That
has led to a whole set of processes that were not there
four or five years ago. The National Mobile Phone
Crime Unit, a national police unit which is given a
responsibility by the Home OYce to address these
aspects of mobile phone crime, has developed what
is called the Register, which checks the databases in
a number of areas of mobile handsets. The National
Mobile Phone Crime Unit, in its processes and
procedures, has developed checking at points of exit
such as Dover, Heathrow, Manchester and the like,
pulling passengers who are departing from the UK
out of the queue and searching their baggage, and
when their baggage has contained a whole handbag
full of mobile phones—this is an actual example—
those mobile phones have been able to be checked
there and then against the blocking database, the
stolen equipment database and various other
databases, and a number of arrests have been made
in that respect. It is this constant change.

Q224 Mr Winnick: A constant battle.
Mr Wraith: Absolutely.

Q225 Chairman: I am a bit concerned and I think the
Committee is that crime prevention is not the
priority that it ought to be. If you buy a house after
1 January the vendor has to provide you with an
Energy Performance Certificate. There is a huge
concern about the environment, an important
concern about the environment. As far as business is
concerned, should there be more responsibilities put
on business to ensure that they have buildings that
will prevent crime occurring? Should there be much
more of an onus placed on them by the Government
to make sure that this happens?
Mr Wraith: I believe that is an unfair comparison. If
one is buying a house, one is spending hundreds of
thousands of pounds. If one is buying a mobile
phone, one might only be spending £30 or £40.
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Q226 Chairman: I am not talking about mobile
phones, but the cost to the taxpayer of crime runs
into billions, does it not?
Mr Wraith: Yes.

Q227 Chairman: Do we know what the figure is? It
runs into billions. Should we not be doing more?
Mobile phone crime is just one aspect.
Mr Wraith: The cost of the unit and the
competitiveness which there is in the global market-
place means that—

Q228 Chairman: But I am not talking just about
mobile phones. I am talking more generally here,
away from mobile phones to the general point that
the cost of crime is enormous. Should there be a
greater onus on business to be more responsible?
Mr Conran: As we heard the other day, the cost of
fraud against the Government is £17 billion a year.
That is not overall fraud; that is just the cost to
government and the taxpayer. Housing is a very
good point. You have picked up on a pet subject. In
the HIPs report we had been working with CABE on
looking at exploring the design and layout of new
housing and housing developments to optimise
safety and security. There are issues of security: too
much security can compromise fire safety and exits
and things like that. As I have said, we are working
with the Committee for Architecture and the Built
Environment to establish standards of best practice.

Q229 Chairman: Is there any research that suggests
that a burglar alarm in a house or in a business is
likely to deter somebody from breaking in? If you
have a functioning burglar alarm, is it more likely
that people will not try to break into your house? Is
there any research that supports this?
Mr Conran: There is research. I do not have access
to it at this very moment.

Q230 Chairman: What does the research tell us?
Mr Conran: Without a doubt, that having a
functioning burglar alarm and one that is linked to
the police response system will reduce your
likelihood of being burgled. We have been lobbying
to have a Home Security Assessment as part of the
HIPs Report. The resistance, rather unbelievably,
has been that if criminals come across this they will
be able to access, through estate agents, which
houses are vulnerable, and so we have to overcome
that sort of resistance.

Witness: Deputy Assistant Commissioner Rod Jarman, Association of Chief Police OYcers, gave evidence.

Q237 Chairman: Deputy Assistant Commissioner
Jarman, thank you very much for coming to give
evidence this morning. This is an inquiry into crime
prevention, how the Government has done in
preventing crime rather than dealing with crime, and
of course the mantle of greatness is given to those
who win wars not to those who prevent wars. I want
to know, to start with, how much of a priority for the

Q231 Chairman: You have some examples, I
understand, of simple measures that people can take
in order to reduce the level of crime.
Mr Wraith: Yes. I would like to draw your attention
to a number of things. First of all, I have this
particular pamphlet. When we started this campaign
back in 2002/2003, the challenge was to educate the
consumer.

Q232 Chairman: The leaflet will be passed around.
Are there other examples?
Mr Wraith: There is also this item. When we started
to educate the consumer on the importance of the
IMEI number—which is contained within the
mobile phone, normally underneath the battery and
normally in very small print—we provided this type
of item, in order for them to be able to magnify that
number and read it oV. It was another process of
education.

Q233 Chairman: This is publicity material.
Mr Wraith: It is publicity and educational material.
I will give them all to you.

Q234 Chairman: These are all leaflets, but are there
any examples you can give us?
Mr Conran: Perhaps I could put a focus on violent
crime. There are 87,000 violent incidents involving
glass each year. The cost to the NHS for dealing in
hospital with alcohol-related harm, including
assault, is £2.7 billion a year. One issue is that current
beer glasses are used as a weapon.

Q235 Chairman: Those in pubs and clubs, you
mean?
Mr Conran: Yes, and bottles.

Q236 Chairman: You have one that is already
broken.
Mr Conran: We have one here which is made of glass.
It has been broken. It has an encapsulating film, so
that the shards are contained and there is less
likelihood of serious injury. We have been working
on another one, which works a bit like a car
windscreen, which will break into very small pieces.
Chairman: That is very helpful. It would be very
useful for us have a look at that glass. Mr Conran
and Mr Wraith, thank you very much for coming in
to give evidence to us this morning. It has been
extremely helpful. If there are any aspects of your
evidence that you want to expand on, or any further
information you want to provide, please do so before
the inquiry is concluded.

police is crime prevention, as opposed to dealing
with crime after it has occurred.
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: If you go
right back to Lord Peel and the beginning of policing
in London and across the country, the focus has
always been discussed as preventing crime being the
primary object, and detecting crime when it has
occurred being the secondary object of policing. An



Processed: 25-03-2010 19:01:18 Page Layout: COENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 442540 Unit: PAG2

Home Affairs Committee: Evidence Ev 37

2 February 2010 Deputy Assistant Commissioner Rod Jarman

awful lot of what we do is around preventing crime.
The last few years have seen a movement away from
detection being the primary issue for policing into
reducing the levels of victimisation and the levels of
criminality, and that has worked through and such
programmes as the local area agreements and the
PSAs have moved the focus away from just what do
we do when a crime has happened into how we work
in partnerships to reduce crimes happening in the
first place. In terms of a direction of travel, it is
definitely where we have been going and definitely
what we are focusing on. However, we are the part of
the partnership, if you like, the part of the structure
which is responsible for enforcement activity, and
therefore a very large part of our role is about
catching and putting before the courts those people
who commit crime. It is part of the agenda to reduce
crime and it would be wrong for us to not keep
that focus.

Q238 Chairman: There was an article in The Times
this week about the Scilly Isles. You may have seen
it. It said that this is the most wonderful place to live
in the United Kingdom because there is virtually no
crime—I think six crimes had been committed last
year. This is the ideal, the nirvana in which everyone
would like to live. We are not going to get to that
position, are we, in the United Kingdom because
crime is going to be committed? Our concern in this
Committee is the emphasis that is given as far as
crime prevention is concerned. We know, for
example, how much of a policeman’s time is spent on
bureaucracy. We are given these figures. Jan Berry
has recently given these figures as well. If you take
the average police constable, how much of that
police constable’s time would be spent on doing
crime prevention work as opposed to trying to reach
targets, filling in forms, that kind of thing?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: You need
to have a model of what you mean by crime
prevention. From my specific position, there are a
number of strands within that. Some are giving
straightforward advice and assisting with the design
of issues to prevent crime happening. The
neighbourhood policing agenda is all around
increasing confidence and reducing the fear of crime.
There is an awful lot of research which shows that
where you increase confidence and reduce fear,
people comply more and commit less crime, so there
is a direct crossover. In London, specifically, the
growth of neighbourhood policing has led to a
reduction in crime in the areas where it has been
brought in. There are other models around youth
crime, about intervention with young people to
prevent them becoming oVenders. Then there are
models around social interactions with other people.

Q239 Chairman: A lot of what you have described
are duties that could well be conducted by PCSOs
going around to a person’s house and advising them,
“You need a burglar alarm” or “Are the windows
secure?” et cetera. Giving a house a crime audit is
something that can be done by someone who is not
a police oYcer. You do not have to be a police oYcer
to do this, but those are the structures that have been

created over the last 12 years. We know how much
time a police oYcer spends on bureaucracy. We
know that. We know how much time they spend on
the beat. We do not seem to know how much time is
spent on crime prevention.
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: If you take
all those things I have described and then add onto
that the arresting and detaining of oVenders as being
about preventing them from committing further
crimes, almost all police activity—and I include in
that all other parts of the organisation as well as
police oYcers, so PCSOs and police staV—when it is
not doing things like bureaucracy or when we are not
hanging around for other things that we get involved
with, is focused on preventing crime. My position
would be that, once you take the bureaucracy out,
almost everything is around preventing crime. If you
want to look at how much time we spend on crime
prevention advice, I do not have that measure—
although, as an organisation, the Metropolitan
Police would be able to provide it. Other forces may
not be able to provide it.

Q240 Chairman: Do you have crime prevention
oYcers in the Met? How many deal just with crime
prevention?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: We have 96
crime prevention design analysts. We have 4,600
people within the neighbourhood policing teams
who have had training to give advice around crime
prevention. Then we have a very small number, a
residue number, of about 20 specific crime
prevention oYcers. There are reasons for the
diVerence. For instance, you talked about alarms
just now. For us to give professional advice around
alarm systems and which ones would work in
particular areas, the person giving that advice has to
have a level of competence which is above normal.
The vast majority of advice that we give is really
about British Standard locks, shutting windows and
doors, and those sorts of things.

Q241 Chairman: There is no doubt in your mind that
if somebody has a burglar alarm on their house it
acts as a deterrent.
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: Absolutely
no doubt in my mind, but there are a number of
other things which act as a deterrent as well: the way
that buildings are open to give natural surveillance;
the way they are designed to prevent through-flow of
people. For instance, cul-de-sacs are far less likely to
be subject to crime than through roads. Private
roads are less subject to crime. Where there is access
from the rear of a property, that increases the risk of
crime. There is a whole range of things which you
can do, burglar alarms being definitely one. The
previous evidence talked about advice. One of the
key issues is that most crime happens
opportunistically, and most crime happens because
people have not shut doors/ have not locked
windows.

Q242 Chairman: Something very basic. You are a
distinguished police oYcer; you have been around
for a long time. Our discussions are also focused on
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the causes of crime. If you had to pick oV the top of
your head the top three causes of crime, what would
they be?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: If I start
with violent crime: specifically over the last couple of
years, we have seen a massive rise in the number of
young people being involved in murder and being
the victims of murder, and then getting back in
control of that, if you like. The whole issues around
violent crime are how people grow up from a very
early age. There is a whole issue around the
involvement of the health services and social services
with very young people, neglect within families,
support within young families. There is a whole
series of issues around how safe young people are in
primary, junior and secondary schools, how safe
they feel, how supportive they are, and then there is
a whole set of issues around where do they turn to for
peer support. Do they turn to something
constructive and positive, or do they turn to a group
of people who are getting them involved in a sort of
gang type network? That is the sort of framework.
Around violence, it is that whole issue around the
interconnectedness of all of the bits of the state and
family that support people growing up. If you look
at acquisitive crime, many of the same things apply.
An awful lot of acquisitive crime is committed by
young people. That is not to say all young people; in
fact the minority of young people commit crime, but
when you look at the peak oVending age being 21, it
is in that ten to 21 year age range that the majority
of acquisitive crime is committed. The issues there
are two-fold. One is around how to intervene in
young people’s lives, to deal with those who are
going to commit one crime as they are growing up.
They need a short, sharp shock of some description,
part of which could just be being arrested and being
addressed. The other part is about what are their
family ties and connections, to prevent them going
oV the rails further. I suppose the third thing which
we really ought to be focusing on is how we design
buildings, premises and locations to reduce the
likelihood of crime happening. You mentioned a
little earlier whether there is any evidence of this
working. Secure by Design is situational crime
prevention. There is a lot of evidence showing that
those places where those principles are being used
are up to 60% less likely to have crime committed in
them than those that are not. That whole thought
about how we design new things is one of the issues
that I think we ought to get a grip on.
Chairman: Thank you.

Q243 Gwyn Prosser: You have just told us about
some of the agencies and initiatives in place which,
with correct intervention, should reduce crime
amongst young people. There are a lot of others, of
course, including Sure Start and Children Centres
and intervention with families. With all that going
on, to what extent do police oYcers feel that all they
can do is plug the gaps in those areas? You also
talked about interconnectivity. Do you feel that
there is the correct level of co-ordination between all
the agencies, all trying to do the same thing? How
could it be improved?

Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: There are
probably three levels to think about how we provide
services in this area, if you want to use that
terminology. The bits where I think we are well
connected and where we work really well together is
about the targeted provision of services to those
people who are committing crime, who are already
into that cycle. Most of those now, through youth
oVending teams, through youth projects, through
the various arrangements, are well co-ordinated. At
the very high level, for those people who are
probably going into prison, who are having
detention orders, I think it is well organised. The
area where it becomes quite diYcult for people to
understand is at the sort of universal, provision-to-
everybody type area. How do we all work together
to assist all young people growing up?—if I may put
it in that generic way. The police role quite often has
been to fill the void in youth provision out-of-hours.
We will have provision during schooling hours and
quite often provision mid-week during the evenings,
but on Friday and Saturday nights we have seen a
lack of provision and young people hanging around
on street corners, getting into trouble and creating
that sort of emphasis for police intervention. That is
the bit where, historically, and still at the moment,
we have not been as tied up as we could be. I think
the police have a real definite role in being the front
end of joint services around those types of people,
because we are the ones out on the streets in uniform
identifying them, but I do not think we are always as
capable as we need to be to intervene appropriately
with them.

Q244 Gwyn Prosser: We have all heard stories from
people of my age looking back at the time of their
youth. If a policeman, a copper, came along the
road, there was due deference and respect, et cetera,
and just a few words would be enough to send you
scampering. Today we hear stories from community
support oYcers of some real-life attitudes, where
young youths are being cheeky, at best, and insulting
and abusive, at worst, without any sort of recourse
taking place. What has happened in the meantime?
I know it is a big question, but what is your view and
with all your experience?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: I am still
reeling at the Chairman’s comment that I have been
around a lot, so perhaps I am not the best person to
comment on that. I think there is a very significant
problem for young people in their interactions with
the police. Many of the sorts of structures around
society generate an environment where young
people think they should challenge where they can
push boundaries, where they can be cheeky, if you
like. Without check, that being cheeky can lead into
antisocial behaviour and then into violence. When
they meet police oYcers and PCSOs, that is often the
first time when they will meet someone who has to
draw a line and say, “This cannot happen.”

Q245 Gwyn Prosser: Because the line has not been
drawn at home perhaps.
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Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: Because I
do not think the line is drawn enough in other places.
That often puts us into a position of confrontation—
and it is quite right, that is what we are here for, but
that confrontation is exacerbated by the fact that the
young people do not believe that the line has been
drawn, and so a lot of our work is dealing with
setting that boundary and enforcing that boundary
and making it real, when other people, for a number
of reasons, have not done that.
Gwyn Prosser: Thank you.
Chairman: Thank you, Mr Prosser. I cannot imagine
you scampering away from anybody, including
police oYcers.

Q246 Mr Winnick: Mr Jarman, the Metropolitan
Police Commissioner has requested or instructed—
whichever is the appropriate word—police oYcers
to go round singly in patrols. This has apparently
caused some concern, although the point has been
made by the Commissioner that, where clearly it
would be inadvisable for there to be just one police
oYcer, that will not occur. Can you let us in on what
is the current situation?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: Single
patrol is the default position for patrol in the
Metropolitan Police Service. All patrols should start
with an oYcer working on their own. There are two
strong principles behind that. The first is that a risk
assessment has to take place beforehand to make
sure it is appropriate for oYcers to work on their
own. Can they achieve their aims if they are on their
own? Do they have the ability to patrol singly? The
second is where they are in their training cycle, so a
number of oYcers do not have independent patrol
status because of the way we train at the moment, so
they have to patrol with somebody else. When I
joined the organisation—which was over 30 years
ago—single patrol was the way we did business.
Somewhere between 30 years ago and about two
years ago, we had drifted into a way of working
which meant that oYcers were always in pairs. For
the vast majority of activity, the oYcers do not need
to be in pairs. They can complete their tasks on their
own. When we have surveyed—we have done
borough by borough reviews of their frameworks
around patrol—most boroughs have said the same
thing, that, apart from a small number oYcers who
are responding to emergency calls and oYcers who
are working at particular times of day and in
particular locations, almost everybody can patrol on
their own. That is where we are moving to at the
moment. We are having to rethink how we train
people, because we have trained them for working in
pairs. We are thinking about how they give evidence
at court, because, again, they have got used to there
being two of them. All of those things are things
which we can overcome. We want our oYcers out on
the streets, engaging with the public, talking to the
public, making sure that they have that interaction
which leads to good intelligence, and making sure
that people understand that they can walk
confidently and safely on the streets.

Q247 Mr Winnick: The report I saw indicated that
there was a feeling that, apart from anything else, if
two police oYcers are together they will inevitably be
in conversation, and there will be a greater
reluctance on the part of the public to come and
speak to them if there is a problem. Is there any sort
of substance in that?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: That seems
to make sense to all of us who do this activity: if you
are with somebody else, you will talk to that person
and there is a barrier to overcome. The substance is
probably academically not sound. It is just what we
believe to be appropriate. We do know from talking
to the public that the public feel safer in areas where
they see more oYcers on patrol on their own. There
could be a whole number of reasons behind that—
probably because they are seeing more oYcers, but
also because of the interaction.

Q248 Mr Winnick: My constituency is not in a
Metropolitan area, it is in the West Midlands, and I
can assure you—and I would be surprised if the view
of any of my parliamentary colleagues diVered—
that my constituents are reassured when they see
police oYcers. Their only complaint is that they
want to see them more often and more frequently—
but that will not come as any surprise to you. As far
as Friday and Saturday night activities are
concerned, has there been any marked reduction in
youth oVending since the introduction of, as you
know, Mr Jarman, targeted provision for those two
nights? Have you or your colleagues noticed any
reduction?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: There is a
whole range of things that have happened in the last
two years. The Youth Crime Action Plan brought in
some targeted provision on Friday and Saturday
nights. It also brought in Operation Staysafe. It
brought a focus on delivering services at the time
that they were needed in the high crime areas. Our
indications are that, in those areas where additional
funds have been made available and, in particular,
an additional focus has been made, there has been a
decrease in the amount of antisocial behaviour and
violence. I think, though, that there are so many
complex things happening at the same time that it
would be wrong to draw a conclusion that it was just
that one element that made a diVerence. That is a
really important element, but we also know that
things like the provision of Kicks, a football
engagement programme in high crime areas at the
time when crime happens, having something which
engages young people and takes them oV the street
and gets them doing something positive, makes a
diVerence on crime. We know also that, where we
have police oYcers working closely with young
people on problem-solving, on the things that are
causing problems and leading to crime, that has
reduced crime in those areas. There are a number of
diVerent models which have all been brought in at
the same time, unfortunately, so to unpick and say,
“That’s the one that made the diVerence,” is really
diYcult, but our indication would be that it makes
sense that that has happened and it has happened
and led to reductions in crime.
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Mr Winnick: Thank you very much.

Q249 Martin Salter: Mr Jarman, I am concerned
about generational crime. I have stood in
playgrounds in some parts of my constituency with
the then area commander, who has pointed out to me
kids whose fathers’ grandfathers he has arrested and
dealt with, where subsequent conversations with the
teachers show already that generational pattern of
behaviour continuing. How do we break that cycle?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: There is a
huge amount of evidence about this, about the fact
that the way that your family and your peers behave
will aVect the way that you behave. I do not know
why we need a lot of evidence to drive that out, but
we do have that. There are a number of things that
have to happen. First oV, not everybody who grows
up in those families gets involved in crime. A big
chunk of people who live in a family where they have
had that generation will make the choice to go on a
diVerent path. The sorts of things that make a choice
are where they are given options of things that
provide them with, if you like, an alternative family.
I am thinking of things like the Scouts, the Guides,
the Military Cadets, those sorts of long-term
engagements with young people that give them an
alternate view to that coming from the family. That
works. Working with the whole family programme
at the moment is an interesting concept. It seems
hugely expensive, this new plan, where in some
places we seem to have an awful lot of people
working with a family, almost man-to-man marking,
if you like, and an independent worker coming in. I
am not quite sure how that will work when they pull
that independent worker out from the family. I think
it is really important to look at the interfamily
dynamics and how you work with them. Also, we
just have to deal with those people who are
committing crime and setting the standard. Where a
parent is committing crime and setting the basis, we
need to be seen to be taking that person before the
courts and showing young people that there is not a
gain from it. There is that mixture of things. I also
think the whole concept of taking some young
people away from their families, whether it is
fostering or whether it is putting them into care, is
something that we ought to be considering. One of
the problems is that the outcomes for young people
in care are so poor at the moment that that is not
really a viable alternative, but if we could get that
outcome diVerent for that option, that would be a
really important one in some cases.

Q250 Martin Salter: We are working in Reading at
the moment on a range of youth adventure projects.
My colleagues will laugh when I say that I am a keen
fishermen, but some of the projects started life in
Durham with the police, getting kids hooked on
fishing. There is one in Wraysbury with Les Webber,
you may be aware of: Get Hooked on Fishing Not
Drugs or Crime. They have had some remarkable
outputs and some remarkable results in terms of
diverting young people. Is that to do with the fact
that, whether it is football, whether it is sending kids
away on summer camp, whether it is fishing, it is an

activity that takes a huge lump of time and therefore
becomes, if you like, an alternative value structure
and an alternative family for a significant chunk of
the week when that child would otherwise possibly
be drifting into patterns of criminality? Is it about
occupying them in a pretty intensive way?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: It is
probably a number of things. One of them is getting
them into a process over a long period of time where
they are engaged with other people who set a series
of values and expectations for them and enforce
them.

Q251 Martin Salter: Those can be diVerent values
from those they might receive at home.
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: From what
is at home. The importance of sport or the arts or
some activity is that that is what hooks young
people—if you will pardon me sticking with hooking
and fishing—into that behaviour in the first place,
and once they are in there, that is the element that
gets the slightly diVerent dynamic. I also think these
sorts of activities change aspirations for young
people. When I was a borough commander in
Southwark we surveyed lots of young people on
what would make a diVerence to their lives. I
remember one young boy who came to me
afterwards and said, “The thing I would really like to
do is to go fishing, but I haven’t got a rod, I don’t
know where there is a river, and I don’t know how to
fish, so that’s the end of that idea.” That whole
concept of generations of young people who may
not have the aspiration to try these things unless
somebody else sets up a programme which says
“Come and have a go and get involved,” is really
important. Once you have changed the aspirations,
they have got something to work for; whereas if they
do not believe they can achieve anything, why would
they buy into an education system, why would they
buy into the state?
Martin Salter: The answer, of course, is the River
Wandle, and the charity is Thames21, which does a
lot of work in South London. But I am sure you
know that. Thank you, Chairman.
Chairman: As we keep explaining to Mr Salter, we
cannot all move to Reading—which seems to be the
centre of all good things at the moment, thanks to his
hard work.

Q252 Mrs Dean: To what extent have ASBOs been a
successful tool in preventing more serious oVending?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: If you just
took ASBOs on their own, I would probably not be
supportive of them as a tool. But I think they are a
really important part of a range of diVerent
interventions. There is a project in Cumbria where
they have almost stopped using ASBOs and it has all
moved into interventions, what we call ABCs, which
are contracts with young people, letters engaging the
family in trying to divert. The point about an ASBO
is that it should be part of a long-term engagement
with somebody and if the other approaches do not
work then the anti-social behaviour order should be
the way of intervening. For some other people, in
some communities—and you would think about the
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neighbours-from-hell type element—we need to
control people. We may not have the time for that
long-term engagement and an ASBO is a very useful
tool in those situations. They are very limited. In
some cases, post-conviction, I really think the
ASBOs are very useful because they maintain an
ongoing “You must comply with what the order is.”
My overall position would be that this needs to be
part of a much wider strategy and not just one thing
that you put in. When we do that, all we are doing is
eVectively criminalising young people, because they
will breach the ASBO. If you do not put anything
around them, that does not make any diVerence. It
is no diVerent from PC Smith saying, “Don’t do that
again.” All they have is a piece of paper that says,
“Don’t do that again.” It has to be wider than just
the ASBO.

Q253 Mr Streeter: What is your experience of
intervening with at-risk children over the 30 years
that you have been a police oYcer? Do you think the
current policy procedures are getting this right? If
they are being removed to a place of safety, what
then for the life chances of those children? What
have you observed?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: The terrible
outcomes of cases such as Victoria Climbié have
quite properly focused us on the very serious end of
child protection and have brought most of the joint
agency working, looking at how do we protect
young people from serious abuse and sexual abuse.
One of the downsides of that is our focus on neglect
and those young people who are at risk of a diVerent
type of failure. The Every Child Matters Agenda, the
whole concept of looking at outcomes, is a very good
concept. That is exactly what we should be doing. I
know operationally children’s services would say
one of the problems from that is that they are getting
far too many cases referred to them for them to be
able to intervene. Overall in London, we went from
making about 300 referrals a week to about 6,000
referrals a week as we moved into Every Child
Matters. We have put new systems in to say that
these are the high risk and these are the diVerent
levels, but for children’s services to be able to deal
with that volume on that sudden change I do not
really think gave them a chance, and it has probably
created a number of other issues as a result. When we
were looking at what lay behind the murder of
Damilola Taylor, we looked into the lives of some
young people who were oVending in Southwark in a
lot of detail. One of the things that became clear to
us was that, once young people started to become the
victim of oVending, whether it was within the house,
where it was neglect, or whether it was outside, it led
very often into a pattern that they could not get out
of and they started oVending as part of their
response to it. We noticed with a number of people
who were actually moved, either by their families or
by the local authority away from the locality where
that was happening, that their outcomes were
significantly better. So I think there is some evidence
that it is a really useful way of intervening; it is just
that the problem, as I said before, is that the
outcomes for care are not as good as they need to be.

Q254 Mr Streeter: Have you come across anything
in your experience to date which can turn a poor
parent, a neglectful parent into a positive parent?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: I think
again quite often we have large numbers of very
young people trying to struggle with bringing up
other young people and there are several initiatives
across the country where there is support for young
mothers particularly—because these initiatives tend
to be focused on single parent families—and
supporting them in helping them get their lives out
of chaos makes a significant diVerence to the
children and how the family grows up.

Q255 Chairman: You clearly give the Government
ten out of ten as far as dealing with the consequences
of crime because crime figures have gone down, the
Government tells us. How many marks would you
give them out of ten for dealing with the causes of
crime?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: I would go
back to the ten out of ten—probably I would only
give them eight out of ten anyway! Crime has come
down but I think we could always do a lot better
than we have done at the moment. There is a lot
more that we could address on that.

Q256 Chairman: So eight out of ten for dealing with
crime. The causes of crime?
Deputy Assistant Commissioner Jarman: I think we
have seen over the past few years a significant change
in emphasis into the causes of crime and how we deal
with them. I think that the ability for me to sit here
and talk to you about young family intervention and
understanding how young people growing up leads
to crime has only come because the agenda in the
public sector is about how do we work together,
from pre-birth until adulthood, on reducing the
criminal aspects that might aVect young people. So
I think there has been a massive change in the way
that we work—a massive positive change. I do not
want to give them a mark at all actually because I
realise I have got myself into trouble with the eight
out of ten. The point for me is not an issue of have
we dealt with this—we clearly have not dealt with it.
We are in a very complex society with lots of diVerent
pressures, both on individuals and on the
community as a whole, which lead to the crime and
the criminality; and we are in a community that is
constantly changing. If you come into the major
cities across the UK the churn of people within
communities is phenomenal, as you will all know,
and that churn leads to specific problems about
preventing crime for the future. You cannot work
with people over the long term when they are
constantly moving and where you have constant
influxes of people so that you keep on having to go
back and deal with an issue with which you were
dealing before. So in answer to your question, we
have gone into a really interesting new place on
dealing with those sorts of causes but we are
probably not there yet. I think it is not just about
right back in the beginning of people’s oVending, I
think there is a bit the other way which is where we
have identified people. We are just beginning to get
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an idea of how eVective non-custodial sentences can
be if we are more robust in making sure that people
actually complete the non-custodial sentence, and
that if we work on trying to prevent them
committing crime again. So I think that dealing with
the causes needs to go backwards but also needs to
go into when someone has committed a crime how

Witness: Rt Hon Chris Huhne MP, spokesman for the Liberal Democrats, gave evidence.

Q257 Chairman: Thank you very much for giving
evidence to us this morning. The Committee is
looking at the issue of crime prevention, basically
going back to the former Prime Minister’s statement
that this Government would be tough on crime and
tough on the causes of crime. If we are to believe the
opinion polls and there is a hung Parliament you
could well be the Home Secretary in a hung
Parliament. So you arrive there on your first day and
what will a Liberal Democrat administration do in
order to deal with the causes of crime?
Chris Huhne: Let me start by saying that our
approach to cutting crime is relentlessly focused on
what actually works and I think a lot of the debate
that we have seen, particularly between the
Conservative and the Labour Party, has been a
debate about the severity of punishment, when we
know from the evidence of the Home OYce and
indeed of international criminologists that
punishment is actually the least eVective variable
and that we as policy makers have to tackle crime,
compared, for example, with prevention measures
and compared with detection. Roughly at the
moment about one in 100 crimes in this country—if
you take the British Crime Survey and you take
business crime and you take crime not recorded by
the British Crime Survey because it is of teenagers—
actually ends up with a conviction in a court of law,
from which it seems to me very clear that trying to
change the severity of the punishment is very
unlikely to have a serious deterrent eVect. If we want
a serious deterrent eVect we need to work on
prevention measures and on improving police
detection. So our focus is very much on those two
aspects—improving policing, more police on the
beat and better policing and it is on prevention.

Q258 Chairman: If you were looking at the top three
causes of crime why do people commit crimes? What
do you think they are?
Chris Huhne: I noted that your previous witness was
talking about the fall in crime that has been going on
in this country now for a number of years. I would
merely point out to you, Mr Chairman and the
Committee, that I think it is absolutely crucial to put
that in an international context. In every single
Western European country, except for one, which is
Belgium—I do not quite know what Belgium has
been doing wrong—crime has been falling. The
causes of crime are multiple, but one of the very clear
factors is demographic; it is about, frankly, the
number of young men in the age group from about
16 to 24, and if that goes up you tend to have an

do we make sure that they have paid the punishment
for what they have done and they do not commit
further oVences in the future; and the whole concept
of integrated oVender management, the Diamond
Initiative in London is really useful for that.
Chairman: Deputy Assistant Commissioner, thank
you very much for giving evidence today.

upwards pressure on crime and if that goes down it
tends to be down. That is one set of factors. Another
set of factors is, for example, technological change.
It is a bit like a war, where you have the introduction
of the tank on the western front which completely
changes the nature of the war between attack and
defence; similarly, burglar alarms, security measures,
the quality of locks, those sorts of preventive
measures can have a very dramatic eVect as well on
the balance that is going on particularly with
acquisitive crime. So one of the things which I think
is absolutely essential is that we reinstate the eVort
that Government was making some time back—and
which I understand the Ministry of Justice is actually
again doing but you would need to confirm that
because I have only had that through back
channels—which is to attempt to do some serious
model building about the impact of diVerent factors
on crime. As an economist by background and not
as somebody who is a lawyer or a specialist in this
area, I was frankly shocked at how little hard
evidence there is on the social factors that actually
create crime; and we ought to be investing as a
society much more in model building so that we can
actually understand the levers which we genuinely
have to aVect crime and get it down more rapidly;
and that we do not try and take credit, frankly, for
eVects which may be coming about for entirely other
reasons—because of changes in the size of particular
groups in the population, for example. So I think
that an evidence base is absolutely crucial and we
need to invest more as a Government and as a
society in actually understanding the problem.

Q259 Mr Winnick: You say that there would be no
credit to the Government, Mr Huhne?
Chris Huhne: On this I am shocked to say that there
has been a very long period when we have not been
doing this. I can remember—because I did model
building not in this area but in other areas many
years ago—that there was work on this in the 1970s
and 1980s, which then appeared to stop. I am told
that it is beginning to restart under the auspices of
the Ministry of Justice; but it is time to do that.

Q260 Martin Salter: Mr Huhne, I am sorry that this
relentless focus has not reflected back to your two
Lib-Dem colleagues to actually turn up, and this is a
poor turnout by us, I must admit. But my question
is that there has been a lot of debate—and you heard
it earlier—around focusing on causes of crime and
particularly parenting and patterns of generational
crime and criminality or tendency to crime and
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criminality as a result of young people taking
negative role models from within the family. How do
we break that cycle, Mr Huhne? There are some
good programmes up and running but in my view
they are a bit patchy—you can get a good service in
one place and virtually no emphasis on this in others.
Chris Huhne: I do not think there is a single solution.
It is fairly widely recognised—although more
anecdotal than hard evidence, but I would certainly
accept on the basis of anecdotal evidence—that you
do get these cycles of criminality in much the same
way as it is surprising on how many occasions you
see children following their parents’ particular job or
particular profession. They see somebody earning a
living and doing something and they tend to pick up
the lessons of that and, sadly, that happens in
families where parents have a criminal pattern of
behaviour as well. One of the things that we clearly
have to do is to work very hard on making sure that
the prison system is not the college of crime that
eVectively it has become. We need to make sure that
the work is there, that the training is there, that
people are prepared for life outside much more
eVectively than they have been. So that works, if you
like, at the parental level and the older level. I think
that parenting orders certainly have a role to play
and can be eVective. I think that that ideally needs to
happen early on. Early intervention in the education
system to identify where there are problems—I am
certainly very supportive of Sure Start, of Children
Centres, of attempting to identify early on when a
child is not being adequately parented. So I would
tend to suggest that we have to work at a whole series
of diVerent levels but also to say that if a child begins
fairly early on to go into a pattern of antisocial
behaviour it is important to get there as quickly as
possible with informal measures that do not in the
first stage criminalise them. Involving the family in
Acceptable Behaviour Contracts involving the
family in that, trying to find the diversionary
activities—youth centres, for example—we have
mentioned the Youth Volunteer Force, which we
would like to see piloted by local authorities that
want to find diversionary activities for young people.
So I am afraid that on a lot of these social issues there
is not a simple silver bullet; there is a whole range of
things that we need to do to try and break that cycle.

Q261 Martin Salter: Just one follow-up question—
and I do not disagree with what you said—it seems
to me that we are making up in many ways, either at
school or in the criminal justice system or elsewhere,
in the youth service, for often bad parenting or
inadequate preparedness for life. That is a given.
What is starting to emerge, probably in this
Committee, are some concerns about the experience
of first-time oVenders in a custodial sentence—70%
if not more are reoVending. Does that not lead us to
the conclusion that actually very short first-time
custodial sentences are a total and utter waste of
time, and if we have young people with drug
problems or literacy problems or whatever then
actually we have to give the prison estate time to put
them on the relevant detox course, the relevant
training course and the rest of it, and that actually

means being perhaps a bit tougher in some
circumstances; but also on the other hand making
sure that the right people have the custodial sentence
and not the wrong ones. I would really be interested
in the Lib-Dem view on that.
Chris Huhne: I am completely sympathetic to that
point of view. The figure that I had in my mind,
actually, is even worse than the one you cite, which
is that for young men serving their first custodial
sentence the reoVending rate is actually 92%. If it is
that high then frankly it is very clear that the
custodial sentence has been completely ineVective.
What is more, what we do not have—because we do
not have the evidence base—I suspect that the
reoVending is at a higher level, in other words it is
more sophisticated, it is more trained, that the
criminality is actually worse than it was for the
oVence when they went in; therefore, I do think that
it is actually very important that we should be
looking at those short sentences. As we know, there
are alternatives in terms of non-custodial sentences.
I think one of the reasons why magistrates are
reluctant to use non-custodial sentences in these
circumstances is because of worries about the way in
which they are supervised and the increasing number
of tales, which are not just urban myth, I fear, that
eVectively non-custodial sentences are not honoured
and that they are so often breached that they
eVectively do not do what they are meant to do. But
I think that if they do what they meant to do, if they
are properly supervised, they are much more
eVective not least because we keep people who are
going into first-time custodial sentences away from
that college of crime aspect where they are eVectively
picking up tricks that we do not want them to pick
up.

Q262 Mr Clappison: I was very pleased to hear what
you said about training young people in prison, who
sadly have to go to prison, because that is something
that the Committee has come to time and time again
and when we have visited prisons we have noticed
the diVerence in regime and the diVerence in the
constructive elements of the regime. Can I probe you
a little on what you were telling us a moment ago
about first-time oVences—and this is an important
point—that young people are sent to prison because
the magistrates or the judges take the view that their
oVending is so serious that only a custodial sentence
can be justified? Do you have any thinking as to
where that line should be struck about seriousness?
If you are saying that fewer people should be sent to
prison then are you changing the line there?
Chris Huhne: I am not sure that I entirely accept
your premise. As I said in my previous answer to
Martin Salter, I think that in a lot of cases
magistrates actually decide to use custodial
sentences because there have been breaches
particularly of non-custodial sentences and those
breaches are, in many cases, because of lack of
proper supervision, because the non-custodial
sentences have not been properly organised and I
think that that is something we really have to work
on. It is crucial that magistrates and indeed crown
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court judges are confident that if they use non-
custodial sentences they are actually going to be
applied and will work, and I think that is the
problem; it is morale in the Probation Service and so
on. I think that magistrates and judges need to have
that menu so that they can graduate their response
all the way through. Obviously there are going to be
circumstances in which custodial sentences are
appropriate, either for serious oVences or for serial
oVenders who continue to cock a snook at the justice
system by, for example, not fulfilling their
obligations under non-custodial sentences. But I do
think that that is the key element we need to work
on.

Q263 Mr Clappison: There has to be a custodial
sentence where the organiser of community service
or the Probation Service think that it is being
breached—that has to be available, does it not?
Chris Huhne: Absolutely. Let me make it absolutely
clear that I do not know any society that does not
have custodial sentences. Custodial sentences are
absolutely essential for serious oVences and for serial
oVenders. The diYculty we have as a society is not
any lack of custodial sentences because, as you
know, we have one of the highest prison populations
relative to population in the world, but the diYculty
we have is actually the other aspects of the criminal
justice system and making sure that those work
because at the moment we are not giving judges and
magistrates an adequate menu of options for dealing
with criminality, going right the way through in the
graduated response from relatively minor oVences
up to much more serious ones.

Q264 Mr Clappison: Can you give us an example, so
that we can have it in mind, of a case where you think
somebody has been sent to prison where they should
not have been?
Chris Huhne: One of the things that my Party has
traditionally stressed—and we get into trouble with,
with both Conservative and Labour—is pointing
out that the rich tapestry of life is so varied that we
are very pleased to have magistrates and judges
making judgments on individual cases and they have
to take into account what the particular track record
of the person before them is; they have to take into
account whether or not they have breached any
previous non-custodial sentences and so on.
Therefore, coming out with mandatory rules on
what should be the sentence for a particular oVence
is something which we have traditionally been rather
cautious about.

Q265 Mr Streeter: Mr Huhne, I must confess that I
have not yet studied your Party’s policy in this area
in great detail.
Chris Huhne: I am shocked, Mr Streeter; it would
benefit you enormously!

Q266 Mr Streeter: I am sure it would! I understand
that you advocate an expansion of youth work
schemes.
Chris Huhne: Indeed.

Q267 Mr Streeter: Targeted on a high risk group.
Could you explain how you think that might help
and how many young people might be aVected by
this?
Chris Huhne: Yes. Again, I would start by saying
that I wish we had more very clear evidence on what
works, and certainly we are committed to turning
the National Police Improvement Agency to have a
general remit for looking at what works; but a lot of
the professionals in this area say that diversion—
youth diversion in particular works. That means
youth centres; it means catching early signs of bad
behaviour before people, kids start getting sucked
into the criminal justice system. One of the ideas that
we have put forward is for a Youth Volunteer Force
which we would like to see piloted by local
authorities that are interested in it. The ideal would
be eVectively to establish a list of projects which are
of demonstrable public value, which might be
cleaning up areas, improving sports’ facilities and so
forth, and actually getting the local authority to pilot
that by inviting young people to get involved. It may
be that in some cases those young people would be
actually volunteering to do so and in other cases it
might be suggested that it would be a good idea to
avoid other particular consequences. But I think
that it would be one of the lists of things that we
would like to try in terms of youth diversionary
activity.

Q268 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Huhne, in your brief you
talk about the need to give prisoners the life skills to
equip them for outside, and we have had this
discussion this morning. We would all sign up to
that; that is the warm cuddly side of the issue. Then
you have told us this morning the reason you say
that judges and magistrates are not giving non-
custodial sentences in lots of cases is because they
have lost confidence in it. We have all seen the
anecdotal stories and the Daily Mail sort of
headlines, but is there any real evidence that judges
and magistrates are actually making that decision?
And, if they are, are they feeding that back into the
justice system so that things can be corrected?
Chris Huhne: A repeated refrain, which I am afraid
you will hear from me, is that all of us rely so much
on talking to the professionals and getting what are
often basically anecdotal views. I am not aware of
serious research on this, but I am certainly aware—
not least in my own area of Hampshire—about
morale in the Probation Service, about the problems
of the whole reorganisation and therefore diYculties
with the policing and supervision of non-custodial
sentences. That is, I think, something that you hear
back from magistrates and from crown court judges
on many, many occasions and I would like to hear
much less of it.

Q269 Gwyn Prosser: There is a serious weakness in
the system, surely, if judges and magistrates are
making their decisions on what they see as the
eVectiveness of a particular line of custodial or non-
custodial.
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Chris Huhne: I think that is absolutely right, and I
think that if you are looking for a cause for this quite
extraordinary continued increase in the prison
population this is one of them.

Q270 Gwyn Prosser: How would the Liberal
Democrats’ approach tighten up the non-custodial
incentives?
Chris Huhne: We have to make sure that when
people are given a non-custodial sentence that first
of all they can do it, that there are plausible
arrangements for getting them there and that they
are actually being supervised and that there is a clear
sign oV; so that at the end of it you know that the
non-custodial sentence has been performed. In
many cases I have heard stories, and no doubt you
have as well from your own constituency, of where
people, for example, get into trouble because they
have turned up on one occasion and there was
nobody there to make sure that they were actually
doing what they were meant to be doing. Then they
did not bother turning up the second time and they
got into trouble for that, and this is a real diYculty.
So we have to make sure that the system actually is
not overloaded, that it is capable of dealing with
what it is being asked to do.

Q271 Gwyn Prosser: Something we all agree on is
that short custodial sentences are simply too short to
allow this rehabilitation and this retraining to have
any eVect. One of the obstacles of course is the
churning eVect of prisoners, moving from one prison
to another, and indeed that is related to the shortage
of prison places. The soft cuddly approach is: let us
give them more training and equip them; but the
hard decisions are, shall we have longer sentences
and shall we have more jail places? What is the
Liberal Democrats’ view?
Chris Huhne: There is a clear view, as you probably
know, that the prison places in this country are in the
wrong place; that eVectively a rather large number of
prisons—

Q272 Gwyn Prosser: So would you start building
new prisons in diVerent places?
Chris Huhne: The diYculty is clearly that there is
much more criminality in the south-east of England
in particular than there are prison places in the South
East; so there tends to be a churn through the
system, as I understand it, as it has been explained to
me by prison governors, of people moving around.
That actually has two eVects which I think are
pernicious. One is that it makes it more diYcult for
prisoners to stay in touch with family and local
community, so that when they come out they do not
have that network that they should have. The other
eVect is that because of the churn they do not have
that settled ability to go through training courses,
and indeed even when they do do training courses
the training courses are often arranged in such a way
that they are most convenient for the prison and the
prison authorities rather than for the prisoner. So,
for example, you might learn to be a bricklayer on a
fairly long sentence but the course to become a
bricklayer is fitted in at the convenience of the prison

authorities, which might be early on in the prison
sentence and actually by the time you are released
you are no longer up to speed. So a lot of that has to
be refocused. I think that there are three things we
need to do to try and relieve the pressure.

Q273 Gwyn Prosser: You might have lots of other
things that you want to tell us but I am asking you
about new prison places, expanding the prison
estate.
Chris Huhne: I hope I shall leave you with a very
clear understanding that our policy is to try and shift
resources in the criminal justice system away from
what we see as the excessive use of prison,
particularly for short term custodial sentences but
also for dealing with mental health problems which
are more appropriately dealt with in secure mental
health institutions, and for dealing with drug
problems which are more appropriately dealt with in
drug rehabilitation units; and our whole strategy as
a Party is to shift away from the excessive
concentration on this idea of punishment through
prison towards an emphasis on detection and an
emphasis on prevention because the criminological
evidence suggests that that is what works. If you
look at when Liberal Democrats are in power in
local authorities, where obviously there is a clear
remit to deal with preventative measures, you can
actually see that Liberal Democrat local authorities
invest in preventative measures in a way that
actually now shows clearly that crime has fallen
more rapidly in Liberal Democrat controlled local
authorities than it has fallen in either Labour or
Conservative controlled local authorities, and that is
a very substantial piece of work, which I would I
suggest to you that you should be learning from; and
rather than banging your head against a wall with an
approach that has failed you should actually start
thinking about an approach to cutting crime which
works, which is concentrating on prevention and
detection.

Q274 Gwyn Prosser: When you have finished,
Liberal Democrat local authorities are not
responsible for providing prison places, but you
evaded that and now we pass on to the next question.
Chris Huhne: But that is precisely why it is so
important to have a change at national level as well
in the approach to crime because it is important to
make sure that we are doing at every level—national
and local—what works as opposed to what clearly
does not. The approach that you appear to be
suggesting clearly does not work.

Q275 Mrs Dean: Mr Huhne, you want to expand
prison labour. How can we incentivise employers to
participate?
Chris Huhne: One of the schemes to which I would
point you, which I think was a very useful one, was
the successful pilot run by the Howard League for
Penal Reform, which paid prisoners at much nearer
the market rate and they actually paid tax, national
insurance and so forth, and indeed they paid into a
compensation fund for victims, but it was
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nevertheless in some years that that pilot was self-
financing and I think it would make a lot of sense to
try and roll out schemes like that. The incentive to
participate is clearly there because you are paying
nearer the market rate and, hopefully, you are also
developing some of the skills of routine and of work
which will stand those prisoners in good stead when
they leave and hopefully will then find some useful
employment outside.

Q276 Mrs Dean: My question is how do you
incentivise employers and not prisoners?
Chris Huhne: Employers, I am sorry. This is when
people leave prison?

Q277 Mrs Dean: No. Whilst prisoners are in prison
how do you incentivise employers to actually take
part in providing employment within prisons?

Witnesses: Rt Hon Iain Duncan Smith MP, Rt Hon Graham Allen MP, and Mr Alan Given, Chief Executive,
Nottingham Crime and Drugs Partnership, gave evidence.

Q278 Chairman: Could I first of all thank you, Mr ‘
Smith and Mr Allen, for sending every member of
the Committee a copy of your very helpful book; we
are very grateful for all the work that you have done.
This is an inquiry that looks into the causes of crime;
how do we prevent crime? We are looking for
innovative ideas to try and help us fashion a new
approach. We are not here to criticise the
Government or other political Parties; we are trying
to draw together, as you have done in your very
interesting work, some thoughts which we could
develop for the future. Can I start by asking you, Mr
Duncan Smith—and obviously Mr Allen and Mr
Given will speak after you—how would you describe
the interrelation between poverty, family breakdown
and oVending?
Mr Duncan Smith: Thank you, Mr Chairman. Can
I just say, before I answer that question, that this
work I have done with Graham Allen is deliberately
set to be non-party political, so you do not have any
problems with us being party political today.
Secondly, if I could just recommend to the
Committee some other work that the CSJ carried
out in the field of criminal justice: a report on
policing, courts, sentencing, on prisons and on street
gangs within about the last five or six months and
some of the evidence we heard earlier is already dealt
with and on which we have made recommendations.
Certainly I actually came to this on the basis that
there were concerns about Britain’s peculiarly high
level of family breakdown, which is peculiarly high
when compared to continental Europe; and what
does that mean? It is not about pointing fingers at
anybody, it is simply saying that the outcomes for
many children for what then become in the poorer
areas very dysfunctional family relationships are
progressively worse; and the numbers engaged in

Chris Huhne: I think that there are a number of
employers who have been attracted to the wider
social goals. I am thinking particularly of the scheme
whose name unfortunately escapes me at the
moment, but when prisoners leave prison where they
are actually employed, and that has been rather a
successful way of providing people with employment
outside. If you have a group of employers who are
interested in trying to make an eVort in this area I
think that you can encourage them to come in and
work within prisons as well. But the obvious
response if there is a problem then and if you actually
are in the happy position of wanting to do more than
there are employers to do it then clearly the thing to
work on is the gap between their costs and what they
get back. So the obvious solution if there is a
shortage of employers is to subsidise some element
of the pay that is given to the prisoner.
Chairman: Mr Huhne, thank you very much indeed
for sharing your thoughts with us this morning. If
there is anything else that you want to add to your
evidence please write to us; the inquiry will end in
about a week’s time.

those dysfunctional family set-ups are growing. It
was Perry, was it not, who said that over the next 20
or so years it will move from somewhere between
being about 10% of the population to anything up to
20% or 25% of the population. The reason for that is
these peculiarly dysfunctional and broken families,
where you are getting three and four generations
passing down very little that is constructive, where
girls grow up having no self-esteem or boys never
seeing any role model that is positive and
constructive and that they do not get any nurture or
support in the very early years; and our report is
hugely about those first three years. The thing that
has really skewed us on to this comes oV the back of
that point about family breakdown, that actually
when you look at the children growing up in these
dysfunctional relationships it is not an airy-fairy
idea that somehow in sociological terms they would
be better oV if they did this or that the truth is that
there is a physical change that is happening to them,
which is that in the first three years their brain does
not develop at the rate it should develop, which in
turn puts them at about the age of three into the
hands of the beginning of their formal education at
a distinct disadvantage with their peer group, in the
sense that at that point their brain is probably at the
level of a child of one but they are being asked to
comprehend and make decisions at that of the level
of a child of three or even four. So it has a
detrimental eVect on them. It can be
demonstrated—Graham has been on this longer
than I have, but he was one of those who convinced
me that this is necessarily the case—from that group,
that very single group, we disproportionately draw
most of our residual unemployed, most of our drugs
addiction and criminal behaviour, a good example is
to look at who makes up the prison population and
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you will see that this is not just drawn from the wide
society, it is distinctly concentrated—over a third
come from care homes, over two-thirds come from
broken families; two-thirds of drug/alcohol abusers
have the reading age on average of a child of about
11 or 12. All of this is because they are being left
behind, long before they arrive in the education and
that is because of this breakdown.
Mr Allen: To answer your question directly,
Chairman; yes, there are inextricable connections
between poverty, social deprivation and the
outcomes sometimes 16 years later in respect of
crime, but also in respect of educational under-
achievement, aspiration to work, people who have
spent a lifetime on benefits. All these things can be
broken into if—and I am sure that Members of
Parliament will understand this—we get
intergenerational casework from grandpa, to pa to
son et cetera. It really is an intergenerational
problem and if we can break into those families and
give the babies, the children and the young people a
possible future and way forward then not only will
we tackle antisocial behaviour and criminality, but
many of the other social ills. For us in Nottingham—
and speaking here not as a Member of Parliament
but as the Chair of the Local Strategic Partnership
who set the ambition for Nottingham to be an early
intervention city—our view is that if you give a baby,
a child and a young person social and emotional
capability, the ability to interact, the ability to learn,
listen, to resolve arguments without violence, if you
give a child those things, which most of us get from
our parents, then you will end up with a rounded and
capable person and a rounded and capable person is
highly unlikely to fall into criminality, antisocial
behaviour, drug taking, alcohol abuse, low
educational aspiration, et cetera. So in many senses
what we have attempted to do in Nottingham is to
ensure by the 16 policies from zero to 18 that we are
giving each child the opportunity to make the best of
itself, and if you can do that—and the Chief
Executive of the Crime and Drugs Partnership Alan
Given will tell you a bit more precisely the actual
results that we have managed to obtain in
Nottingham—then I think you are giving that child
a great start. The reason I think that this is now
evermore important is because if you intervene late
you spend vast amounts of money with very little
eVect; if you intervene with a quarter of a million
pounds a year on a deeply intensive anti-drug
programme that is far less eVective than dealing with
youngsters—and I could say that we probably get to
most youngsters in Nottingham—for a comparable
amount of money that it takes to get three people oV
drugs 16 years later.

Q279 Chairman: We will come to those points later.
Mr Allen: We will reference that, but what I am
saying is that it is very much cheaper, very much
more eVective and in a time of economic constraint
I think we have actually started to develop a new
economic model which will help all parties overcome
the deficit that we are currently looking at because a

little bit of investment early will save billions and
billions of pounds fire fighting in ten or 16 years’
time.
Mr Given: I do not have much to add to anything
that has already been said by Mr Duncan Smith and
Mr Allen.

Q280 Chairman: We will come on to Nottingham in
particular later, but if you have anything to add.
Mr Given: There are two things worth adding in
there. Firstly, I spent 32 years in the Police Service
before going to Nottingham and anyone who has
spent any time in the Police Service will tell you that
they know where the diYculty is going to come from;
they worked with diYcult families and they know
that the children of those families were very likely to
be diYcult in the future, and you will hear story after
story where a police oYcer has dealt with the
grandfather, the father and the son and/or daughter
and other siblings of the same families. So it should
not be a surprise to us—we know where we should
be working. The other thing to stress is that we work
with partners in Nottingham around early
intervention but, even there, there are some
misconceptions and I try and make the point
regularly that early intervention is diVerent to early
reaction. People often say, “What we will do is bring
this programme much earlier into somebody’s
oVending behaviour” or, “We will deal with them as
soon as it happens rather than wait three months.”
That is reacting early to the same problem and
people often think that is early intervention. Early
intervention for me is getting right ahead of that
problem, getting right to the front end of the sausage
machine where we know the volume is going in and
working with a cohort of people that we know the
diYculties are going to come from. It may not be
every young child in the city—although we would
like to do that—but we know that from certain areas
of Nottingham city we are going to pick up a cohort
of people who are going to cause us diYculty in the
future and we should be working with all of them in
an eVort to catch the few who may become diYcult
later on.
Chairman: Thank you. We will come back to all these
points with our questions.

Q281 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Allen, in your book you
talk about the expanding dysfunctional base in
society but can you give us an idea of the scale of it?
Can you give us an idea of the numbers that you
would categorise within that? And, perhaps more
importantly, how many of that number are actually
receiving early intervention or family intervention at
the moment?
Mr Allen: I think the last part of your question, Mr
Prosser, is easier to answer than the first. Not many
are receiving what I would term early intervention.
There are some fantastic experiments, as it were,
going on in the city of Nottingham; Birmingham
with its Prudential Borrowing, Northern Ireland
with its PATHS Programme; excellent work in
devolved assemblies, may I say, both in Northern
Ireland, Wales and the Parliament in Scotland that
has a White Paper out; and the Isle of Wight is doing
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excellent work with Groups of Empathy. There is
lots of good work but it is sporadic and one of the
things I would like to see would be all political
parties agreeing that we should pool this
knowledge—bring that knowledge together in a
national policy assessment centre of the sort they
have in America. In terms of your question, a little
more directly in terms of how many, I would refer
back to the work done by Bruce Perry in America
where he says that if you are looking at a percentage
of people in this at risk group—as currently being, I
think 5% to 10%—that in three generations because
this group have their children earlier and faster then
on average it will go up to about 25%. I think it was
in three generations. So there is a really serious
public policy agenda question here to address: do we
tax people ever more to pay for the police oYcers
and the magistrates’ courts and the drug/drink rehab
to combat that sort of level? Or do we take a diVerent
turning and actually start, as Mr Given said, to cut
oV the supply by early intervention both at a volume
level, by which I mean things like the social and
emotional aspects of the learning programme which
every primary child does in Nottingham; the 11 to 16
life skills, which every teenager goes through in the
city of Nottingham now; the Family Nurse
Partnership, which is 0-2, with health visitors
intensively helping mums and their babies; and Sure
Start, of course, which is well established in
Nottingham. Those volume things with some very
specific things assist the children of prolific and
persistent oVenders; the early mentoring scheme,
which does not wait until a child is 16 and gone
wrong but goes to the eight year olds and nine year
olds. A whole range of very specific things—the
children who have suVered trauma because of
witnessing domestic violence who need help really
quickly if they are not to be completely traumatised.
So there is a whole range of possibilities there and I
think that if we deploy those and, above all, if we go
to scale, if Government take this seriously—of all
political complexions—rather than have isolated
experiments then I think we will actually be able to
make a very strong diVerence to the numbers of
people who are coming through the system, who do
not have the social and emotional capability to make
the best of themselves. That gift is, I believe, in every
human being and if we can just release it with the
right sort of parenting skills and the sorts of
programmes I have described then I think we will
save, as I mentioned, billions and billions of pounds
and have a much happier and less dysfunctional
society.

Q282 Mr Streeter: The Prime Minister actually gave
you an answer the other day which suggested 50,000
“households of chaos”, I think he called them. Did
you agree with that number? Where did he get it
from, do you know?
Mr Allen: I have no idea. As far as I am concerned I
was delighted that the Prime Minister recognised
this as an issue and I was also delighted, may I say,
Mr Streeter, that you came in and equally asked a
very important question of the Prime Minister. I
think the fact that leaders of political parties—the

Prime Minister, Mr Cameron and Mr Clegg, who
Iain Duncan Smith and myself have met on this issue
on a strictly non-partisan basis—are all now very,
very close to adopting not just bits of the policy
mechanism and trying to find the magic bullet, but I
think they are actually quite close to looking at early
intervention as a philosophy and as a vision, which
we can certainly do in our city of Nottingham. You
pinpointed I think the fact that we are all quite close
to actually having this as a sea change in the way that
we deal with problems of dysfunction in society.

Q283 Mr Streeter: Predicting which young children
will turn to crime—we have heard a bit about that all
throughout the morning. Obviously I totally
support that but to get the balance right between
intervening, helping them and stigmatising, could
you speak to that, please?
Mr Duncan Smith: I agree with everything that
Graham said just now, but I would draw your
attention on page 51 (of our book on early
intervention) to the Dunedin Study. One of our
recommendations is that we carry out a proper study
here which has never been done and I cannot
understand why. The Dunedin Study in New
Zealand is absolutely unequivocal. Over a period of
time where they looked and identified the at risk
families—and that is the key, we have termed them
as “at risk” and they are children at risk—you will
find that when they followed up at age 21 the at risk
boys had two and a half times as many criminal
convictions as the group deemed not to be at risk.
The people that were identifying them were not
stigmatising, they were simply looking at them and
their behaviour in a not particularly long assessment
either, by the way—of the people they marked out as
in diYculty subsequently, 21 years later, they had
two and a half times as many convictions as the not
at risk group. There is a lot more that can be said but
I raise that issue. The second thing is that I draw
your attention to page 47 of our work which talks
about the brain’s capacity for change versus public
spending and you will see hugely there that our
public spending programmes are tilted at the far end
of the development cycle and very little at the front
end. Our reaction to the Prime Minister’s answer
about 50,000 at risk children is that you take
anything that you can get hold of when a Prime
Minister tells you that. The truth is that if you look
at Perry’s 10% of society figures, you would be
looking more in the order of six million individuals.
So it is more than 50,000, obviously; but, frankly, it
is important that each of the political leaders
understands this issue as being vitally important. In
supporting everything that Graham has said I have
to say that if you asked me what is the number one
thing that any Government, incoming or
continuing, should say if they want to really make an
impact, it is that early intervention is vital—there is
no question now from America, from New Zealand
and everywhere else that we have to tackle this.
Mr Allen: If I can answer very quickly on your two
points. Stigma—can I say that I do not think we
recognise that concept in Nottingham because the
people we deal with want the help? Those mothers
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love their children as much as we love our own
children and if you can say, “I can give you a health
visitor who can help you raise your child in the right
way and help you to learn” mums are falling over
themselves to join the Nurse Family Partnership. We
actually do not have the capacity currently to take all
the mums who would like to use it. Secondly, who are
they? Who is this group? I think that every Member
of Parliament can tell you 20 or 30 families that
should be in the group; and your councillors, your
head teachers who say, “Little Johnny is only five but
unless we get some help for him he is going to be one
of those.” The same with health professionals. Mr
Given is more expert in this than I am but I think
that data tracking, actually getting the group of
people pretty early on, knowing who they are and
knowing how to supply the help they need when they
need it is one of the key things to crack in a local
partnership, and that is why I think our success in
Nottingham has been that this is not just a police
matter but we have the health service, we have
business, we have the third sector, we have children’s
services all at the same table—at the One
Nottingham table.

Q284 Mrs Dean: You obviously put most of the
blame on parents. How much blame should be
attached to the education system or wider
community breakdown?
Mr Duncan Smith: Can I just take issue with the
word “blame”? What we are doing here is in no way
trying to blame parents. The fact is that some of the
parents we are talking about are the product
themselves of an incredibly dysfunctional
upbringing, so they do not know any better; and in
many of these cases these women have been abused
and so they are passing on incredibly damaged lives
to their children. So the word “blame” is a word that
I would certainly shy away from because it does not
fit within the category of what we are trying to
achieve. What we are asking them to do is to identify
at risk children and recognise that first of all. The
answer to your question, how much is it parents and
how much is it education, the whole point about the
studies that have been made and the work that has
been done shows that the critical period for
intervention in the child’s life is in the first three
years. So clearly the person or persons that are most
likely to be involved in their child’s life at that point
are the parents and/or grandparents—ie: extended
family. So the issue here is not about blaming them,
it is about saying that they are the group—if you can
get to them early enough and work with them and
their children—then it is through those parents and
their children that you will change the children’s
lives. But then Graham has also written in the paper
that of course they did not come via some
immaculate conception, you have to go back,
because of course that parent himself or herself
became a parent early, and those parents becoming
parents early has been part of the problem and it
goes on. So you have to cycle back to try and stop
that process happening before it begins to get older
parents. Again, I refer you to the Dunedin Study and
I wish and hope that you will have a good chance to

look at this because what is fascinating is the ability
for them to predict now on the back of what was
happening then. I talked about the boys committing
crime but actually of those girls that had conduct
disorders 30% of the at risk conduct-disordered girls
had become teenage mothers where there had not
been a single teenage birth of the conduct-disordered
girls but from the not at risk group. So, in other
words, in identifying the at risk group you can see
exactly who is going to be continuing this pattern of
dysfunction later on. Also fascinating, of that
conduct-disordered at risk teenage mothers group,
43% were in abusive, violent relationships,
intriguingly having found their partners from the
within male at risk group identified. So a fascinating
link—that they were selecting fathers and the father
of their next child was drawn hugely from the at risk
group who themselves would be passing
dysfunctional behaviour down that chain. It was
interesting because before the study was even
completed it was able to conclude that immature
mothers with no strong parenting skills and violent
partners had already given birth to the next
generation of at risk kids. So the point that we are
simply making is that the reason for focusing at this
stage on the 0-3 children is because that is the critical
period of brain development and from which they
will derive all of their capacity to cope and change
and learn. Yes, schools play a part, nurseries play a
part but by the time a child gets to nursery at four
years’ old with some of those children the amount of
money that you will have to spend on that child to
rectify this dysfunctional behaviour is enormous and
it is a real question mark whether you can exact
major change. So it is not about blaming, it is about
getting to them and saying, “This is the critical path
here, at 0-3.”

Q285 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Duncan Smith, the
Government’s Cutting Crime strategy does talk
about early interventions to a degree. How much
have they picked up on your joint thinking and how
would you describe the biggest gap between the two
approaches?
Mr Duncan Smith: First of all, can I say—and I
know that Graham will want to say something about
this—that I know within the hurly-burly of politics
and the run-up to an election that one Party can
never say anything good about the other. So let me
break that by saying I think that credit where credit
is due to the Government, the Sure Start stuV, the
definition of early intervention early on was the right
thing to do; it was in the right direction and I think
that the Government, the Labour Government
coming in took a step in the right direction. For me
the concern about Sure Start is not that it is a
problem but other things started to be loaded into
Sure Start in some areas, like childcare, and it started
to become more self-selecting. So the basis of what it
is doing is right. But the question really ultimately is
recognising the sheer scale of this. That is a big
challenge to the present Government and a big
challenge to the others. So when we look at the work
that we are recommending it is the scale of that, the
need now to do this stuV in a very joined-up way; to
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recognise that just Sure Start alone in that sense is
not going to work but what we need to do now is to
recognise that there are a whole series of other
programmes that we need to centre around it and
one of the areas that we recommended was to start
recognising the need for things like family hubs
where there are a whole variety of other options
available. We need to be able to increase
dramatically the number of people in the
community—nurses, health visitors—who will go
out and identify the at risk groups. We need much
more recognition in advance of the at risk groups
and then getting out to them to bring them in,
because if it is still self-selecting, these are the groups
that will never come near authority. So that has to
change. I think the Government has recognised that
but the question is scale, about capacity to do it,
about money. So what we are advancing here is a real
step-change in what we are doing now, starting from
the good base but really expanding it.
Mr Allen: Could I just add that this is not the
property of one Party and never can be. If you are
talking about intergenerational change clearly we
cannot have one Party come in and then ditch what
everybody else has done. To an extent there is the
Swedish model where if you have done it for 40 or 50
years it becomes part of the climate anyway. So I
think it is very important that we do seek to establish
a consensus on this so that this lasts. If you are going
to make intergenerational change it must itself be
over a generation. Finally, all Governments, all
Parties find it very hard to change, particularly this
massive Public Sector Leviathan that is there to pick
up all the pieces and pretty ineVectually and very
expensively. There are lots and lots of people with
futures tied up in their big budgets and their big
staVs and some are not too keen on saying “We will
take a tiny slice of that and actually start to reduce
and deflate that enormous balloon at the long end of
the spectrum.” So everyone feels like that regardless
of Party and that has to change in all Parties too.

Q286 Mrs Dean: A lot of the evidence you base your
early intervention policies on comes from America.
How easy is it and to what extent will that directly
transfer to the UK context?
Mr Allen: It is a great pity that we are not sitting here
talking about lots—I have mentioned some of the
UK examples but there should be lots more and I
think that is another debate, in a sense, about how
we free up particularly local government and our
devolved settlement, and I think we would get a lot
more. The US has a constitutional settlement that
bubbles up lots of diVerent ideas from lots of
diVerent levels. But we have to be really careful in
just transposing something from the US. It is
possible to learn and a classic example is the Nurse
Family Partnership, which has been rolled out now
on the fourth wave—there are about 50 cities now
that have this intensive health visiting for teen mums
and their babies. The person who invented that,
David Olds, insists on what he terms “fidelity” to the
scheme, so that the evidence base is intact, which is
quite sensible. There is other stuV: for example, what
is the best value for money programme rather than

us all inventing our own and having pet schemes,
where the University of Colorado took 7000 federal
programmes, involving bullying, drug taking and
emotional development, to distil them into 12—take
the best 12 blueprints. Similarly, in Washington State
Steve Aos takes programmes for the Washington
State Legislature and does: what does a dollar save
you or what does a dollar cost you? He has pointed
out a number of programmes that cost you more
than they save, and he is saying ditch those. So there
are theories about how this works which we can
bring to the UK but we also need to make sure that
much of this, like the SEAL Programme and the 11-
16 Life Skills, et cetera, are home grown to meet
UK needs.

Q287 Mrs Dean: How can you assess the impact of
such policies when they reach the next generation?
Mr Duncan Smith: Can I pick this up, because
Graham mentioned it? What we agree on and what
I want to work on now is a change for Government,
which is accepting some limitations of any
Government. If you look at what is going on in
Washington State, what is most interesting there is
not the absolute transferability of what they are
doing in programme work but it is actually the
concept that they have created over there, which is
that they have set up an oYce independent of the
legislature, rather like the Audit OYce in the sense
that it is completely independent. The diVerence is
that his oYce looks at programmes prior to their
implementation and is set up to adjudicate whether
or not any programme has a return on investment
which is positive. So, in other words, this gets you to
the point of saying: from all the evidence that has
been produced do we believe that that group will
actually end up saving the state money—let us say
Nurse Family Partnership or like Roots of Empathy
or the SEAL Programme or whatever—and they
calculate any savings to give a bottom line figure; it
is pretty hardnosed stuV. And if it is a positive ROI,
then basically they say to the legislature, “As far as
we are concerned that programme can be
implemented.” Then they go further, they adjudicate
the implementation; rather like Ofsted they will go in
and if it is changed they will recommend cutting the
programme. So fidelity is absolutely critical;
discipline in the Civil Service and at local
government is something that we really could and
should look at doing because too often
Governments of all persuasion under pressure create
some programmes, thump them in, put money
behind them and say that will be fine; but they have
not looked at it properly and it ends up costing us
money with no tangible saving—and there are plenty
of things we can look at, whichever political Party
has been in. With this organisation that process
should eventually cease and what you should be able
to say is, “When we initiate a programme, beyond
reasonable doubt we believe that that will actually
save us money.” Because after all, getting kids and
changing their lives should save money on
unemployment, on education, on crime, all the way
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down the line. That has to be calculate, but should
be possible even over as short a time as a five-year
period.
Mr Allen: They have just dropped two prison-
building programmes from their programme, so
they have saved several million dollars as a
consequence and that several million will be
reinvested in other things.
Mr Duncan Smith: They recommended that signing
on at Job centres—driven by the political cry of
“Sign on every week” for unemployed people—they
came to the conclusion that it saved not a penny and
in fact it cost money as a result of the extra staV
required, so that was dropped. So that is how they
work—independently.
Chairman: Mr Prosser has a question to Mr Given
on Nottingham.

Q288 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Given, from your
perspective how does One Nottingham diVer from
other strategic partnerships and what challenges
have you had to overcome in order to get all of your
partners working together and pushing in the right
direction?
Mr Given: One Nottingham is the overarching
partnership for the city. I am the Chief Executive of
the Crime and Drugs Partnership, which is one of
the themed partnerships that report into One
Nottingham. There are a number of challenges
associated with trying to bring the partners around
the table, but most of that can be oVset by showing
those partners that their contribution to a particular
agenda will help their own agenda. For example, in
the National Health Service, a reduction in crime
prevents them being overloaded at A&E on a
Friday/Saturday night, and bed space et cetera.
There is a lot that partners can do to help. In terms
of the partners themselves, they need to know that if
they are going to get involved in an agenda like this
something has to be paid oV to them at the other end,
and we know that a crime costs society on average
£2,000—the Home OYce figures. Some are much
more and some are less but the average is £2,000.
Some of that goes into the health service and some
of that goes into sick time oV work, some of it in
transport costs, et cetera; it is wrapped up in
investigation, and the other bits are associated with
the crime being committed. But £2,000 is the
average. There has been a reduction in Nottingham
city of about 40,000 crimes over the last four years or
so. That represents a saving to society of about £70
million—£68 to £70 million. I appreciate that that
does not go into somebody’s bank account
somewhere; it is not a bottom line on a budget
somewhere, so people do not necessarily feel the
benefits of that reduction, but they sure as eggs are
eggs feel the pain of crime going up. Everyone feels

pressure on their budgets as crime goes up. So it is
felt one way and not the other. What I think we need
to do with our partners is to find a way of taking
some of that money that either comes from Central
Government to some of those other agencies or
departments, or directly from Central Government,
take some of that £70 million and put it at the front
end, so that we can start to manage some of these
diYcult people that we are coming across. If you
speak to any police oYcer they will talk about a
problem-solving triangle of victims, oVenders and
locations. We do that and we have driven crime
down in Nottingham city—I have a couple of graphs
here that I can share with you later on—and the
crime in the city is dropping like a stone. But
everyone will know that there is a plateau to that. We
will get to the point now where it becomes very, very
diYcult and so we will have to do something
diVerent. There is more to be had but the something
diVerent will be about early intervention; it will be
about getting to the front end of these problems and
preventing some more of these issues. So I would say
take some of that money from the front end, get
partners to engage, get them to show that it is a part
of their business, get them to understand that crime
reduction for society is of benefit to all of those
agencies, which we have managed to do in
Nottingham city—they do accept that—and then
get them to engage with something like an early
intervention programme.
Mr Allen: I would say that as Chair of One
Nottingham for four years, with a budget of around
£15 million only £3 million to £4 million each of
those years was spent on early intervention. So what
we have managed to achieve, even over four years in
one city, costs no more than £16 million. As I have
said, if you bang up a 16-year old in a secure unit for
a year that is a quarter of a million; so eVectively for
the same price as 60-odd children being banged up
we have a complete panoply of 0-18 of policies that
will actually influence thousands of young people to
develop their full potential.
Chairman: Mr Duncan Smith, we did note the fact
that you were in a tower block last night as part of
the Channel 4 suggestion, so you are really taking a
practical interest in this. We were sorry to hear about
the illness of your wife; on behalf of the whole
Committee we hope that you will pass on our best
wishes to her and we hope she gets better as soon as
possible. Mr Allen, Mr Given and to you, Mr
Duncan Smith, we are extremely grateful to you for
the evidence you have given today, for your book
and for your continued interest in this area.
Certainly you have made sure that Parliament
recognises how important early intervention is and I
can assure you that we will look at what you have
said with great interest when we publish our report.
Thank you very much.
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Q289 Chairman: I would like to welcome the
Minister for Policing and Crime Prevention, Mr
David Hanson. Mr Hanson, thank you very much
for giving evidence to us. You have brought with you
today Stephen Rimmer from your oYce. Since we
have just heard evidence from Sir Alec JeVreys, I
would put one question to you, and we have heard
from ministers on this before. He is pretty clear, is he
not, about not wanting to retain DNA on the
database? What is the Government’s current
thinking on this? Has it changed since the matter was
last brought before the House?
Mr Hanson: No, it has not, Mr Vaz. We are in the
middle of the Crime and Security Bill Committee
sessions at the moment. Yesterday we reached clause
14 of the said Bill. Clauses 2 to 13 are part of the
DNA database argument, as is clause 14 and
beyond, and to date we have not had a division in the
Committee. We have had some useful debates. The
Government’s position remains that a six-year
period is appropriate and proportionate.

Q290 Chairman: I have asked Members of the
Committee to be brief in their questions, so you can
be brief in your answers, because we are all keen to
go to Prime Minister’s Questions, and we have
arranged this session on a Wednesday because we
wanted you to be present. You are busy on the Bill
and we appreciate that. The other inquiry that we are
conducting at the moment is on crime prevention,
looking at the causes of crime and assessing the
Government’s record on dealing with the second
limb of the former Prime Minister’s statement that
Labour was going to be tough on crime and the
causes of crime. Crime has gone down, according to
oYcial statistics last week, so you must be quite
pleased about that.
Mr Hanson: I am very pleased that crime has gone
down now, Mr Vaz, because it is important that we
do tackle crime. Crime has fallen 36% since 1997.
Last week’s figures show an 8% fall over the past
reflective quarter. They have shown major falls: a
57% fall in vehicle crime, a 36% fall in household
crime, burglaries down 54% over the past 12 or 13
years. They are impressive statistics, particularly, if I
dare say so, at a time when we have been in recession
over these past 12 months which has made a
diVerence.

Q291 Chairman: What have you done specifically to
tackle the causes of crime? We had some powerful
evidence yesterday from Iain Duncan Smith and

Graham Allen as part of their initiative into early
intervention. Are we tackling those causes? We know
we are doing well after crimes have been committed,
but what about those causes?
Mr Hanson: It is an important point. I know that
both Iain Duncan Smith and Graham Allen are very
focused on it. We are just coming up to the third year
of the Youth Crime Action Plan, which was a £100
million investment. There was the first year; the
second year we are currently in; and then the third
year is 2010/11. It is designed specifically to look at
tackling some of the longer term issues that involve
early identification of individuals who have been
involved in crime, looking at some of the key things
they are interested in (such as diversionary activity,
after-school clubs), patrolling around schools,
supporting Family Intervention Projects. Indeed,
you will know that the Prime Minister announced
only at the end of last year that the Family
Intervention Projects that we currently have
proposed are to be increased to reach around 56,000
families by 2015. We are trying to identify early who
is vulnerable for potential criminal activity, to look
at the first-time entrants and what is happening to
them, and to try to build in long-term strategies to
divert people away at the earliest possible moment.
As you know, quite frankly if someone reaches the
age of 18 and they are still involved in criminal
behaviour, it is much harder to turn them away than
it is at a much earlier age.

Q292 Chairman: Louise Casey told this Committee
that where there is a will there is a way. Clearly there
is a will to do things. Do you think that more should
have been done faster? We appreciate what has been
done over the last 18 months.
Mr Hanson: We are never satisfied. Although there
is a drop in crime by 36% there is still 100% of crime
when it happens to an individual or to a family or to
a community. We have to continue to drive it down
still further at every opportunity. We are looking
now at Family Intervention Projects, the Youth
Crime Action plan, looking at legislation on support
to parents, currently going through the House with
the anti-social behaviour orders. We are looking at
minimum standards of anti-social behaviour, we are
looking at support for diversionary activity, and we
are looking at new legislation which we have just
introduced on reparation orders. There is a whole
range of things and we need to do more, not just on
individuals but also on big issues like designing out
crime. One of the reasons that crime has fallen in cars
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by 57% is because we have invested in crime
measures in vehicles. The same needs to be done for
mobile phones, for buildings and for other activity
as well to continue this progress.

Q293 Chairman: Before I call on Mr Russell, you are
the Police Minister and there is a debate on policing
this afternoon, and you were quoted yesterday
talking about the culture of overtime amongst the
police service. Is it correct that oV-duty police
oYcers are paid £100 when they answer a phone call?
Mr Hanson: There is a range of potential overtime
packages. That figure was in the overtime packages
that we put into the public domain yesterday. We are
very keen to try to save round £70 million from
police overtime. We are going to do that by rostering,
by tackling the culture, but also by engaging with the
police negotiating board in those very issues to see if
we can make some changes.

Q294 Chairman: £100 for a phone call?
Mr Hanson: OYcers are given a minimum amount
of time on duty. These are phone calls that are taken
when they are on duty but not on duty.

Q295 Chairman: On duty but not on duty?
Mr Hanson: Overtime on duty: on call.

Q296 Chairman: That is what the cost is, £100?
Mr Hanson: That would be the minimum payment
they would get. In theory, it could be one phone call,
but it could equally then be attendance at the oYce
and going on duty.

Q297 Chairman: Every time they do any activity,
they will get £100.
Mr Hanson: It is the minimum payment for on-call
activity. That is part of the fee we have negotiated
with the Police Negotiating Board.

Q298 Mr Clappison: Just to be absolutely clear,
although it was becoming clearer towards the end of
your answer, it is the case that a police oYcer can
receive £100 for taking a call oV-duty.
Mr Hanson: There is a minimum on-call
allowance, yes.

Q299 Mr Clappison: That happens.
Mr Hanson: Yes.

Q300 Mr Clappison: It is something that does
happen.
Mr Hanson: It could happen.

Q301 Mr Clappison: Does it happen?
Mr Hanson: It has happened, yes. These figures have
come to the attention of the public because we have
put them there as part of our drive to drive those
figures down.

Q302 Chairman: I think we know why you put them
there, because people are saying that you are cutting
the police budgets and you want to say, “Well, they
can make their own savings.”

Mr Hanson: Can I be clear: we are not cutting
police budgets.

Q303 Chairman: Of course you are not.
Mr Hanson: No. A 2.7% increase next year.

Q304 Chairman: Exactly.
Mr Hanson: We are trying to make savings on the
police budget, to put that money into other
activities.
Chairman: That was a soft question from me to allow
you to say that, but I am sure you will say more this
afternoon. Bob Russell.

Q305 Bob Russell: I would just observe that MPs are
never oV duty. Minister, if crime rates are
plummeting, why does Britain have the highest
prison population in Europe?
Mr Hanson: There may, Mr Russell, be a correlation
between the two. We are capturing more people,
getting more convictions, the people who are being
caught are very often getting longer sentences, and
therefore we have seen a rise from 1997 until now of
around 22,000 to 23,000 in the prison population.
Part of that is because the changing nature of crime
means that there are more serious, dangerous,
violent oVenders going to prison. One of the
strategies that the Ministry of Justice followed when
I was the Minister there for two years and which it is
following now, is to try to look at taking out people
from the lower end of crime into community-based
sentences at a time when making sure that we have
serious violent criminals put in prison for long
periods of time.

Q306 Bob Russell: I would certainly welcome that,
particularly if it is going to remove that vast number
of people who have mental illnesses who have been
incarcerated in prisons. To what extent is it the role
of the Home OYce and criminal justice agencies to
tackle the root causes of crime? To what extent does
it involve partnership co-ordination with other
departments, following on the Chairman’s opening
question?
Mr Hanson: It is absolutely essential that we involve
other departments, and not just other departments
but also other agencies in the community, such as
local councils. Stephen Rimmer may want to speak
on this in a moment, but he will lead as an oYcial on
monitoring our public service agreement targets. We
have several, including PSA 23 or 24, which are
cross-government targets, where the Home OYce
has a lead but other departments have to play their
role. We are very keen on doing that. Ministerially,
we have regular meetings on crime prevention issues.
On youth crime particularly, DCSF, the Ministry of
Justice and the Home OYce are responsible jointly
for the Youth Crime Action Plan, and Stephen as an
oYcial will deal with cross-government responses on
crime reduction measures.

Q307 Mrs Dean: What evaluation was carried out of
the Cutting Crime strategy for the two-year update
report and what were the key findings?
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Mr Hanson: The Cutting Crime strategy report was
produced several years ago. We did produce, as you
will know, the update document. The update is
essentially a refresh of where we are going and what
we need to do. Although the strategy itself is a three-
year strategy, we do need to monitor it and evaluate
it continually, and oYcials are doing that. The
update two years on is simply to say how we are
performing against what we said we would do, what
are the challenges that have arisen in those years,
what are the crime figures that have happened in that
period and how do we need to refresh the strategy.
That is an ongoing process. In a broad sense of
evaluation, there is not a formal evaluation, but
there is a continuing examination by ministers and
by oYcials. Stephen may wish to comment on where
the strategy is.
Mr Rimmer: Some of the key individual
programmes that this strategy highlighted around
youth crime, around tackling knives, around prolific
priority oVenders are subject to their own individual
evaluation. We develop a range of indicators and
then we link it in outcome terms to the PSA
requirements that the Minister has already outlined,
so that we have a sense of outcomes in terms of crime
but also on whether our programmes, to the extent
we can judge these things, are contributing to those
reductions in crime. The only thing I would add to
what the Minister was saying earlier about the range
of partners we work with to do all that is that we try,
even on a national level now, to engage much more
directly with crime and disorder reduction
partnerships locally, so that we have that clear sense,
not just at the departmental level but at the delivery
level, of what the pressures and the challenges are for
local crime partnerships.

Q308 Mrs Dean: Are there any key findings that you
want to draw to our attention?
Mr Hanson: There is a range of measures. For
example, on the Tackling Knives Action Programme
we have seen a considerable amount of investment
go into that and we have seen a fall in hospital
admissions. We continually monitor issues. We are
currently in the second year, for example, of the
knives programme. We are hoping to produce a third
year shortly, but we have not finally made a decision
on that. We will monitor what the performance is in
years one and two versus our objectives. Each of the
programmes here has a clear outcome to it, because
we are trying to reduce crime in certain areas across
the board.

Q309 Mr Streeter: Whoever wins the next election,
Minister, from April 2011 it is likely that all these
budgets will come under pressure. Are you satisfied
that steps that will have to be taken will not
undermine the crime prevention work which, I
accept, has been going on in recent days?
Mr Hanson: For policing budgets, subject to the
House of Commons approval at four o’clock this
afternoon, we will see a 2.7% increase across the
board for 2010-11.

Q310 Mr Streeter: From April 2011 onwards?
Mr Hanson: April 2011 onwards will be more
challenging. We have a CSR to go through. I cannot
give you outcome of that CSR. I can say that on
policing numbers and on police community support
oYcer numbers, the Chancellor has given an
indication in the PBR that there will be suYcient
resources to allow forces, if they wish, to maintain
their current numbers, as of 2009-10, post April
2011. If I am honest, it is going to be a very
challenging public spending round, whatever the
outcome of the election, and therefore there will be
pressures on other partners, as well as on ourselves,
to meet those demands. That is even more
important, in my view, for the benefit of partnership,
to make sure that we maximise the benefits of the
resources that we have. I cannot, as yet, give to the
Committee, because we do not know, what the
Home OYce budget is going to be, what my
Department’s budget is going to be and what local
government and other agencies are going to have.

Q311 Mr Winnick: Minister, yesterday a youth was
convicted of murder. The person convicted had
breached his anti-social behaviour on numerous
occasions—numerous occasions. While I would not
expect you to give us an explanation about this, I
certainly hope that you will write to the
Committee—I hope with the Chairman’s
approval—how it is that this youth who was
convicted of murder breached his anti-social
behaviour on so many occasions. What is being done
to ensure that if someone gets an anti-social
behaviour order it is enforced? That is what the
public, understandably, is asking.
Mr Hanson: You are absolutely right, Mr Winnick.
With regard to the specific case yesterday, some
aspects are currently ongoing, so I cannot comment
upon it.
Chairman: Are the facts about the breach of the
ASBOs correct?

Q312 Mr Winnick: They had been breached about a
dozen times.
Mr Hanson: Some of the press reports indicated a
very, very high level of ASBO breach. The level of
ASBO breach, in my understanding, is not as high as
the press reports, but it is still unacceptable and it
still is a contributory factor in my view to the
oVending behaviour. It is not acceptable to have
ASBO breaches. Certainly if Mr Vaz wishes, we will
write to the Committee when this case is completed
about these issues.
Chairman: Please, if you would do that.

Q313 Mr Winnick: Will that be next week, in so far
as it is possibly legally?
Mr Hanson: When the legal proceedings are
completed, I will write to the Committee. The key
thing is that it is not acceptable. Perhaps I could say
to the Committee—and this is an important fact—
on ASB interventions, 93% of individuals who
receive an intervention, after their third criminal
justice intervention do not get involved in the two
years following that intervention in criminal activity



Processed: 25-03-2010 19:01:58 Page Layout: COENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 442540 Unit: PAG3

Home Affairs Committee: Evidence Ev 55

3 February 2010 Rt Hon David Hanson MP and Mr Stephen Rimmer

again. ASB interventions themselves (including
ASBOs) are eVective. They are an eVective tool and
they do work.

Q314 Mr Winnick: 93%.
Mr Hanson: I am not happy with the fact that there
are breaches which are not followed through. That
demands us to look at both the court proceedings the
probation proceedings, what we do in terms of the
Youth OVending Team and/or the criminal justice
system generally, and I accept fully there are needs to
tighten that up to make it much more eVective.

Q315 Bob Russell: Following on from earlier
questions, you write that from 2011-12 10,000
families will be supported through the Family
Intervention Projects each year. Do you have an
assessment of how many problem families there are
by that definition in the UK?
Mr Hanson: The Prime Minister has indicated that
we want to try to expand to reach around 56,000
families by 2015. The assessment is that, whatever
the challenges in family life in the United Kingdom,
those 56,000, which are Family Intervention Projects
for England only, are the assessment of what we can
do in relation to funding challenges in the next
three years.

Q316 Bob Russell: What impact has inadequate
housing had on those problem families? Has there
been any evidence looking at the fact that 25/30
years of failure to provide suYcient low rent housing
has contributed to the growth in the number of
problem families?
Mr Hanson: There is a range of challenges. Housing
may be one, but there are much more dysfunctional
issues sometimes than housing. Part of the problem
for young people who are going on to commit crime
may be because they are growing up in a culture
where alcohol dependency or drug dependency is
rife, or a culture where their parents have committed
criminal behaviour, or where their parents are not
tuned to help support them to achieve aspiration,
where the standards that many people would
expect—not just those in low-cost housing would
expect—are not being met. There is not one specific
issue. There is dysfunctionality which very often
relates to a parental approach and parental
behaviour, and the key aspect of the Family
Intervention Projects is to help tackle some of the
problems in the parents as much as some of the
challenges in the children’s lives.

Q317 Bob Russell: I certainly would not disagree
with the last 90%, but I would urge you and your
oYcials to look at the impact on housing.
Mr Hanson: Housing is an important issue. Where
there are challenges, it is an important issue. But I
grew up on a council estate, but there was not
necessarily crime because we were living on a council
estate. The first seven years of my life was spent with
eight people in a two-bedroomed house. We did not
commit crime. My parents did not go to prison. It

does not mean, necessarily, that overcrowding or
social housing or low-cost housing equals crime.
Absolutely not.

Q318 Bob Russell: I think you have misunderstood
my question, I hope not deliberately. The point I am
making is that people need to be housed. Do you
agree with Louise Casey’s proposals for Family
Intervention Projects to include residential schemes,
eVectively taking whole families into care?
Mr Hanson: There are occasions when that is
necessary, but it is in a small number of cases. There
are currently examples—Manchester City Council,
is one, SheYeld City Council is another—where they
do have specialist units. If I look at this
dispassionately, the 56,000 people for FIPs are not
going to be in 56,000 special accommodation units
or in ten special accommodation units. We need to
tackle people at source, wherever they happen to be.
If there are totally dysfunctional families, in a small
number of occasions then a specialist unit might
help.

Q319 Bob Russell: Why has it taken 13 years to find
out there are 50,000 problem families?
Mr Hanson: Everything, Mr Russell, is continuous
improvement. We can always say that there is
something that we could have done five years ago,
ten years ago, 20 years ago. There are always things
that we can improve. We have to continue to look at
the problem, analyse it, and come up with solutions.
The Family Intervention Projects are a natural
continuation of the work on the Youth Crime Action
Plan to do that. I am sure you will support that.

Q320 Mr Clappison: Do you have a figure for the
recidivism rate of people who have served a prison
sentence?
Mr Hanson: It would vary, if I am honest, Mr
Clappison. For some young people it will be as high
as 75% to 80%—for people under the age of 18. For
some people on community-based sentences, it may
be between 45% and 60%. For those on prison
sentences, maybe 60% to 75%.

Q321 Mr Clappison: It is natural for it to be higher
for people who have gone to prison because they
have committed the more serious oVences.
Mr Hanson: Yes.

Q322 Chairman: It is still very high and it has been
high for years. We have heard a lot of evidence on
this Committee that more needs to be done in
prisons to rehabilitate oVenders and to give them
work and to give them skills and to give them a better
chance in life. Do you think this will be an important
task for whoever forms the next Government?
Mr Hanson: It certainly is. It is a task that we have
undertaken during the course of this Government. I
cannot now speak for the Ministry of Justice because
I am not there, but I did do this job for two years as
Prisons Minister. One of the things we were trying to
do was to ensure that we helped to give support for
drug intervention and alcohol intervention in prison,
to help support employment prospects, to get people
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through the gate in a positive way. The rate of adult
reoVending fell by 20% between 2000 and 2007 and
the rate of juvenile reoVending fell by over 23% in
the same period.

Q323 Mr Clappison: As a member of the Select
Committee, it seems strange to me that when so
much oVending is committed by people who have
served custodial sentences, and we are talking about
reducing oVending and you are a Minister coming to
talk to us about reducing oVending, that you are not
in charge of what happens to them in prison, where
more could be done to rehabilitate people and reduce
oVending. It is a strange division.
Mr Hanson: We do work very closely with the
Ministry of Justice, so much so that I did the job for
two years and now I am doing this job.

Q324 Chairman: It is your reward for a successful
period, obviously.
Mr Hanson: Absolutely. A reward made in heaven.
It is a very important point that Mr Clappison
makes. I still think—and we have discussed this in
the MoJ—that there are people going to prison who
would be best served by a community-based
sentence which would help them tackle some of their
drug, alcohol or attitude problems, which we cannot
deal with in the five, six or seven weeks of a short
prison sentence. That is a key area to look at. In the
longer term, prison also needs to work with
employment, drug and alcohol problems, to help
people reintegrate back into society, and—to link up
with Mr Russell’s point—to give housing
opportunities and oVers. That is certainly a part of
my colleagues’ MoJ experience and proposals to
date, but more can always be done.
Chairman: Indeed.

Q325 Mrs Dean: What proportion of those who
receive Parenting Orders complete the programme
and is there any evidence to show their eVectiveness?
Mr Hanson: Parenting Orders are extremely
positive. From memory—and I am looking for the
figure—we have around 14,500 to date. We do not
have published research as yet on the eVectiveness of
the evaluation of Parenting Orders, but if I could
give you my hunch, Mrs Dean, my hunch is that help
and support for parents is an important point in
helping to reduce re-oVending in young people.
Although we do not yet have formal evaluation of
that, I believe that they are a valuable product and
we are certainly encouraging their use still further.

Q326 Mrs Dean: Do you know what proportion
complete the programme?
Mr Hanson: I am afraid oVhand I do not.

Q327 Mrs Dean: Would you perhaps write to the
Committee.
Mr Hanson: I would be very happy to give a figure
rather than make one up now, Mr Vaz.

Q328 Chairman: We would like you not to make one
up. If you would write to us, that would be
wonderful. I hope you never make one up when you
are dealing with this Committee anyway.
Mr Hanson: What you see is what you get, I
promise you.
Chairman: Excellent.

Q329 Mr Streeter: Perhaps you would have a go at
this question, Minister. What is Integrated OVender
Management and how will it improve upon current
Prolific and Priority OVender programmes?
Mr Hanson: Integrated OVender Management is
one of the small schemes we are currently
developing, which is at a relatively small level of
operation at the moment, whereby in areas where we
have identified it, such as some of the boroughs in
London, we have very close
co-operation between the police, between probation,
between local authorities to manage oVenders
through the system. In practice that means that if
David Hanson was a young oVender then the
interests of all parties would follow David Hanson
through his initial trial, through his ultimate
conviction, through his sentence. If that was a
custodial sentence, we would follow him through to
his return to the community, and we would look at
what his needs were and try to manage that in an
integrated way to maximise the benefits of all of
these systems. In the past, probation may not have
known what happened in prison; prison may not
have known previous histories in the detail that we
want them to; the police may not have managed that
individual outside as a potential further oVender.
That is really looking at how we do this in a much
more focused way on the oVender.
Mr Rimmer: To add a bit of data to that, the overall
reduction in re-oVending for people going through
the Prolific and Priority OVender scheme last year
was 29%. In most areas we have built beyond that,
with an Integrated OVender Management approach,
which brings in a broader range of oVenders, and
there the figures are even more encouraging. In
Leeds, for instance, against that baseline of 29%, the
overall reduction for re-oVending under IOM is
45%, and in Nottingham it is 42%. The thinking
behind this at local level—which is that this brings in
a broader range of people who have a
disproportionate impact on re-oVending—though it
is early days, would seem to be borne out by the data.

Q330 Tom Brake: Minister, the Government
pledged to “create an early warning system that
draws on local crime analysis and consumer
experience to identify problems quickly” to help the
nation to stay ahead of the game in emerging crime
areas. That was specifically in relation to new areas
of technology. However, it would seem that in
relation to mobile phone crime in prisons and the use
of Facebook to bully or threaten people from within
prison, certainly mobile phone use has not yet been
tackled, and in relation to Facebook it would seem
that the Government have only just realised that this
was a problem that needed addressing. Why did this
early warning system not work?
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Mr Hanson: If I am honest, Mr Brake—and I always
try to be to the Committee—it is work in progress.
We need to sharpen up on how we develop that early
warning system. The inspiration for it is there. Some
of the practical applications are in place. There is
more work to be done to make sure that we are
eVective on issues that you have mentioned, such as
mobile phones. One of the key things we have to do
is to look at those issues really carefully, about
designing out crime, because that is what has proved
to be working, particularly on issues such as vehicle
crime, in the past. We are looking now, with, for
example, the Design and Technology Alliance, at
how we can design out crime on mobile phones but
it still is very early days and we are not at the stage
that I would hope to be.

Q331 Tom Brake: I understand in relation to
prisons—and I am sure you will be aware of this as
an ex Prisons Minister—that there is a relatively
straightforward technological solution to the use of
mobile phones in prisons which requires the
installation of a network in prison. I understand the
costs involved are relatively small. We are talking
possibly of tens or hundreds of thousands of pounds.
I do not know whether you are able to confirm that.
There is a solution but it has not been rolled out.
Why not?
Mr Hanson: I am talking with the absence of eight
months or nine months’ knowledge of where we are
now, so it may be out of date, but the position was
that we wanted to ensure that we have BOSS (body
orifice security scanner) chairs in prisons. We have
invested in those to make sure that individuals
coming in are scanned before they arrive in prison
for mobile phones. We are looking at technological
solutions. My understanding of where we are with
that is that there is a range of solutions, but the
technology, necessarily, does not always work solely
within the prison. One of the key things is that many
prisons, even in London, are in areas where there are
residential areas around, and the technology cannot,
as I understood it at the time, be limited to prisons.
But we are working very hard to get a technological
solution and will do so. In the meantime, we are
looking at those preventative measures. Also, as you
will know through your membership of the
Committee, we have legislation before the House
now to make it an oVence to have a mobile phone in
prison, with a penalty of two years in prison added
on to any sentence—which is a very severe penalty—
coupled with the measures I took through the House
two years ago of an oVence of smuggling a phone
into prison with the same penalty. There are lots of
actions being taken, but the technology needs to be
worked on.

Q332 Tom Brake: Moving on to the subject of how
the Government is going to incentivise businesses to
work with local authorities and other partners to
address the issue of crime prevention, perhaps I can
give you one good example. My understanding is
that when houses are being built, the builder is not
required to fit locks on their properties, possibly any
locks at all and certainly not locks of a certain

standard. Minister, you have quite rightly pointed
out that vehicle crime has been greatly addressed by
manufacturers introducing better systems, what
joined-up working is going on at a government level
to incentivise home builders to ensure that they fit
adequate locks, for instance?
Mr Hanson: I confess, Mr Brake, that I am not
personally in my responsibilities dealing with that
activity of incentivising builders.

Q333 Tom Brake: The crime prevention aspect of it.
Mr Hanson: On the crime prevention aspect, we do
have, as you will know through things such as
Operation Vigilance, extra resources going to
specific areas, but we are not tackling areas on an
industry-wide basis, we are tackling those on a crime
hot-spot basis.
Mr Rimmer: To add to that, I think you have already
heard evidence from the Design and Technology
Alliance. One of their key remits is to work with
business to determine the sort of risk areas and
opportunities around crime prevention areas,
certainly including target hardening, which you have
already described. We are still in a process of waiting
for some further recommendations from them on a
range of discussions they have had with various
elements of the private sector.
Mr Hanson: I know my colleague Alan Campbell
deals with this on a day-to-day basis. I am not aware
of any firm proposals coming through as yet. Our
focus has been identifying hot-spots, trying to fund
preventative measures in those hot-spots and that is
where the resource has gone to date.

Q334 Mr Streeter: Minister, can I take you back to
money for a second. I discovered this morning that
the Chief Constable of Devon and Cornwall, a
relatively small authority, is paid over £170,000 a
year—so that is more than the Prime Minister—and
there are five oYcers employed by Devon and
Cornwall Police Authority earning over £100,000 a
year—five of them. Do you think that any chief
constable should earn more than the Prime
Minister? Do you have any observations on this?
Because I do not.
Mr Hanson: The Prime Minister himself has been
very clear that there needs to be examinations of
high level salaries. At the moment I am looking with
colleagues at a range of police salaries, but I cannot
as yet give a firm policy announcement in relation to
that. I think we do need to look at the issues of
recruitment and reward but also at restraint in the
current circumstances.

Q335 Mr Streeter: Were you aware that chief
constables were earning that kind of salary?
Mr Hanson: I was aware, Mr Streeter.
Mr Streeter: I was not.

Q336 Chairman: Despite that, the Government has
had to intervene, has it not, in Nottinghamshire, and
in Leicestershire they have diYculty in filling the
post of Chief Constable? Who is supposed to be
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looking after all this for you? Is it Mr O’Connor or
is this done by the Home OYce itself? Obviously you
cannot choose who the Chief Constable is.
Mr Hanson: There are two aspects to this. First of
all, in relation to the intervention in
Nottinghamshire, that is an Inspectorate initiative
led by Denis O’Connor. I am obviously kept
informed of those issues. Dependent on his report on
Nottinghamshire, which will be due out, I hope,
within the next few weeks, he will make
recommendations which then I will have to consider
as Police Minister with my colleague the Home
Secretary about whether we take any further action
or not based on his assessment. There is an ongoing
process. I cannot comment on that until it is
complete. We are very aware of the challenges that
Nottinghamshire faces and we are apprised of the
fact that we might need to look at that report in
due course.

Q337 Chairman: It might surprise people. We
understand government intervention with failing
schools, but this is a kind of central issue, is it not,
that this goes on for years, the money continues to
be paid, but the results are so poor that there has to
be intervention in a police authority?
Mr Hanson: Ultimately, I have the power to
intervene, based on recommendations through a
procedure. Ultimately, if we wish to, we have the
power to remove a chief constable, and we have the
power, I think, to replace the police authority.
Certainly we have the power to intervene, and we
will exercise that power in the event of
recommendations if there is a need to do so, but
there is a process which the inspector has to go
through.

Q338 Chairman: Of course. What concerns this
Committee, I think, is how does it get to a situation
like that? You have all these structures, all these
highly paid people in the Inspectorate, all giving
advice and assistance—with chief constables earning
a large amount of money, as Mr Streeter has said—
there is an Assistant Chief Constable and a Deputy
Assistant Chief Constable, with all these people
around, how does it get to a stage where you have
this?
Mr Hanson: One of the key things we were trying to
do in the Policing White Paper produced before
Christmas, and which we are doing through the
process over the last 18 months and beyond, is to put
in place a real level of inspection on the performance
of authorities, inspection on the performance of the
constabulary, and ensuring that we start a
benchmark: performance, outputs, costings.

Q339 Chairman: Do you mean that you do not have
any of this already?
Mr Hanson: We do, but we are tightening that up,
Mr Vaz. It is very important that we do so. We are
receiving, occasionally, some resistance to those
issues, so we have to do that. From my perspective,
the public need to know the performance of their
force. We need to know the value for money of that
force, we need to know the business outcomes of that

force as well as the crime outcomes, and that is all
part of our general drive in the White Paper, which
includes some national procurement, some regional
co-operation but also benchmarking and focus on
what chief constables and authorities are doing.

Q340 Chairman: With hindsight, because you and
the Home Secretary keep reminding everybody, as
you will this afternoon, how much money you have
given to the police force—more than any
government in history—ought you to have given
that money with strings attached in the first place?
Hindsight is a wonderful thing. Now that everyone
is screaming that you are cutting their budgets, even
though you are increasing their budgets—and I am
sure you have seen the Committee’s last report on
this, where we have said: “The money has gone into
these forces, but where is it all?”—should you not
have attached those strings at that stage rather than
dealing with it right at the end?
Mr Hanson: There are numerous strings and
monitoring attached to any funding. Perhaps I could
say, Mr Vaz, that I welcome your report and I thank
you for it. We have around 20,000 extra oYcers and
16,000 extra PCSOs, and we have a 36% reduction in
crime. The two are not unconnected to each other.
The work that we have done has shown the output.
The output for me, ultimately, is: Is crime down? Do
the public feel safer? Confidence levels are now at
record levels. The chance of being a victim of crime
is at the lowest ever level in history. The figures of
crime reduction are dramatic. We have gone through
a recession and crime is still going down. Whatever
happens in the election, after 13 years we will be the
first Government to have gone into a 13-year period
with figures going down.
Chairman: I have allowed you to give that little
advertisement because you said you welcomed our
report. Could you take a message back to the Home
Secretary. We produced a report on Monday which
he called “wholly inaccurate” and “inadequate.”
Could you point out to the Home Secretary that the
role of Parliament in a Select Committee is
sometimes to praise the Government when they do
things well and on other occasions to point out that
there are problems. That is our role. It would be nice
when you like our reports if he could say something
nice about them, even though he is very critical when
we do not agree with him.

Q341 Mrs Dean: What evidence is there to suggest
that the introduction of Crime and Disorder
Reduction Partnerships has improved the rate of
local agencies to prevent crime? What more needs to
be done?
Mr Hanson: I will ask Stephen to talk about specific
evidence, but my hunch and my gut feeling is that the
Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships are
bringing together at a local level the key players who
have budgets and influence in any community to
tackle crime. There is a shared ownership of what is
needed to be done at that local level. If I am being
critical—which I will be—I think we need to raise the
game of CDRPs. We need to make them more public
focused, we need to make them more visible, we need
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to make them and their outputs more known. One of
the things that we are doing in a paper that we will
be producing, hopefully, by the end of this month, is
to look at how we do that to get a sharper focus to
their work in more general terms.
Mr Rimmer: We do look at the range of crime-
related data across CDRPs. We are obviously not
responsible for managing them but we do provide
support and advice and some modest level of
resources to particular partnerships that are facing
particular crime problems. Through those sorts of
engagements with CDRPs, we find—as I expect you
would expect, Mrs Dean—that there is a range, and
the strongest single indicator of eVective CDRP, as
opposed to a less eVective one, is the quality of the
leadership of the key people on that team, the Chair
and the three or four other core agencies that drive
it. One of the things the Minister is reflecting on is the
fact that there is still quite a lot of variation between
very good CDRPs and not such eVective ones.

Q342 Mrs Dean: Turning to the Safer and Stronger
Communities Fund, what would be the impact of the
reported 50% cut in capital grants to that fund?
Mr Hanson: We had to make a decision and I had to
take a decision and I will have to account for that
decision. We had a very tight budgetary settlement to
look at in relation to the police budget and my
responsibilities on crime and capital in the Home
OYce this year, and I chose to support police
authorities by maintaining the £220 million capital
grant which we promised to the police authorities for
this forthcoming year 2010-11 and which is debated
this very afternoon. In order to do that, and because
of the capital pressures we faced, I had to look
elsewhere. One of the “elsewheres” I looked at was
the local government capital grant allocation which
went from £20 million to £10 million. There is still
£10 million-worth going into that and the impact for
local councils might be as little as £8,000 in capital
funding through to around £100,000 for some
others. I do not think it is a major impact although
it will be a concern. I had to make the choice: do I
give capital directly to the police or do I give capital
to a range of bodies including local councils and I
chose, rightly or wrongly, -rightly in my view—to
give it to the police.

Q343 Mrs Dean: Can I ask you about the
relationship between the Government and the
voluntary sector. I should declare that I was a
founding member of Uttoxeter Crime Prevention
Panel and I am still a member of the joint
Neighbourhood Watch and Crime Prevention Panel
in Uttoxeter. How has the relationship changed over
the past decade? How do you view the public
working with the police in the future?
Mr Hanson: The voluntary sector plays an
absolutely vital role. One of the things we have done,
both in terms of the Home OYce and in terms of the
Ministry of Justice, is to develop formal strategies
with the voluntary sector to help on crime reduction.
That could be through something as complex but as
simple as Neighbourhood Watch. It could be
through activities such as prison visitors and

monitoring boards in prisons. It could be through
partnership arrangements with NACRO, with
mental health charities, with alcohol and drug
charities, and a lot of the government resource still
ends up in the voluntary sector to achieve joint
objectives to reduce alcohol and drug dependency, to
help rehabilitation, and to support crime prevention
and crime detection measures. The voluntary sector
is absolutely vital to help us with innovation, with
focus, and sometimes with more eYcient delivery
than a cumbersome public sector can do.

Q344 Bob Russell: Minister, following that up, you
just mentioned Neighbourhood Watch and I have
written it down to ask you this question. You say you
are a supporter of Neighbourhood Watch and I
would hope we all are. How much money does the
Home OYce give for Neighbourhood Watch or is
this something that you leave to chief constables
who may or may not regard them as a good idea?
Mr Hanson: We give a range of resources to
Neighbourhood Watch, the latest of which is
£500,000 to Neighbourhood Watch to have a
capacity building programme which is to extend still
further the development of current Neighbourhood
Watch schemes and also new ones as a whole. I do
not have a total in-the-round figure for
Neighbourhood Watch at the moment in front of me
but it is certainly something we support and indeed
are looking to do more in the very near future with
the Neighbourhood Confidence strategy.
Mr Rimmer: The main funding stream at the
moment is part of the overall Safer Homes Fund
where a whole range of voluntary organisations,
including Neighbourhood Watch, are funded to
provide practical measures on target hardening of
homes, going back to Mr Brake’s point, and they get
another half a million on that.
Mr Hanson: Again, the reason I cannot give a precise
figure is that some of the money for things such as
the Operation Vigilance Scheme that we have got for
crime prevention money is channelled in direct
application for Neighbourhood Watch. As part of
the White Paper we are currently looking at
community neighbourhood agreements. I know
several Neighbourhood Watch schemes have
applied for those, so there will be a range of funding
streams and in terms of our core activities Stephen
has mentioned what we try to do.

Q345 Bob Russell: The reason I mention that is
because the eyes and ears of the public are crucial
and I do not think that that message is really coming
out of the Home OYce down to chief constables. If
I am lucky my oral Home OYce question on
Monday is on Neighbourhood Watch, so perhaps
this could be a dress rehearsal. Linked with that,
what support is the Home OYce giving to
Crimestoppers in the fight against crime involving
the community?
Mr Hanson: Again, rather than give a figure that I
could not comment upon, the actual figure on
Crimestoppers is not in my head, I am afraid, but if
the Committee will allow me I will combine that in
the letter I drop you in due course.
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Chairman: That will be very helpful. Gary Streeter
has a question.

Q346 Mr Streeter: Just to come back on police
funding, Minister, I am becoming quite exercised
about this. Have you done any analysis in your
Department about what savings might be achieved
through voluntary merger? I accept that no-one is
going to force it top-down, and that is quite right,
whichever party wins the election, but what sort of
amount can a police authority or a police force save
if there is a voluntary merger with the next-door
authority? Can you talk us about through that and
what kind of numbers might we be looking at?
Mr Hanson: For example, self-evidently they would
save senior management costs because there would
not be two chief constables; ultimately there would
be one. They would save money in terms of the
resources on back oYce staV, on personnel, HR
functions. They can combine and co-operate on
things like forensics and all sorts of issues. The basic
principle would be that there would still be in the
City of Plymouth a basic command unit of whatever
sort with the same number of oYcers. It would not
be any diVerent if they had merged with Taunton and
Somerset because there would still be the same
number of things on the ground, but there can be
savings in back oYce management capability which
can be made. What we are doing is encouraging,
irrespective of the merger debate, some of that back
oYce co-operation anyway. Yesterday I published a
working group paper from the Home OYce which
looked at big issues to do with procurement, back
oYce, overtime, where there are major savings to be
made simply by doing things better. I have given a
commitment that those savings can be kept in the
system so they are not lost to a third party.

Witness: Chris Grayling MP, Home AVairs Spokesman, Conservative Party, gave evidence.

Q349 Chairman: Mr Grayling, thank you very much
for coming to give evidence to the Committee this
morning. We have heard from the Minister for
Policing. Our inquiry is on the subject of reducing
crime, not just tackling crime but also the famous
statement of the previous Prime Minister “let us be
tough on crime and the causes of crime”.
Chris Grayling: Absolutely.

Q350 Chairman: If we believe the opinion polls after
whenever the election is and nobody knows—say the
6 May—you will be the Home Secretary and you will
be at your desk and your civil servants will come in.
What would be the first thing you would say to them
about trying to get at the causes of crime?
Chris Grayling: I think what I would say to them is
that I believe that the criminal justice system needs
to do two things. It needs to focus more on early
intervention and it needs to do more, for want of a
phrase, to do what it says on the tin. What I would
add to that is I would be saying that against a context
of colleagues in other departments talking to their
civil servants about the underlying social policy

Mr Streeter: Thank you, that is very helpful.

Q347 Chairman: One final question from me. You
have had a very distinguished ministerial career. I
think your last three jobs were Parliamentary Private
Secretary to the Prime Minister, Minister for Justice
and now Minister for Policing.
Mr Hanson: And Northern Ireland in between.

Q348 Chairman: And Northern Ireland. So you have
been in this area of crime and justice for a great deal
of time and you have a great deal of expertise. You
told this Committee you were born in a council
house and lived there and that was not an excuse for
you to go and commit crime, almost Thatcherite in
your statement, though that is meant positively
rather than negatively! OV the page, without
thinking about your brief and worrying about your
oYcials and Home OYce policy, if there is one thing
that all parties can do together, including
Parliament, what would it be if we are going to
reduce the causes of crime?
Mr Hanson: I think the earlier the identification of
individuals who are vulnerable to criminal activity
the better. That means essentially working not just
with the parents but also picking up from head
teachers, from other areas, from the police, the
earliest possible intervention. The earlier the
intervention the better chance we have of turning
someone’s life around. Once people are in the system
there is a greater propensity for them to be drawn
further into criminal activity and simple early
intervention, whatever that means, is the most
important thing.
Chairman: Minister, as usual, thank you very much
for your candid responses and thank you to Mr
Rimmer as well.

approach which I think is necessary as well to deal
with many of the underlying root causes of crime. If
I might touch on that really briefly, Chairman,
before we start. I am very much of the view that we
have pockets of deprivation around this country
where you will find, as you know from all the work
you have done, high levels of addiction, family
breakdown, educational failure, long-term benefit
dependency, where we need to deliver real social
change if we are to break people out of the
environment that I have described which is almost
like living in an estate with a glass wall around it,
where entire streets of people have little experience of
attainment in any particular way at all. I think that
is an essential part of getting to grips with the crime
problems in this country. Very often you will find
that it is in those areas that crime is at its most
pronounced. One of the great issues in our society is
that it is the poor and deprived who are the most
likely to be the victims of crime. Where I think the
criminal justice system has to come in is this: I do not
think the criminal justice system alone can deal with
this problem; I think it is part of the solution and not
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the whole solution. The criminal justice system does
two things wrong at the moment. The first is that it
lets people get away with it for too long. I pick
particularly the example of anti-social behaviour. If
you look at the pattern of oVending as it builds up in
an issue of anti-social behaviour, typically you have
two groups. You have a broader mass who oVend in
the teenage years and you have a smaller group who
are what is defined by the academics as the “life-
course oVenders” who will be coming from very
diYcult backgrounds, causing trouble as they get
older in school, and going on to more issues in later
life. I believe very strongly that the criminal justice
system in both those groups’ cases, although it will
have a diVerent eVect, actually allows them to get
away with it a number of times before it kicks in. I
have come this morning from a meeting with a senior
police oYcer in South London who said, “Yes, that
is true actually. They do get away with it again and
again and again.” In the proposals that I am aiming
to bring forward in a month’s time, and I have talked
about in the last year, I want to fill what I perceive to
be a gap between first contact between the police and
the oVender and the criminal justice system.

Q351 Chairman: Do you think politicians are too
short term because they have to deal with the
statistics issue to bring down crime and actually
what we need are long-term solutions to these
problems?
Chris Grayling: Yes I do. You will find that I talk
very seldom about statistical issues in the quotes I
give to the media and in the work that I do.
Particularly, I gave a lecture at King’s College before
Christmas when I talked about some of the thinking
that needs to underpin an approach to criminal
justice. We need to intervene earlier. There need to be
simple penalties immediately when young people
begin to go oV the straight and narrow. For those
who get into more trouble further on, the system has
to do what it says it is going to do. We send out all
the wrong messages by overuse of cautions for
violent oVences and overuse of fixed penalty notices
for violent oVences and even the automatic early
release scheme. I talked to a youth worker on an
estate in North London who said to me, “One of the
problems with the early release scheme is that the
guys round here all think they are getting away with
it because they are expecting to do a certain length of
time, they get out earlier and they come away with a
sense that they have bucked the system.”

Q352 Bob Russell: Mr Grayling, so far you have not
mentioned housing. Is decent housing a prerequisite
in tackling crime and disorder in neighbourhoods?
Chris Grayling: Decent housing is a factor but it is
not the only factor.

Q353 Bob Russell: I recognise that.
Chris Grayling: What is quite striking is that if you
visit an estate where there have been significant
crime problems, drug problems and so forth, there is
no commonalty of pattern. They are not always the
same. Sometimes it is streets of old terraced houses,
sometimes it is streets of relatively new housing,

sometimes it is estates of pretty awful 1970s tower
blocks, so I do not think it is automatically the case
that being brought up in not a great housing
environment is going to lead you to do things in your
life that you should not. I am inclined to take the
view that family background is more important than
housing. I am not saying housing is not a factor at
all but I am not sure it is right at the top of the list.

Q354 Bob Russell: If I have focused housing on your
radar I have achieved something. The crime chapter
of your manifesto makes no reference to tackling the
root causes of crime. Again following up the
Chairman’s question, is that a deliberate omission?
Chris Grayling: I speak as somebody who has
previously done the shadow Work and Pensions job
and was responsible for drawing up our Green Paper
on Welfare Reform. If you said to me what are the
key elements of solving crime, I would say the
biggest piece in that jigsaw is the need for welfare
reform. What we have to do is to break down the
glass walls around those estates. We have to create a
sense of purpose and aspiration again. We live in a
world where the generations pass pretty quickly
these days. You have an environment where you
have children being brought up in households where
there is no experience of educational achievement.
There is no experience of people getting up and
going to work in the mornings. There is an
environment where very often there is addiction in
the household and an environment that is not great
to be brought up in. We have got to break that down.
You will find in our draft manifesto plenty of
material about the need to deal with some of those
other social issues. That is my point. The criminal
justice system is one bit of a jigsaw puzzle that is
much bigger.

Q355 Bob Russell: So I can be fair to Her Majesty’s
oYcial Opposition, those issues are covered in
joined-up government Opposition thinking
elsewhere in the manifesto?
Chris Grayling: Yes.

Q356 Mr Streeter: Shadow Home Secretary, I know
we are committed to reforming Sure Start and the
better co-ordination of early intervention funding
but what do you see are the current problems in
relation to early intervention and Sure Start and
what would you change?
Chris Grayling: I think the criticism that is most
frequently levelled at Sure Start is it is not yet getting
to the right people, and indeed David Cameron
talked about that two or three weeks ago when we
talked about the need to focus and direct Sure Start
more clearly on people from the most deprived
backgrounds. That is what it is there for. Some of
these things inevitably are anecdotal but there is a lot
of such anecdote around and a lot of evidence to
suggest that Sure Start is not really getting as well as
it could do and should do to those families that are
most deprived. We have said that instead of building
the number of Sure Start outreach workers in the
way that the current Government envisages, we
would bolster the health visitor profession. I think
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that is a very powerful route. I think the health
visitors should work closely in parallel with Sure
Start, but I think our health visitors are very eVective
at identifying problems early on. We have all had
discussions in the past and I think we are all agreed
that some kids are brought up in the most dreadful
circumstances and must do something to try and
support their families, to mentor their families—and
the voluntary sector has an important role to play in
that as well—to try and improve the quality of their
early years upbringing, to create more intellectual
stimulation and to provide support for lone parents
in particular who often really struggle in that
environment. I have met a number of lone parents
who have said it is actually pretty diYcult if you have
a small child and you have not necessarily got great
experience of inherited parenting skills yourself. A
lot of help needs to be provided and I think Sure
Start could do a better job of focusing on the most
challenged families.

Q357 Mr Clappison: Can I put to you the same
question which I put to the Minister and I have put
to a number of people before this Committee. Given
the high propensity to reoVend for people serving
youth custodial sentences or prison sentences, do
you think enough is being done to equip people in
prison with skills to rehabilitate them, to get them
used to work again, to give them another chance?
Chris Grayling: No, I do not. I would identify the
prison gate as being one of the key problems. I talk
to a lot of police oYcers who say that what is actually
happening is that the guys who are coming out of
prison are eVectively going straight back to the same
streets they were in before with 20 quid in their
pocket. Indeed, I was having a conversation in the
last couple of days with somebody who has been
working quite closely with the criminal justice
system who said that they had met a group of young
oVenders who were approaching release who were
scared witless about what was going to happen to
them after release because they had nowhere to go. I
think the best solution to that problem, and again
this is something I wrote into our Welfare Reform
Green Paper, which is going back to Mr Russell’s
point, there is a genuine attempt to join this up, that
actually when you come out of the prison gate you
should be put straight on to a back-to-work
programme so you are picked up virtually from the
prison gate by the person who is going to be your
employment adviser. If you a have a third party
organisation contracted to deliver welfare-to-work
services in a particular area, and there is a prison
there, what I would expect to happen and what I
would want to happen is that they identify what are
the barriers to getting these people into work. They
have got to have somewhere to live. We have to make
sure they get their benefits initially. We have then got
to get them into a process of building confidence. If I
was doing that job, I would have arrangements with
landlords and with the benefit oYce so I could make
sure things went through smoothly. I would have a
partnership with a number of local employers so
there were work placements that I could
immediately put these people on. I think that by

delivering the kind of radical change to the welfare
state that we have talked about, we can provide that
from-the-prison-gate support. I am then all in
favour of doing more within prisons. There is a great
project in Liverpool Prison where Timpson’s, the
shoe firm, have set up a workshop and a mock store
inside the prison and they are giving work experience
to people there and are taking on some of the people
through that work. More of that would be
absolutely ideal.

Q358 Bob Russell: Are they teaching them to become
locksmiths?
Chris Grayling: I think more shoe repairers in that
case.

Q359 Mrs Dean: Is it right to place so much blame
on parents for youth oVending rather than the
education system or lack of opportunities, including
job opportunities?
Chris Grayling: I do not think it is one or the other.
I think that the reality is that we have to understand
the challenges that many parents face themselves.
Those of us who have kids learned our parenting
skills from our own parents. You have probably all
had one of those worrying moments when you
suddenly find yourselves doing things your parents
used to do when you were a child and you used to
think, “Oh no!” There are lots of young people with
children who do not have that inherited parenting
skill passed on from their parents, who are shooting
in the dark when it comes to parenting, who have
been brought up in an environment themselves
where there is no experience of educational
attainment, where perhaps there was not even
experience of going to school. It may be that their
families just did not bother to go to school. I have
talked to teachers who say we have had families
where there is generational educational opt-out
where some people do not send their kids to school,
and their parents did not send their kids to school,
and so on and so forth. Yes, it is the responsibility of
parents but we have to understand the context for
the parenting that exists. If we are simply judgmental
we will not get to grips with the problem so, yes, we
should look at parenting as being a central problem
but we need to understand why it is a central
problem as well. When I talk about this I always
commend the charity Home-Start and I would some
time, Chairman, encourage you to bring Home-
Start in to give evidence to you. They are a charity
that provides mentors to young families. I think that
is the kind of example of what we can do to make a
real diVerence where somebody who has experience,
a 50-something mum, can go and work with a
teenage mum who has no idea about some of the
challenges and help them do a much better job with
their kids. Nobody wants to do a bad job with
their kids.
Mrs Dean: I endorse your comments about Home-
Start.
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Chairman: We took evidence from Iain Duncan
Smith and Graham Allen yesterday and we were
very impressed with the work that they had done and
their emphasis on early intervention as being
absolutely crucial. Tom Brake?

Q360 Tom Brake: How do you rate the
Government’s approach to crime prevention and
what would you do diVerently?
Chris Grayling: I think my worry about the
Government’s approach is that it has been too
centralised and too bureaucratic. The consequence
of that in the end is that there is too little police
presence on our streets because we have created too
much of an infrastructure of bureaucracy that keeps
police oV our streets. One pretty important part of
crime prevention is the fact that there are people
around who are going to nick you if you are caught.
One of the great ironies, I remember when I was a
relatively newly elected MP five years ago talking to
one of the chief superintendents in my own area who
said, “The truth is that we have probably got more
oYcers than we did ten years ago but we have fewer
oYcers out actually policing than we did ten years
ago.” I have come up with some horrendous
examples. In one case in a police station I visited in
London, an oYcer showed me the paperwork he had
had to produce for a case of driving whilst
disqualified without insurance. You would have
thought that was a pretty bang to rights case; you
either were or you were not, but he had been
expected to produce that much paperwork to do it.
I have stood on a street corner with a police oYcer
trying to do a stop and search with the form to fill in.
You just try and imagine, it is a wet night, it is a dark
night, you are dealing with a young trouble-maker
who maybe has had too much to drink or taken
drugs, and you are trying to fill in this two-page
form. I think that the Government has put too many
barriers in the way of visible, active in-community
policing. I think we need to rein back from that. On
the policing front I think that is the big problem. If
I were to look at the causes of crime issue otherwise,
I would go back to the failure of the New Deal to
really get to grips with the problem of worklessness
over the past decade. I think the reason for that is
that the whole basis was set up wrongly. A large
amount of money was spent but what you ended up
with, and I am sure you have all individually in your
own constituencies heard this from the people you
have contacts with, a sense that the New Deal has
been about bums on seats and it has not been about
creating programmes tailored for the individual. I
am absolutely of the view that if you move to a
payment by results regime, operated on the principle
of the DEL/AME switch, then you create something
that is much more eVective and much more tailored.
Two issues as to why the Government’s crime
prevention policy has not worked to be “tough on
crime, tough on the causes of crime”: too many
policemen in police stations filling out forms; and a
failure to get to grips with the problem of welfare
dependency on the causes of crime front.

Q361 Tom Brake: You said there is too little police
presence on our streets. Does that mean that if you
were the Home Secretary in the next Government
you would be guaranteeing the number of police that
there are available?
Chris Grayling: Let me ask you the question: when
you are talking about the number of police that are
available, are you talking about the overall number
of police oYcers, are you talking about the police on
the streets? We should certainly aspire to and I want
to see more police working on the streets. There are
police forces today that are looking at how they can
collaborate more eVectively and deliver services
across boundaries. We get very hung up as
politicians on issues of numbers. It is not actually
within our gift. The Home Secretary cannot say
there will be so many police oYcers. There are some
around who are saying the Tories plan to scrap
PCSOs; and I have been very clear in saying we have
no intention whatever of scrapping PCSOs. I happen
to think that it is the job of the chief constable to
decide where, how, how many, and in what way to
use a PCSO. It is not the job of the Home OYce to
say: “You will have X numbers of PCSOs,” full stop.
I think it is for police oYcers to determine how best
to use the mix of skills they have available and how
best to deploy police staV and non-police staV. If you
said to me do I intend that our policies if we are in
government will lead to more police on patrols in
response cars in neighbourhood teams? Most clearly,
yes. I do not want them where they are at the
moment, which is sitting in the police station filling
out forms for days on end.

Q362 Tom Brake: That is your stated aim. Do you
have a figure that you are seeking to hit? I know that
John Major in 1992 announced that he was going to
recruit 2,000 extra police oYcers. I do not know how
he was going to do that, but that was the policy
pledge that was made then. Are you making a similar
pledge that there will be 1,000 more oYcers
patrolling the beat?
Chris Grayling: I am not making a specific numeric
pledge. Sometimes politicians are too quick to make
specific numeric pledges. What I am saying is that it
is my clear belief that we should simplify the
processes. Another example is the provisions under
RIPA which require an extraordinary amount of
bureaucracy to observe somebody to see whether
they are out to commit a crime or not. If we can
remove some of that, that is more police time that
can be spent out on patrol. I would be rash if I said
I know by scrapping these four processes we will
create the equivalent of X thousand extra oYcers on
the street, but what I am clear about is if we remove
those processes we will get more oYcers on the street,
and that is the sensible position to be in.

Q363 Bob Russell: Very briefly so we have it on the
record, you said you would not as Home Secretary
cut police community support oYcers. Can you give
an assurance that you will not send out any
directions to chief constables that they should reduce
their numbers?
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Chris Grayling: It is the decision of the police chiefs
to do that. What I have said very clearly on police
community support oYcers is there is a block of
money that comes from the Home OYce to chief
constables which is specifically designated for police
community support oYcers. They are required to
have whatever the requisite number of police
community support oYcers they have for their area.
I do not think we should be ring-fencing money in
that way. My intention would be to say to the chief
constable of X county, “This is your money. You sort
it out. You make sure the mix is right for your area.”
I am absolutely certain from all the conversations I
have had with people at diVerent levels that in some

areas they may take a view in the future they want
more PCSOs rather than fewer. Some may take a
view that this is a particularly challenging area and
therefore they want to have more uniformed oYcers
and fewer PCSOs. That should be a decision for
them. You, Mr Russell, myself, Mr Brake, Mr
Streeter and Mr Clappison all share a view that
power is too decentralised, and my view is that we
should devolve that power to the chief constables
to decide.
Chairman: Mr Grayling, thank you very much for
your evidence today. We look forward to seeing you
again in whatever capacity in the future. Thank you
very much.
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Q364 Chairman: Can I call the Committee to order.
This is the final session in the Committee’s inquiry
into the issue of crime prevention. We are very
pleased to see you here today, Professor Gloria
Laycock from the Jill Dando Institute. Can I refer all
those present to the Register of Members’ Interests
where the interests of members of this Committee are
noted. Can I start by asking you, Professor Laycock,
about the causes of crime—that is what we are
primarily concerned with. We know about the eVects
of crime, and we are conscious of the current issues
concerning the reduction in crime (whether, indeed,
the statistics show there has been a reduction) but
can we go to the reasons for the causes of crime.
What kind of progress do you think this and recent
Governments have made in identifying the causes
of crime?
Professor Laycock: The causes of crime are many
and varied. People talk about education, poor
parenting, the economy, jobs, and so on and so forth.
My feeling on this is that in a civilised society we
should all be doing our very best to make sure our
children are educated, and so on, we should not be
doing it because if we do not we might get mugged.
Therefore, I am setting aside those major risk
factors, as they are called, which tend to push people
in the direction of committing crime and are
sometimes called causes, and I am particularly
focusing on the fact that we regard opportunities as
a cause of crime—the more opportunities the more
crime—and that is something we can do something
about because it relates to the immediate situation.

Q365 Chairman: But if you were listing your top
three reasons why people turn to crime, leaving the
opportunities aspect aside, if you look at the social
reasons and other reasons of that kind, what would
they be?
Professor Laycock: Money.

Q366 Chairman: Money, money, money?
Professor Laycock: More or less, yes.

Q367 Chairman: So not a dysfunctional
background, not poverty, not social deprivation, not
any issues of that kind, just money?
Professor Laycock: I think money, because it is not
only people from poor backgrounds, it is not only
socially deprived people who commit crime. In fact
I am actually not sure, and would love to know
proportionately what the rates are, it would be very

interesting to know whether there is actually a
discrepancy in crime rate between rich and poor. I
am thinking of bankers at the moment.

Q368 Chairman: I think we all are. Do you think
recent Governments have placed the right balance
on measures to reduce crime rather than deal with
criminality after it occurs?
Professor Laycock: I think not really. I think a lot of
progress is being made. There is still a very persistent
bias towards oVender-based interventions, and we
should have them—I am absolutely clear about
that—but I am not sure that until really quite
recently enough emphasis has been placed on
controlling opportunities.

Q369 Mr Streeter: Professor, I would welcome your
thoughts on designing out crime. Can you think of
some of the best examples of how that has happened
in recent years and what kind of benefits that brings?
Professor Laycock: I am actually spoilt for choice. I
am tempted to ask you whether you locked your car
this morning and locked the house.

Q370 Mr Streeter: I travel by public transport,
Professor. I am trying to save the planet!
Professor Laycock: A good plan, but you get the
point.

Q371 Mr Streeter: Yes.
Professor Laycock: Yes, we all do that—industry,
commerce and all of us as individuals try to protect
ourselves from crime—and those are opportunity-
reducing techniques and it would be nonsense to say
it is not cost-eVective: it is. If you are asking me
about higher level actions, then I suppose my
favourite example would be the action the
Government took in the early 1990s to do something
about car crime in this country. It was top of the
league in international comparisons. The Home
OYce published the Car Theft Index, which was a
massive lever over the car industry to put deadlocks
and immobilisers on vehicles; that was a
technological change which has resulted in
something like a 65% reduction in theft of vehicles
since 1995, as is substantiated by the British Crime
Survey figures; so there have been 2.8 million less
crimes simply because the manufacturers were, I am
tempted to say bullied, but persuaded is perhaps
better, were persuaded to put better locks and
immobilisers on vehicles.
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Q372 Mr Streeter: Why did not that displace car
crime on to other crimes, do you think?
Professor Laycock: Because displacement is
presumed to occur far more than it does. There is
very strong research evidence across a wide number
of oVences that displacement is relatively unusual.
There is always a net gain according to the research.
Indeed, there is some evidence that if temporal and
geographic boundaries are kept fairly fuzzy when
you are announcing a crime prevention measure,
you get what academics call a diVusion of benefits;
in other words, the positive eVect spreads beyond the
geographical area that you are acting in, and there is
also a temporal spread. It lasts for longer, in other
words.

Q373 Mrs Dean: We have received evidence
suggesting that cutting-edge technology on its own is
not enough to deter and prevent crime, but the
diVerent partners involved in crime prevention must
work together to deliver a coherent and unified
crime prevention strategy. Do you think this
happens at the moment?
Professor Laycock: Before I touch on whether it
happens at the moment or not, can I slightly
challenge the premise that cutting-edge technology
on its own is not enough to deter and prevent crime.
The example I have just given, which is of car crime
reduction, was simply a technological innovation
and it had a massive eVect. It required no
partnership other than between the Government
and the manufacturers. Setting that aside, with more
complex oVences, for example, it may well be that
diVerent partners need to work together. A good
example might be street robbery, where if you
analyse the data—and that is something we
encourage a great deal—you find the problem to be
one of school bullying rather than robbery. In which
case you might want the police, the local authority,
education and transport authorities, and so on to
work together. Does it happen at the moment? Not
anything like enough. It is very patchy, I think.
Partners do come together but the responses are not
driven by data and sometimes there is a reluctance to
take action if it means that the people who have got
to take that action have to spend money. It is not
necessarily the case that these partnerships are
warm, cuddly meetings. Sometimes you want people
within the partnership to do something they do not
want to do or cannot aVord, and sometimes you
want someone outwith the partnership to do
something—maybe the Sainsbury’s manager in a
local car park who is not taking care of the
customers’ vehicles. It is all about leverage. My
greatest disappointment, if you like, is that the
Crime and Disorder Act, which I think was a
brilliant Act, has not really led to good analysis and
that analysis has not driven the activities of Crime
and Disorder Reduction Partnerships.

Q374 Mr Winnick: The position about crime is
historical, is it not, Professor Laycock? If you took
the nineteenth century, for instance, the criminality
was such that there were large parts of London, as

well as elsewhere, where it would have been very
unsafe to walk, and not necessarily only at night. Is
that not the position?
Professor Laycock: Absolutely; yes.

Q375 Mr Winnick: Is the situation all that diVerent
to then?
Professor Laycock: I think there is a lot less crime
today actually. We have not been very good,
historically, at measuring it over a very long time
frame. If you look at the growth in crime since the
end of the First World War, crime grew at about
5.5% per annum according to police recorded
statistics, but the nature of crime evolves, it changes,
it comes and goes with opportunities. The internet,
for example, has provided a whole host of new
opportunities for oVending. Credit cards have, for
example, led to crime. All sorts of new things coming
onto the market provide opportunities, and we need
to get ahead of the game and do something about
them before we get a crime wave.

Q376 Mr Winnick: In reply to the Chairman at the
beginning of the session you said that the motive for
criminality, understandably, is financial. I am in no
way condoning it, and of course criminality of any
kind should never be condoned, as you would be the
first to accept, but those who come from a
prosperous background, with exceptions, are hardly
likely to want to engage in criminality, leaving aside
white collar crime, and it is inevitable that those with
less money, and certainly those at the bottom of the
pile, though the large majority are not involved in
criminality, are more prone to see criminality as a
means for getting benefits which they do not have.
Professor Laycock: I think it depends on what you
mean by criminality really. We know, for example,
that something like 33% of adult males born in 1953
will have a criminal conviction by the age of 46. That
is an awful lot of adult males. It is certainly more
than you would find in the poor populations of
Britain. When I said “money” in answer to Mr Vaz’s
earlier question I was thinking in terms of property
crime. Obviously there is a lot of violent crime which
is not motivated by money, it is just basic aggression,
and that is driven by alcohol and the opportunity to
get to alcohol. It again comes back to not whether
these people are poor or out of jobs or poorly
educated, it comes back to how easily they can access
alcohol, in that instance, or how easily they can
access people’s houses or properties or, these days,
their identity.

Q377 Mrs Cryer: Can you talk to us about the UK’s
progress in creating early warning systems for
emerging crime trends? Do you think that these
emerging trends are being fed through early enough
to police forces to help them anticipate the sort of
work that they are going to be involved with? I
wonder if you could talk us through also your work
with the Merseyside Police in this area?
Professor Laycock: I do not think current police
systems are designed to identify emerging trends.
They are designed to help the police respond to
crime, quite reasonably, they are designed to provide
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statistics for the Home OYce, again, quite
reasonably, but they are very poorly designed if they
are intending to find emerging crimes that might
suddenly tip and cause a massive great crime wave.
The work that we have been doing with Merseyside
Police, which is supported by the Design and
Technology Alliance, is attempting to pick out early
on whether there is going to be a tipping point with
new products. It is early days. What we have done
with Merseyside is designed software which allows
the analysts to interrogate big datasets over several
years, using not only the coded data, but also free
text. This is hugely boring in some respects, but from
an analytic point of view it is extremely important,
because what they can now do, at the touch of
button, is analyse several years’ worth of data and
very quickly show what is coming up as the next
possible high risk product. We were looking
specifically in Merseyside to see whether there was
any evidence that flat-screen digital televisions were
going to start to kick oV because of switching oV the
analogue signal, which is going to create, we think,
a potential market for nice digital televisions. So far
there is not enormous evidence that that is
happening, but it is very diYcult to do the research
because the police will record “theft of a television”,
they will not say it was a “nice flat-screen digital”.
That is why the work we are doing in Merseyside,
which is about software development, is quite
detailed, but it is early days. We hope, if we can get
continued funding, to develop that into a tool that
all the analysts can use throughout the UK and then
we can sum it across various forces and respond
appropriately.

Q378 Gwyn Prosser: Professor Laycock, you have
told us that, as far as designing out crime, there has
been quite notable success in terms of motor vehicle
thefts and you said it was a case of bullying, and then
perhaps persuading, the manufacturers to do that. I
want to ask you, in general terms, what progress
overall has been made to provide incentives for
manufacturers to do likewise and how did that
bullying or arm-twisting work?
Professor Laycock: It is a really interesting question
and one that is quite diYcult to answer. The Home
Secretary’s Alliance, about which I think you have
heard evidence from Sebastian Conran, who leads
that Alliance, and I am the Deputy Leader, is
addressing the design and crime agenda. My view
about the Alliance is that part of its task is to develop
the sort of levers that you are asking me about. The
incentive structure that needs to be developed to
press manufacturers or the retailers seems to vary by
sector as does the enthusiasm of the punters, the
people, the customers, if you like, to implement
things. Sometimes it is a matter of trying to persuade
traders to take some responsibility and do
something at a local level. For example, they are
putting little hooks on the tables in coVee bars so you
can hang your bag there. You, first of all have to
persuade the coVee bar or restaurant to put the hook
there and then you have to tell the people what they
are for; so there are two problems. With cars it is
easy: you put a deadlock and an immobiliser on and

it automatically locks the car very securely; the
public do not have to do anything terribly
complicated. Persuading the manufacturers to do
things is extremely diYcult, because it is not
necessarily in their financial interest.

Q379 Gwyn Prosser: In fact, it could be to their
benefit if lots and lots of flat-screen TVs get pinched.
Professor Laycock: That is absolutely right. In fact,
years ago when Vauxhall disaggregated the car radio
so that the speakers were here and the knobs were
there and the rest of it, the sales of replacement car
radios for Vauxhall cars then went through the floor,
they kind of shot themselves in the foot, and that is
not uncommon. That is one of the problems that we
have got. I think it is going to be a fairly long haul,
and one of the reasons why I think it is extremely
important that the Alliance, or something like it,
stays in place is because getting leverage over
manufacturers is sometimes extremely diYcult to
do, especially if they say things like, “Well, give us
the evidence”, without which they just will not do it.
My favourite story on this actually happened when
Margaret Thatcher was Prime Minister. We knew
that 40% of burglaries on local authority houses
were related to the theft of money from gas and
electricity coin meters. It was a huge problem. The
fuel suppliers would not do anything about it
because if your meter was broken into you had to
pay them and you had to pay them to fix the meter,
so they lost no money. Margaret Thatcher said to
them, “If you do not do something, the Department
of Energy has the power to deregulate 18 million
meters overnight, so change them”, and they did,
and that is why we now have credit meters.

Q380 Mr Streeter: That is leadership!
Professor Laycock: That is one way of putting it. It
was a very nice use of data and an understanding of
the need to use levers over industries where it really
was not their problem but it was the people’s
problem.

Q381 David Davies: It is a pleasure to follow that
answer, Chairman: another reason why she was a
great woman! Has the Government supported this
scientific approach to crime reduction which you
espouse?
Professor Laycock: Can I say what I mean by crime
science? It is not just about the design and crime
agenda; it is significantly more than that. As you
may know, UCL houses the only Institute of Crime
Science in the world, although other universities are
now starting to pick up on it, I am very pleased to
say. Crime science is outcome focused, it is about
making crime go down, either by preventing it from
happening in the first place, which speaks to the
design agenda, or catching people quicker. It is
about crime, anti-social behaviour and terrorism
and it is about doing it ethically, and, like all
scientists, we advocate experimentation, because
that is the only way to develop knowledge, and there
is just not enough of that. When you say, “Is the
Government supporting our approach to this
issue?” I think right now the Home OYce is very
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heavily supporting the design agenda. Is government
generally supporting crime science? Interestingly, at
the end of 2008 we were awarded £7 million by the
Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council
to set up a doctoral training centre in security
science, which is intended to engage with all the
sciences in terms of crime reduction. It is a bit like
medical science. We are all comfortable with the idea
that physics and chemistry and epidemiology
support medical science. Crime science is just like
that: it is about prevention and it is about detection,
with a lot of scientists supporting it. We are very keen
on experimentation, and I do not think the
Government really understands the extent to which
good experimentation in this field could lead to a
much stronger knowledge base.

Q382 Bob Russell: I am still trying to come to terms
with the vision of Baroness Thatcher as a meter
maid! Professor Laycock, you have been given a
general overview about how we need collectively to
design out crime. Is there a specific one which
perhaps the Jill Dando Institute has come up with
that has found resistance, either within the
commercial sector or at government level, that
perhaps we as a Committee could focus on?
Professor Laycock: I guess my current favourite
example would be car registration plates, which in
the UK are monumentally useless from a security
point of view. We have something like 40,000 places
where you can get a car reg plate made up and there
is no security on that plate.

Q383 Bob Russell: There is legislation, because I was
on the committee that dealt with the Bill and I know
what you are saying, because Parliament put in place
measures which means that all vehicle registration
plates have to comply with the law in manufacture
and be displayed on the vehicle.
Professor Laycock: Yes.

Q384 Bob Russell: But every day we see illegal
vehicle number plates, do we not?
Professor Laycock: We do. One problem is that the
whole of the Automatic Number Plate Recognition
technology relies on the integrity of that number
plate. Number plates are very insecure, there is no
technology at all in them, and there could be. I think
we were told by the Department for Transport that
they would have electronic vehicle identification
systems by 2007, and we did not get that. In the
Department for Transport’s defence, what they are
saying is, “Give us the evidence that the car
registration plate is a problem for crime,” but this is
actually quite diYcult to do. It is a bit like saying to
the police, “Tell us about credit card fraud.” They
cannot do that because cards are stolen in a burglary,
a car crime, a handbag snatch, they are all over the
place, and it is the same with car registration plates.
The police find it very diYcult to sum up, across a
whole range of oVences, the extent to which these
registration plates are involved in crime, but the
Department for Transport says, “In the absence of
evidence, we are not inclined to do very much.”

Bob Russell: Chairman, it is not for today, but the
legislation was passed to deal with the very issues
that Professor Laycock has said, and if we have
government departments and the police saying that
it is inadequate, then somebody needs to address the
inadequacies, because we were assured that the
legislation would deal with the very issues that we
have just heard about.
Chairman: On the basis of what Mr Russell has said,
I will write to the relevant minister to find out
precisely what is happening about this issue. It is
clearly an important matter that the Committee is
concerned about, and we will pursue it.

Q385 Mrs Cryer: Where I live, in Shipley, we had a
whole plague of thefts just of plates, during the day
sometimes, because it is very easy to do. Is that
widespread? Presumably those plates were going to
be used in furtherance of a crime using a car, and
then the person who owned that car originally would
be hounded by the police because it would be their
number plate?
Professor Laycock: Sometimes they are stolen so as
the owner can say, “Someone stole my car reg plate”,
and that means they do not have to pay the speeding
fine, or something, but let us set that aside, because
it is relatively trivial. You are quite right, this is one
of the tipping points we were looking for in the
Merseyside data. Is there any evidence that an awful
lot of car reg plates are now being stolen? There was
some evidence that it has gone up, and this, again,
comes back to the Department for Transport’s
complaint. If we had an epidemic of it, they might be
persuaded to do something. It is diYcult to prove
there is an epidemic because it is so spread out, but
my general point is I do not think we should be
waiting until we are in the middle of a crime wave
before we do something. We know enough about
crime and enough about the opportunities that cause
crime to be able to pre-empt these things, and that is
the diYculty.

Q386 Chairman: One final question about the DNA
database. I do not know whether you were involved
in the controversy over the use of the statistics. Was
that one of your colleagues?
Professor Laycock: One of my colleagues did a piece
of work for the Home OYce in relation to it, yes.

Q387 Chairman: What was the concern about the
use of statistics by the Government, that they were
presumably not completed when they were given to
the Home OYce or they were using data that had not
been properly analysed?
Professor Laycock: In relation to DNA?

Q388 Chairman: Yes.
Professor Laycock: I am not entirely sure I am on
top of the topic you are talking about, but the DNA
piece of work we did do was to try and address the
issue that the Government had in terms of the
retention of samples of people who were arrested but
not convicted or prosecuted—the retention of their
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DNA—how long should that period reasonably be?
We did a piece of work to try to answer that
question. Is that what you are talking about?

Q389 Chairman: Yes. It is not in your area; we will
pursue it with one of your colleagues. Yesterday the
Committee met a group of young oVenders, some of
whom had just come out of prison, from a group
called User Voice, and they were telling us about the
diYculty that they had in getting their voice heard;
that the Government consults the professors, the
experts. There is a huge industry around oVender
management, but people who can actually help and
explain why they are involved in crime are not
consulted. Do you think there is any truth in that?
Do you think more time should be given to actually
ask young people why they are committing these
crimes, and what could we do that is diVerent in
order to stop this becoming a cycle? Some of those
young men are the fathers of children who would be
going through exactly the same set of
circumstances again.
Professor Laycock: I think we do do that. I am not
sure the Government necessarily does it routinely,
but just to give you a very specific example, we are
going to be doing some research for G4S on armed
robberies and robberies in general and that will
involve us going into prison and talking to robbers,
not about why they do it, but how they do it. Coming
back to our point, it is fairly obvious, in fact one of
my academic colleagues once asked a bank robber,
“Why rob banks?” and he said, “That’s where the
money is.” It was a silly question as far as he was
concerned. He was a serious armed robber. You are
talking about young people.1

1 I might add that I spent the first 10 years of my career in
Wormwood Scrubs Prison talking to young oVenders about
why they committed crimes. Peer pressure was frequently
mentioned but seldom was anything said that led me to
believe this to be a useful exercise.

Witnesses: Maria Eagle MP, Justice Minister, and Rt Hon Vernon Coaker MP, DCSF Minister, gave
evidence.

Q393 Chairman: Ministers, welcome to this evidence
session. Ms Eagle, thank you for coming again. Mr
Coaker, thank you for coming back in your new
capacity: it is like old times!
Mr Coaker: It is very good to be here.

Q394 Chairman: Ms Eagle, could I start with you. In
today’s Express there is a story. I do not know
whether you have seen it. “Mother slams soft justice
that failed to curb her robber son. A mother has
exposed the hapless nature of Labour’s ‘pathetic’
criminal justice system for repeatedly failing to
tackle her out-of-control son. Armed robber James
Korer, 19, was last week locked up for three years
after carrying out a series of attacks on delivery
drivers. But his mother Ruth Dutton said her son’s

Q390 Chairman: It is about breaking the cycle.
Professor Laycock: Yes. I think the way to break the
cycle is to help them not get into it in the first place.

Q391 Chairman: Exactly.
Professor Laycock: There are all sorts of things you
could do, including talking to them, if you like, but
I am assuming that this country is doing the best it
can in helping young people in terms of reducing
poverty, in terms of educating them, in terms of
getting jobs. What else are we going to do? I think
the thing we can do which would be really helpful is
to make it much more diYcult for them to steal cars,
to commit burglaries or to shoplift. I pick those three
oVences because if you look at the criminal careers
of oVenders, they get into crime through those easy
routes.

Q392 Chairman: Usually just after primary school
and just into secondary school. That seems to be the
crucial time, does it not?
Professor Laycock: It is when you transition from
primary to secondary, secondary to leaving school—
those transition points are problematic. Can I come
back to the street robbery issue, which we call street
robbery but which is sometimes bullying? One of the
things I think we have got to do much more
systematically is deal with school bullying, especially
where it involves theft. To take a concrete example,
in Ealing, when we looked at street robbery in 2006,
the figures were going really high. The biggest
increase was an 84% increase in 16-year-old victims,
16 and below—children in other words—and the
perpetrators were other children. If you just think
about what they are learning—and they were not all
poor children, they were not all from horrid
backgrounds—they were learning that you can steal
things and nothing happens.
Chairman: Fortunately, the next witness is the
Minister for Schools, so we will be putting this very
point to him. Thank you very much, Professor
Laycock, for coming this morning.

oVending was not prevented by oYcials in a justice
system which does not impose tough punishment.”
Do you recognise that criminal justice system?
Maria Eagle: Chairman, it is a pleasure, first of all,
for me to be back here again before all of you. I am
reluctant to engage in discussing a particular case,
for reasons which the Committee will understand,
and I can understand a mother’s concern in respect
of her own son, but I do not recognise the
description of our criminal justice system and our
youth justice system as being soft in that way. That
is not to say that there are not mistakes made in
individual cases or things that go wrong in
individual cases, but I think that the courts and other
agencies which intervene have a wide range of
capacity to try and deal with young people’s
oVending behaviour from an early stage, including
the capacity to imprison for a significant period of
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time. That, of course, is up to individual sentencers
in respect of the particular case they see before them.

Q395 Chairman: But she is joined by 13
parliamentary colleagues of ours who have put
down a motion this morning saying: “This House
believes that the record high prison population and
reducing budgets have undermined the National
OVender Management Service’s objective of
tackling reoVending, considers that this undermines
the ability of the Probation Service”, which is your
Department, “to function eVectively and calls on the
Government to create separate operational
structures with their own directorates for prisons
and probation.” Is there a problem here in tackling
the causes of crime rather than dealing with what
happens after crimes have been committed?
Maria Eagle: I think there are two parts of the
criminal justice system, one to try and prevent crime.
If you can stop somebody going into the criminal
justice system, either as a juvenile or in adulthood, it
is obviously cheaper, more eYcient and better
socially, financially and in every other way to keep
them away from the criminal justice system in the
first place, so there is a role for that. In terms of the
National OVender Management Service, whilst it is
true that the prison population has increased by 36%
over the past 12 years, we are not currently at record
levels in the adult estate, although we are at a high
level. We had a prison population of 83,665 at the
end of last week. We have got 86,000 places; so we
are not over full in that respect. I believe that joining
up prisons and probation, allowing custodial
arrangements and oVender management in the
community to meet and be properly arranged from
one end to the other of the oVender’s journey is
actually a very good way of making sure that people
do not fall between the two stools, so that people’s
problems addressed in custody can continue to be
addressed out in the community because NOMS is
joined up between prisons and probation. I
recognise the argument, which has definitely come
from Napo, in that EDM but I do not accept the
analysis.

Q396 Chairman: Yesterday members of the
Committee met informally with a group of about ten
young oVenders, some of whom have just come out
of prison. They talked about the fact that they felt
the system had let them down. Some of them are
going to go back into prison because they do not
have homes when they leave prison. The probation
oYcer comes to visit them, but there is no pathway
for success. They are not given an idea of the kinds
of courses they wish to go on, so they go in for short
periods where there is not enough time to get them
rehabilitated, they come out and they reoVend
because they have no hope. They talk about a billion
pound industry, the criminal justice system, which
actually is not helping them. How does your
Department engage with those who actually commit
crimes in order to stop them committing crimes
again?

Maria Eagle: We do so in a number of ways. We have
a lot of interventions, both for short sentence and
longer sentence prisoners in custody, to try and
tackle the causes of their oVending behaviour.
Whether that is substance abuse programmes to try
and stop them from abusing substances, which can
often be one of the causes of criminal behaviour,
whether it is education and training, we have seen a
15-fold increase in resources going into drug
treatment in our prisons and custodial settings, we
have seen a three-fold increase in education and
training such that now 38% of young people coming
out of custody go into educational training, 25% of
them go into employment and 80% of prisoners
coming out of custody go into settled
accommodation. We are tackling the risk factors
which can lead to reoVending and, as a result of that,
Chairman, we have seen a significant fall in the
frequency rate of reoVending for both adults and
juveniles. Adult reoVending has fallen by a fifth
between the year 2000 and 2007, when the last figures
were available, and in the juvenile estate by going on
for a quarter—so an over 23% fall in the frequency
of reoVending. What we are seeing is fewer people
are coming into the system and oVending in the
juvenile side, those who do reoVend reoVend less
frequently and, generally, less seriously and we are
seeing interventions which work. That is not to say,
Chairman, that there is not still a lot to do to tackle
some of these people who still are oVending when
they come out of custody and to tackle the
underlying causes of their oVending behaviour.

Q397 David Davies: To either of the ministers really.
We know that most people going into the estate go
in with very low educational achievement. If we are
going to have automatic early release, which I have
problems with, but if we are going to have that, why
not make it conditional rather than automatic on
people in prison undertaking some sort of basic
educational skills and vocational requirements,
either inside the prison or outside afterwards, and
recalling them if they are not fulfilling that
obligation?
Maria Eagle: 38% of those who come out of the
juvenile estate do go into educational training. I
think it is important to realise that you cannot force
people to be educated, you have to tackle some of the
problems which are preventing them behaving
properly in the first place. Often it is substance
abuse, it is abuse and neglect when they are growing
up, so you have to tackle the underlying causes of
their oVending behaviour and then draw them into
learning and on to a better path in life. I think it is
important to realise it is not just a question of will: it
is a two-way street. You have to make sure that the
people who are in either the YOIs or in the prison
estate are ready to learn. We have seen increasing
success in that respect. Whilst I understand, Mr
Davies, that it is frustrating that the numbers are not
as high as you would like, we have seen significant
progress with significant extra resourcing and I hope
that we will be able to continue and see even better
progress in the future. Certainly I think that the
OVender Learning and Skills Service (OLASS) being



Processed: 25-03-2010 19:03:09 Page Layout: COENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 442540 Unit: PAG4

Home Affairs Committee: Evidence Ev 71

9 February 2010 Maria Eagle MP and Rt Hon Vernon Coaker MP

now able to provide also bite-size chunks, shorter
modules towards real qualifications means that even
short sentence prisoners can undertake some
learning and some training that is really meaningful
to them and will be important to them in changing
their lives when they get out of custody.

Q398 Chairman: Short-term custodial sentences
produce poor outcomes in terms of reoVending.
That is right, is it not?
Maria Eagle: That is right. It is correct that the
shorter the sentence the less it is possible for us to do
with them in custody and the more diYcult it is for
us to tackle eVectively the causes of their oVending
behaviour.

Q399 Mr Winnick: The argument, Minister, as you
know, is that, instead of short-term custodial
sentences, community service would be much more
eVective, but the point is made: what does all this
community service amount to, what sort of
discipline, and there is general disappointment. Is
that disappointment justified and that community
service does not really amount to much in practice?
Maria Eagle: I think, taken in isolation, it can work,
or it may not work, depending on the individual, but
we now have, from last November, the youth
rehabilitation order which allows the court to choose
between a menu of ten or so diVerent interventions
which they can pick and mix for the needs of that
individual. That might involve some reparation,
making things good with the victims of whatever the
oVence was, it might involve unpaid work, it might
involve an educational requirement, it might involve
mental health assessment, a mental health treatment
requirement, it might involve any or all of these
things. We also have the intensive alternatives to
custody—intensive fostering and intensive
supervision—which are often focused on those who
abuse drugs to make sure they get drug treatment, to
take them to employment or training, to really wrap
some interventions around that individual to try and
tackle the cause of their oVending behaviour so that,
at the end of that youth rehabilitation order, that
individual ought to be in a much better position not
to go back to the kind of crime that has got them into
trouble in the first place. We have a lot of hope that
this focus on the needs of the individual, choosing
from a menu of options which might include
educational requirement, a training requirement, a
drug treatment requirement, is a really good and
positive way of making sure that we can deter these
young people from the life of crime that they have
embarked upon.

Q400 Mr Winnick: I appreciate what you have said,
but if a person has been sentenced to community
service as an alternative to a custodial sentence, what
sort of fear would exist in that person that, if he
breaches that order, he will end up in prison? In
practice, again, how many custodial sentences have
been awarded, say, in the last 12 months for breach
of community service?
Maria Eagle: I would have to write to the Committee
with the precise number.

Q401 Mr Winnick: In which case, if you are writing
to us, which I am sure the Chairman would
appreciate, perhaps we could have the last five years?
Maria Eagle: Indeed, I would be happy to provide
whatever figures we can provide to the Committee in
that respect, but what I can say generally is that the
number of people being sent into custody for
breaching their community orders has been
increasing. We take breach of orders much more
seriously now than was the case ten or 12 years ago,
and that is one of the reasons why the numbers in
custody have increased over the general estate by
36% over that period of time. People are now much
more likely to be breached and taken into custody
for not carrying out their community order, and they
are also much more likely to be recalled if they are
out on licence and they breach the terms of their
licence; so we have really cracked down on that in
the last few years.

Q402 Mr Winnick: These figures will reflect what
you have just said?
Maria Eagle: They will indeed.
Chairman: Thank you. If you could write to me that
would be very helpful.

Q403 Gwyn Prosser: Ms Eagle, is it correct that the
funding for the Safer and Stronger Communities
Fund is to be cut by 50% next year?
Maria Eagle: This is a Home OYce fund, but my
understanding of it is that the capital element of this
fund is to be cut by 50% next year. There is a revenue
element as well that is not being cut. My
understanding is that that amounts to some £10
million. My understanding also is that there will still
be £90 million available and that this is 0.2% of the
£7 billion pounds that we provide to local
organisations, whether it be the police, whether it be
local authorities, to deal with the impact of crime.
Yes, but it is a small amount, and it is in the capital
funding.

Q404 Gwyn Prosser: At the same time as that
reduction has taken place the Crime Reduction
Partnerships have been given a statutory duty to
reduce crime on top of all of their other existing
responsibilities. Do you think it all adds up? Do you
think that is deliverable?
Maria Eagle: I do actually, Mr Prosser. The Crime
and Disorder Reduction Partnerships and the local
Criminal Justice Boards—there are a number of
local organisations that bring together the criminal
justice agencies and a wider range of public service
agencies and the voluntary sector that can help here
in a local or regional context—the more they join up
what they do, the more they arrange between
themselves what the local interventions are, the more
they pool their budgets the more eVectively and
eYciently they can tackle the particular areas of
crime in their locality. I believe that there is no
contradiction between that very small reduction in
the capital element of a particular Home OYce
special fund and the requirement for local agencies
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in the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships
to come together much more eVectively to tackle the
causes of crime in their locality.

Q405 Mrs Dean: Ms Eagle, how can we ensure that
oVenders moving between diVerent prisons receive
seamless interventions in terms of education,
training and behavioural support?
Maria Eagle: In terms of education and training, we
have developed a way now, using IT, of being able to
transfer the oVender learning record between
prisons or custodial settings when that oVender
moves. For a start oV, the full learning record will be
there when they get to the new place, so you will not
have to start undertaking new and repeat
assessments, which is a good start. Therefore, it
ought to be easier to make sure that the interventions
can be continued, and I think that that is a positive
prospect for making sure there is a seamless kind of
move, that moving custodial setting does not call a
halt to all your eVorts to tackle your oVending
behaviour as an individual; so that is a good thing.
I also believe that the OVender Learning and Skills
Service, which is not only able to provide
educational courses in custodial settings which are
the same as those outside of custodial settings—so
you can move from an NVQ level one to an NVQ
level two in the same subject or continue to do that
same course once you are released from custody—
means that it is much more motivational for a young
person to know that the work that they are doing is
going to mean something, is going to result in a
qualification that will be recognised and that can be
completed. I think that the move to shorter modules
will enable even short-sentence prisoners to do
something towards an educational qualification
which will still be of value to them and which they
can continue with when they leave a custodial
setting. One of the great advantages of oVender
management is, I believe, this joining up between the
custodial setting and the community setting of
education, of health, of drug treatment and of other
interventions, and I think that is one of the reasons
why we are seeing a reduction in reoVending.

Q406 Mrs Cryer: Very briefly, Minister, I went to
Canada a couple of years ago and met the Chief of
Police for Toronto and he was very committed to
restorative justice (ie instead of putting people in
prison, making them face up to the damage they
have caused to the person attacked), and he was
finding that the reoVending rate was going down
from something like 80% to about 40%. I am going
from memory now. Are we doing anything more to
move towards this sort of thing?
Mr Coaker: Can I give one example? We are doing
lots of things like that. Part of it is to build the
confidence of people that restorative justice and the
sorts of things that you have talked about are
meaningful and do tackle crime and criminality but
also try and rehabilitate. I went to a police station
recently where a young person had stolen a purse
from the bag of a teacher and it was not dealt with
as theft. The teacher and the young person, with the
mother of the young person and the colleague of the

teachers, sat in a room. The young girl wrote a letter
of apology to the teacher; the teacher accepted the
apology. I was brought into the police station for the
police and everyone who had been involved to hear
that particular story. I thought it was excellent,
because the teacher just wanted her purse back, it
was the first time that young person had done
anything seriously wrong—and everyone accepted it
was serious—the young person accepted the
consequences and it was a much better way of doing
it than putting a 14 or 15-year-old girl before the
court for theft. The teacher was satisfied, the young
girl had learnt her lesson, the parents were satisfied
and the police were satisfied. I think that has its
place, and I think if we tell these stories and talk
about these things, then, of course, where it is
possible and appropriate, that sort of approach is to
be commended.

Q407 Mrs Cryer: What are we doing to make sure
that there are jobs for young people to go to once
they get out of prison, or whatever? Do the public
sector have any particular part to play in oVering
jobs by setting a good example?
Maria Eagle: Across our prison estate, including
some of our YOIs, there are prison industries that
train for job-ready training. We have a corporate
alliance of over 100 employers, including serious,
large employers—DHL, Timpsons, Travis
Perkins—who train specifically for the kind of jobs
that they want, and some guarantee jobs to people
who have successfully gone through that training
when they come out. We are seeing an increasing
level of people coming out of prison into
employment, even though we are in quite a diYcult
economic environment, and I think that that is good
because it did not used to be the case. Of those who
are not going into employment, many are going into
education and training and 80% of them are going
into settled accommodation. Therefore, we are
seeing some real impact on the causes of oVending
behaviour. We cannot guarantee a job for every
young person coming out of prison. Of course one of
the great problems that being in prison causes is the
stigma that attaches, and it is diYcult to get through
to employers that people who have been in trouble
can be good employees and, perhaps not unnaturally
in a diYcult labour market, they are not necessarily
the first people that employers would choose. I think
the corporate alliances and the impact, the training,
the prison industries and the qualifications that we
create out of the custodial settings that we look after
are all important in trying to tackle that very
important issue.

Q408 Chairman: Thank you. Now let us turn to Mr
Coaker. You have been sitting very patiently. You
are a former Police Minister, you are a former
headmaster, teacher in a school; you have now gone
to the Department for Education. Yesterday the
Committee met informally with User Voice. We are
going to write to you to ask whether both of you
could meet them at some stage, a group of young
former criminals who are crying out for help and
who desperately feel that they can make a
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contribution to stop other young people becoming
criminals. We feel that the school setting is
absolutely crucial, and the key point is between
primary school and secondary school, and that is the
context of this inquiry. From your own personal
experience as a teacher, as a police minister and now
in the Department, are there one or two key issues
that you think we need to address in order to
prevent, not crime itself, but the causes of crime?
Mr Coaker: There are a number of things which are
really important: early intervention, which I know
you have taken evidence on from a number of
people. I think we need to intervene early to support
families to support young people. I think that is
really important. One of the questions is what early
intervention means and what actually works. I know
you have looked at the Family Intervention Projects,
and so on, and the impacts of Sure Start and
Children’s Centres, and the early research from that
shows that they do make a diVerence, and so early
intervention is very important. But you cannot just
intervene early and then let it go, you have to
intervene early and carry on the support as you go
through. That would mean that schools have to be
of the right quality, there has to be engagement with
the young people and engagement with parents as
well.
Chairman: We will come on to that in a second. Mr
Davies has a question on that. That is very helpful.

Q409 Bob Russell: Mr Coaker, is there any evidence
within your Department linking potential criminal
behaviour amongst young people relative to the size
of the school? In other words, in a bigger school
children get lost in the system, whereas in a smaller
school perhaps there is greater pastoral attention
and care.
Mr Coaker: I have not seen any evidence of that.
What I have seen is that if you have got a good
school, it is the quality of the teaching and learning,
the quality of the pastoral arrangements rather than
the size, I think, that makes the crucial diVerence.

Q410 Bob Russell: There is no link between those
two.
Mr Coaker: Not as far as I am aware, no.

Q411 Bob Russell: Why did the UK score so poorly
in comparison with the rest of the developed world
(and we are talking about 21 countries here) in the
UNICEF report on child well-being, where the UK
came 21st (bottom) in terms of family and peer
relationships and behaviour and risks?
Mr Coaker: As always, what we said was that the
data that UNICEF had used was data that was out-
of-date. You have reports. They come out and say
this is wrong about our children; that is wrong. I just
thought that it took an unnecessarily gloomy view of
the children of this country and reflected on the
problems of some and equated that to all. The
Children Society, as you know, have just published a
report a few days ago which said that the vast
majority of young people in this country were happy.
What you have to do with these reports is look at
them, understand them and try to learn from them,

but I think the sweeping comment that was made
that seemed to say that all of our youth was
disaVected and unhappy is not the case.

Q412 Bob Russell: Where is the evidence to support
it is not the case?
Mr Coaker: The Children’s Society report that came
out a few days ago.

Q413 Bob Russell: So UNICEF are wrong?
Mr Coaker: I would not say they are wrong. I do not
want to get into saying UNICEF are wrong. What I
am saying is that UNICEF produced a report, it
used data from 2000 and they came to the
conclusions that they did. I just pointed out that
another report has come to a diVerent view.

Q414 Bob Russell: Should more children be taken
into care: because that is what we have been told
by ACPO?
Mr Coaker: What you want is a situation where
those children who should be in care are in care. I
think it is diYcult to put a number on that. I think
the whole system has to work to ensure that if it is
appropriate that a young person is in care, then of
course they should be in care, but I do not know
what that number is or who that should be.

Q415 Mrs Cryer: Minister, the Member of
Parliament for Warrington South the other week
had a ten minute rule bill and it was about children
leaving care. She was suggesting that many of the
children leaving care are not being protected in the
way that they should be and perhaps more should be
done following that, because many of these kids
finish up, within six months, being homeless, and
from homelessness they are getting into criminal
behaviour, prostitution and other things. Is there
more your Department could do to protect such
people on leaving care until they get to an age where
they are responsible for themselves?
Mr Coaker: Certainly. The local authority has
responsibility for young children, or children, as
defined by the law. Of course, if they are leaving care
or leaving custody, a plan should be put in place for
dealing with them in terms of where they are living,
what support they need, how they are going to be
cared for, all of those sort of things. You are quite
right: what you do not want is somebody, in
whatever situation, simply going back to the
situation which was causing them the problems in
the first place. When I go to meet some of these
young people some of the stories that they tell are
heart-rending. Sometimes when they are taken into
care or even into custody, for the first time, it is
almost unbearable to hear them say, they have a
structure and a support around them. What we need
to do as the state is to build that support and that
structure for them outside of the care setting, but it
is diYcult if there is no family; the family are either
not there or it is inappropriate for them to go back
for protection reasons, but clearly it is an issue that
we are addressing and we are trying to improve.
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Q416 David Davies: Mr Coaker, some of our
colleagues have said that if children are not helped
within the first three years then their life chances are
severely diminished. On this issue of taking more
children into care, should we not be looking to do
that, particularly when there are risk factors? One
which I have come across, if you like, is where one or
both parents are heavy users of Class A drugs. Do we
really think it is appropriate that people who are
abusing themselves with Class A drugs, or even with
alcohol, should be left in charge of a child? We would
not let them drive a car and yet we leave them
responsible for the upbringing of children. I am sure
many people would think this is wrong.
Mr Coaker: I agree with the importance of early
intervention, which was the point I made to the
Chairman earlier on. It is the same answer really to
Mr Russell. These are diYcult decisions. I think it is
very diYcult to make a generalisation that anybody
in a particular circumstance deserves to have their
children taken away or the whole family should be
put in care, or whatever. What is important is that
the needs of the child are addressed, that individual
decisions are made. Of course you do not want
children left if they are at risk, of course you do not
want them left if it is inappropriate for them to be in
that circumstance, but it is diYcult to make
generalisations about it. It is the individual decision
which is of such magnitude you would hope that all
of those factors, and I believe that in most cases they
are, are taken into account and then the child, if
necessary, put in care or the family supported in the
way that is appropriate to deal with the particular
problems they have.

Q417 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Coaker, on the subject of
multi-agency working, we had Deputy Assistant
Commissioner Rod Jarman in front of us, and he
said that while multi-agency work was quite
successful in dealing with criminals and young
people on the cusp of going into criminality, it was
far less eVective and almost missing out in applying
help universally to young people as they grow up. I
think the expression he used was “to assist all young
people in growing up”. What is your view of that?
Mr Coaker: As you know, Children’s Trust Boards
will be statutory from April. Police are part of that.
The Children’s Trust Boards will be required to
produce children and young people’s plans, they will
be required to produce a plan which will be about
what should be provided, all of the agencies coming
together, including the police, which will be about
the provision of services for young people in that
area—youth services, crime prevention, whatever
the diVerent needs are—and that is trying to address
the point that Mr Jarman was making, to try and get
greater co-ordination in terms of the delivery of
services in a particular area, and I think that will help
to make a real diVerence with respect to that.

Q418 Tom Brake: On the Children and Young
People’s Plan, is there much point in these plans
being drawn up if, as the National Youth Agency
told us, people are being asked to plan for significant

cuts in youth services? Are they not going to include
things in their plans that in fact are not going to be
delivered because of budget cuts?
Mr Coaker: If I just talk from a Government point
of view, there is £3 billion over this spending period
up until 2011 going into Children’s Centres, there is
£124 million over virtually the same period going
into family intervention projects, there is nearly £1
billion from Government going into various positive
activities, the building of youth facilities, all of these
sorts of types of development going on in local
authorities in particular targeting areas of
disadvantage. We do not make those decisions as to
how that money should be spent. We make that
money available to local authorities and to local
service deliverers. It is for them to determine what is
the best way of doing that, and you would expect the
Children’s Trust Board to be deciding how that
significant sum of money would be spent. There is
also, of course, the money, in the form of a grant,
which is given to the local authority themselves, and
the last figure I had was £500 million going to local
authorities in 2007/2008. I believe it is that part of
the budget that may be under pressure but within
this spending period (and obviously it is diYcult to
talk from 2011 onwards for reasons we all know)
there is no reduction in that amount of money that
is going to local authorities, and they are the best
people to determine how to spend that.

Q419 Tom Brake: Do you think part of the problem
in terms of youth services is what Louise Casey
highlighted to us where she said that, in her view,
youth services are one of the least reformed areas of
public service and that they tend not to provide
services at a time when they are needed, such as
during the summer holidays?
Mr Coaker: That is why we have very much targeted,
with respect to dealing with youth violence, for
example, Friday and Saturday night activities and
we are running what we call “The Open Campaign”,
which is trying to ensure that facilities and services
are available at times when they are most needed,
and, as I say, Fridays and Saturdays would be an
obvious example, school holidays would be another.
We are working to address some of the constraints
that there have been on the provision of youth
facilities and youth services at times when it would
be most appropriate for them to be available.

Q420 Tom Brake: Clearly you are saying the
Government are taking action. Presumably local
authorities are taking action in that respect. Are
there any other areas of youth services where
perhaps Louise Casey is right and there is need for
reform?
Mr Coaker: There is always need for change and to
look at how things are being delivered. The co-
ordination of all of this, I think, is one area, but it is
not just the youth service on its own, it is the police,
it is health, it is schools, housing. It is all of the
diVerent agencies. The point I was making earlier
on—the fact that the Children and Young People’s
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Plan will bring all of that together to give it the co-
ordination that it needs—I think, was an area that
was in need of reform and that is what is going to
happen from April onwards.

Q421 Chairman: What was clear from the meeting
that we had with User Voice is the importance of
schools, not just teachers but other figures who are
able to turn them away from crime, and we heard
from Professor Laycock this morning that bullying
is a particular problem that eventually leads to crime
outside the school setting. Could we send you the
details of these groups and see whether, in your very
busy diaries, you could find some time to meet with

Witnesses: Lord Tope MBE, a Member of the House of Lords; Mr Warren Shadbolt, Head, Safer Sutton
Partnership; Mr Andy Sellins, Acting Chief Executive, and Mr Adam Hall, Development Manager, Cricket
for Change, gave evidence.

Q422 Chairman: I would like to welcome Lord Tope,
Mr Sellins, Mr Hall and Mr Shadbolt. Apologies for
keeping you waiting, but I hope by having all
witnesses together we can make some time up.
Perhaps I could start with Mr Shadbolt, the
structure of the Safer Sutton Partnership, why is that
diVerent from other partnerships in diVerent parts of
the country? What is so special about what you are
doing there? What are your outcomes? Have you
shown that there has been a reduction in crime?
Mr Shadbolt: The structure is distinct because the
Community Safety Police Partnership and the
Drugs and Alcohol Action Team all come under a
single line manager, the Head of Safer Sutton
Partnership. That allows a holistic look at
everything, through from some of the causal factors
all the way through to the prevention and problem
solving. It is less concerned with detection, which
still resides with the operational side of the police. It
allows us to concentrate on community problems
and directing resources to them. In terms of the
results, over the five years since the partnership
started operating in that way we have seen criminal
damage oVences drop by 36%; violence against the
person by nearly 23%; theft of motor vehicles by
29%; total crime down by over 11%; and similar
large reductions in fear of crime but specifically
higher numbers around vandalism and antisocial
behaviour.

Q423 Chairman: Lord Tope, you must have seen
other partnerships in diVerent parts of the country.
Is this diVerent?
Lord Tope: It is diVerent. Very briefly, a bit of
history: the close working partnership between the
council and the police goes back certainly to the
early 1990s, long before CDRPs were formally
instituted, so it is a very mature partnership. It
survives changes of personnel, diVerent chief
executives and diVerent borough commanders. They
are working together, first of all, under a single

them, because I think we all agree the system is the
system, but we need to find imaginative and radical
approaches to try and deal with this problem?
Mr Coaker: I am very happy to do that, Mr Vaz. In
my professional life as well as my political life I have
always believed that the voice of pupils, of students,
or young oVenders is absolutely crucial in
determining the best way forward with respect to all
of this. As I say, bullying is a problem we all
recognise. The Committee will also know from its
other deliberations, that is why we are looking at
ensuring how we record incidents of bullying in
schools so that we get a better idea of exactly what
is happening.
Chairman: Indeed. Ms Eagle, Mr Coaker, thank you
very much indeed. We are most grateful to you for
coming.

managed unit. Originally I was asked whether we
would like to co-locate and I said, “Let’s go a step
further and single manage.” I was on the Police
Authority in those days and persuaded the
Commissioner that this might be a good idea.
Uniquely, I think, the Met agreed to an open
recruitment. The Head of the Safer Sutton
Partnership, who would manage police oYcers and
council staV, was recruited openly rather than just
within the Met. It is well known that the shortlist we
interviewed was one local government oYcer (not
from Sutton), one civil servant and one police oYcer.
On merit, the police oYcer got it. But that is what
made it unique. It is a working partnership not just
at senior level, where people are nice to each other,
but right down through to the problem-solving
meetings, now fortnightly, I think, at operational
level.
Chairman: Thank you.

Q424 Mrs Cryer: Mr Shadbolt, could you explain to
the Committee how the Intelligence through
Neighbourhood Security Interviews process works.
How has it improved your crime prevention
approach?
Mr Shadbolt: Intelligence through Neighbourhood
Security Interviews is a methodology devised by
Professor Martin Innes of CardiV University.
Essentially it consists of a large number, about 600,
interviews a year, being conducted by police oYcers
and policy community support oYcers in people’s
homes, so it may take an hour and a half/two hours.
We have found that the quality of information that
we get from those interviews works at both a very
local level, so we find that people tell us about very
minor crimes that would not warrant a call to
Crimestoppers or a formal report of crime, all the
way through, when we aggregate it, to giving us a
borough-wide, more strategic perspective of issues
of concern, and they are very often not those that we
would see coming through the traditional policing
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priorities route. That allows us, as an example, to
target the five main areas of concern, drivers of
insecurity on the borough. We very recently put
partnership eVort into one of those areas, dealing
with things from road surface through to gangs of
youths through to minor vandalism and graYti. In
the repeat survey a year later, that area is now clear
of concern. It is really a way of using resources more
eYciently. I should perhaps mention that
throughout the period this is not something that we
have thrown resources at, and the revenue costs from
an accounting perspective have dropped by 30%, so
we have seen a far more eYcient use of resources,
cashable savings and an increase in performance.

Q425 Gwyn Prosser: At our last meeting, the Police
Minister told us that the cuts in funding for the
partnerships will not have any major impact. You
might have heard earlier on this morning that Maria
Eagle, the Justice Minster, sought to downplay the
50% cut in funding and said that the partnerships are
becoming much more eYcient and there will not be
any significant change. I guess you would have a
diVerent view of that.
Mr Shadbolt: Certainly the 50% cut in the capital
element of Safer and Stronger Communities Funds
represents £26,000 for Sutton, and that will now be
a gap that will occur on our Life Centre project
which I submitted a note to you about. That is of
local concern. It is certainly true as a small suburban
borough that, although we have small pockets of
extreme deprivation, on average we are a pretty
‘normal’ borough, so we tend to be overlooked for
other specialist funding streams, so any of the more
generalist funding streams, particularly for revenue
and particularly for things like the Safer and
Stronger Communities Fund, are vital in launching
projects where we can put resources to
neighbourhood problems. All of these apparently
minor funding streams are crucial for smaller
boroughs with lower revenue.

Q426 Gwyn Prosser: Will you still deliver on the
partnership?
Mr Shadbolt: Yes, certainly. The reality of the cut in
the capital budget means that it creates a gap in the
Council’s capital programme which will have to be
met, presumably, from contingency.

Q427 Chairman: Do you lament the passage of the
community, the old days when people used to look
out of their windows through their net curtains,
where they would know everybody in the street and
therefore they could ring the police through
Neighbourhood Watch? Did that exist or is it just the
thought of it existing?
Lord Tope: Probably not, Chairman, but I have
reached the age when I remember those days fondly
even if they did not exist. To try to give you a slightly
more serious answer: yes, community has changed
from the memories some of us might have of the
1950s and 1960s, and whether accurate or not, in a
way, does not matter. I think there is now a greater
loss of community. One of the things that we are
trying to recreate, and I am sure all local authorities

are, is that greater sense of community, and we are
working in a diVerent way. I hope this will be one of
the achievements of the Life Centre that we have
spoken about.

Q428 Bob Russell: Lord Tope, in the current
economic climate, how can a council justify
spending money on something like the Sutton Life
Centre?
Lord Tope: First of all, half the funding is coming
from the My Place scheme, the DCSF scheme. I
think it is an even more important investment in the
future. One of the concerns I have, with the cuts that
we all know are coming, is that it will press us more
and more to short-termism. That has been one of the
shortcomings.

Q429 Bob Russell: It is not a statutory responsibility
for you to do this, is it?
Lord Tope: Some of it is a statutory responsibility;
some of it is the extras that I think make the
diVerence for local authorities.

Q430 Bob Russell: Your first responsibility is to
statutory duties. If you have economic pressure, how
are you going to raise the additional funds for the
extras, as you have described it?
Lord Tope: Let us separate this out. The capital
scheme is now—apart from the £26,000 we have just
heard about—funded. Hopefully the Life Centre
itself, when it is fully up and operational, will pay for
itself. It includes a library which brings with it its
own budget; it brings youth facilities, which again
bring with it an existing budget, although it may be
cut. The aim is to make it self-financing with that
budget support that will be there anyway for the
statutory services.

Q431 Bob Russell: You are having to bring in
elements of imaginative accountancy—and I do not
meant that in the wrong sense.
Lord Tope: Absolutely not. Would it be helpful,
Chairman, if I asked Warren to explain briefly what
the main income flow would be?
Mr Shadbolt: There are two choices. The revenue
can either be funded from existing budgets, which is
not realistic, or where the Centre operates in two
modes. One is as a regional training facility
essentially. Those trips will be charged to schools
that attend but at very low cost. At the moment the
charging structure is £270 for a class of up to 30, so
£9 per head. The key thing about the Centre is that
it is around citizenship and life skills, so it will come
back and form part of the curriculum from 2011. We
are really looking not so much at the traditional
physical safety but things around bullying, cyber
safety, domestic violence, nutrition, health,
environmental issues, so it is a real attempt to deal
with some of those issues that people may say no
longer form part of the curriculum, or that the
youths, particularly in deprived areas, do not pick
up from other routes.
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Q432 David Davies: How will the provision oVered
by the Life Centre help young people stay away from
crime? Have you involved young people in planning
the services that will be on oVer?
Mr Shadbolt: Yes, most certainly. There was a full
feasibility done a few years ago that looked
specifically at the issues for two age groups, and we
focused in on Year 6, the final year of primary
school, and Year 8, the second year of secondary,
because there appeared to be a great diVerence in the
needs of those two age groups. We have consulted
widely and looked at where the gaps in existing
service provision are. To answer the first part of your
question second, how we would keep people away
from crime, the hope is that, when we put groups
through this process, out of that class of 30 not only
will we put the victims of bullying through, but we
will also put the perpetrators of bullying through.
There will be ways and means of applying pressure to
groups and individuals within that group to dissuade
future behaviour. It really is an attempt to provide a
set of corrective behaviour for those who are in
danger of becoming criminals, but also to provide
support to those who are already or may be the
victims of domestic violence or some of those other
crimes.
Tom Brake: This is both a political and a practical
question.
Chairman: Mr Brake of course will declare his
interest as a local MP.

Q433 Tom Brake: Yes, I should declare an interest as
the MP of half of the London Borough of Sutton—
although not the half which has the Life Centre in it.
A political and practical question: given that
resources are limited, how are you going to ensure
that the most disadvantaged young people use the
services provided by the Life Centre? I am thinking
not only of the service you have just talked about but
also the sport facilities, the climbing wall, et cetera.
Mr Shadbolt: The honest truth is that there is a great
tension between revenue generation to cover the
costs of running the centre in its regional training
mode and the community benefits that can derive
from it. We will be looking—and we have already
started planning in its second mode as a local
community facility—at specific schemes, feeds in
from things like the YISP, the Youth Inclusion
Support Panel. We are already looking at the
climbing wall for those that are sight and hearing
impaired, running particular programmes for those
not in education, employment and training, and
particularly focusing again around the northern
wards, which is where the Life Centre is situated,
which is our highest area of deprivation, teenage
pregnancy, high unemployment. We will deliberately
skew the activities in the centre towards those
groups, but, as I say, recognising that we do need to
generate some income from the activities of the
Centre as well.

Q434 Tom Brake: Lord Tope, is this going to require
some political will in terms of balancing the revenue
implications against income and so on, if we are
going to ensure that the most disadvantaged young
people are able to access this facility?

Lord Tope: Yes, it will. One of the key questions for
us will be getting the balance between the use of the
Centre as a regional facility, which it very much is
and where the main income stream will come from,
and ensuring that it is of very real benefit to the local
community, not just or particularly what we are
calling the Life Zone now, the media thing, but the
other community facilities, the library, the climbing
wall, the sensory garden, the youth zone, and the
meeting rooms and so on. Yes, we can go from one
extreme—dream on!—if the council could fund it all
and we could have all the emphasis there, to the
other extreme, where it could be run entirely as a
commercial enterprise and the local community
would pay the price that everybody else pays. We
have to get the balance between those two extremes
and that is going to be a pretty tough political
judgment.

Q435 Tom Brake: I have a more general question
about crime prevention policy. One of our other
witnesses has described the Government’s approach
as being far too centralised. Is that a point that you
would echo, Mr Shadbolt?
Mr Shadbolt: Our experience in Sutton, irrespective
of policy, is that the more we talk to communities
and the more we learn about their problems, the
better we can direct limited resources to those issues.
That appears to pay dividends not only in terms of
issues requiring reassurance but also it feeds through
into the more serious categories of crime. Certainly
we would advocate more localism and more
determination locally of how those resources are
deployed.

Q436 Tom Brake: Is there any way in which
currently central government are directing the local
authority to do certain things in relation to crime
prevention that you think are not appropriate or
allocating and earmarking funding in a way that you
think is not appropriate?
Mr Shadbolt: I do not think I could cite a case of
that. I could say there is always that natural tension
between prevention and detection. When economic
times are hard and budgets are restricted, there can
tend to be a move back towards reactive policing
rather than proactive and preventative approaches.
We are both keen and concerned that we do maintain
that emphasis on problem solving and longer-term
problem solving rather than being drawn back
purely into a more responsive mode.

Q437 Chairman: I have seen the plans for the Life
Centre and I have seen a presentation. It is an
excellent concept. We would like one in Leicester,
when you have finished in Sutton.
Lord Tope: We are open to oVers, Chairman.

Q438 Chairman: When we went to look at the site,
Mr Brake and I were driven oV the site because they
thought we were breaching security for being on it.
When is it likely to be completed?
Lord Tope: It will be completed, I think, in August.
It opens to schools in the borough in October this
year.
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Q439 Chairman: In terms of the costs—and I know
we have dealt with this—one of the problems of
course is the cost of using the Centre. Is there any
possibility of a subsidy for schools?
Lord Tope: We are oVering a 50% subsidy to Sutton
schools (a) to encourage them, but (b) on the basis
that a substantial amount of Sutton money is going
into it. It is half-funded by central government, the
capital costs, but half of it through local funding, so
that is what we have decided to do, at least for the
first year.

Q440 Chairman: People genuinely believe that, as a
result of this resource, crime in Sutton will go down
further amongst young people.
Mr Shadbolt: In the longer term, yes. It is a far
broader approach. Because it is focusing on fair and
safer and greener, the intention is in some way to
promote better citizenship, so people consider their
responsibilities as well as their rights in the broadest
sense. It should perhaps be clear that many of the
community facilities that are on oVer will not be
charged for. It is purely the training for groups of
school children that that is in the charging.

Q441 Chairman: You are welcome to stay Mr
Shadbolt. I know, Lord Tope, you have other
engagements. This is probably an appropriate time
if you wish to take leave of the Committee. Thank
you very much for coming and giving evidence to us.
We look forward to being kept informed of the
progress of the Life Centre. Can we now turn to
Cricket for Change. Mr Hall and Mr Sellins, you
have been sitting very patiently there. Before I turn
to Mr Winnick, can I ask about the importance of
schools, because this is an initiative that goes beyond
schools, it has been done in the community. Do you
think that the education system ought to have been
doing what Cricket for Change has been doing?
Mr Sellins: A lot of our work is not really
appropriate for schools. We run the largest disability
cricket programme in the world and the early parts
of that are in special needs schools, but I think our
work that has the most impact is out of school hours.
We run a programme at the moment in conjunction
with the Metropolitan Police called Street Chance. It
is a three-year project, running ten year-round
cricket projects every week in ten areas with the
highest youth crime—with youth disengagement, as
defined by the Metropolitan Police, who are
obviously partners in it. We have found that we do
get young people coming from schools, but really we
pick up young people in all manner of ways: from
hearing it from their friends, from just passing by
and seeing what is going on. The key elements to that
are that we are there all the time, that we have a
positive, often male role model, who is their cricket
coach but is so much more than their cricket coach.

Q442 Chairman: We will come on to that in a second.
You have been to Liverpool, Jamaica, Sri Lanka,
South Africa, but I do not see India amongst that
list.
Mr Sellins: We are going to India in February next
year.

Chairman: Good answer.

Q443 Mr Winnick: Mr Hall, I see you have won a
number of national prizes as a coach.
Mr Hall: Yes, I have. Last week I won the ECB
young coach of the year, which was fantastic to win.
From where I was five or six years ago, it is fantastic
to pick up a national recognition like that. I would
never have dreamed of anything like that when I was
14 or 15, where I was going and where my life was
heading, to where I am now, sitting here in front of
you guys and winning national awards and
travelling to India. It was brilliant.

Q444 Mr Winnick: We guys and ladies congratulate
you on your excellence award.
Mr Hall: Thank you.

Q445 Mr Winnick: And for the work that both of
you are doing. Has working with disadvantaged
young people taught you anything in particular
about the cause of re-oVending, anything that you
would not have known beforehand?
Mr Hall: I can tell you a little bit about my story. I
went to primary school, obviously, and I was very
academic. At primary school, I was brilliant. I then
went to secondary school and when I was 13 I just
sort of went oV the rails and I joined a gang and I
became a member of a gang, quite a violent gang
actually. I grew up in Walthamstow, which is in East
London—not the best place to grow up. I became a
member of this quite violent gang—there were about
ten of us—and I dropped out of school when I was
15. From the ages of about 15 to 17 I was just doing
absolutely nothing but on a daily basis committing
crime—anything from robbery to, literally, you
name it and I was almost there doing it. I was 17—I
am now 21—and I was picked up by Cricket for
Change. On my local estate they were doing a
cricket-based programme. They came to me. I did
not have to go to them, they came to my area, and I
was engaged. I was hooked. I loved cricket. I played
cricket with these guys. Then they were doing an
apprenticeship scheme. I thought, “This sounds
brilliant.” I was not going to get paid. I did it for two
years voluntarily, and through the sort of process
that I have gone through and all the lessons that I
have learned through my own criminal background,
I have learned how to engage better with young
people who are in the same situation as I am. I am
working on a daily basis now with young people who
are in drug abuse, who are running away from home
or who have real criminal backgrounds, and I can
relate to them. Like Andy said about being a role
model, I look at myself as a role model to them. I
have learned a lot from the process of what I have
gone through. I think the key is getting people like
me, who have been through it and have experienced
it, who know what is going on and what is
happening, to then talk to these young people and
say, “Look, I did this but look where I am not. I am
travelling the world, I am winning national awards,
I am getting a big salary, I have got a nice car.” Yes,
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I have learned quite a lot from the process that I have
gone through and I am hoping to spread that on to
other young people.

Q446 Mr Winnick: And you, Mr Sellins?
Mr Sellins: I have been involved with the charity for
25 years. That is Adam’s story but, luckily, we have
a number of those types of stories. We have a
programme at the minute that is even more targeted
than Adam’s story. We are taking five young
oVenders, straight out of HMP Ashfield, each year
for the next three years and putting them through a
similar process that Adam has described. Part of it
is an arm around the shoulder, a part of it is saying,
“Right, we’ve had enough of this sort of behaviour.
If you do this, this will happen to you in a positive
way.” It is beyond the level 1/level 2 of coaching
qualifications, which are quite straightforward to
do; it is about having that young person out with one
of our team—and Adam is one of our team—day in,
day out showing them first about turning up on time,
being responsible for your actions, building positive
adult relationships. The type of adults we are, we
talk about music and sport and girls and we go out
for a drink and we do all these things, but we are very
firm about how you should behave to each other and
to other young people. It is about developing a sense
of responsibility about yourself and about your
actions. This is a revelation to a lot of the kids. One
of the lads who has joined this scheme was involved
in a gang shooting when he was 15 and then went
straight to Ashfield. We picked him up, straight out,
and I said, “What could have been diVerent about
your life when you were 15? What made you go oV
the rails?” He said—and it is rather a cliché—
“Having a dad about would have helped, but also
meeting blokes like you”—he meant the team
generally. He said, “You guys, you’re funny, you’re
cool, you love sport, you talk about sport, you play
sport, but when it comes to serious stuV about the
kids and how you behave and turning up on time,
you guys are deadly serious about this and I really
like this. I like it. I can see where it is going. You map
out. You are constantly talking about what comes
next.” Not just in terms of the charity, but in his life,
we say, in weekly/monthly feedback, “Right, you got
here. To get here, this is what we need to do
together.” It is a long process. Comic Relief are
funding us. It costs about £5,000 per year to support
and train one of these young oVenders. I am sure you
know how much it costs to keep a young person in
prison. It will take that time to turn him around, and
probably more. When they come to us, they are oV
the rails. They are not the mainstream type of kid
that understands if you invest now in exams the
future looks bright. They have no idea of that link
at all.

Q447 Chairman: To pursue the funding aspect, you
have talked about how much it takes to keep the
programme going, but where do you get your
funding from?

Mr Sellins: That particular programme is for the
Street Team. It is from Comic Relief. That have
taken a leap of faith with us, I think, and said,
“Right, we will support you.” We are taking five kids
this year, five next, and it is 25 grand a year.

Q448 Chairman: You get no public funds for this.
Mr Sellins: No. It is done from foundations,
charities. We get a bit of Sport England funding, a
bit of Big Lottery funding.

Q449 Chairman: There are lots of forms to fill in.
Mr Sellins: Lots of forms to fill in, lots of reports to
write. We have about 30 diVerent funders, all
supporting diVerent aspects of our programmes—
which is good in some ways, but diYcult in others.

Q450 Tom Brake: Adam, I am wondering whether
from your experience it was cricket that was, in
eVect, the bait. You reel these young people in with
cricket and then, when you have got them, the role
model aspect kicks in and you start to build them up
as people.
Mr Hall: Yes.

Q451 Tom Brake: Is that the way it works?
Mr Sellins: Yes. Cricket is very much the carrot that
we dangle to attract the young people in. Not every
young person is going to like cricket, but we are
working on programmes now to engage them
through football, street dance, rugby, or whatever
sport they like. It is all about youth engagement.
Mr Hall: Cricket was the carrot that dangled and
attracted me, and I built up a relationship with these
guys over time. Cricket was what drew me in but
then I got to know these guys and built up a
relationship. I told them things that were happening
in my life and then they directed me on to better
ways, where I can go and what I can go to, to where
I am now. Cricket is very much the carrot that we
dangle. It is more youth engagement and almost
being a youth worker.

Q452 Tom Brake: For the youth work part then,
what particular support do you receive in terms of
training, or are you simply relying on your own
personal experience? I assume people will come to
you saying, “I’ve got a drug problem, what can I do
about it?” Or, “I’m in trouble because I owe someone
some money, what advice can you give me?” and that
sort of thing. What sort of training or assistance
have you had with that aspect of the youth work?
Mr Hall: When I was taken onboard, if I can say
that, I went through quite an intensive training
programme. It happened every single week. Since
then I have been sent on about 80 diVerent courses—
all diVerent, not just cricket related: working with
gangs, how to tackle obesity and loads of diVerent
courses—so that I can gain some knowledge. But the
key for me is going on those courses but using that
knowledge as well as my background of what I have
been through and I can adapt the two and then see
what situation fits best for the young person I am
working with. It is about the individual that I am
working with. If I am working with someone who is
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on an estate, going down quite a bad road, the
courses I have been on have been massively helpful,
but I use my background and my experience to say,
“Look, this is not quite right. You should do this, do
this, do this.” It is an ongoing relationship. It is
almost an ongoing conversation. We have been
working with young people for about three years
now and I am still having ongoing conversations
about drugs with young people and it is very diYcult
to try and guide them. It is more of a relationship-
building process, but the training element to it is
probably just a tiny part of it. I tend to use my
knowledge of what I have been through.

Q453 Tom Brake: Does it ever get too heavy and you
have to refer it on to some other organisation
because you know it is outside the scope of what you
can deal with?
Mr Hall: Yes, there are occasions when it does get
too heavy, but this is why we have partners on board
like the Met.
Chairman: We will come on to that in a second.

Q454 Bob Russell: Chairman, it is a truly
inspirational presentation. Thank you for that and I
congratulate you, Mr Hall, on your achievement.
Mr Hall: Thank you.

Q455 Bob Russell: Mr Sellins, are there any benefits
of employing young people who have previously
been in trouble?
Mr Sellins: I think there are benefits to them and I
think there are benefits to wider society. Starting just
with them, the Street Team, for instance, or someone
like Adam, they come to us without that sense of a
dream, without any structure to their progression,
and so, first of all, to get them to buy into that is
absolutely crucial. We are hoping with the Street
Chance programme to have no re-oVending. We
hope that the carrot that we are dangling—which is
professional work, professional qualifications—is
strong enough for them to see that that is a better
option for them. For wider society, we all know the
figures, that a small number of oVenders are
responsible for a large number of oVences. We
started this current programme with the Met Police
after doing a pilot in Hackney, and the police records
show that while we were doing the programme crime
and antisocial behaviour did go down, but I think as
soon as you withdraw they could bounce back. I do
think that this type of work is about being on the
ground a lot with the right people.

Q456 David Davies: I think Mr Hall has already
answered my question, which is about how you
target people. You do it through the police and the
local authorities. What is your relationship right
now and the relationship of the people you work
with with the police, given the backgrounds that
many of them have?
Mr Hall: Do you mean the relationship the young
people have with them?

Q457 David Davies: Yes.
Mr Hall: It is an interesting question. We are doing
a programme in Newham at the moment. We are
working with a sergeant in Newham. I am working
with a gang in Newham, trying to engage them
through cricket. As someone mentioned earlier, I use
cricket as a carrot to dangle and now we are trying
to build up some real strong links with them. I have
been working with them now for a year. At first a
sergeant from the Metropolitan Police came along,
and they were, “Ooh, he’s a policeman,” and they
would not come along to the session, and I had to go
back on to their estate and say, “Look, guys, just
come along. He only wants to play some cricket, so
come along.” This policeman came along and he
played cricket with them and he was chatting with
them and he was engaging with them. He has not
been around for two months, and every single
session, it is like, “Where is Sergeant Bob? Where is
Sergeant Bob?” They have realised that, out of the
uniform, he is a human being, he is just like them, he
is an adult. That, for me, is one of the most powerful
things I have seen in ages, because they have seen this
uniform, they are very wary of this uniform, they are
always getting attacked by this uniform, but seeing
him out of his uniform and he is a sergeant—which
is a high ranking for a young person to see—and he
has come along and he has played cricket with them.
We went down to Brighton as well, and he came
along and he built up some really strong
relationships. I just think that if that happened in
every single London borough, it would be amazing,
because these young people now have got some real
respect for Bob the Sergeant at Newham Police
Station. They have got some real respect for him and
they gained some real respect for the Met Police.
There is a surgery at the centre where we work, and
every time they walk past they are chatting with the
PCSOs, they pick up leaflets, they are really engaged
in what the Met are doing, whereas the Met never
really came to them before.

Q458 David Davies: That is an interesting answer.
On a sensitive issue, and I always try to ask these
questions in a careful way: you must be dealing with
gangs from minority groups?
Mr Hall: Yes.

Q459 David Davies: Do you find you can interact
fine with them or do you find that harder to do
because of your own ethnic background?
Mr Hall: Good question. I have never seen it as a
struggle. It has never really been a struggle. I think
once you are working with a young person, no
matter what ethnic background they have, if they are
into crime they are crying out for help really. I was
crying out for help. When I was 14 and 15 and on a
bad road, really I was crying out for help. They are
crying out for help, for anybody who is in a senior
position who is there willing to help them, who is not
going to be very authoritative on them and say,
“You’ve got to do this, you’ve got to do this,” who
is there just to be an ear for them to talk to really. It
has not really come across in my work where it has
been a problem, no.
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Chairman: Mr Clappison, I know you have a
particular interest in cricket.

Q460 Mr Clappison: It is marvellous that cricket is
doing this. It is a feather in the cap for cricket. How
do you think we can get other sports going on the
same wavelength?
Mr Sellins: I think some are. Football has done a lot
and basketball. I met someone this morning who is
doing it with basketball. With cricket, apart from the
crime diversion element to the Street Chance project
with the Met, the other half of it is to try and engage
with marginalised Muslim communities. The way it
works is we play a form of cricket called Street20. It
is 20 balls per side, the game is over in 20 minutes,
you can play and play and play. It is six aside. It
works on basketball courts and all that sort of stuV.
Every half term and school holiday, we have
competitions, where all the teams come in from
across London, and 75%-80% of those teams are
from a south Asian background, so across the
programme it is hitting that target. At the
competitions we do not only play cricket, we feed
them we have music, and we spend time talking to
them as well. They do not know they are in
workshops, as it were, but they are in workshops
almost constantly, about travelling as a team, being
responsible, how you relate with the opposition, how
you say thank you to the people who have done the
catering—all this stuV. We are on at them all the
time; they just do not know it. Cricket is particularly
good because every player gets their moment in the
spotlight. It is more by luck than judgment, but when
you are bowling, it is your time. When you are
batting, it is your time.
Chairman: Some not for long! Gwyn Prosser, your
chance in the spotlight.

Q461 Gwyn Prosser: The evidence of both of you has
been really impressive. The story you have told us is
going to feature strongly in the Committee’s report.
I am convinced of that. Adam, you have told us that
you were part of a criminal gang, a violent gang, and
then you met up with Andy and his people. What
was the reaction from your gang members when they
said, “There’s a big job going on on Sunday,” and
you said, “I’m sorry, I’m playing cricket.”
Mr Hall: It is a good question. In fact, I am still
friends with the majority of them now, and there are
some of them that are still not going down a good
route.

Q462 Gwyn Prosser: There was no pressure from
the gang?
Mr Hall: No, there was not. Not at all. In fact, they
were happy for me. We created our own community.
We were our own young community. There were
about ten to 12 of us and we had our own
community. We lived by our own rules, because that
was all we wanted to do, and we ran riot everywhere,
but as soon as someone did something and achieved
something, they were extremely happy. I am still
friends with some—not all of them, because some of
them are in prison now.

Q463 Gwyn Prosser: Have you had success in
bringing any more of them out of the dark, if you
like, and into the cricket fraternity?
Mr Hall: Yes, some have had success—not through
cricket, because cricket was not a popular game for
them. Some of them were taken on board by other
organisations that are doing the same sort of work.
I have spoken to them about what I am doing and it
inspired them really. The first time I went overseas I
went to Barbados, and I came back and said to them,
“I’ve just been to Barbados” and they were really
inspired by what I was doing and the sort of work I
was doing and they really wanted to do it. I think it
was a light bulb in their head saying, “I’ve been
down this process, I know what is happening. I can
change other young people’s lives.” The majority of
them now are working as youth workers.

Q464 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Sellins, we have talked
about cricket, football, baseball, et cetera. Are we
talking about boys and men all the time or not?
Mr Sellins: The Street Chance project we have talked
about is 95% boys. The 5% is quite high, considering
it is not a programme targeted at girls. We were
talking on the way about targeting girls and it is a
diVerent approach. We have something starting in
May where we are not so heavily focusing on a sport
but we are making it an activity programme. We are
making the time and the space theirs, because girls
and young women can easily get squeezed out or
have to come in to the boys’ agenda. We are finding
time at our centre to start with in May, and then we
are picking other centres that we are working with
around London where we give them their time, with
female role models supported by male role models,
letting them set the agenda to some extent, and not
making it a pure sport thing, which appeals
particularly to boys. The pure sport is attractive to
boys.

Q465 Mrs Cryer: The Chairman has already asked
you about funding but I want to delve a bit more
deeply into that. Has it become easier or more
diYcult of late to get funding? How do you see the
future? Do you feel quite comfortable that in future
you are going to have a continuous stream of
funding to do what you are doing now, or do you
think there are going to be diYculties? Finally, I am
tempted to ask, how did you get on with the New
York Police Department?
Mr Sellins: Funding, funnily enough, we are finding
easier rather than harder, but I think it is partly
because our reputation is strong and we research
what we do very heavily, so we produce the type of
evidence that researchers find which backs up our
anecdotal case study type evidence. Funding is okay.
I should never say that, should I?

Q466 Chairman: No.
Mr Sellins: That is terrible. Scrub that.

Q467 Chairman: I am afraid you are on live
television.
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Mr Sellins: Okay. The scale of what we are doing is
relatively small, so to scale this up would be
expensive and then larger funding would need to
come in.

Q468 Chairman: What is your total budget for the
year?
Mr Sellins: About half a million.

Q469 Chairman: And you employ how many
people?
Mr Sellins: Twelve.

Q470 Chairman: And that pays for all the
programmes.
Mr Sellins: Yes.

Q471 Chairman: Every single thing is included in
that figure?
Mr Sellins: Yes. And our cricket centre in Sutton.

Q472 Mrs Cryer: For the future, are you quite
confident?
Mr Sellins: We are very confident. We are a London-
based organisation. We work in London and
overseas—anywhere where the sun is shining,
basically, which is basically cricket nations a lot of
the time. We are looking to scale up into other UK
cities, to help capacity build other organisations.
The three-year plan is to scale up and go to other
places.

Q473 Chairman: If you go to Leeds, you need to talk
to Mr Clappison.
Mr Sellins: Fine.

Q474 Tom Brake: To pursue that point a little bit
further, I wonder whether there is any way that you
can build into your programme something that
guarantees that funding will continue? If you are
dependent on things like Comic Relief, in two years’
time they could choose to put their money
somewhere else. Are there any arrangements you
have? The obvious thing would be to talk to the
police or the Prison Service. I think £30,000 is what
it costs to send someone to prison. You are spending
£5,000 on dealing with these most prolific oVenders.
Having a relationship where that money would come
to you in exchange for the work you are doing would
provide continuity. What more can you do to try to
cement in the finances, so that you do not run out
of funds?
Mr Sellins: There are several things there. We went
to New York last weekend to work with the NYPD
and we took someone from the Met to build that
relationship. We were talking about the next step
after what we are doing now already. The stuV we do
with HMP Ashfield, which is a Bristol prison that
takes boys from all over the place, we work with
something called the Second Chance project, which

uses sport within a prison environment to do the
type of work that we do, and they are already talking
to the Prison Service about how they use sport
within the prison.

Q475 Chairman: You go to another group first and
then you get in contact with the prison.
Mr Sellins: Yes.

Q476 Chairman: You do not deal with them directly?
Mr Sellins: We work with the Second Chance project
just in Ashfield Prison. They prepare the young
people to come to us: they interview them, they
introduce them to us. We go to Ashfield on a regular
basis to talk to young people and see if they are ready
for this type of training programme.

Q477 Chairman: Why not Feltham? Why Ashfield?
Mr Sellins: Feltham we have been put oV a bit
because it has quite a lot of remand prisoners in. We
need to have the young people under the tutelage, as
it were, of Second Chance project, and then, for an
extended period, build a relationship. The lesson we
have learned throughout this is that it takes time. It
is a lot of good adult time that needs to be poured
into these young people. The Prison Service is being
dealt with and the Met Police, yes. Similarly, if we are
going to scale up around the UK, we definitely need
to speak to other police services.

Q478 Chairman: Do you get resentful of the fact that
you see a very well-funded criminal justice system,
with billions of pounds at the disposal of men in
suits, but you have to struggle filling in lots and lots
of forms to do something that they ought to be
doing?
Mr Sellins: Not really. I am really, really excited
about this Street Team idea, which, as I say,
formalised the process that Adam has gone through,
because I am convinced that, at the end of these three
years, we are going to have these 15 young people
and this nice report, and these young kids are going
to be working with us and they are going to have
careers and we will be proud of them. Hopefully the
lessons learned from that we are going to share with
everybody else to do it, because that is what we are
about. No, the joy is turning round these young
people. It is amazing. You know, I am so proud of
this guy. There are things he has not told you that are
amazing—sitting in front of the NYPD and the USA
Cricket Association last week and just telling it as it
is. I got a letter back saying, “He is so impressive. We
thought he was going to be a 40 to 50 year old.” The
way he dealt with them was so impressive on emails
and telephones. He has done really well.
Academically he did not achieve anything, but he
has got this intelligence about how you make things
happen for yourself once he had bought into the
dream of what it is he is trying to do.
Chairman: Mr Sellins and Mr Hall, thank you very
much for giving evidence. Mr Shadbolt, thank you.
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The Government’s 2007 Crime Strategy Cutting Crime, a new partnership (2008–11) describes many of the
actions that are being taken to deliver the objectives of our public service agreements (PSAs 23 and 25) to
make communities safer and reduce the harms caused by alcohol and drugs. Delivering these PSAs enables
us to continue to build on the significant reductions in crime achieved over recent years. Since 1997 overall
crime as measured by the British Crime Survey (BCS) has fallen by 36%—including a 41% fall in overall
violence and a 54% fall in burglary.

“Cutting Crime: An update to the 2008–11 Crime Strategy”, was published in May 2009 and reflects policy
developments since 2007, including work to improve public confidence and reform the police, as well as the
much tougher economic conditions we now face. The updated strategy sets out five new approaches to
delivery, which encompass the seven topics the committee has identified for consideration.

1. Taking Early Action to Prevent Crime

This approach includes intervening early in situations or with people to prevent crime from escalating,
using the tools and powers available and tackling the root causes of crime, particularly alcohol and drugs.
Measures to prevent youth criminality include intervening early in the lives of young people at risk of getting
involved in crime, either as victims or oVenders. It also requires looking ahead to new crime problems and
taking early action (including measures to design out crime). The strategy is also clear that crime prevention
requires early action to tackle anti-social behaviour, preventing further escalation into criminal activity.

Preventing youth criminality

The Youth Crime Action Plan, published in July 2008, clearly articulates the Government’s strategy for
tackling and preventing youth criminality. It sets out a triple track approach of better prevention to tackle
problems before they become serious or entrenched; more non-negotiable support to address the underlying
causes of poor behaviour; and tough enforcement where behaviour is unacceptable.

Partnership working is key. Children’s Trusts have been put on a statutory footing with a requirement,
working closely with Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships in England and Community Safety
Partnerships in Wales, to embed the prevention of youth crime and re-oVending in their work to improve
wellbeing for children.

The Youth Crime Action Plan both provided almost £100 million for new targeted action in priority areas
and set out a strategic framework for how children’s services, police and youth justice reforms work together
to reduce youth crime:

— to identify problems early and reduce the risk of a variety of poor outcomes including oVending,
Government has invested heavily in services for families with very young children, including over
3,000 Sure Start Children’s centres and extending Family Nurse Partnerships;

— to provide young people with the life skills they need to avoid oVending behaviour, significant
investment has been made to improve the quality, access and safety of youth provision. This
includes additional funding for targeted provision through Positive Activities for Young People
and funding new and refurbished youth facilities, so ensuring that activities are delivered at the
times that young people want and need, particularly Friday and Saturday nights when problems
of crime and antisocial behaviour are greatest;

— to increase access for families to services and support, targeted parenting provision has been rolled
out across the country through parenting experts and the Parenting Early Intervention
Programme. For the most challenging families there has been a significant expansion of Family
Intervention Projects (FIPs). From 2011–12 10,000 families will be supported each year;

— for young people on the cusp of oVending multi-agency street patrols and police operations have
been put in place to engage and remove at-risk young people to a place of safety. These build on
a network of Safer Schools Partnerships and Youth Inclusion Projects, which provide targeted
support; and

— to break the cycle of oVending the Youth Rehabilitation Order has been introduced, enabling
courts to tailor community sentences to the needs of the individual and the seriousness of the
oVence. Additional funding has also been provided to improve resettlement support for young
people leaving custody in the areas with the highest custody rates.

YCAP One Year On placed greater emphasis on tackling serious youth violence, building on the progress
achieved through the Tackling Knives Action Programme (TKAP). TKAP’s prevention strand includes
increased use of knife arches and the roll-out to 97 Youth OVending Teams, of an eight-part Knife Crime
Prevention Programme, including modules on the dangers of carrying knives, the law and the impact of knife
crime on victims and communities.
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YCAP One Year On also highlighted work to step up action to tackle anti-social behaviour. This includes
a continued emphasis on the use of tools and powers as well as introducing new measures such as making
Parenting Orders mandatory on breach of ASBO and speeding up the breach process.

All this work has had an impact on PSA 14—increasing the number of young people on the path to
success. There has been a decrease of 21.6% in the rate of young people receiving their first reprimand,
warning or conviction from 2007–08 to 2008–09, following an increase from 2002–03.

Alongside measures specifically aimed at young people, we continue delivery of PSA 25 to reduce the
harms caused by alcohol and drugs—two of the key drivers of crime. This includes, for example:

— support for action on alcohol focussed on 50 priority areas in England and Wales, the development
of a mandatory code of practice for those selling alcohol, the introduction of Drinking Banning
Orders and new powers for local authorities to review licences alongside powers for the Police to
tackle underage drinking in public spaces; and

— £150 million continued Home OYce funding for the Drug Interventions Programme across
England and Wales, which tackles drug related oVending by identifying oVenders and presenting
them with tough choices to address their drug use and need for treatment or face the consequences.
Through DIP, 4500 oVenders a month enter drug treatment.

We also continue to take early action to deal with emerging crime problems. This includes, for example,
early action in 2009 to keep burglary down in the context of an economic downturn. The Securing Homes
programme included funding for the police to purchase equipment to increase their identification and
detection of burglars, free advice packs for people concerned about becoming the victims of burglary and
help to secure 60,000 homes of people most at risk of burglary. This was supported by marketing campaigns
encouraging people to secure their personal property.

Design and new technology are also important, as evidenced by the 65% reduction in vehicle-related thefts
(BCS) between 1995 and 2008–09. The use of immobilisers and increased vehicle security were crucial to
this success.

To raise the profile of designing out crime, we have created the Design and Technology Alliance Against
Crime, a group of internationally renowned designers and criminologists led by Sebastian Conran.
Examples of the Alliance’s current work include:

— Hot products—new prototypes of safer mobile phones are due to be launched in February 2010;
and

— Alcohol—a new, safer pint glass is being designed to combat harm caused by glassing injuries.

We are also working to ensure that the places and homes of the future are designed and built to be safe
and secure, and are brokering agreements with industries, such as the mobile phone industry to “crime
proof” future product developments.

2. Turning the Tables on Offenders

It is estimated that over 50% of crime is committed by reoVenders. Measures to reduce re-oVending are
therefore an important part of the strategy. The Ministry of Justice lead across Government on reducing re-
oVending and will be submitting a fuller statement covering their overall approach to the Committee.

We have already seen the rate of adult re-oVending fall by over 20% and that of juvenile re-oVending by
over 23% between 2000 and 2007 but more can be done. The strategy focuses on ensuring that oVenders
face tough choices between fast-track punishment and being supported to reform and turn away from crime.
Where hardened oVenders do not take up opportunities to reform, we want agencies to use all the tools at
their disposal to make their lives diYcult. And those who do re-oVend should face a swift return to court
or prison.

Specific examples of work led by the Home OYce to reduce re-oVending include:

— the Prolific and Other Priority OVender (PPO) programme, which ensures that the oVenders who
cause the most damage are being actively targeted and managed. An evaluation of the programme
in 2007 found that recorded conviction rates amongst the first PPOs on the programme fell by 62%
over their first 17 months on the programme. Since the updated strategy was launched,
partnerships have been encouraged to review their PPO schemes and develop Integrated OVender
Management (IOM) approaches (a joint Home OYce/Ministry of Justice initiative) to drive
forward work to reduce reoVending. Focusing on oVenders of most concern and making better use
of existing programmes and a wider range of agencies, including those outside the Criminal Justice
System (CJS), helps to tighten the grip on oVenders.

— Operation Vigilance, launched in July, is a joint police and Home OYce initiative to tackle
emerging challenges on burglary and robbery. The programme includes a £4.4 million “People”
strand designed to embed IOM and improve the targeting and management of PPOs.
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— Incapacitating organised crime groups is delivered through specialist enforcement, led by the
Serious Organised Crime Agency, in partnership with other agencies, as well as the rigorous use of
powers that allow us to seize criminal assets and a range of other non-traditional tools (such as
serious crime prevention orders) that disrupt organised criminals. The value of criminal proceeds
recovered has risen from £25 million in 2001–02 to £148 million in 2008–09.

By proactively targeting those oVenders who pose the greatest risk of harm to communities, we can
interrupt prolonged criminal careers and so prevent considerable levels of oVending in the future.

3. Delivering Responsive, Visible Justice

Delivering responsive, visible justice increases public confidence in the CJS, which in turn encourages
members of the public to come forward to report crimes, either as victims or witnesses, helping ensure more
oVences are brought to justice. The crime strategy sets out how victims and witnesses should be supported,
which is particularly important in preventing repeat victimisation.

— The cross-Government strategy to end Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG), launched in
November 2009, includes funding of over £13 million to help support victims of sexual and
domestic violence, national helplines for victims of sexual violence and stalking & harassment; and
a national communications strategy to challenge attitudes to VAWG.

The voluntary and community sector often play an important role here—providing links to and advocates
for people who have experienced crime, as well as providing tailored services to diverse communities,
including victims of domestic violence, faith communities and PPOs. The Home OYce is committed to
working with the VCS as an eVective partner in delivering crime reduction activities through promoting local
commissioning; providing funding; seeking the expertise of experienced practitioners; and sharing eVective
practice and ideas.

The VCS is able to respond flexibly and innovatively to local problems that start with the needs of the
individuals and communities most aVected by crime. EVective community safety solutions involve boosting
community confidence and responding to locally identified needs and the VCS are often ideally placed to
take on this role. In particular, our strategic partnerships with four charities—Catch 22, Crimestoppers,
Neighbourhood Watch and the Suzy Lamplugh Trust—has broadened our reach into hard to reach
communities and groups to prevent crime.

4. Putting the Public in the Driving Seat

A confident and empowered public is more likely to want to work with agencies to fight crime—whether
that involves challenging anti-social or criminal behaviour or volunteering in the CJS, as, for example, a
magistrate or a special constable, or via a community-based organisation linked to crime prevention, such
as Neighbourhood Watch. To this end, we have removed all top down numerical targets on the police bar
one—to increase public confidence that the police and local councils are tackling the antisocial behaviour
and crime issues that matter most locally. We are also putting the public at the heart of policing with local
crime information, less bureaucracy, more visible policing and better information. And public confidence is
already increasing—the latest BCS figures showed a rise in public confidence from 45%–50%.

Key activities include:

— the Policing Pledge, which sets out a clear minimum standard of service and makes the police more
visible, accessible and responsive to local communities. The Pledge ensures that the police
understand and are dealing with local priorities, that the public have a voice in setting priorities
and know what action is being taken to address them, and that victims are supported; and

— every neighbourhood in England and Wales now has its own dedicated Neighbourhood Policing
Team which play a clear role in prevention. Visibility not only reassures the public, but acts as a
deterrent. And problem solving with partners tackles the root causes of oVending to prevent it from
happening again.

The Government Programme Justice Seen, Justice Done also aims to increase public confidence in how
crime is tackled and justice is delivered through:

— Raising awareness and understanding of the service the public are entitled to from the police and
other agencies. This includes a leaflet drop to 6.5 million households about the public’s rights in
relation to the police and CJS, campaigns to raise public awareness of the Policing Pledge and the
Community Crime Fighter programme, which provides training for people who are active in their
community about what they should expect from services on crime and anti-social behaviour.
Nearly 4,000 people were trained in 2009.

— Showing the public that the police, the CJS and the government are on their side—and that there
are tough consequences for criminals. This includes the adoption of visible jackets for criminals
undertaking Community Payback and guidance to police and local authorities on the importance
of publicising criminal convictions locally.

— Ensuring that the police and local authorities are responding to, and can demonstrate they are
responding to, issues that matter to the public.
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The Policing White Paper, Protecting the Public: Supporting the Police to Succeed, was published in
December 2009 and hasa strong emphasis on putting the public at the heart of policing. The White Paper
sets out the importance of oYcers getting things right first time and we will work with the service in ensuring
that oYcers are meeting the public’s expectations.

We also understand that when things do go wrong, there needs to be clear forms of redress for the public.
In part this is about providing them with better information, which we are doing through the National Crime
Map and HMIC’s new Police Report Cards, but it is also about giving people the means to hold the police
to account, through the introduction of new Public Scrutiny Meetings with police authorities and senior
oYcers at individual command unit level and taking action to streamline the complaints process.

5. Taking Action at the Right Level

Since Cutting Crime was published in 2007 we have transformed the way we work with delivery partners.
Devolving power away from Whitehall and allowing greater professional discretion locally enables crime
challenges to be addressed as they emerge. The use of Local Area Agreements (LAA)—pledges to local
people from local authorities and their partners to improve public services—is a prime example of this shift.

The success of the strategy relies largely on strong partnership working at a neighbourhood, local and
national level. EVective partnerships make use of the skills and influence of the full range of partners and
the best councils firmly embed crime reduction and tackling anti-social behaviour into their day-to-day
working.

The role of crime and disorder reduction partnerships (England) and community safety partnerships
(Wales) will be expanded from April 2010 to include reducing re-oVending and include the probation service
as a statutory member of CDRPs/CSPs.

Alongside CDRPS/CSPs the Government has continued to sponsor a range of partnerships, with a mix of
statutory and non-statutory responsibilities, including local criminal justice boards (LCJBs), local strategic
partnerships (LSPs) and Children’s Trusts.

The forthcoming Safe and Confident Neighbourhoods Strategy will set out how we will strengthen
partnership working at the neighbourhood level, ensuring the Neighbourhood Policing Teams are integral
members of neighbourhood partnerships as well as being firmly linked up with the rest of police activity to
ensure that problems are prevented or resolved and vulnerable people protected.

Additional partners

Businesses also have important roles to play in local crime prevention, and it is especially important in
the current economic climate that we oVer businesses support to prevent any additional pressures they may
face as a result of crime. Work to deliver this includes:

— The publication in August of the National Retail Crime Steering Group Action Plan under which
the Government, representatives from trade and business associations and larger retailers will
deliver a range of actions to step up the response to crime against retailers.

— The launch in August of the £5 million Small Retailer Capital Grants Fund, to support small
retailers in 50 priority areas to tackle their crime problems by purchasing capital equipment such
as alarms, security grills, fraud detection devices, stock control equipment etc.

Supporting local partnerships

As stated in the Policing White Paper, Protecting the Public: Supporting the Police to Succeed, we will
explore and promote approaches to simplify partnership working in at least ten local areas where partners
are combining their resources to deliver better services for the public. We will look at existing good practice,
including the innovative use of resources such as aligning budgets, joint commissioning, and joint tasking,
as well as integrating LCJB and CDRP/CSP working through alignment of plans and sharing analysis.

Examples of ongoing work to support crime fighting partnerships to build their capacity include a series
of eVective practice examples on building public confidence for all partnerships, a major programme of
problem solving support, and the publication of comprehensive information sharing guidance for
CDRPs/CSPs.

Conclusion

Crime prevention is at the heart of the Government’s crime strategy—indeed much of what we do to
reduce crime involves prevention. Through eVective crime reduction strategies and the work of crime
fighting partnerships, we have made great progress and we remain committed to building on this work to
keep communities safe.

January 2010
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Memorandum submitted by Battersea Dogs & Cats Home

1. Introduction

1.1 This paper is Battersea Dogs & Cats Home’s (BDCH) formal response to the Home AVairs Select
Committee Inquiry: The Government’s Approach to Crime Prevention.

1.2 BDCH has an interest in this inquiry given the pro-active contribution the Home makes, particularly
with young people, to help prevent the irresponsible ownership of dogs for use in anti-social and criminal
activities.

1.3 This inquiry is also relevant to BDCH’s work due to our non-selective intake policy, one that is
becoming increasingly rare within the animal welfare sector. This means that BDCH accept dogs regardless
of their history, age, breed, health status or temperament.

1.4 BDCH receives no Government funding, however the Home has been very pro-active and sees part
of its role as educating the public, particularly young people, on responsible dog ownership.

2. Key Issues

2.1 BDCH is concerned about the use of dogs in criminal activities; anti-social behaviour, obtaining a
dog to increase a person’s “status”, and for the intimidation of people and/or other animals.

2.2 While there has been significant government and media focus on the problem of increasing knife and
gun crime, the worrying use of dogs for criminal activities appears to have had little attention.

2.3 Certain breeds of dog have become popular for use in criminal activities or to increase “status” among
a gang or peer group. It is very unfortunate that bull and guarding breeds tend to be the dogs for such
activities and have resulted in negative public perceptions.

2.4 Given BDCH’s non-selective intake policy, the Home may receive dogs that have been irresponsibly
owned or that have been used in unlawful activities.

2.5 These dogs are often undersocialised and sometimes displaying more serious behavioural problems
and can find life in a kennel environment quite challenging. The Home has had to adapt its processes and
facilities to ensure that the needs of these dogs are met.

2.6 The Home recognises that irresponsible ownership of dogs is undermining the positive reasons for
choosing to get a dog; such as companionship, health and security. BDCH believes that it is in the Home’s
interest to educate and inform all potential and current dog owners of responsible ownership methods.

3. BDCH’s Efforts to Prevent Dogs being used in Criminal Activities

3.1 In order to mitigate the use of dogs in criminal activities, BDCH has been taken a pro-active stance
to educate the public, particularly young people, on responsible dog ownership.

3.2 BDCH does not receive Government funding but has funded a range of awareness raising educational
initiatives, particularly for young people.

People with Dogs Project

3.3 The Home has contributed to the “People with Dogs” project (Please see Appendix 1),1 which was
set up during 2007, the objective of which was to tackle antisocial behaviour with dogs in the local
community. It is a collaboration between BDCH, the Greater London Authority, Metropolitan Police
Service (MPS), Wandsworth Youth OVending Team, Wandsworth Dog Wardens, RSPCA, and The Blue
Cross.

3.4 The project, (incorporating a DVD and workshop) was designed to be used with young people. The
DVD is an eight minute narrative with young actors and follows the story of a teenaged boy and his dog.
It explores the issues and potential diYculties surrounding dogs as “status” symbols. The film is followed
by a workshop, including interviews, to stimulate discussion and encourage a more responsible approach
to dog ownership.

3.5 It is intended that the “People with Dogs” project will:

— Decrease the number of youths using dogs to intimidate the public in London.

— Improve relationships between youths and the community, by reducing intimidation and fear on
streets.

— Reduce the number of reports or complaints relating to anti-social behaviour with dogs.

— Reduce the number of abandoned dogs by increasing youths’ respect and care for their dogs.

— Make young people aware of the seriousness of injuries from dog fights.

1 Not printed
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School talks and tours

3.6 BDCH organises talks and tours which are oVered both on and oV site. Last year BDCH’s Education
oYcer engaged with 3,616 children under 16 years on the issues of safety around dogs; responsible dog
ownership and other related social issues.

3.7 Groups included children with special needs, underprivileged backgrounds and at risk groups via the
XL project (part of the Princes trust) as well as a mentoring group (The Complete Works) who work with
children outside the school system.

Outreach OYcer

3.8 In response to the increasing demand, BDCH has sought funding and will be recruiting this year for
an outreach OYcer to increase our work with young people.

4. Recommendations to the Home Affairs Committee

4.1 BDCH would welcome the committee’s consideration on the use of dogs in criminal activities, anti-
social behaviour and to increase a person’s “status”. As the committee will be aware, there have been similar
pro-active Home OYce initiatives, to prevent gun and knife crime.

4.2 BDCH would ask that attention be given to any future Government initiatives to tackle the use of
dogs in criminal activities and that the role of the Third Sector in such initiatives should be considered.

4.3 Any future initiatives should consider the potential for new or amended legislation.

4.4 BDCH also believes that local solutions and educational initiatives can be far more eVective in
preventing criminal activity with dogs. BDCH hopes that the committee will recognise the importance the
Third Sector has in educating the public and preventing crime.

January 2010

Memorandum submitted by from Visa Europe

Summary

1. Visa Europe is the European payment system, owned and operated by its 4,600 European member
banks and financial institutions. Visa Europe is a privately owned, incorporated company, with an exclusive,
irrevocable and perpetual licence of the Visa brand in Europe, which is part of the global Visa network.

2. In the UK, there are 42.1 million debit cardholders, or 85% of the adult population. Visa is the UK’s
leading debit card with over 58 million debit cards issued (over 86 million cards in total). In the 12 months
ending June 2009, these cards were used to make 3.7 billion purchases. In the same period, there were
618 million purchase transactions using Visa UK credit cards.

3. Visa Europe operates a low-cost business model. All services are delivered “at cost” to our member
banks. Visa Europe never seeks to make a profit—only to ensure that it is adequately capitalised as a
business.

5. Visa Europe develops innovative technologies with the aim of making card payments more secure,
eYcient and convenient. The ultimate aim is to oVer consumers the choice of payment method in every
environment.

6. This memorandum responds to the inquiry’s focus on “measures to design out crime” and “the role of
business in crime prevention”. Specifically we focus on Visa Europe’s technological innovations that
contribute to realising early action to prevent fraud, as identified in the Government’s Cutting Crime
strategy.

Innovating Technologies that Intervene Early to Prevent Fraud

7.1 Visa Europe is continually and proactively developing state of the art technologies to protect our
member banks, consumers and retailers from fraud risks inherently related to card payments. At this point
it is worth putting the level of card fraud into context. In 2008 card fraud losses in the UK were £610 million,
equivalent to 10 basis points of card turnover. The UK has the highest rate of card fraud in Europe, but it
also has the highest number of cards in circulation (168.7 million) compared with its nearest competitor
market, France, where there are 84.7 million cards in circulation. Below we have outlined some of
innovations and technologies, developed by Visa Europe, to protect against fraud risks which we believe
should be of interest to the Home AVairs Committee.

7.2 Early action to prevent fraud is at the heart of Visa Europe’s strategy to protect both its member banks
and consumers. In order to protect the consumer, Visa Europe joined forces with Mastercard and Europay
to develop EMV (most commonly referred to as chip and PIN in the UK). In February 2006 chip and PIN
became standard for payments with debit/credit cards. The industry spent over £1 billion to migrate to chip
and PIN but the European Commission estimates that chip and PIN will save banks and retailers over
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£412 million annually. Through chip and PIN, £36 million of fraud was cut in the first six months of 2005.
This initial success has been replicated over the past four years resulting in losses on transactions on the UK
high street reducing by 55% from £218.8 million in 2004 to £98.5 million in 2008.2

7.3 To combat online fraud, Visa has developed Verified by Visa, an easy to use password protected
service that verifies a cardholder’s identity whilst shopping online, helping to provide consumers with a
greater sense of security when shopping on the Internet. Verified by Visa was developed in response to real
customer demand as according to Visa’s own research 76% of customers said they wanted a password
protected system to enable them to shop on the Internet with total peace of mind. More than 70% of
consumers have admitted that they would buy on the Internet more often with Verified by Visa. Indeed there
is evidence to suggest that Verified by Visa is actively stimulating e-commerce: 90% of those who have never
shopped online said that they would with Verified by Visa. Currently there are 20 million UK cardholders
enrolled in Verified by Visa in the UK, resulting in one in two online UK transactions being Verified by Visa
transactions. The average transaction value for Verified by Visa transactions is higher than non-Verified by
Visa transactions, demonstrating that cardholders feel more confident spending significant amounts over
the Internet when they are protected by Verified by Visa.

7.4 Conscious that many of our members may underestimate the true costs of fraud, Visa Europe has
pioneered a new analytical tool: the Total Cost of Fraud (TCoF) financial model (originally developed by
Visa Inc.). This tool allows our members to better understand the wider business implications of their
existing fraud management operations—and make better informed decisions with regard to future
strategies, cost allocation and potential investment decisions. To use this model, members input a variety of
cost elements into a spreadsheet which is embedded with an assessment framework. The tool then produces
an analysis of fraud-related costs, grouped within three main categories: direct fraud losses; fraud
management expenses; and opportunity costs. The model then generates various metrics and management
reports. The TCoF pilot has demonstrated that the model is robust, easy to use, and provides significant
added value to both issuers and acquirers. TCoF was trialled extensively before becoming a fully operational
service in November 2009.

7.5 Real Time Scoring (RTS) fraud solution is a new tool developed by Visa Europe to help issuers in the
fight against fraud. RTS enables issuers to target their eVorts more eVectively and can improve detection
rates by up to 15% compared with non real time systems. This improved accuracy will lead to the elimination
of unnecessary declines of genuine transactions, improve customer experience and ultimately reduce the lost
revenue and operational costs associated with fraud. This new technology will be available from July
2010 for all current VISOR3 (Visa Intelligent Scoring of Risk) customers. Built with the issuer in mind, this
innovation can be integrated into issuers own fraud detection systems if they chose to take a “score only”
option which could be used as part of their own transaction decision making processes. Making sure that
issuers get the best from RTS and understand the benefits for fraud prevention is essential to Visa Europe
which is why we oVer fraud training on the new system. Visa Europe provides initial fraud strategy
consultation as part of its RTS service.

The unique position of Visa Europe in the payment process, with its global perspective on transaction and
payment flows, enables a more precise, informed risk scoring performance.

Working with Stakeholders to Prevent Fraud

8.1 Visa Europe has formed partnerships with various law enforcement bodies to drive down fraud and
payment card abuse. We have recently worked closely with the British Transport Police (BTP) having
identified a threat from Eastern European criminals who were targeting bank and ticket machines at train
stations across the UK, skimming payment card data and compromising PINs at unattended terminals to
create counterfeit cards for ATM or POS frauds. These would then be used in markets where the chip and
PIN infrastructure is not well established.

8.2 In 2008 Visa Europe began sharing knowledge and data with the BTP, co-ordinating activities and
providing forensic computing assistance. Visa Europe also introduced the BTP to the Romanian Cyber
Crime and Fraud Unit and the Public Ministry’s Chief Prosecutor. Through these relationships, information
exchange has improved, resulting in more successful investigations and prosecutions.

8.3 The results of Visa Europe and the BTP’s relationship have been impressive. Since 2007, on one area
of the rail infrastructure the use of cloned cards in ticket machines has come down by 85%. Indeed, more
than 40,000 card numbers have been recovered and 42 people have been arrested. In the first quarter of 2008,
railway fraud was the UK’s seventh ranked problem. By 2009 it was ranked 27th and as of October 2009,
the savings made amounted to £13.2 million. This is just one example of how Visa Europe is working with
stakeholders to stay ahead of criminals intent on harming consumers and our members.

2 UK Payments Administration figures http://www.ukpayments.org.uk/resources publications/key facts and figures/
card fraud facts and figures/-/page/645/

3 Visa Intelligent Scoring of Risk (VISOR) is an advanced neural network system that scrutinises card transactions to deliver
a highly accurate risk score by analysing the spending behaviour of each cardholder along with the profile of each merchant.
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8.4 Visa Europe is also continually working across industries, such as the online gambling industry, to
reduce fraud losses through payment card transactions. Fraud damages the reputation of the payments
industry and our work to combat it has become more and more sophisticated as we have moved into an
increasingly border-less, online environment.

9. Visa Europe would welcome the opportunity to further engage with the Home AVairs Committee on
the innovations and relationships that it is developing to prevent crime.

January 2010

Memorandum submitted by the Ministry of Justice

Executive Summary

1. Over the past decade we have put in place reforms that have led to considerable success in preventing
crime. Since 1997, crime has dropped by over a third, and the chances of being a victim of crime remains
historically low.4 Between 2000 and 2007, the frequency of adult and youth reoVending has fallen 20.3%
and 23.6% respectively.5 We are seeing more criminals being caught and successfully convicted. The
number of oVences bought to justice has increased by 33%.6

2. Over the last 12 years we have transformed the adult and youth justice systems and worked with our
partners to tackle both the causes and consequences of crime. There is more that we need to do and victims
and the public have the right to demand more of the Criminal Justice System (CJS) and further crime
reduction. In response, we have set ambitious targets to reduce adult and youth reoVending by 10% by
March 2011.

3. The Ministry of Justice works closely with the Home OYce, the Department for Children, Schools and
Families (DCSF), and other partners to provide a CJS that is eVective and eYcient, delivers justice, prevents
crime and, above all, makes communities safer. The memorandum provided by the Home OYce sets out
action being taken to ensure that criminals are caught and convicted, and measures to design out crime. This
memorandum sets out action being taken in partnership with frontline staV and other agencies to reduce
reoVending.

Measures to Prevent Youth Criminality

4. The Ministry of Justice shares responsibility for youth justice policy, and sponsorship of the Youth
Justice Board with DCSF, taking a joined-up approach to dealing with young people in the youth justice
system. To be eVective, the youth justice system needs to balance public protection and holding young people
to account for their actions, also ensuring that young people receive the support they need to reform and
make a more positive contribution to their communities.

5. The Home OYce memorandum sets out some of the key activities that are taking place as part of the
cross Government strategy for tackling youth crime, the Youth Crime Action Plan (YCAP). This
memorandum details the elements of the YCAP and the wider youth justice system which are intended to
reduce the likelihood of a young person reoVending.

6. We recognise that family support and the home environment are key factors in preventing young
people oVending. That is why Youth OVending Teams (YOTs) work with those parents who are struggling
with their child’s behaviour and challenge those who are unwilling to take their responsibilities seriously. For
those assessed as needing support this is initially oVered voluntarily. Parenting Contracts can also provide a
more formalised agreement about what is expected from parents to bring about improvements in their
child’s behaviour. Where necessary a Parenting Order can be made by the Court.

7. However, young people leaving custody are also some of the most vulnerable in society. Many have
complex and wide ranging problems requiring intensive support and treatment that can directly tackle their
oVending behaviour. As part of YCAP, in August 2009 we announced an £8.4 million investment over the
next two years to improve resettlement provision.

Measures to Reduce Reoffending

8. We estimate that around half of all crime is committed by people with previous convictions. Reducing
reoVending is therefore a crucial element of our contribution to tackle crime. We have set out in legislation
the purposes of sentencing which includes punishment, protecting the public and providing opportunity for
rehabilitation. A range of sentencing options is available to enable courts to deal robustly and eVectively
with each individual oVender, taking into account the circumstance of the oVence, the oVender and wider
public safety.

4 British Crime Survey, 2008–09
5 http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/reoVendingofadults.htm;

http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/reoVendingjuveniles.htm
6 June 2009 figures http://lcjb.CJS online.gov.uk/ncjb/perfStats/obtj.html
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9. OVenders must be punished for their crimes and prison is the right place for the most dangerous,
serious and persistent oVenders. The Ministry of Justice is therefore increasing prison capacity to 96,000 by
2014 to ensure oVenders who commit these crimes are adequately punished with imprisonment.

10. The most serious adult oVenders are sentenced to either a life sentence or an Indeterminate Sentence
of Imprisonment for Public Protection. They will remain in prison until they have served the minimum
period set by the court and the Parole Board judges that they no longer present a significant risk to the
community. In the community, the most serious and dangerous adult oVenders are managed through Multi
Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA). Within MAPPA, police, prison and probation and
other agencies are required to work together to assess and manage oVenders who pose the highest risk of
harm.

11. Adult oVenders who have committed crimes serious enough to receive custodial sentences, but who
are not among the most dangerous, receive “determinate” prison sentences. These oVenders serve the first
part of their sentence in prison and the second part in the community where they are supervised, for example,
through regular appointments with probation oYcers and electronically monitored curfews.

12. For less serious oVences, around 180,000 oVenders are managed in the community by dedicated
OVender Managers who assess and manage the risk of harm of oVenders, seek correct interventions and take
enforcement action. Through Community Payback, (one possible requirement of a community order), we
have seen 62,485 Community Payback sentences successfully completed in England and Wales during 2009.
It is estimated that over 8.4 million hours of unpaid work was carried out by oVenders to benefit
communities. This contribution is valued at £48.7 million at the national minimum wage.

13. The National OVender Management Service (NOMS) delivers a range of accredited programmes to
tackle oVending behaviour, covering anger management, domestic and other types of violent as well as
sexual oVending. For example, over 17,000 violent oVenders entered an accredited programme last year
(2008–09).7

14. In the majority of cases young people can be more eVectively managed in the community. The
introduction of the Youth Rehabilitation Order (YRO) in November 2009 replaced nine sentences, building
on their best elements and making the sentencing framework more coherent. Courts will be able to choose
from a “menu” of 18 diVerent requirements.

15. For low-level oVences, out-of-court disposals are available to the police and Crown Prosecution
Service (CPS) to deal quickly and proportionately with oVending behaviour. Some out-of-court disposals,
such as conditional cautions (including the Youth Conditional Caution for 16–17 year olds from 26 January
2010 in five pilot areas) provide an opportunity for the oVender to address their oVending behaviour and to
make reparation to the victim or communities. We have also piloted the Youth Restorative Disposal (YRD)
which requires a young person, committing a low-level, first-time oVence to make reparation to the victim
at the scene.

Measures to Maximise Partnership Working at a Local Level and National Level

16. OVender management and reducing reoVending requires a joint eVort by many criminal justice
agencies and local partners. To ensure that that prison and probation services work in partnership with
others to manage oVenders, Directors of OVender Management (DOMs) have been appointed in the nine
English regions and Wales. DOMs are responsible for commissioning appropriate services from prisons,
probation and other providers. Prisons and Probation Trusts in turn can also commission specific services
locally to meet the needs of courts, oVenders and their communities.

17. DOMs and Government OYces for the Regions work to reduce reoVending with local authorities,
the police, courts, CPS, probation, primary care trusts and third sector groups through Local Strategic
Partnerships. Prisons and Probation Trusts are also members of Local Criminal Justice Boards (LCJBs).
For Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) in England and Community Safety Partnerships
(CSPs) in Wales, the recent Policing and Crime Act includes a new responsibility for them to focus on
reducing reoVending, as well as making probation a “responsible authority”. At the same time the Probation
Trust Programme is improving probation’s ability to engage partners at a local community level by
reorganising on the basis of Local Delivery Units (LDUs).

18. These arrangements support partnerships to manage oVenders. For example, building upon the
success of the PPO and DIP described in the Home OYce memorandum, local areas are also being
encouraged to develop Integrated OVender Management (IOM). IOM is a joint initiative between Ministry
of Justice and Home OYce which combines the targeted, intelligence-led approach of the police, with the
expertise of probation, prisons and other local partners in assessing and working with adult oVenders. Six
pioneer areas are being evaluated to identify learning to be shared with partners.

19. Partnership working is particularly important for supporting vulnerable people in the CJS. For
oVenders with mental health problems or learning disabilities the Government published its health and
criminal justice plan “Improving Health, Supporting Justice”8 on 17 November 2009. Part of the wider

7 NOMS PSIMON
8 http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH 108606
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response to Lord Bradley’s review, the plan sets the direction for improving the access of oVenders to mental
health services, as well as a range of other health initiatives, over the next three to five years, including
improving the availability of alcohol treatments.

20. “Healthy Children, Safer Communities”,9 the first cross government strategy specifically designed
to tackle the link between poor health and youth crime, was published in December 2009.

21. We are also addressing the distinct needs of women oVenders. We have implemented a set of gender
specific standards aimed at ensuring their requirements are considered and met in custody. For less serious
oVences, their needs often better met in the community, helping to prevent further oVending. In February
2009, the Ministry of Justice invested £15.6 million to support the diversion from custody of vulnerable
women who are not serious or dangerous oVenders. We have also committed to reduce the women’s prison
estate by 400 places by March 2012.10

22. Delivering justice is about preventing crime and bringing oVenders to account. It is also about
delivering justice for victims of crime. Key partnerships which help reduce crime include the introduction
of over 150 dedicated Witness Care Units to support witnesses giving evidence in court and establishing a
network of Independent Domestic Violence Advisers and Specialist Domestic Violence Courts. The OYce
for Criminal Justice Reform will soon set out options on how we might deliver improved services for victims
as well as how we will tackle the other challenges that the Victims’ Champion, Sara Payne, has made about
the experiences victims receive in the CJS.11

The Role of Different Public Sector Partners in Crime Prevention

23. The Government is committed to changing oVender behaviour by tackling the causes of crime and
driving down reoVending. Having a stable home and job are known to be key factors in helping to reduce
reoVending. NOMS provides a range of housing advice in prisons and in the community to assist oVenders
into appropriate housing. In 2008–09, NOMS met its targets relating to housing for oVenders during
2008–09:

— 70% of oVenders were in settled and suitable accommodation at the end of their order or
licence; and

— 80% of prisoners were moved into settled accommodation upon release.12

24. The Government has also invested in services to support skills and help improve oVenders’
employability. Investment in education provision for oVenders has risen threefold, from £57 million in
2001–02 to more than £175 million in 2009–10. As a result:

— Current figures for 2009–10 show continuing increases in the number of oVenders entering
education, training or employment (ETE). In 2008–09, 36,890 prisoners entered ETE following
release—nearly 38% of prisoners released.13

— Over the same period, over 46% of those under probation supervision were in employment.14

25. For young oVenders, the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 will make local
authorities responsible for education and training in youth custody, as well as bringing young people in
custody under education legislation for the first time.

26. We know that oVenders are more likely to experience problems with alcohol and drug misuse. A
2008 survey showed 69% of prisoners reporting some drug use in the year before custody and 36% reporting
heavy drinking.15 The “NOMS Drug Strategy 2008–11”16 builds upon the measures we have put in place
to address substance misuse among oVenders, including an increase for drug treatment in prisons which is
now over 15 times that of 1997. Consequently, drug misuse in prisons, as measured by random mandatory
drug testing, has fallen by 68% since 1996–97.17

27. In the community, courts are able to make specific Community Order requirements to help tackle the
drugs, alcohol or mental health issues of oVenders. The Drug Rehabilitation Requirement (DRR) is now
the primary means for sentenced oVenders to address identified drug misuse needs in the community. The
number of orders with DRRs has increased from 4,854 in 2001–02 to 17,642 in 2008–09, whilst the
proportion of oVenders successfully completing these orders has risen significantly from 28% in 2003 to 47%
in 2008–09.18

9 http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH 109771
10 http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/docs/report-women-in-criminal-justice-sys
11 http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/redefining-justice.htm
12 http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/noms-annual-report-08-09.htm
13 NOMS PSIMON
14 http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/noms-annual-report-08-09.htm
15 The Surveying Prisoner Crime Reduction (SPCR) study, Duncan Stewart, Ministry of Justice Research Series 16/

08 (October 2008)
16 http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/noms-drug-strategy-2008-2011.htm
17 http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/noms-annual-report-08-09.htm
18 http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/noms-annual-report-08-09.htm



Processed: 26-03-2010 12:09:25 Page Layout: COENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 442603 Unit: PAG1

Home Affairs Committee: Evidence Ev 93

The Role of the Third Sector in Crime Prevention

28. The Ministry of Justice recognises the importance of the third sector in supporting criminal justice.
The sector has a unique role to play in providing services and advocating for victims, as well as for
communities. Most third sector organisations are rooted in local communities including in black and
minority ethnic and faith communities, and so have a role in helping meet diverse needs and supporting
community solutions and resettlement.

29. “Working with the Third Sector to Reduce ReoVending 2008–11”19 was published in October 2008.
It sets out principles for the Ministry of Justice and NOMS in working with the third sector to meet our
shared goals of reducing reoVending and protecting the public. It contains specific commitments and actions
to support these principles to make us a better partner for the third sector and to reduce barriers to third
sector involvement. This includes targeted activity to support the role of community, BME, faith-based and
women’s organisations. A progress review will be published early in 2010.

The Role of Business in Crime Prevention

30. The Home OYce memorandum describes the role of the Design and Technology Alliance Against
Crime to help prevent crime through the development of new design and technology and the steps police are
taking to ensure that people’s homes are safe and secure.

31. The Ministry of Justice is working with business to help secure further jobs for oVenders. Through
the Corporate Alliance, under the chairmanship of Nick Pollard, CEO of Bovis Lend Lease, we are making
progress in raising the profile of oVender employment across many sectors of the economy. A new work plan
is being developed to ensure each sector has at least one employer who will champion oVender employment,
linking up with Jobcentre Plus’ Local Employment Partnerships.

Conclusion

32. Tackling crime and reoVending are our priorities. We work closely with our partners to ensure that
we deliver an eVective and responsive CJS that tackles crime, adequately punishes oVenders, deters them
from committing further crimes and provides justice for victims and local communities. We are making good
progress against our targets and we remain committed to building on this work to keep communities safe.

January 2010

Memorandum submitted by The Audit Commission

The Audit Commission is an independent body responsible for ensuring that public money is spent
economically, eYciently and eVectively and delivers high-quality local services for the public.

The Commission undertakes national studies on a wide range of topics to examine the economy, eYciency,
and eVectiveness of local public services. We carry out research and provide independent analysis to give
insight into complex social problems and best practice in tackling them. We make practical
recommendations for policymakers and for people delivering public services. This often includes
recommendations to central government relating to its interaction with the bodies that provide local public
services. This memorandum draws on evidence from a number of those national studies.

Summary

The Audit Commission’s response

The Audit Commission is pleased to submit evidence to the Home AVairs Committee inquiry into the
government’s approach to crime prevention.

The Commission, in partnership with five other inspectorates of local public services, published 152 Area
Assessments on the Oneplace website in December 2009. Our partner inspectorates in this venture are the
Care Quality Commission, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Prisons, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation and Ofsted. This memorandum draws on the assessments
contained in the site, as well as our other research.

The Oneplace website uses green flags to highlight exceptional performance from which others can learn.
Red flags signal where, in the view of the inspectorates, problems will not be solved without a fresh approach
by the local public services working together. The site includes a powerful search function, allowing all of
the examples of successful approaches to community safety to be identified quickly.

Thirteen local areas were awarded a green flag for community safety achievements, and many other local
areas show promising progress. Common to all is an understanding that crime prevention requires a good
understanding of local communities, close partnership working between the public, private and voluntary
agencies working in the area and eVective engagement with local people.

19 http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/1180.htm
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Detailed response

Measures to prevent youth criminality

Preventing youth criminality is a high priority across the country. The evidence from our Oneplace
assessments and the research for our recent study Tired of Hanging Around (published in January 2009)
demonstrates the importance of joint planning and activity across the range of services working with young
people. Joint strategies for preventing youth crime help ensure a coherent response and eYcient use of scarce
resources. Without this there is a risk of inconsistency with some partners taking a more preventative
approach and others taking a more enforcement led approach.

From our Comprehensive Area Assessments (CAA), we found some areas were delivering good results
on youth crime prevention, in particular using innovative measures to reduce the numbers of young people
entering the criminal justice system for the first time. This has not just social benefits but can also mean
significant financial savings (see Tired of Hanging Around for costed examples: http://www.audit-
commission.gov.uk/SiteCollectionDocuments/AuditCommissionReports/NationalStudies/
tiredofhangingaround28jan09REP.pdf)

The partnership in County Durham has developed an eVective scheme to reduce the number of young
people who enter the criminal justice system for the first time. The “pre remand disposal” is a three-year
pilot scheme oVered to young people who commit their first oVence. This voluntary scheme assesses the
young person’s needs and works out the best way to prevent them from committing further oVences. This
scheme is having a very positive impact. The number of young people entering the criminal justice system
in Durham fell by nearly 46% in the last year. Early signs are that the scheme is also having an impact in
reducing re-oVending rates.

Other areas have acted on the knowledge that young people from problematic families are more at risk
of criminal behaviour. Brighton & Hove has a project working with families known for antisocial behaviour
that is having a positive impact not only for the families concerned but in reducing tensions among
neighbours. Complaints against the families reduced by 79%. This programme looks not only at the
individual young person but also at the wider family environment.

These examples demonstrate that where partners can work together to identify needs and prevent young
people from entering the criminal justice system, they can achieve significant benefits. Also, these approaches
do not necessarily need additional resources and the longer term cost savings from reducing the numbers of
young people entering the criminal justice system are substantial.

Measures to maximise partnership working

Our assessments identified examples of councils and their partners working together through innovative
partnership working to deliver improvements.

For example, Liverpool has a population of more than 60,000 students and they are considered to be at
greater risk of being a victim of crimes like domestic burglary, violence and robbery than the general
population.

Since July 2008, the council, police, fire service, health services and the universities in Liverpool have
worked more eVectively together to increase student safety and, as a result, students now feel safer. One aim
of this work was to reduce burglaries of student properties. Policing has increased, student properties have
been made harder to break into and students are made aware of crime prevention. Partners identify
properties that are more at risk of being burgled and provide crime prevention advice for students living
there. Landlords are also being encouraged to provide good safety measures in student houses.

This work has delivered impressive results. There was a 60% reduction in student burglaries between the
quarter ending December 2007 and the same period in 2008. Burglary reduced across Liverpool but reduced
much more significantly for the student population. So from being a high-risk group for burglaries, students
are now less likely to be victims.

There are other impressive examples of partners working well together to identify and support high-risk
and vulnerable groups. Greater Manchester Police, Manchester City Council and TraVord Council are
working together to reduce gang and gun violence. During the last year, Manchester has seen a reduction
of more than 90% in gang-related firearms used, and only one fatality. This is unprecedented in the city’s
recent history of gang violence.

Partners have shown real commitment and determination in tackling this problem. Gang violence, often
using guns, had become a serious problem. About 400 people, many of them under 18, were thought to be
involved. Competition between drug dealers was a major contributory factor. Since 2007, TraVord and
Manchester Councils and Greater Manchester Police have run a major joint project to tackle the problem.
It started with good planning to identify what they were trying to achieve, and how to go about it.

Partners have focused on those young people at risk of getting involved with gangs and who might have
access to guns. The police and council workers have successfully engaged with the community. They have
succeeded in getting local adults to work with them and bring them information that could help stop further
violence. Partners have worked closely with Mothers Against Violence, a local organisation supported by
women whose sons had been the victims of, or the ones committing, the gang violence.
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A dedicated team tackles the problems of street gangs involved in firearms use. Its work has included
keeping those identified as at risk safe, sometimes by relocating the individual or families. Police and council
staV have contributed to lessons in primary and secondary schools in the area. Initiatives like the intensive
intervention project works with 50 children across the city identified as being vulnerable to gang activity. In
the most direct challenge to gang conflict, trained counsellors have mediated between local gangs.

There has also been eVective work with young people. Young people in the aVected areas have carried out
research into gangs and recommended changes—changes by the government, the council, the police and
young people themselves. With the help of adults, young people have also made a DVD “Living to Die.”
This has been used to prompt discussions among other young men and women aVected or at risk.

Both Liverpool and Manchester have demonstrated that good intelligence on the nature of local
problems, eVective planning and delivery and working together with partners and communities can make
a real diVerence to the quality of life of local people.

Working with local businesses

Two London boroughs, Kingston and Havering, are all working well with local businesses to deliver
improvements in safety in town centres and ensuring that resources are used eVectively.

In Kingston, local partners have worked together to transform people’s experience of the town centre over
the past few years, significantly reducing crime and promoting the local economy.

Kingston town centre grew rapidly into a busy daytime shopping area with a lively nightlife of bars,
nightclubs and fast food shops, mainly used by young people. Many residents felt the town centre was
threatening and unsafe at night. There were concerns about levels of crime, in particular violent crime, theft,
criminal damage and antisocial behaviour. This was often alcohol-related. Residents also felt that streets
were not kept clean.

The council, the police, businesses, voluntary groups and other agencies developed a coordinated response
to improve the town centre. They shared intelligence and consulted with users. A combination of physical
improvements and projects has changed people’s views and experience. As well as retaining its reputation
as a popular shopping destination, Kingston is now seen as a much more vibrant, clean and safe town centre.

Kingston’s successful Business Improvement District (BID) has been key to this turnaround. Around
£5 million in contributions from businesses has been invested in the town centre over the past five years. It
has benefited from improved street cleaning; new signs; better seating; more litter bins; and safety and
security improvements. An award scheme rewards businesses for recycling and disposing of their waste
responsibly. Better cycle routes and cycle parking and bus services have also encouraged people out of their
cars. Local businesses have benefited from another two million customers each year. The achievements of
the BID have been recognised by local businesses who recently voted strongly in favour of a second BID for
the period up to 2014. It means there will be further investment in the local environment, promotional events,
and in safety measures, to attract even more visitors.

The partnership has been highly successful in reducing crime and people’s fear of crime in the town centre
through a range of activities. These include a national award winning scheme promoting responsible
management of venues and banning of violent individuals from town centre pubs and clubs. Increased
CCTV coverage of the town has also boosted the chances of arrest and there is screening for knives in
nightclubs and at transport hubs. Drug testing has been introduced as a condition of entry into one
nightclub. Street pastors and a night-time manager work with businesses to prevent the use of glass for
drinks and to ensure licensing laws are obeyed. Shops selling alcohol to underage young people are
prosecuted and young people arriving at hospital in A&E are referred for screening and support for alcohol
or drug abuse. Taxi marshalls help young people to get licensed cabs and there are more night bus services,
so providing young people safe transport home after a night out.

Violence against people in the town centre has reduced significantly—about 45% in the past few years.
Overall, there has been a 15% cut in violent crime in the borough in 2008–09 compared to the previous year,
the largest reduction in London. Residents are now less worried about antisocial and threatening behaviour.
Fewer residents are worried about drunk and rowdy behaviour; teenagers hanging around on the streets;
pickpocketing or theft; and drugs and are now happy to visit the town centre at night at weekends.
Communicating good news stories has helped restore public confidence in the town centre.

In Havering, Romford Town Centre has had a poor reputation as a result of the amount of violent crime,
antisocial behaviour and other alcohol-related problems that took place around the night-time
entertainment venues. However, in the last year a range of measures have led to marked improvements in the
in the experience of people going into Romford to enjoy an evening out, and residents have also remarked on
the change.

The improvements in the night time experience in Romford Town Centre have been built on very good
joint partnership working between the council, the police and owners of local businesses. There is good
understanding and eVective relationships among all partners. The incidence of crime and antisocial
behaviour has been reduced and the partnership has used various means to help people feel safe. For
example, street pastors are on hand to help vulnerable young people, especially those who may have had
too much to drink, to get home safety, and taxi marshalls ensure that only registered taxis are used. The
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whole of Romford town centre has been designated a Drinking Control Area under a Designated Public
Place Order (DPPO) so as to tackle drunk and unruly behaviour by teenagers. Local data indicates that this
work has secured a one third reduction in crime in the town centre.

Conclusion

Our CAA assessments demonstrate many examples of eVective crime prevention, which is often at no
extra cost to the council and its partners. By having good intelligence, identifying local problems and
working together to provide solutions, areas can both improve the quality of life for local people and deliver
savings to the criminal justice system as a whole.

January 2010

Memorandum submitted by National Grid

The Young OVender Programme is a training and recruitment programme focused on the rehabilitation
of oVenders. It works with prisoners coming towards the end of their sentences, providing training and
sustainable employment on release. The programme manages to keep the reoVending rate for participants
to around 7%—substantially less than the national average of around 70%.

From an initial partnership with a select group of contractors within the gas industry and Reading YOI,
the programme now operates across the country and within six business sectors. Although titled the Young
OVender Programme, there are now a number of adult prisons engaged and the age range of participants
has moved well beyond the parameters of young oVenders.

Prisons 22 operational
Across England and this year extending into
Scotland

Companies Over 80 engaged

Participants Over 1,000 through the programme
Age range 18–52
85% aged 20–35

Strategic Management of Young Offender Programme—The Steering Committee

Over the programme’s life, National Grid has developed a deep knowledge of how to manage the
recruitment, training and employment process, and the team is well aware of the kinds of issues that can
arise and how these can be managed.

National Grid is therefore well placed to provide intensive support to all new companies joining the
programme. Once the company has signed up, National Grid helps to identify the right prisons to target
and the right candidates within it, and is fully involved with the selection and interview process. National
Grid’s mentors also provide support to the programme participants who are joining the new company, both
on a personal level and through assisting with practical issues such as finding accommodation, getting
passports and accessing benefits. This intensive support continues as the company takes on its first few
candidates, and during that time National Grid seeks to transfer its knowledge and expertise as quickly
as possible.

Once the company is comfortable with the programme, National Grid is able to hand over the
management of the process to them, but is always available to provide support and information as needed.

How the Programme Works

The programme aims to provide training and sustainable employment for oVenders, but is also focused
on serving a recruitment need within participating companies. Essential to the programme’s success is the
delivery of work-based training external to the prison while the oVender is still serving his or her sentence,
and the seamless transition into employment at the date of release. The programme is therefore founded on
four key factors:

1. Participants must be safe to be released into work based training—this is demonstrated by their
approval by the prison governor for release on temporary licence (ROTL).

2. Participants must have as a minimum education standard a reading age to enable them to pass the
theory part of their driving license.

3. Participants must go through the company’s normal recruitment and training procedures.

4. Participants are mentored both pre and post release.

The details of recruitment and training vary slightly between sectors, but the basic steps remain the same.
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Incentives and Impacts

By examining each of the three key stakeholder groups in turn—companies, prisons and participants—
it is possible to identify the incentives for and impacts of involvement.

The primary purpose of the programme was to address a recruitment need within the gas industry. This
need still remains and is shared by other industries such as construction. Even where there are not major
skills shortages, however, many companies find that recruiting through the programme oVers advantages
over some of their more usual sources.

Prisons

There are now 22 prisons engaged in the programme. This expansion has allowed the programme to cover
the whole of England, extend into Scotland, and include adult and female oVenders.

ReoVending is an issue of serious concern to the government. The Social Exclusion Unit’s (SEU) report
of 2002, “Reducing reoVending by ex-prisoners”, stated that “prison sentences are not succeeding in turning
the majority of oVenders away from crime”.

The SEU estimated that dealing with recorded crime by ex-oVenders costs the criminal justice system
around £11 billion a year, and on average it costs £37,500 to keep an oVender in prison for a year. These
costs, combined with the growing concern around the overcrowding of prisons, mean that tackling
reoVending must be a priority.

One of the key benefits to prisons of involvement in the programme is the automatic linkages it brings
with large companies. Several of the prisons interviewed for a recent audit of the programme mentioned
that their own attempts to build connections with local companies have previously been unsuccessful, partly
because the prisons do not have the right contacts, and also because companies are wary of getting involved
with a diYcult issue. With the Young OVender programme, the corporate contact is facilitated on a business
to business level which is far more eVective than a direct approach by a prison.

As well as enabling this initial contact, participation in the programme has allowed the prisons to establish
a track record of the successful placement of oVenders into employment. This has allowed them to build
relationships with other companies outside of the programme; because the evidence is there that the
approach works.

Participants

Over 1,000 people have taken part in the National Grid programme, with the majority of them now
successfully filling roles ranging from gas operatives to recruitment consultants.

For oVenders, the incentive to join the programme is very clear—the promise of paid employment on
release. While in prison, oVenders not only loose their freedom but also their social network, self-esteem,
confidence, and sometimes their homes and families.

If there is no job available on release, and limited prospects of finding one, it is easy to fall back into crime.

A fundamental factor in the success of the National Grid programme is the achievement of this “seamless
transition”. Because the training begins before the oVender is released, he or she has several months to get
used to the routine of going out to work.

Memorandum submitted by SmartWater

1. Introduction

1.1 SmartWater has significant expertise in crime prevention, having developed a holistic risk
management model in partnership with a wide range of public sector partners, including virtually all UK
police forces and many local authorities. This model, known as the SmartWater Strategy, has already
achieved significant levels of crime reduction within hundreds of localised community improvement
projects.

1.2 SmartWater operates on the basis that increased traceability leads to enhanced accountability which
creates anxiety within the criminal fraternity resulting in a powerful deterrent.

1.3 To support this, SmartWater has developed a range of cutting edge forensic technologies and
processes which are used to mark valuables as well as criminals themselves. The application of SmartWater
can be made to almost any item and is virtually impossible to remove; able to withstand processes such as
burning, sandblasting, direct exposure to UV, and bleaching. Every individual bottle of SmartWater carries
its own unique forensic code, so any item marked with it can be identified and traced back to its owner.
Similarly, any individual marked with SmartWater can be placed at a specific crime scene.
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1.4 However, SmartWater is not just another marking product. Indeed, it has already been widely proven
that the marking of property in isolation has no real impact on crime and crime reduction. Key to
SmartWater’s unique approach is the implementation of a holistic crime prevention strategy in partnership
with law enforcement, community policing and local authorities to maximise the impact of SmartWater
products, rather than just relying on the technology alone. This experience has given us extensive expertise
in how to develop a joined up approach to crime prevention between diVerent public sector organisations
and private experts in crime prevention.

1.5 This submission sets out a number of insights relevant to the Committee’s inquiry into crime
prevention.

2. Executive Summary

2.1 EVorts to design out crime work most eVectively when approached at a whole neighbourhood level.
In examining how to design out crime at both a national and local level, the Government must take steps
to ensure that such strategies are implemented holistically.

2.2 Cutting edge technology on its own is not enough to deter and prevent crime. Government policy
needs to ensure that when a range of diVerent partners are involved in crime prevention, they work together
to deliver a coherent and unified crime prevention strategy.

2.3 The introduction of a national technology purchasing framework would considerably help local
communities to benefit from new crime prevention technology by ensuring suitable arrangements were in
place for sharing best practice.

2.4 Businesses can play a key role in helping to deter crime; but they need to do more and step up in
partnering with local authorities and law enforcement agencies. By working in tandem with other
institutions, private enterprise can eVectively implement strategies aimed at protecting businesses and the
citizen.

3. Measures to Design out Crime

3.1 SmartWater works closely with a range of public sector partners to design out crime in local
communities. One of the key lessons from this experience is the need for a carefully coordinated approach—
eVorts to design out crime work most eVectively when approached at a whole neighbourhood level rather
than in a piecemeal fashion.

3.2 For example, SmartWater works closely with local Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships
(CDRPs) to carry out a risk analysis on neighbourhoods which are blighted by crime. We then deploy a
sophisticated strategy involving the forensic coding of property and targeted covert operations to tackle
persistent oVenders. We then develop an ongoing media communications strategy to raise awareness of
this activity.

3.3 The actual marking of valuables within domestic and business environments is often carried out by
PCSOs, oVering them an enhanced role with opportunities to interact with community members as well as
gather intelligence. This can be beneficial to both the local community and the police, eg by portraying the
police and local government as both positive and proactive, supporting the Policing Pledge of letting the
public know what they can expect from their local Force, helping to build public confidence, and reducing
the fear of crime amongst the most vulnerable members of society.

3.4 Highlighting the deployment of SmartWater to local criminals ensures the maximum deterrent eVect.
For example, we display signs both on properties and in prominent locations within the neighbourhood to
publicise the presence of SmartWater, and we install scanners in local police stations, free of charge through
the not-for-profit SmartWater Foundation, to ensure that criminals know that the police are looking for it.
Taken together, these steps send out the message that if criminals target property anywhere in that
neighbourhood, they will be caught and brought to justice.

3.5 This strategy has had significant results to date. For example, after the deployment of the strategy in
Nottingham, the Nottingham Crime and Drugs Partnership has seen a reduction in repeat victimisation of
over 70% over a three year period. Frequent additional benefits include localised reductions in anti-social
behaviour—giving comfort and security to those members of the public whose lives are seriously blighted
by constant attacks on their property.

3.6 We have worked extensively with local authorities to ensure that social housing is protected in this
way. Across the UK, over one million users are already protected with SmartWater, more than 95% of which
are social housing.

3.7 In examining how to design out crime, we believe that the Government must take steps to ensure that
such strategies are implemented holistically.
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4. Measures to Maximise National and Local Partnerships

4.1 Strong partnerships with local organisations like the police, local authorities and CDRPs are crucial
to the success of SmartWater’s crime prevention strategy.

4.2 We work closely with the police to ensure that a strong message of deterrence is sent to local criminals
wherever SmartWater is deployed—for example, through prominent signage in police stations. And when
deploying SmartWater in local communities, we work closely with local authorities to ensure that high
visibility teams blitz neighbourhoods, sending out a clear message of reassurance for residents and a message
of deterrence for criminals.

4.3 Our crime prevention strategy relies on building strong partnerships with police forces, using the
media and schools programs to get the deterrent message out to communities, to potential receivers of stolen
goods, and to the burglars themselves. To achieve this, we ensure that all properties protected by SmartWater
are marked with a SmartWater logo, sending a clear message to burglars that if they steal from the property,
they will be caught.

4.4 We also educate potential receivers of stolen goods about SmartWater and how to detect it,
dramatically restricting the ability of criminals to dispose of stolen goods marked with the system. We then
use the media to publicise examples of how SmartWater is tackling crime, making sure that criminals get
the message about the power of our technology. SmartWater is also oVered at cost to local authority social
housing, through the not-for-profit SmartWater Foundation.

4.5 To implement the SmartWater Strategy eVectively, we also provide training, materials, guidance and
covert equipment for police forces, ensuring that we do the maximum possible to get the deterrent message
across to criminals.

4.6 Independent research among criminals shows that SmartWater is one of the most powerful deterrents
around—more powerful than police patrols, CCTV, burglar alarms and other property marking systems.
This is because the SmartWater strategy creates a genuine deterrent for criminals by sending them the
message that if they commit a crime, they, or the stolen goods can be traced and identified.

4.7 With one million registered users of SmartWater, we believe that there are in excess of 30 million items
of property with permanent SmartWater identification in circulation within the UK. We recently launched
a new SmartWater initiative called the “mystery buyer” programme, which involves test purchasing suspect
stolen property found for sale on Internet auctions sites. The initiative has already resulted in a South
Yorkshire man being charged by police for selling stolen goods on the Internet. A further 20 items of
property marked with SmartWater were recovered from his premises when searched, with the true owner
being identified by our forensic scientists in each case. As part of our wider strategy, we intend to alert the
criminal fraternity who use internet auction sites of the existence of our “mystery buyer” programme in the
hope of creating anxiety within their ranks. All supportive analysis and expert testimony was provided to
the police free of charge, with funding provided by the not-for-profit SmartWater Foundation.

4.8 The key lesson from these partnerships is that cutting edge technology on its own is not enough to
deter and prevent crime. That is why we work in partnership with other organisations to implement a far
wider crime reduction strategy. Government policy needs to ensure that when a range of diVerent partners
are involved in crime prevention, they work together to deliver a coherent and unified crime prevention
strategy.

5. The Role of Different Public Sector Partners in Crime Prevention

5.1 When implementing crime prevention initiatives, a joined up approach amongst public sector bodies
can provide significant dividends to local residents whilst ensuring value for money for taxpayers.

5.2 An excellent example of the dividends that a joined up approach can deliver is the blight of fly-tipping.
Figures gathered by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural AVairs puts the number of fly-
tipping incidents reported by local authorities in excess of 1.2 million nationally. The clearance costs for
removing this volume of waste has been estimated at more than £72 million. However, it is often diYcult for
local authorities both to trace those responsible for illegal dumping of waste and to commit the resources
required to tackle the problem. This underlines the necessity for a proactive approach to deter fly tipping by
disreputable builders and waste disposal services.

5.3 SmartWater has worked closely with a number of local authorities to mark domestic and commercial
waste which they believe is at risk of being illegally discarded. Once marked, any SmartWater protected
waste can be traced back to its owner and the person charged with its proper disposal—be that the
homeowner or someone they have employed to dispose of the waste.

5.4 SmartWater recently partnered with Kent County Council and Southampton Council to tackle the
issue of fly-tipping. The adoption of a SmartWater strategy has already led to successful convictions, and
subsequent publicity of these has ensured that would-be oVenders operating locally have been deterred from
doing so.
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5.5 There is also the potential to use legislation under the Proceeds of Crime Act to recover costs from
professional fly-tippers, with the funds awarded being used as a means to oVset the costs of fly-tipping to
the local authorities.

5.6 The reach of innovative technologies in fighting crime can only be extended with increased working
partnerships at both a national and local government level. To achieve this, it would be helpful if there were
stronger arrangements for spreading best practice via a national technology purchasing framework. This
would considerably help local communities to benefit from new crime prevention technology which could
be used by CDRPs and others within the public sector. This approach would take advantage of both
economies of scale and the purchasing power of central government to deliver the benefits of new crime
prevention technology to local communities at a lower cost, whilst also helping to tackle more crime.

6. The Role of Business in Crime Prevention

6.1 Businesses can play a key role in helping to deter crime; even more so in light of recent technological
developments in crime prevention. However, as it stands, businesses need to do more and step up in
partnering with local authorities and law enforcement agencies.

6.2 For example, burglars are increasingly breaking into homes to steal car keys, after which they steal
the car itself from the driveway. This is a highly profitable business for thieves. With steel prices set to rise
by between 10% and 25% next year, stolen cars can fetch four times the value when sold for parts as when
re-sold whole.

6.3 Whole Vehicle Marking—whereby paint and car parts are marked during their manufacturing
stage—allows cars and parts to be tracked and traced. If Whole Vehicle Marking were to be designed into
new cars by manufacturers, over time it would significantly reduce this new type of crime at a cost of as little
as £10 per car. However, manufacturers have yet to take advantage of this technology, even though it is a
prime example of how large manufacturers could play a greater role in reducing the cost of crime to society.

6.4 Legitimate car dealerships would stand to benefit from this innovation, as they have often been unable
to compete due to incidences of unregulated, illegitimate workshops and garages using cheap parts to repair
vehicles; which are often recycled from stolen vehicles. With two million new cars sold in the UK last year,
the opportunity for car manufacturers and dealerships is sizeable.

6.5 The use of SmartWater in both the UK and France in protecting critical national infrastructure such
as railways and electricity transmission networks highlights that successful crime reduction strategies should
not be limited to just local and national government, local communities and the police. The private sector
has a key role to play, as by partnering with other institutions, it is possible for private enterprise to work
in tandem with other institutions to eVectively implement strategies aimed at protecting businesses and the
consumer.

7. About SmartWater

7.1 SmartWater has developed a holistic crime reduction model in order to maximise the impact of its
forensic security products at a local level. This has been proven to successfully reduce a wide range of crimes,
including burglary, robbery, vehicle crime, metal theft and fly tipping.

7.2 SmartWater is first and foremost a crime prevention and risk management network, with an
established and proven infrastructure for achieving significant levels of crime reduction. SmartWater
employs former Police oYcers and crime prevention specialists to devise bespoke crime reduction strategies
for use by local authorities, law enforcement agencies, commercial organisations, and more. These strategies
are backed up by the use of state-of-the-art forensic marking technologies which are used as a means of
irrefutably proving the ownership of any item and also linking criminals with a particular crime scene.

7.3 One of the key benefits of SmartWater is that it is a generic property marking system that can be used
on a wide range of types of property, from cars to jewellery, to the lead on church roofs. This allows the
Police to focus their eVorts on searching for one type of system, whereas the use of multiple systems can cause
confusion amongst police about what to look for and be demoralising. SmartWater eVectively provides a
one-stop shop of information for the police—with training, evidence recovery, analysis and expert witness
statements all handled internally by SmartWater staV.

7.4 The presence of SmartWater can be detected with a simple UV scanner which is not technology-
specific and which we provide for free in a number of police stations. SmartWater currently works with 95%
of police forces across the UK and our technology is actively used in 1,600 localised police schemes.
SmartWater currently has a 100% conviction rate when used in prosecution.

January 2010
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Memorandum submitted by Barnardo’s

Executive Summary

Barnardo’s is pleased to submit evidence to the Home AVairs Select Committee inquiry into crime
prevention. Our response concentrates on the inquiry’s focus areas of “measures to prevent youth
criminality” and “measures to reduce re-oVending” and is presented under four main headings. We include
the following recommendations:

Prevention and Early Intervention

1. Continuing investment in early intervention services that address the factors we know are linked to
oVending before oVending occurs—mental health provision, support for special educational needs (SEN),
reduction in school exclusions, and parenting programmes—with a greater proportion of the Youth Justice
Board (YJB) funding being diverted to provide more timely support to young people at risk of oVending.

2. Local authorities to carry the full costs for those children sentenced to custody so that there is a greater
incentive for investment in prevention projects.

Education and Training

3. There should be an expansion in alternative and vocational provision for young people who are not
motivated by the traditional school environment, with its narrowly academic curriculum. This could help
to pre-empt under-achievement, truancy and exclusion for many young people who decide that traditional
education is not for them.

4. We would also like to see schools, colleges and alternative education and training providers work
together to ensure that no child is excluded until a suitable new placement has been found for them.

Parenting Support

5. Improved access to additional family support services including drug and alcohol support and mental
health services for those attending court ordered and elective parenting programmes.

6. More focus on tailored provision for hard to reach families who fail to engage with traditional
parenting support—particularity parents in the secure estate, young fathers and Black and Minority Ethnic
(BME) fathers.

Preventing Re-offending

7. A more eVective strategy for diverting young people from custody through a combination of: investing
more of the YJB funding into cost-eVective alternatives to custody which reduce reoVending; and a
reduction in the use of custody in England Wales, particularly for children under 15.

8. SuYcient provision for all requirements of the new Youth Rehabilitation Order (YRO)—particularly
the substance treatment and mental health treatment requirements.

1. Introduction

1.1 Barnardo’s works directly with over 100,000 children, young people and their families every year
through over 400 vital projects across the UK.

1.2 We run 42 projects oVering services to children and young people at risk of, or involved in, oVending,
including 18 services working to prevent and divert children from anti social behaviour. We outline a
selection of these services in this submission, but please contact us for more information or to arrange a visit.
The services include:

— Youth Inclusion and Support Programmes.

— Fast track responses to anti social behaviour as an alternative to a formal order.

— Intensive family support and parenting programmes.

— Alternative education and post 16 training for those most disengaged.

— Family Intervention Projects.

1.3 Barnardo’s is pleased to have the opportunity to contribute to the Home AVairs Committee’s inquiry
into crime prevention. This response is based on our experience gained through practice and research and
as such, focuses on measures to prevent youth criminality and to reduce re-oVending.
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2. Prevention and Early Intervention

2.1 Children at risk of being involved in crime are often some of the most vulnerable in society. There
are clear trigger points in young people’s lives where oVending can be prevented. Research has shown that
bereavement, educational diYculties, school exclusion, conduct problems, truancy and mental health
diYculties all correlate with oVending behaviour.20 It is vital therefore that there continues to be investment
in early intervention services that address the factors linked to oVending before it occurs.

2.2 A 2008 audit found that just 5% of the £445 million spent by the Youth Justice Board (YJB) and local
authority sponsors of Youth OVending Teams was invested in prevention work.21 Barnardo’s believes that
a greater proportion of YJB funding could be diverted to provide more timely support to young people at
risk of oVending.

2.3 Recent research by the Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health calculated that the total crime related
costs of unaddressed conduct problems in children is around £60 billion a year.22 The report highlights
findings from the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) that early intervention for
children with conduct disorder through parenting programmes and individual home-based programmes
could save £160,000 per case in reduced oVending.

2.4 In 2008, Barnardo’s published Locking Up or Giving Up which included the findings from interviews
with young people aged 12–14 serving Detention and Training Orders (DTOs).23 We found that most of the
children were able to pinpoint specific points in their lives where their behaviour started to change. For three
of the 13 children, their oVending corresponded with the death of a parent. For others, it was expulsion from
school, involvement with other oVenders or feeling that nobody cared. Most children were from families
that struggled financially, and those involved in burglary and robbery said that they did so to “get money”.
None of the young people we interviewed had received any consistent support for these early diYculties.

2.5 Young people told us:

“It’s just like the environment we live in, there’s not enough to do for kids to keep us occupied. When
there is something to do you’ve always got to pay. And I don’t really like nagging my mum to pay for
things because I’ve got other brothers and sisters” (female, 15)

“I had youth workers, I had social workers. I had like these diVerent people coming to see me once a
week …and have a chat with me. [It was] too many people at that time…three diVerent people in the
space of a week wanting to come and have a chat with me” (male, 14)

“You get little kids what commit crime… they’re only about nine or 10 and they’re trying to copy it. So
really I think they should get some help instead of sending them in one of these places….” (male, 14)

2.6 Barnardo’s has a number of early intervention services that work to divert children and young people
from oVending. A key feature of all these projects is that support is provided to the whole family—including
parents, grandparents and siblings where necessary—in a joined up package of interventions. In addition,
our services work hard to ensure that the support provided addresses not only the oVending behaviour, but
all aspects of a young person’s life that may be impacting on their behaviour—including education,
emotional wellbeing, drugs and alcohol and relationships.

Barnardo’s Hartbeat in the North East of England delivers a range of preventative services. Children aged
5–13 are referred via local agencies if they have diYculty socialising, and are oVered group work or one-to-
one mentoring.

The Families Accessing Support Team (FAST) project provides a rapid response to reported low level anti
social behaviour and a package of support is devised for the whole family, including one to one support,
parenting programmes and community based activities.

In 2007, complaints to the anti social behaviour unit dropped by 64%.

Hartbeat also receives referrals direct from the Youth OVending team and provides mentoring to
10–17 year olds who have received a final warning.

2.7 To encourage greater investment in early intervention services, we recommend that local authorities
carry the full costs for those children sentenced to custody so that there is a greater incentive for investment
in prevention. There is currently a financial disincentive for local authorities to invest in prevention, because
the costs of custodial sentences are borne by the YJB not local authorities.

20 See for example findings from the Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime being carried out by Edinburgh
University http://www.law.ed.ac.uk/cls/esytc/

21 Solomon, E and Garside, R (2008) Ten years of Labour’s youth justice reforms: an independent audit. Centre for Crime and
Justice Studies.

22 Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health (2009): The Chance of a Lifetime: Preventing Early Conduct problems and Reducing crime
http://www.scmh.org.uk/pdfs/chance of a lifetime.pdf

23 Barnardo’s (2008) Locking up or giving up? Is custody for children always the right answer? London: Barnardo’s http://
www.barnardos.org.uk/locking up or giving up final1 sept 08.pdf
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3. Education and Training

3.1 Research consistently shows a high rate of correlation between educational diYculties, exclusions and
oVending behaviour. Barnardo’s (2009) analysed the Asset reports of 12–14 year olds sentenced to custody
and found that 42% of those sentenced to DTOs had been under-achieving at school and 41% had been
regularly truanting.24

3.2 When young children start to get into trouble, too often the reaction from schools and other agencies
is to exclude them. All but one of the children in Barnardo’s (2009) research had been suspended or expelled
from school.

“I got kicked out [of a] pupil referral unit and then no-one else would want me…I just thought, I’ve
got nothing to look forward to so go out and do what I want…if you haven’t got a school and you
haven’t got no education there’s nothing else to do but go out with your friends” (female, 14)

3.3 Barnardo’s services work to unlock the potential and motivation of young people who have been
labelled as “failures” at school. Through vocational training centres and support services Barnardo’s helps
young people overcome barriers to education and training and achieve their ambitions.25

Barnardo’s Wheels project in the West Midlands provides alternative education for young people aged
14–19 in motor vehicle maintenance. Participants gain Institute of Motor Industries recognised
qualifications through the courses, but also receive personal and practical support, including a place to wash
and change, and some food. The service is extremely successful—three-quarters of those graduating go on
to further education, training or employment, and 80% leave with a qualification. Graduates from the
scheme are also able to stay on and help mentor the younger students.

3.4 Barnardo’s believes that there should be an expansion in alternative and vocational provision for
young people who are not motivated by the traditional school environment, with its narrow academic
curriculum. This could help to pre-empt under-achievement, truancy and exclusion for many young people
who decide that traditional education is not for them.

3.5 We would also like to see schools, colleges and alternative education and training providers work
together to ensure that no child is excluded until a suitable new placement has been found for them.

4. Parenting Support

4.1 It is generally accepted that improving parent—child interaction, especially in a child’s very early
years, provides the greatest leverage for changing a child’s behaviour, and that overall, the biggest positive
impact appears to arise from eVective parenting programmes.26

4.2 One of the major accomplishments of the current Government has been to embed into public policy
the notion that government has a legitimate role in promoting positive parenting. Barnardo’s has welcomed
the Sure Start programme, the growing network of Children’s Centres (of which Barnardo’s currently
operate 84), the Parenting Fund, Parenting Orders, the increasingly widespread availability of parenting
programmes through the voluntary sector and the recent Family Intervention Projects (which Barnardo’s
operate in three local authorities in the north of England).

4.3 However, while these initiatives have enjoyed a large measure of success, many of the most hard to
reach families continue to slip through the net, and services fail to engage them eVectively.

4.4 Barnardo’s uses a variety of individual and group methods to provide both court ordered and elective
parenting support. Our services focus particularly on those groups that require specialist support and often
fail to engage with services, including young fathers, parents in custody, and black and minority ethnic
(BME) fathers.

Originally developed to meet the fathering needs of the African Caribbean community—a group
identified as one of the least likely to access services—Barnardo’s Babyfather Project in London now works
with fathers from all ethnic groups.

The Fatherhood Parenting Program is an accredited and independently evaluated parenting program that
has been eVectively delivered in six HMP prisons, children’s centres, early years services and teenage
pregnancy units. The programme aims to increase the confidence and the parenting skills of all fathers,
including new and expectant fathers, young fathers, and fathers in custody.

The associated Fatherhood Training Program (for practitioners) has been delivered at the same locations
and aims to improve the ability of practitioners to better understand and support the fathers that they
work with.

Barnardo’s Parenting Matters in Liverpool oVers a range of parenting interventions. As well as being
contracted by the local youth oVending team to work with parents of children who are engaging in, or at
risk of, criminal behaviour, they also oVer a service to parents of children who are subject to ASBOs.

24 Barnardo’s (2009) Locking Up or Giving Up: Why custody thresholds for teenagers aged 12, 13 and 14 need to be raised.
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/locking up or giving up august 2009.pdf

25 More information is available in Barnardo’s (2009) Second Chances: Re-engaging young people in education and training.
See http://www.barnardos.org.uk/10942 2nd chances report.pdf

26 See Buchanan, A. and Ritchie, C. (2002) What works for troubled children? Barkingside, Barnardo’s.
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The service oVers accredited parenting programmes but also works with parents on a variety of issues
aVecting their lives. The staV understand that work with parents cannot exist in isolation and they work
closely with colleagues in the Youth OVending Service, Youth Inclusion Programme, Prevention team,
Education, and Children’s and Families Teams to ensure that the needs of the whole family are met. The
team also provide parenting courses to prisoners in HMPs Hindley, Risley and Kennett.

4.5 Barnardo’s has found that court ordered parenting education programmes, where applied fairly and
sensitively, can be accepted by parents and can produce positive results (though the results for parents of
teenagers are, as with elective programmes, less impressive). We believe that Parenting Orders have a role to
play in the overall framework of parent support. However, to be successful, both court ordered and elective
parenting programmes must also provide access to additional family support services including drug and
alcohol support and mental health services.

4.6 Barnardo’s would also welcome more focus on tailored provision for the hardest to reach families
who fail to engage with traditional parenting support—particularity parents in the secure estate, young
fathers and parents with chaotic substance misuse problems.

4.7 There also needs to be a greater recognition that parenting support and education can be just as
important at key points throughout a child’s life as well as in the early years. A wider range of services should
be available for parents to access at a later stage, in the important transition from primary to secondary
education and in the often turbulent adolescent years.

5. Preventing Reoffending for Children and Young People

5.1 Barnardo’s believes that all children who oVend should be viewed as “children in need” first and
foremost. Such a system already operates in Scotland where all children who need a social services
intervention—including those who oVend—are dealt with by the Children’s Hearings System, which is
underpinned by a principle that children who commit oVences are in need of care and protection. This is not
to say that children should not have to face up to the impact and consequences of their oVending behaviour,
but that they should be oVered timely support to address the complex problems they face.

5.2 Recent research from The Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime27—a longitudinal study
involving 4,380 children—has revealed that the use of compulsory measures (such as ASBOs) in the early
stages of oVending, tends to label and stigmatise young people, which inhibits the normal process of
desisting—or “growing out of”—oVending that would happen otherwise.

5.3 Similarly, research from the United States in 2009 found that for adolescent oVenders, therapeutic
programmes are much more cost eVective than punitive interventions, and that punitive interventions
usually have negative returns, with programme costs exceeding benefits.28

5.4 Where a young person has committed a non-violent oVence, community-based interventions are
often more eVective and can oVer better value for money than custodial sentences. For example, multi-
dimensional treatment foster care programmes targeted at children with complex multiple needs in the care
system have had positive outcomes for children with a history of oVending29 and a YJB evaluation of the
Intensive Supervision and Surveillance Programme (ISSP) found that it has a significant impact in terms of
reducing the severity and frequency of oVending.

5.5 There is also evidence of lower reoVending rates from restorative justice community based
conferencing programmes. The Youth Conference Service in Northern Ireland provides an opportunity for
victims and others to express their views about the eVects of a crime to the oVender. This process is used,
with the victim’s consent, for a variety of oVences including less serious violent crimes. An evaluation
published by the Prison Reform Trust (2009) shows that in 2006 the reoVending rate for youth conferencing
was 38%. In addition, 90% of victims who attended expressed satisfaction with the outcome of the
conference.30 Family Group Conferencing has also been piloted in Essex, and an evaluation found re-
oVending rates of between 10 and 31%.31

5.6 Barnardo’s cautiously welcomes the new Youth Rehabilitation Order (YRO) which includes a
number of requirements that can be combined to provide a robust community sentence. However, for these
requirements to make a diVerence to a young person’s likelihood of committing further oVences they need
to be adequately resourced. The evidence from the introduction of the adult generic community sentence is
that some requirements are not adequately funded and so are in eVect, unavailable.32 Barnardo’s is

27 The Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime is a programme of research run by Edinburgh University and funded
by the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC), The NuYeld Foundation and the Scottish Executive to track
pathways into and out of oVending. 4,380 children have been tracked since 1998 when they were 11 or 12 years old. It is one
of only two longitudinal studies available on oVending behaviour. The other is The Cambridge Study which was conducted
in the 1950’s. The Edinburgh study findings can be accessed at http://www.law.ed.ac.uk/cls/esytc/

28 Outlined in The Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health (2009) The chance of a lifetime: Preventing early conduct problems and
reducing crime. SCMH: London, 2009.

29 DCSF (2008) Multi Dimensional Treatment Foster Care in England (MTFCE): Annual project report 2008, London: DCSF
30 Jacobson, J and Gibbs, P (2009). Making amends: restorative youth justice in Northern Ireland. Prison Reform Trust:

London
31 Research Outcomes and Lessons Learned, Restorative Justice Family Group Conference Project, Essex 2002.
32 Mair et al (2009) The use and impact of the community order and the suspended sentence order, London: Centre for Crime

and Justice Studies.
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concerned that there is a danger that this will also be the case for the YRO. The lack of mental health
provision available to children in the youth justice system is well documented and there are limited services to
address alcohol misuse. John Fassenfelt, chair of the youth courts committee of the Magistrates Association,
recently stated that “funding has to be adequate if the intoxicating substance treatment requirement of the
Youth Rehabilitation Order is to work”.33 Barnardo’s emphasises the importance of adequate provision for
all requirements of the YRO, including the substance treatment and mental health treatment requirements.

January 2010

Memorandum submitted by Catch22

Catch22 is the national charity that helps young people out of diYcult situations. We believe every young
person deserves the chance to get on in life no matter what. So we help young people, their families and their
communities wherever and whenever they need it most; in schools, on the streets, in the home, at community
centres, shopping centres, in police stations, and in custody.

We work with over 37,000 young people, helping them to learn, earn, find a safe place to live, steer clear
of crime and give something back. Before we became Catch22, we were Catch22 and Crime Concern, two
national charities that merged in 2008. Our Chief Executive, Joyce Moseley OBE, was a founding member
of the Youth Justice Board.

Catch22 welcomes the opportunity to respond to this inquiry into Crime Prevention as we have an
enormous amount of experience in this area. Our response to this inquiry will focus in the follows areas, as
specified in the Committee’s terms of reference:

— Measures to prevent youth criminality.

— Measures to reduce reoVending.

— Measures to maximise partnership working at a local and national level.

— The role of the third sector in crime prevention.

Executive Summary

Catch22 supports continued focus on and investment in measures to prevent youth criminality. Prevention
and early intervention measures have a strong evidence-base and represent value for money. Despite some
current progress, reoVending rates amongst young people and young adults remain persistently high: a much
greater focus is needed on resettlement—adopting measures to ensure that young people can find a safe and
secure home, get a job, form stable relationships and successfully make their transition to adulthood.
Maximising partnerships at local level, and promoting the role of third sector can make a significant
contribution to crime prevention.

Measures to Prevent Youth Criminality

1. Primary-level prevention can address the risk factors and problem behaviours which cause young
people to become involved in youth crime. The preventative approaches employed by Catch22 help to build
the capacity of communities to engage with young people and to promote social inclusion. In particular,
involvement in structured and consistent activities is proven to have a positive eVect on young people’s
emotional and social development (ibid.). These include regular sport, drama or arts-based activities, and
activities that work towards a long-term goal and in which skills are acquired. Catch22 has built up
considerable experience in providing a range of services which provide inclusive activities aimed at reducing
young people’s involvement in crime. Measures such as the Youth Justice Board’s network of Youth
Inclusion Programmes and the Home OYce-backed Positive Futures programme provide a good indication
of how such schemes can work in practice.

2. However, preventative programmes have their greatest impact over the long-term and need sustained
investment to be eVective. When funding becomes tight it is, unfortunately, preventative programmes which
often suVer as they do not have the same “in year” outcomes or outputs of other schemes. A genuine shift
in investment within the criminal justice system would need to clearly commit to protected investment for
prevention programmes. Prevention is the most eVective way to tackle youth crime, yet almost 10 times as
much is spent on custody as is spent on preventative programmes.34

3. Catch22 runs a number of prevention projects including Youth Inclusion Projects, Positive Futures,
“Engage” project working with excluded young people who are more at risk of becoming involved in crime
and React. Catch22 has consistently argued that early intervention and prevention works to reduce youth
crime. Our Communities that Care programme is an example of using research evidence to inform
prevention work on the ground. (See Appendix 1)

33 Fassenfelt, J (2009) “Funding must match alcohol challenge”, Magazine for youth justice, September 2009.
34 10 Years of Labour’s Youth Justice Reforms: An Independent Audit, CCJS Briefing, published 21 May 2008. http://

www.crimeandjustice.org.uk/pryouthjusticeaudit.html
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Measures to Reduce Reoffending

4. The reduction of reoVending by young people is the primary aim of the Youth Justice Board.
Furthermore, reduction of reoVending is one of the three key aims of the Ministry of Justice in dealing with
oVenders of all ages. However, Catch22 believes the aim of reducing reoVending can become sidelined
amongst concerns and discourse around public safety and punishment. There needs to be a more concerted
eVort to adopt evidence-based approaches to reducing reoVending by young people.

5. Restorative Justice (RJ) has a strong empirical evidence-base and is proven to help reduce
reoVending.35 Catch22 supports the expansion of Restorative Justice schemes for young people. 79% of
victims involved in Restorative Justice felt able to put the oVence behind them and 70% felt that young
people understood better the eVects of their oVending (Youth Justice Board). Restorative Justice projects
can bring together victims, members of the community and young oVenders to look at ways that young
people can be held accountable for their actions and “repair” the harm they have done.

6. Catch22 delivers a Restorative Justice project across Hampshire, which brings together victims,
members of the community and young oVenders to look at ways that young people can be held accountable
for their actions and repair the harm they have done. This may involve either meeting with their victim,
engaging in “reparations” for their crime or both. The Catch22 Restorative Justice project also engages
volunteers from the local community to work with young people—both in a practical sense when they are
carrying out reparations but also to act as positive role models.

Resettlement

7. ReoVending rates for children and young people who have been in custody are unacceptably high, a
situation that carries huge costs to victims, to oVenders themselves and to the taxpayer. Catch22 feels
strongly that providing adequate resettlement support for young people leaving custody is absolutely crucial
to reducing recidivism. The costs of reoVending are extremely high: the total cost of recorded crime
committed by ex-prisoners is estimated at around £11 billion per year (Social Exclusion Unit, 2002).

8. Young oVenders aged 12 to 17 may be oVered resettlement support under Detention and Training
Orders, but in practice, eVective sentence planning is limited and largely dependent on the availability of
resources. Coordination between youth justice and local authority education providers is particularly poor.

9. Catch22 have considerable experience of resettlement schemes for young people and managed the two-
year pilot project RESET which developed models and cost-benefit analysis of resettlement for young
people.

Catch22 RESET

RESET was a two-year pilot project that tested various models of resettlement support for young
people. The partnership aimed to make a real diVerence to the lives of young oVenders and develop
a resettlement model that could be widely adopted to help cut reoVending levels. It involved more
than 50 partners, including the YJB, the prison service and the DCFS. The service provides:

— A dedicated resettlement support worker to provide personal support and practical help and
co-ordination of a package of care,

— Education and/or training, with specialist assistance to access this,

— Specialist family support, mediation where needed,

— Mentoring where appropriate,

— Supported accommodation where needed,

— Help with any substance misuse, as needed, and

— Assistance for young people to take ownership of their resettlement and future.

Summary of RESET’s cost-benefit analysis:

— A persistent oVender costs the taxpayer an average of £78,040 per year.

— Where a persistent oVender is oVered an eVective resettlement package, the frequency and
seriousness of oVending is reduced, and this cost is reduced to £65,707—a saving of
£12,333 per oVender.

— The savings for the total number of young people aged 15–17 who are given DTOs in England
and Wales per year (approximately 6,500) is therefore over £80 million.

The cost-benefit analysis is based on an assessment of the ISSP (Intensive Supervision and
Surveillance Programme) which has been shown to reduce the frequency and seriousness of
oVending. It has taken a conservative assumption that good support in resettlement leads to a
reduction of 35% in frequency and 10% in seriousness of oVending. Whilst early evaluation of the
RESET project indicates an encouraging reduction in re-arrest rates, the limited sample size would
need to be reinforced by further reconviction studies before concrete conclusions could be drawn.

35 Prison Reform Trust, Making Amends: restorative youth justice in Northern Ireland, 2009.
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10. The over-representation of looked after children and care leavers in the criminal justice system also
indicates one of the risk factors of oVending. 27% of adult prisoners have spent time in care (Social Exclusion
Unit, 2002) and last year 9.6% of looked after children aged 10 or over were cautioned or convicted for an
oVence, almost three times the rate for all children of this age (DfES, 2007). The welfare needs of looked
after children and care leavers are complex, but at present, young people in the care system receive very little
support whilst in custody.

11. Catch22’s experience of working with young oVenders has also revealed the need for greater
assistance for 18–24 year-olds leaving custody. In the last 10 years the number of sentenced young adults
entering prison has increased by 14% and the reconviction rate of young men leaving prison in 2004 was
75.3% (Prison Reform Trust, 2007). As HM Chief Inspector of Prisons has said, “young adults remain a
group whose needs have not been systematically addressed over the last five years, in spite of their evident
needs and their high reoVending rates” (HM Chief Inspector of Prisons for England and Wales, 2007:39).
Fewer than half of young adults surveyed by HM Prisons Inspectorate said that they knew where to get help
to find accommodation, drug treatment or continuing education when they left prison. This need is acute
as young people are more likely than adults to suVer from mental health problems and are more likely to
commit or attempt suicide than both younger and older prisoners. In 2004–5, 54% of those leaving young
oVender institutions had no recorded education, training or employment place and 13% left with no
recorded accommodation. Catch22 therefore feels that additional support should be dedicated to the
resettlement of this age group of young oVenders. As founding members of the Transition to Adulthood
Alliance, Catch22 is calling for a distinct approach to young adults in the criminal justice system.36

Measures to Maximise Partnership Working at a Local and National Level

12. Catch22 is extremely supportive of working in partnerships at a local and national level. Catch22 is
responsible for the running Communities that Care (CtC)37 which is a community programme based on
risk and protective factors. One of the essential components of CtC is local people and agencies working
together—CtC brings together local residents, agencies and organisations, helping local people to have a
real say in the planning and delivery of local services.

13. The CtC Process is designed to mobilise a wide-ranging coalition of local people, agencies and
organisations. Communities that put the programme into practice do so because they have a vision of the
better future that they want for young people and for their neighbourhood as a whole. Their twin aims will
be to raise the level of protection that local children receive while growing up, and to reduce the level of risk,
which will then lead to reduced levels of youth crime, anti-social behaviour, drug and alcohol misuse,
academic failure and school-age pregnancy.

The Role of the Third Sector in Crime Prevention

14. For Catch22 working at the forefront of crime prevention is a core part of the foundation and history
of our charity. Frederick Rainer established the London Police Court Mission in 1876 which later became
the Probation Service and was nationalised in 1937. Our work has ranged from “prison gate missionaries”
who helped people resettle back into the community to supported accommodation for those on probation
or community sentences. In one of the earliest examples we worked with the governor of Newgate Prison
help young oVenders into apprenticeships and reformatories rather than facing the death penalty. The Royal
Philanthropic Society, also part of Catch22’s heritage, was the first organisation back in the 18th century to
tackle crime through “prevention rather than punishment”.

15. This role of the third sector is equally valid today and can produce good results—helping to steer
young people away from crime into positive lives. Evidence shows that third sector providers are more
popular with service users. In our own case, 96% of our service users are satisfied or very satisfied with the
service they receive from Catch22 (then Catch22; 2006 survey) and 92% of them said that we helped them
to develop a more positive routine or better lifestyle.

16. One important area of “added value” from the third sector in crime prevention is the use of volunteers.
In our experience volunteers have a crucial role to play, both in providing an eVective service to the young
people we support and in ensuring the organisation goes beyond that service to fully engage with and build
trust with those people we support. Catch22 has almost as many volunteers as paid staV and for some young
people a volunteer mentor can be the only responsible adult in their lives who is not paid to be there. This
relationship can provide something special alongside the professional support oVered by staV.

17. Other benefits of third sector involvement include the ability to innovate, and tailor provision to
service users’ needs, working in the heart of communities and engaging those perceived as “hard to reach”.
At the individual project level, there are numerous examples of young people willing to engage with
voluntary providers where they have disengaged from other services. Much of this may be down to a more
flexible approach taken by individual voluntary providers, or it may be driven by a distrust of statutory
agencies, particularly amongst those who have previously been in trouble with the law or those groups such
as homeless people or young runaways who state that they are more comfortable approaching a
voluntary agency.

36 Transition to Adulthood Alliance, Young Adult Manifesto, 2009.
37 See appendix 1 for further information on Communities that Care.
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18. Our services show significant results in reducing crime. For example, Catch22 Northamptonshire
provides bail supervision and support for young people charged with serious and prolific oVences, achieving
very low levels of reoVending. Award winning Catch22 West Sussex Supported Accommodation project has
achieved reoVending rates of less than 20%. (See Appendix 2)

January 2010

APPENDIX 1

COMMUNITIES THAT CARE:
LONG-TERM PREVENTION FOR THE NEXT GENERATION

Introduction

CtC was originally developed by academics in the US and established in the UK in 1997 with the support
of the Joseph Rowntree Foundation. CtC tackles social exclusion and problem behaviours by working to
promote better outcomes for children and young people and the communities where they live.

Essential Components of Communities that Care

CtC brings together local residents, agencies and organisations, helping local people to have a real say in
the planning and delivery of local services.

We help you see how Young People see their Community

The CtC Youth Survey asks young people about their lives, attitudes, experiences and behaviours and
puts the lives of young people at the heart of the process.

Evidence Based

CtC is based on rigorous research. Risk and protective factors have been identified by academics using
over 30 years of longitudinal studies in the UK and US. The Youth Survey is an accredited questionnaire
designed by Oxford University and thoroughly tested on young people to ensure it is easily understood and
completed.

Tested and Effective Programmes

The CtC system guides communities (or Local Authorities where used strategically) to choose and
implement appropriate tested and eVective programmes, using A guide to promising Approaches and other
evidence-based databases.

What is CtC?—Changes now for the Next Generation

CtC is designed to promote healthy social development and improved outcomes for the next generation
of children and young people and to reduce the likelihood of their becoming involved in “problem
behaviours” such as:

— Youth crime and anti-social behaviour.

— Academic failure.

— Drug and alcohol misuse.

— School-age pregnancy.

At the heart of the Communities that Care process is an understanding of the risk factors, exposure to
which, during childhood and adolescence, has been shown by research to increase the likelihood of young
people becoming involved in the “problem behaviours and outcomes” listed above. Put simply, the aim is
simultaneously to reduce risk and promote protection in order to improve outcomes.

In order to measure the level of risk and protection in any community, the CtC Process uses a Youth
Survey questionnaire that was developed for us by the School of Applied Social Studies at Oxford
University. Since 1998 the questionnaire has been used to survey over 400,000 11 to 16 year olds from around
the UK.

Risk and Protective Factors

The risk and protective factors used in the Communities that Care programme have been identified by
reviewing more than 30 years of research in the United Kingdom, the United States and other western
countries. They are:

Family Risk Factors

Poor parental supervision and discipline

Family conflict

Family history of problem behaviours
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Parental involvement in/attitudes condoning problem behaviour

Low income and poor housing

School Risk Factors

Low achievement beginning in primary school

Aggressive behaviour in school (bullying)

Lack of commitment to school, including truancy

School disorganisation

Community Risk Factors

Disadvantaged neighbourhood

Community disorganisation and neglect

Availability of drugs

High turnover and lack of neighbourhood attachment

Individual Risk Factors

Alienation and local of social commitment

Attitudes that condone problem behaviour

Early involvement in problem behaviour

Friends involved in problem behaviour

Protective Factors

School opportunity for pro social involvement

School rewards for pro social involvement

Family Attachment

Family opportunities for pro-social involvement

Family Rewards for pro-social involvement

The CtC Process

Note: the practicalities of this process are diVerent in England and Wales due to the diVerent local
structures but the overall process is the same

The Communities that Care process is designed to mobilise a wide-ranging coalition of local people,
agencies and organisations. Communities that put the programme into practice do so because they have a
vision of the better future that they want for young people and for their neighbourhood as a whole. Their
twin aims will be to raise the level of protection that local children receive while growing up, and to reduce
the level of risk, which will then lead to reduced levels of youth crime, anti-social behaviour, drug and alcohol
misuse, academic failure and school-age pregnancy.

— By bringing diVerent organisations together in a multi-agency partnership they will be helping to
maximise the programme’s eVectiveness.

— By coming together as a community they will build a broad and stable base for the steps needed
to achieve long-term change.

— Involving the community in this way will, in itself, be a way of increasing the level of protection
for young people.

— The CtC approach, when implemented, will create a preventive “whole” that is greater than the
sum of its parts.

The programme works in five main stages:

(i) Establishing a community programme.

(ii) Risk and protection audit.

(iii) Resource auditing.

(iv) Action planning and implementation.

(v) Monitoring and evaluation.
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(i) Establishing a Community Programme

In order to establish a Community Programme, we need the support and partnership of a wide range of
people and organisations:

— If working at a local community level these would be local residents and representatives from local
agencies and service providers for example health visitors, schools, playgroups, the police etc. we
would also engage the support of senior oYcers from the relevant departments of the local
authority involved.

— If working strategically, practical involvement is required from senior oYcers and members, to
steer and manage the process.

(ii) Risk and protection audit

The next stage of the Communities that Care (CtC) process is the risk and protection audit. Because CtC
is an evidence-based approach our first task is to find out the current level of each risk and protective factor in
the community. The risk audit can cover anything from a single community to a whole local authority area.

(iii) Resource auditing

The steering group needs to select between two and five priority risk factors for action. Once this has been
done, the project moves on to an assessment of existing projects and services in the community that are
relevant to those risk factors. This not only serves to pinpoint gaps in services, but also enables agencies to
sharpen the focus of their existing work. Supporting this will be A guide to Promising Approaches, produced
by Catch22, a comprehensive, practical guidebook that brings together evaluation evidence about eVective
preventative programmes that improve outcomes for children and young people.

The kinds of interventions projects will look at range from pre-natal services to community policing, but
focus primarily on the 0 to 10 age group. For example, if Lack of commitment to school was selected as a
risk factor, the types of programme you would be considering would include pre-school education provision,
projects that involve the family in education and programmes that develop young people’s reasoning and
social skills. Or if Early involvement in problem behaviour was selected you would be looking at a range of
interventions which include parenting information and support, organisational change in schools and
helping children with specific learning diYculties. Each local service identified will be visited by the project
worker and members of the sub group and the service manager interviewed. The results of this exercise will
be written up in a report and this will then form the basis of the Action Plan.

(iv) Action planning and implementation

Steering groups will prepare their final strategy in the light of the evidence gathered in the risk and resource
audits. The action plan will normally include a combination of three diVerent components:

— monitoring existing appropriate resources to ensure they continue on at least their present scale;

— a re-direction, or tweaking, of existing services (programme bending) into services which will
address the priority risks identified; and

— the introduction of new, focused interventions.

To maximise the chances of success, action plans are expected, so far as possible, to:

— include services that focus on more than one stage in children and young people’s development;
and

— include services that focus on more than one of the domains in children’s lives where intervention
is possible (families, schools, community and individuals/friends)

Please note that as part of the implementation of evidenced based programmes the fidelity with which they
are delivered is critical. If a programme with evidence of eVectiveness is to be delivered then the process of that
delivery ie the fidelity, needs to be looked at and considered before the implementation.

(v) Monitoring and evaluation

Detailed monitoring of progress and evaluation of outcomes are an integral part of the CtC way of
working. CtC is intended as an ongoing process. The school survey should be repeated every three to four
years and action plans reviewed.

Where are we working?

Local Authorities

CtC is being implemented in a number of locations across the UK. Since it was launched in the UK it has
worked in England, Scotland, Wales and Ireland, surveying at least 450,000 young people in over
35 communities. We are currently working in Coventry, Swansea, Flintshire and Merthyr Tydfil. We have
recently completed Action Plans for areas of Blaenau Gwent, Torfaen, Merthyr Tydfil and Flintshire.
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Does CtC work?

Two recent large scale studies of CtC in America compared outcomes for young people in communities
using CtC with control groups in communities not using CtC. Both studies found CtC to have “promising”
results in reducing risk factors and the onset of delinquency within a relatively short period of interventions
being introduced For example, the study by Hawkins et al suggests that “students from ‘control
communities’ were 27% more likely to initiate delinquent behaviour during grades 6 and 7 than were students
from CtC communities.”

Catch22 Methodlogy

Catch22 is developing its own unique methodology based on an evidence base. This needs to underpin all
that happens and be consistent with the brand’s focus on helping young people out regardless of the
diYculties they find themselves in. Part of this development is using a concept that has been adapted from
psychotherapeutic research known as the “Wheel of Change”. The CtC risk and protective factors have been
incorporated within this wheel. Using the CtC methodology of recommending “tried and tested”
programmes, Catch22 is currently exploring what this means to Catch22.

IdEA (Improvement & Development Agency)

IdEA has written a paper around “DiVerent Outcomes Approaches and other Management Tools”. It
compares six diVerent approaches, three of these have a specific focus on outcomes. Three are management
tools that provide a useful framework for improvement but do not have a specific outcome focus. CtC is
one of the approaches that has a specific focus on outcomes. http://www.idea.gov.uk/idk/core/
page.do?pageId%8940381

APPENDIX 2

Catch22 Northamptonshire

Catch22 Northamptonshire oVers a bail supervision and support service to young people who have been
charged with serious or prolific oVences. The service works with young people from their arrest through to
their final court appearance. Where possible they will ensure that young people are held in the community
while on bail rather than in prison. The service also provides emergency accommodation and transports
young people to court. The main aim of the work is to reduce and prevent oVending by young people on
bail and young people in the community identified as being at high risk of oVending. In the words of the
service manager:

“We provide young people with support from the moment they are charged through to their court
appearance, and often beyond. It’s a highly intensive way of working and we personalise the
support to fit the needs of the young person. This might include housing, education, health, anger
management; if we can’t oVer it directly then we refer them to the services that can.”

“Not many other organisations work like this, but the fact that 96% of the young people we work
with do not oVend while on bail shows we are getting it right.”

Catch22 West Sussex Supported Accommodation Service (WSSAS)

Catch22’s WSSAS is a pioneering project which provides supported accommodation to ex-oVenders aged
between 18 and 25 in 11 single-occupancy, self-contained flats. The service works with young people for up
to two years and staV provide support in a wide range of areas, from improving basic skills such as literacy
and budgeting to parenting skills and help moving into education and employment. A healthy eating project
oVers workshops and small grants, which enable young people to hire kitchen space, buy ingredients and
experiment with diVerent types of food and cooking.

WSSAS was set up in response to a lack of housing for young people leaving custody, despite research
clearly showing that if services fail to engage with oVenders in the first few weeks of release, the likelihood
of committing further crime increases dramatically. Single occupancy accommodation allows young people
the space and security to establish their own homes and learn to live independently, within a clear framework
that recognises they have very real support needs. Typically young people enter the service with complex and
high support needs. Many have led chaotic lives marred by drug, alcohol or gambling addictions. They often
lack the basic organisational, communication or budgeting skills that are essential to maintaining a tenancy
and living independently.

Catch22 WSSAS has had a significant impact on the reoVending rates of users—around 20% of all tenants
have re-oVended, compared to a national reoVending rate approaching 80% for this age group. The service
has also had a powerful impact on enabling service users to move on independently and establish a home.
Of the young people who have used WSSAS in the past two years, for many of whom this was the first home
of their own outside of custody, over 40% now live completely independently.
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Memorandum submitted by Research In Motion

1.0 Executive Summary

1.1 Research In Motion (RIM), the manufacturers of the BlackBerry handheld device, is delighted to
respond to the Home AVairs Committee Inquiry, “The Government’s Approach to Crime Prevention”.

1.2 As a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of innovative wireless technologies, we hope to
provide an insight into how information communication technologies are supporting eVorts to prevent and
tackle crime.

1.3 RIM has previously submitted written and oral evidence to the Committee’s inquiry into 21st Century
Policing. This evidence included insight into how information communication technologies are making a
diVerence both to police forces and the communities they serve, reducing bureaucracy, delivering eYciency
savings and helping oYcers spend more time on the beat.

1.4 In this submission we provide new information on the support that RIM is providing to support
police forces and local authorities’ eVorts to reduce crime. Through this work, BlackBerry devices are
helping to improve crime mapping and increase information sharing between diVering service providers.

1.5 We have set out below a summary of our experience and work in both local government and local
councils to help maximise partnership working at both a local and national level and the creation of crime
maps to help reduce re-oVending. We would be very happy to meet with the Committee to discuss this work
in greater detail.

1.6 In particular our submission document focuses on the following areas:

— How mobile devices are helping local councils and police authorities to map and target low level
crime.

— How mobile devices are helping local councils and police authorities share information to assist in
crime prevention.

2.0 BlackBerry and Crime Mapping

2.1 RIM is working with local government and police authorities to provide BlackBerry applications to
support crime mapping and crime prevention strategies.

2.2 At Worthing Borough Council, the use of the hand-e-pix application on BlackBerry devices is helping
to capture data about environmental crime incidents. This allows users to take images from the field, which
are stamped with date, time, GPS co-ordinates and other information which can be sent back to the Council
and viewed in real-time, creating virtual crime maps.

2.3 Data is recorded in a secure database, visible through a web portal allowing designated operators to
view incidents as they are reported. These incidents can then be viewed on a map, where an overall picture
of trouble “hotspots” can be derived.

2.4 The application also allows for key intelligence to be shared with the police, allowing a more proactive
approach to combating environmental crime.

2.5 Colin Hunt, Street Scene OYcer, has said:

“We now have the ability to analyse and plot the locations of groups of tags which has highlighted for
the first time the areas and routes that taggers operate.”

2.6 Like Worthing Borough Council, West Yorkshire Police recognised that there was a need for police
oYcers to use the camera functionality on their BlackBerry devices to take photos for use as evidence in
court and to take photos of seized equipment at a crime scene. RIM worked with West Yorkshire Police to
develop a BlackBerry application that allows police oVers to capture “who”, “when” and “where” for each
photo taken. Once the photo is taken it is sent wirelessly to a central server thereby storing no images on an
oYcer’s BlackBerry.

2.7 Following an initial trial of 500 devices, West Yorkshire Police are now deploying 3,400 devices with
the hand-e-pix application in addition to the existing secure access to the:

— Police National Computer (PNC) (including firearms licences and the Schengen Visas databases).

— NICHE Records Management System (RMS).

— Warrants database.

— Electoral Roll.

— Command and control.

— Case and custody records.

— Intelligence briefings.

— DVLA database.

— Crime Tasking.

— PNLDB (Police National Legal Database).
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2.8 Phil Short, Mobile Data Manager at West Yorkshire Police, said of the success of the scheme:

“Findings suggest significant changes in working practice—not having to return to the station to book
out a digital camera and intelligence analysts having direct access to up to date images.”

3.0 BlackBerry and Data Sharing

3.1 RIM is also working with local government, local councils and police forces to provide measures to
maximise partnership working at a local level in order to reduce crime.

3.2 The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead adopted a BlackBerry application to help with its
responsibilities in inspecting alcohol licenses. In addition to performing routine visits, Authority licensing
oYcers can also be called out at any time of the day or night to assist the police.

3.3 Alan Barwise, Head of Licensing for the Authority has praised the success of the deployment for data
sharing saying:

“Licensing oYcers now spend more time inspecting and less time preparing for visits. The BlackBerry
devices have also made our teams more flexible and responsive, especially in their collaboration with
the police. If a licensing oYcer receives a call in the car from the police, he can go straight to the
establishment without having to stop by the oYce to pick up the paper file.”

3.4 Through the deployment of the Blackberry application, Authority oYcers are able to easily and
securely share information helping to prevent fraudulent activity.

3.5 Mid Sussex Council have deployed the hand-e-pix application to integrate environmental crime data
captured by the street scene team with the Council’s Customers Services function.

3.6 The Blackberry application provides local government oYcers with a single, simple data capture
system which allows them to quickly and eYciently relay data to the relevant oYcers who could then take
appropriate action.

3.7 Commenting on the success of the scheme, Cllr Gordon Marples said:

“I was delighted with the innovative way the project has been devised, with excellent partnership
working and well planned roll out potential. [He hoped] many other local authorities would work with
Mid Sussex and the project partners to develop key customer service.”

3.8 The Merseyside Police Authority is due to trial BlackBerry technology in January 2010 to support
the sharing of information between local community support oYcers and police oYcers.

3.9 This deployment is based around an application which provides police oYcers and Police Community
Support OYcers with an interactive map of the city centre.

3.10 By highlighting a section of the map, the image is quickly and securely sent to all those on duty. This
allows police who are carrying out covert operations to designate an area of the city centre as “oV limits”
for PCSOs and to show police oYcers where they should be.

3.11 This BlackBerry application provides a safe and secure way for vital information to be shared across
the police force.

4.0 BlackBerry and Security

4.1 Robust security features are built into the heart of the BlackBerry, including the ability to lock or wipe
a device immediately—over the air—if lost or stolen

4.2 BlackBerry has been approved, up to “restricted” level, by the Communications Electronics Security
Group (CESG), the UK Government’s National Technical Authority for information assurance.

4.3 The BlackBerry is also the only mobile device to achieve approval for EAL level 2! under Common
Criteria, and approved for NATO restricted communications. BlackBerry also has a number of other
national certifications including:

— Austria—Approved by A-SIT.

— New Zealand—Approved by GCSB.

— United States—FIPS 140-2 Validated by NIST/CSE.

— Australia—Approved by DSD.

— Netherlands—Approval by DTO.

— Canada—FIPS 140-2 by NIST/CSE.

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 We firmly believe that secure mobile technology has a key role to play in crime prevention and is
already making a diVerence to a range of frontline services. Indeed by facilitating the secure sharing of
information and the use of geo-tagging to document photographs, amongst other uses, mobile technology
can make a significant contribution to crime prevention as well as the solving of crimes through, for example,
more accurate photographic evidence to be used in court.
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5.2 We look forward to continuing our work with local government and police authorities in the UK to
expand on the use of crime mapping, geotagging and the use of mobile technology as part of our ongoing
eVorts to develop the best tools to assist them in their work.

5.3 We hope that this outline of some of our experience in supporting local services and police authorities
is helpful to your inquiry. We would be very happy to meet with you or facilitate meetings with our partners
to share direct experience of these issues. And we would of course be happy to present oral evidence if that
would be of interest.

January 2010

Memorandum submitted by Nacro

Reasons why young people (under 18s) end up in prison:

— 86% have been regular absentees/truants/excluded.

— 60% have lived in unstable living conditions.

— 60% have experienced family conflict.

— 37% have been neglected/abused.

(Source: Nacro Wasted Lives report 1998)

How can we prevent reoVending?

— Getting oVenders into jobs cuts reoVending by one-third to one-half.

— OVenders with basic skills training one-third as likely to reoVend.

— Stable housing cuts reoVending by one-fifth.

— Family support cuts reoVending to between one-sixth and one-half.

— Drug rehabilitation cuts reoVending to less than one-third previous level.

(Social Exclusion Unit 2002)

Economics of Crime

For every £1 spent on drug and alcohol rehabilitation, the community saves £3.

“£1 spent on drug misuse there is a return of £3 in the cost savings associated with lower levels of victim
costs of crime and reduced demands on the criminal justice system.”—http://www.addictiontoday.org/
addictiontoday/files/ntors 5.pdf

(National Treatment Outcome Research Study 2001—NTORS)

Mental Health

— Many prisoners have mental health problems—72% of male and 70% of female sentenced prisoners
suVer from two or more mental health disorders. Additionally 20% of prisoners have four of the
five major mental health disorders.

(Paul Singleton et al (1998) Psychiatric Morbidity among
Prisoners in England and Wales, London: OYce for National Statistics.)

— At any given time, 5,000 people with a serious mental illness will be in prison.

( NHS 2000 The NHS Plan: A Plan for investment,
a plan for reform London: The Stationery OYce)

January 2010

Supplementary memorandum submitted by the Home OYce

Following Louise Casey’s appearance before the Committee on 12 January 2010, the attached appendices
provide further information as agreed during the hearing.

1. a note on the importance of providing information about crime to the public, which was requested
during Louise Casey’s exchange with Martin Salter MP;

2. a note on Home OYce work with Neighbourhood Watch; and

3. a note on David Davies MP’s question about the percentage of children being dealt with who live
with their natural mothers and fathers.
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1. Providing Information about Crime to the Public

The Criminal Justice System and the public

The Cabinet OYce review “Engaging Communities in Fighting Crime” by Louise Casey took an in-depth
look at crime, justice and community involvement.

It found that eVorts to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour have not gone far enough to win public
confidence. Too often the public do not believe that their voice is heard, do not believe wrong-doers face
adequate consequences for the crimes they commit, do not believe they are told enough about what happens
in the system, and do not believe that crime has fallen.

For example, only 36% of the public are confident that the Criminal Justice System (CJS) meets the needs
of victims, but 80% thinks the system respects the rights of oVenders38

This is important because it reinforces the notion that the system is there to process and protect the
oVender rather than to do justice for the public at large.

The review concluded that there are key areas in which the CJS could do significantly more to build public
confidence. These include tackling the issues that matter to people where they live (eg anti-social behaviour),
better treatment of victims and witnesses, providing a police service that is visible, approachable and
responds to public concerns, and opening up the CJS to demonstrate the consequences of committing crime.

The Justice Seen, Justice Done programme is intended to respond to the review findings and in doing so
build public confidence in the police and CJS. This paper outlines some of the key analysis on which the
programme is based.

The importance of public confidence

Public confidence in criminal justice matters because the CJS relies on public confidence to operate
eVectively.

The great majority of crimes are brought to the attention of the police by the public but if people do not
have confidence or do not perceive the system as legitimate they are less likely to engage with it through
reporting crime, coming forward as a witness or supporting others to do the same.

Confidence in the CJS is associated with greater willingness to cooperate with the police and assist in
preventing and responding to crime.39 Conversely a lack of public confidence undermines the eVectiveness
of the justice system, through people’s reluctance to report crimes, or participate as witnesses or jurors.40

According to the British Crime Survey 59% of crime incidents are not reported to the police, and a
common reason cited by respondents for not doing so, is the view that the police could or would not do
anything about them.41

Although there have been recent improvements in public confidence in the police and wider CJS, these
come after a substantial period of declining public confidence, and figures remain relatively low. For
example, only 40% of people think that the CJS is eVective overall, and around half of people (50%) think
that the police and council are tackling the issues that matter in their area.42

The importance of dealing with the issues that matter to the public

Whilst we know the public want and expect a response to serious incidents, they also want police to be
concerned with and solve the everyday problems that they regularly experience. There is good evidence that
properly implemented neighbourhood policing can improve public confidence.43

The public view anti-social behaviour as the most important issue facing their local area today when it
comes to crime.44 Perceptions of anti-social behaviour as a problem are a driver of both perceptions and
worry about crime, as well as confidence in the police.45 Analysis shows that those who perceive anti-social
behaviour to be a problem tend to base those perceptions on their direct experience of anti-social behaviour
in the area they live in.46

38 Home OYce (2007) Crime in England and Wales (2006–07)
39 Myhill and Beak (2008) Public Confidence in the Police
40 Hough and Roberts (2004) Confidence in Justice: An International Review
41 Home OYce (2009) Crime in England and Wales 2008–09
42 Home OYce (2010) Crime in England and Wales quarterly update to September 2009
43 NPIA (2009) Confidence: Evidence-based top tips
44 Home OYce Public Opinion Tracker (2008)
45 See for example: Home OYce (2005) Policing and the criminal justice system, Myhill and Beak (2008)
46 Home OYce (2006) Perceptions and experience of anti-social behaviour: Findings from the 2004–05 British Crime Survey
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The importance of keeping the public informed

One of the most important ways through which people will feel confident that crime and anti-social
behaviour is being tackled eVectively, is by being kept informed about what action has been taken in their
local area and what the results of that action have been.

Whilst 3% of people say they are active in their community when it comes to crime and anti-social
behaviour, and one in five (19%) want to be more involved or have more of a say than they currently do, the
majority of people (58%) say they just want information.47

A growing body of research has demonstrated that keeping people informed through information of the
kind the public are interested in48 is a driver of public confidence.49 The use of straightforward newsletters
informing the public about action being taken to deal with crime and anti-social behaviour has been found
to be one of the most trusted sources of information yet it remains underused.

The importance of making people aware of their rights

Despite the fact that crime is one of the public’s major concerns they are poorly informed about the service
provided by the police—especially when compared with other major public services (Fig 1) and many have
little knowledge on how to find out more about local policing (Fig 2).

Fig 1.
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Source: HO Polling November 2008

47 Ipsos MORI (2008) Closing the Gaps
48 Qualitative research has found that people are most interested in what action is being taken to resolve problems in their area

and the results of that action, as well as access and contact details, preferably via direction communications such as a
newsletter.

49 See for example The Impact of Newsletters on Public Perceptions of Policing Metropolitan Police Service Strategic Research
Department (2009)
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Fig 2.
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Half of the public say they know little or nothing about the service provided by the police in their local
area.50 The Casey review found that two-thirds (67%) of people said they would not know where to go to
complain if they were unhappy with the way their area was being policed.51

The importance of showing there are consequences for criminals in the Criminal Justice System

Information about the outcome of cases is rarely fed back to the public by the police and local authorities.
This not only leaves the public ill-informed about what is happening in the courts—for example, knowledge
of the courts, sentencing and punishment tends to be low and sentencing is often perceived to be more lenient
than it is. It also supports the view that there are no consequences for those that break the law.

90% of respondents to the Casey Review said they wanted to know more about what happens to people
following arrest. Furthermore a survey of the public as part of the review found that, after information about
action to tackle local priorities, feedback about consequences and punishment were considered the most
important things to prioritise when providing information about crime to the public.

A more recent survey found that 65% of people say it is important that the public is provided with
information about sentences given to people convicted of committing a crime locally, whilst less than a
quarter (24%) say they feel informed about sentences locally.52

Again however, the evidence shows that those people who do feel informed about sentencing tend to be
more confident that the CJS is fair and eVective and more than for in 10 (42%) say themselves that knowing
more about sentencing would make them more confident.

Given these findings, increasing the visibility of, and providing better information about, criminal justice
and punishment is necessary to improve confidence.

50 Ipsos MORI (2008)
51 Engaging Communities in Fighting Crime (2008). Cabinet OYce.
52 Home OYce public opinion survey conducted by Ipsos MORI (2009)
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2. Neighbourhood Watch

Membership of Neighbourhood Watch

Neighbourhood Watch is a community based movement with a national presence. According to the
British Crime Survey 2006–07, there are 3.8 million member households in England and Wales—about one
in six homes. There has in recent years been a decline in membership—16% of households currently belong
to a Neighbourhood Watch (NW) scheme compared with 27% in 2000. The BCS 2006–07 also found that
membership rates varied by both household and area characteristics. In general, the characteristics
associated with higher levels of membership were those related to having a lower risk of crime. For example:

— Home owners were around twice as likely to be members of Neighbourhood Watch(19%) as social
and private renters (9% and 10% respectively).

— Households in Wealthy Achievers areas (as defined by ACORN) were the most likely to be
members of Neighbourhood Watch (28%) and four times more likely to be members than those
living in Hard Pressed areas (7%).

— Households in rural areas were also more likely to be members (21%) than those in urban areas
(15%).

However, there is evidence that the wider public do want to be involved: 75% of those surveyed for the
BCS (2006–07) who were not aware of a scheme in their area said they would join one if it were available
(with 65% of respondents living in hard pressed areas stating they would be interested in joining). Only 3%
of respondents have never heard of Neighbourhood Watch.

A report for the Home OYce published in 2004 found that:

“It appeared from previous research that NW was biased towards more aZuent and comparatively
low crime areas. This is probably still the case but there are signs that this is changing and that
more NW organisations are beginning to appear in higher crime areas and in less aZuent
neighbourhoods.

The apparent change is an eVect of a shift in attitude and policy on the part of both police services
and local partnerships, many of which have striven to encourage NW activity in areas that appear
to need it, perhaps giving less attention to those areas in which NW is already well-established and
actively seeking to promote NW in less aZuent areas and among ‘hard to reach’ sections of the
community.”

Government support for Neighbourhood Watch

In order to improve the eVectiveness of Neighbourhood Watch to engage and support more members of
the public, the Home OYce is investing £500k in a Neighbourhood Watch capacity building programme
focusing on developing the activities of local groups (eg to strengthen involvement and influence with the
police and other local partners); improving communications for volunteers (eg their website), running
regional events between January and March this year; developing toolkits and training for volunteers; and
strengthening the national and regional governance structures. Capacity Builders, through the Home OYce
have also engaged the Design Council to support the work to strengthen membership in hard-pressed areas,
among the younger generations and in more diverse communities.

The Home OYce hosts and chairs the National Strategy Group for Watch Issues (NSGWI), which was
established in 2004 to advise the Home OYce on practical measures to promote the growth and development
of Neighbourhood Watch. This group meets quarterly at the Home OYce and includes stakeholders such
as ACPO, the Neighbourhood and Home Watch Network, the Local Government Association, Association
of Police Authorities, TPAS, NACRO and Catch 22.

Neighbourhood Watch, together with the wider voluntary and community sector, have been a key partner
in delivering the Government’s Securing Homes—Action against Burglary campaign launched in May 2009.
Under the Safer Homes Fund (funding provided for voluntary and community organisations to work with
the public most vulnerable to burglary including older people and students) 48 grants to the value of
£0.5 million was allocated for local Neighbourhood Watch schemes across England and Wales. The Home
OYce also meets the cost of public liability insurance cover for NW schemes and issues a range of
publications.

The “jigsaw of involvement”—how Neighbourhood Watch fits in

The Home OYce is committed to supporting the Neighbourhood Watch movement to be active and
visible in every community, particularly those in hard pressed and higher crime areas, to be a reliable channel
for crime prevention and community engagement activity, and to provide a support network for people who
are vulnerable or isolated. However, it is clear that schemes do not operate across the country, particularly
in hard pressed areas. It is in these areas where Tenants and Resident’s groups for example, have been able
to provide a forum for members of the public to engage in tackling the concerns that aVect their
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neighbourhood, and there is room for all such organisations to exist in ways that work best for each
neighbourhood. To ensure that there is a synergy of message to the public on how best to become involved
in fighting crime in local areas, the Home OYce work closely with the National Neighbourhood Watch
representative structure as well as the Tenants Participation Advisory Service, through the National strategy
Group for Watch Issues referred to above.

3. Young People

David Davies MP asked about the percentage of young people being dealt with who live with their natural
mother and father. This information is not collected by the Joint Youth Justice Unit.

However, as Mr Davies went on to ask about the diYculties faced by some single parents, it may be of
interest to the Committee that 70% of the families worked with by family intervention projects are headed
by lone parents.

Family intervention projects work with some of the most problematic families to turn around their
behaviour and reduce their impact on their community. In so doing, they also bring stability to families’
lives, prevent homelessness and improve opportunities for children. They combine intensive support with
focused challenge—a twin track approach. For these projects, it is not a question of either/or—support and
enforcement are systematically linked to provide families with the incentive to change.

Projects take a whole family approach which recognise the inter—connectedness between children’s and
adults problems. Improving parenting skills is always a critical service. There is strong evidence that
parenting programmes can improve parenting skills and have lasting eVects in reducing bad behaviour, even
in cases where parents are initially reluctant to accept help.

These schemes have impressive results—for more than four out of five (85%) families, complaints about
anti-social behaviour ceased or reduced and in nine out of 10 (92%), the risk to local communities was
assessed as having either reduced or ceased completely by the time families left the project. In addition, for
four out of five families, there was no further possession action taken against their homes and significant
improvements in schools attendance were found.53

January 2010

Memorandum submitted by Safer Sutton Partnership Service

The Safer Sutton Partnership Service (SSPS)

Established in 2005 the SSPS is a unique partnership between Sutton Council and Sutton Police. The SSPS
has a jointly funded single point of line management, reporting to both the Police Borough Commander and
the Council Chief Executive. The SSPS uniquely co-manages:

Drug misuse services (Council) Schools and youth crime (Police)
Alcohol misuse services (Council) Crime prevention advisers (Police)
Safer Parks Teams (Police) Prolific/Priority OVender work (Police)
CCTV in Police Control Room (Council) Safer Neighbourhood Teams (Police)
Domestic Violence services (Council) Police volunteers (Police)
Hidden Harm (Council) Special constables (Police)
Communications and Media (Police) Traveller/Wildlife Liaison (Police)
Anti-social behaviour work (Council) Emergency Planning (Council)
Safer Transport Teams (Police) Civic Security and Response (Council)

The SSPS also coordinates a range of activities across the CDRP, and acts as a catalyst for Partnership
Working.

Commended by the Audit Commission in delivering value for money and through the I&DeA’s “Beacon”
status award scheme for transforming service delivery through partnership over the five years of its
operation the partnership has:

— Achieved real eYciency savings (to the value of £448,000).

— Decreased actual crime (Total Crime down 11%, Violence against the Person down by 22%, Theft
of Motor Vehicle down by 28%, Criminal Damage down by 36%).

— Decreased the fear of crime (fear of becoming a victim of crime has fallen across all major crime
types).

53 Nixon, J, Hunter, C, and Parr, S. (2006) “Anti-social Behaviour Intensive Family Support Projects: An evaluation of six
pioneering projects”. Department for Communities and Local Government
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The SSPS has been able to develop innovative practise through the strength of its partnership, and two
excellent examples of this are cited below:

Use of Insi (Intelligence through Neighbourhood Security Interviews)

Insi (Intelligence through Neighbourhood Security Interviews) is a research methodology devised by
Professor Martin Innes of CardiV University and comprises structured interviews conducted in the home by
police oYcers and PCSO’s. These interviews (approximately 600 per annum) are analysed by CardiV
University and provide a very detailed intelligence picture of crime and drivers of insecurity on a ward-by-
ward basis. These reports are used to generate multi-agency action plans to deal with issues identified, and
complements ward priority setting and other intelligence gathering. In some areas residents no longer report
serious concerns.

A borough-wide strategic report is also produced and used to identify major issues of concern. This is
shared with partners to inform debate at the CDRP as well as driving tactics locally.

The use of Insi in Sutton has been expanded to look specifically at issues amongst the Muslim community.
This is an entirely new application of the methodology.

The real value in the use of Insi is that it provides accurate and useful tactical and operational information
upon which to act to allay public concerns. There is very clear evidence of the eVectiveness of this approach;
fear of crime across all major crime types has fallen every year since the SSPS was formed, notably residents
concern of anti social behaviour has fallen from 72% to 58%, and concern about Vandalism has fallen from
65% to 48%. The number of disorder calls to the Police has fallen by 12% in the last year.

The Sutton Life Centre

The Sutton Life Centre is a national first oVering a range of community facilities for people of all ages as
well as a unique, regional learning centre for school children. It has been developed in response to residents
calls for more youth facilities in Sutton, and in particular services that will help young people to play a
positive role in the community.

The Centre has been financed from Council funding and a £4m grant from “myplace”; DCSF grant
funding distributed through the Big Lottery fund to deliver world class facilities for young people.

As a resource for local people the Life Centre will oVer a range of recreational, educational and
community engagement activities. Among its superb facilities will be an outdoor climbing wall, Sport
England standard sports facilities, a library, a café, and a unique media lab.

As an educational facility the Sutton Life Centre oVers a new approach to supporting the development
of young people and enabling them to make better choices and attain better outcomes. We aim to attract
more than 40,000 students aged between 10 & 14 from across London and the Southern Home Counties.

The Life Centre will use of a combination of built architecture and high definition projections combined
with surround sound and computer controlled lighting to create life like situations that place students right
in the action and allow them to learn by experience. Topics covered will include threats and dangers as well
as bullying, drug and alcohol misuse and a range of environmental issues.

The content has the approval of key partners such as the LFB, MPS and Childline, and directly supports
the national curriculum.

February 2010

Memorandum submitted by Sport and Crime Prevention

There has been an extensive history of the use of sport and sport-related activities in trying to tackle crime,
especially amongst younger people, in Keighley and district and indeed nationally.

The success or otherwise of such initiatives is often diYcult to measure and needs to be set in context. For
example, whilst the short-term impacts of a sporting “diversionary” programme can be very profound and
positive for a young person involved in any particular programme on an individual basis, the social
conditions that lead youngsters into criminal activity still prevail and thus the perception of the “good” can
often be outweighed by the continuing perception of the “bad”, especially as the latter activities tend to make
regular headlines whilst the former tend to be “one-off” stories if indeed they are highlighted at all.

Keighley and district is an interesting microcosm of wider national issues in that it is a former industrial
town, the mixed population of which is facing, like many towns in the UK, the challenge of adapting,
diversifying and progressing in a world where traditional industrial skills are in decreasing demand. Whilst
there are many excellent things going on in the area, and real signs that Keighley will benefit from the
regeneration activities in the wider Airedale Corridor, there remains (largely via constant negative media
coverage) a slightly cynical, “downtrodden” and low confidence attitude, reinforced too in terms of a
perception that being a “remote” part of Bradford Metropolitan District (with some of the image problems
that that entails) is not helpful.
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The overlaying of distinct areas of the district with populations who rank highly on a national basis in
terms of IMDs (Indices of Mass Deprivation) with discrete communities from diVerent (but largely
Pakistani) ethnic backgrounds creates a complex web of issues that result in real and perceived barriers to
participation in sport and other social activities, and to the creation of fertile conditions for criminal activity
at all levels. This includes the drugs industry, where it is relatively easy to recruit young people (especially
boys) in an activity that carries the “thrill” of illegality along with income and status rewards (phones, cars,
etc) that are simply not matched by opportunities in terms of education, training and early employment.
The fact that such activity is largely Asian-community based and has led to rival gang cultures within the
town further adds to resentment, suspicion and fear of crime, whether real or perceived. Crime and drugs
are of course associated at many levels, with much theft and burglary being committed in order to fund
addictive drug habits.

These issues are clearly apparent in local schools, at primary and secondary level, and much work goes
on through sporting opportunities to engage and excite the interest of youngsters. In this respect Keighley
is fortunate to have its own Sports College at Oakbank which is the hub of a School Sports Partnership that
includes all of the other secondary schools in the area and their feeder primaries. It is fair to say that this
structure, delivering as it does core policies such as the “2-Hour” High Quality PE OVer, the current “5-
Hour” OVer, Step Into Sport, Junior Sports Leader Award, Sport Unlimited, Competition Managers and
so on, has had a profound eVect in introducing young people to sport and for creating a range of
opportunities for pupils of all standards to take part.

Steve Bell, Partnership Development Manager for the Oakbank Cluster of schools, adds the following:

“The Oakbank School Sport Partnership has now been established since 2001. We are a very
socially diverse partnership, ranging from some of the most socially deprived inner urban areas in
the UK to the more aZuent areas surrounding Ilkley and the Wharfe Valley. What might be termed
the ‘Power of Sport’ is invaluable and extremely powerful in providing the opportunity for
5–18 year olds to participate in a range of meaningful, worthwhile, exciting and sustainable
activities.

The Partnership has a fantastic sporting competition calendar for all ages, sexes and sporting
ability. A wide variety of sports are provided with competitions often held on the site of a local
sports club. This is to encourage youngsters to sustain the particular sport after the competition
has taken place. An excellent recent example of such a sporting pathway provided by the Oakbank
Partnership is the U11 cricket team at Eastwood Primary School. Eastwood is situated in the centre
of Keighley in a deprived area with a very high percentage of ethnic minority households.
Eastwood U11 Cricket Team last summer managed to win their cluster cricket competition. They
went on to win the Partnership final at Keighley Cricket Club beating Ghyll Royd Independent
School from Ilkley in the final! They went on to become Bradford Champions and competed at
Headingley against other Yorkshire district winners.

As the Partnership Manager I presented the trophies, certificates and medals to the successful team
at Eastwood Primary School in front of the whole school. When I asked all the students in
attendance who would like to emulate the success of this team in some sporting activity every hand
in the assembly hall went up. All the students were eager to find out more about local sporting
opportunity and to join in—a good example of the ‘Power of Sport’. I would like to think some
of these students at least may be persuaded and encouraged to participate in sport in the future as
opposed to less socially acceptable activities.

The Oakbank Cluster could provide numerous other examples of the power of sport—certificates
with club information in the back for every student participating in a competition (win, lose or
draw), hundreds and hundreds of hours of out of school clubs run by fully qualified, CRB-checked
coaches targeting hard to reach, semi sporty and talented groups of students, and fantastic sports
volunteering and leadership opportunities for our 5–18 year olds which helps to boost students self
belief and confidence.

The ‘Power of Sport’ is immense and should never be underestimated or undervalued in the
positive development of all our young people.”

That said, the curriculum is tight, in primary and in secondary schools and it is a real eVort to “squeeze”
such initiatives in. There remains a considerable amount of time during the day where youngsters of all ages
“sit”. Added to the fact that so many now travel to school by bus or by car and that we have, in general, a less
active overall culture, this means that the tremendous energy that growing children have at various stages of
their development often has limited opportunity for release.

This is often exacerbated after school where family structures often do not support continued
participation and many children are eVectively left to their own devices.

There is also a clear target group that ranks highly on the “crime” statistics in the form of school-age
children who are either excluded from school or who fail to attend in the first place.

Much work, including diversionary sports related work, is targeted at this particular sector but it is not
necessarily straightforward because it remains important not to be seen to be “rewarding” bad behaviour.
Keighley partnerships have long worked with such young people, including the Police and Keighley Cougars
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RLFC as part of its “PAWS” programme and also concentrated work by PCs Lee Holmes and Glyn
Butterworth over a number of years. Links with Youth Services (who have not necessarily always been seen
to have been wholly eVective in Keighley), Social Services and the Youth OVending Team were formalised
in 2002 via the “Positive Futures” initiative, a national programme run by the Home OYce, Sport England,
Football Foundation and the Youth Justice Board.

Between 2003 and 2006 over 400 young people from the district were classified as “engaged” with the
Positive Futures project, co-ordinated locally by Sue Carter. The participants were predominantly male
(over 70%) with a slight majority of white participants over Asian community participants. Reports on the
project from youngsters, referrers and parents were overwhelmingly positive, with the following from a 15-
year old schoolgirl being quoted in the 2005–06 report:

“Positive (sic) Futures is a really good place to be. You learn something new every day. Claire and
John are really nice people, they help you experience new things every week and boost your self
confidence. They make you feel like a new person. I really enjoyed my self now that I have been
to Positive Futures myself. I know how to ice skate, sail, rock climbing. There are many more
things they do. I don’t think I need Positive Futures any more because before I never had the
chance to learn out of school but now I have. I guess I have only just realised that I need to be in
school. I’m not diVerent to everybody else.”

The same report described the future of the programme as uncertain, with a number of structural barriers
being identified to future progress. Ultimately the funding barrier was fundamental, and the scheme wound
down in 2006 and 2007, it no longer being possible to support Sue’s post.

Concurrent with Positive Futures, the work in schools the other good work around the district at the time,
the sportKeighley partnership was formed (without specific funding or being part of any particular statutory
initiative) to try to align the sporting aims and opportunities between the various sectors in the district. The
general mantra of sportK is that it is “open to everyone” and is in eVect an open partnership to help all sorts
of people from whatever background get involved with sport and physical activity via the (many)
opportunities in the Keighley area. In this sense the approach diVers from what has become the norm in
recent years in that many organisations associated with sport have specific (and often rigid!) remits for
discrete sections of society.

The sportK initiative also set out from the premise that Keighley and its surrounds are a great place to
be! Whilst not being blind to the problems, that include crime and ongoing disorder issues that are perhaps
more acute than other places due to the circumstances referred to above, it is sometimes helpful to remember
that most crime is committed by a relatively small subset of the community and that there are plenty of good
things going on too, in a location that is, via Bronte Country and Ilkley Moor, one of the world’s top tourist
destinations.

The sportK approach recognised that one of the biggest barriers to participation in sport by anybody is
the general sheer ignorance of what is available, followed or reinforced by the fact that many people,
especially non-sporty ones, have fixed perceptions of what any particular activity requires. These perceptions
range from “needing to be good at it” to “having to have the right kit/equipment” to “it’s too expensive”.
Another major barrier is the fact that many people have routines and find these very hard to change. Thus
there are many instances of people saying “I’d like to go/my child to go to karate” but because the nearest
feasible karate class is on a Thursday night and that is the night for scouts, evening class, shift work,
Coronation Street or whatever then it just doesn’t happen. Of course, some of the most vulnerable young
people in terms of potential for crime have parents who simply cannot be bothered.

Travel and transport is obviously an issue for many people but especially for young people who need lifts
or safe alternatives and thus the sportK initiative has placed much emphasis upon transport via the
“Keighley Integrated” initiative, which includes walKways, cyKle, aKtiveHoppa and sKate. These are
successful in terms of highlighting the opportunities and integrating a number of partners and organisations,
but do need mainstreaming in general planning and delivery policy and that is in itself diYcult to do.

Another barrier is and has been the actual reception that people receive when they arrive at an activity.
Dark, dingy, scruVy facilities obviously have an impact, especially on parents. Many people have been put
oV on a first visit by a grumpy caretaker or receptionist, especially those who lack confidence in their “right
to be there” in the first place! Sport (like many other pastimes) is also essentially a social activity (as indeed
is some of the so-called “gang” culture that exists in the area), and much work is currently underway to look
at changing some of the traditional approaches to “sessions” to create “space” for social time as well. This
also depends on suitable facilities and club structures and an increasing awareness of social networking
habits among young people.

These barriers are often amplified for the target groups in question and impact upon the critical factor in
eVective intervention which is of course the ability to make a sustainable diVerence to behaviour. It is fair
to say that mainstream sports activities, clubs, etc. have, at least until recently, not necessarily been wildly
enthusiastic about taking on young people who, despite the inspiration of a Positive Futures experience or
similar, are still a diYcult challenge in terms of behaviour, attitude, commitment and self-discipline.

So what can be done? There is a firm commitment to maintaining the “open to all” approach and making
sure that we can communicate and support all of the activities that are available to all sections of society.
There is a general feeling that it is not good practice to provide facilities/activities for free. Unless people
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value the service and are prepared to pay for it (in one way or another), it will always be doomed to longer
term non-sustainability, and the perpetuation of the vicious cycle whereby the people who should be
delivering the sport or activity spend the bulk of their time applying for further grant funding. In terms of
self-confidence and improving image, it is not helpful that many such funding applications require constant
proof of deprivation and lack of achievement; success often appears not to be rewarded, which is not a
sporting trait!

Examples of local initiatives that have gone on or are underway, in addition to those mentioned
previously, include:

Dare You? This is a programme that looked to help tackle specific (drug) gang culture amongst
young men (initially Asian youths) by looking at image, adrenaline and macho activities and using
as role models some world-class local exponents of such sports that can be done on our doorstep.
Activities have included downhill mountain-biking, cycle trials, martial arts and cage fighting,
climbing and break dancing. The key to this programme was the engagement with the relevant
young people and to this extent and in terms of the success of many of the activities this worked
well. DiYculties involved ensuring continued participation and also the “formality” of activities
which inherently need to be “risky” (in order to fulfil the testosterone/adrenaline needs of the
participants) but to which many institutions and their insurers were immediately averse. There is
much potential in this project but, although funded initially by the Area Committee, it needs to be
much more mainstream to really make a mark.

50 Things to Do in Keighley Before You Die Not an original idea, but designed to steer people to
sports and activities that by and large are already going on in Keighley and district, thus sustaining
both the activities themselves and the opportunities for people to continue to take part in them.
There is a possibility that the programme could be delivered via schools, with the awarding of
recognition of young people doing all 50 things by the time they leave. Again, this will rely on a
mainstream approach to be truly successful, and the willingness of organisations to promote a wide
variety of activities, some of which are inherently risky.

Sporting Chance Being delivered by the Keighley Cougars Community Trust and its partners,
along with a range of initiatives that include the Cougar Pride Education Centre, Street Rugby and
other community activities.

Go Dales An initiative by the Dales National Park to encourage use of the fabulous natural
facilities for a range of activities that lie in the Yorkshire Dales just to the north of Keighley.

Urban Sports Centre, Oakbank This required a considerable amount of negotiation and
partnership working to ensure that such a facility was located at a school site, where it could be
managed and in an area where the bulk of such activity is located, rather than in a remote location
within a park that at some times is simply not accessed by the local enthusiasts.

Red K Adopted in the sportKeighley logo and now by many institutions, initiatives and events in
the town, this is a simple yet eVective way of gradually creating a branding image that is positive
and of which people can be proud. It was chosen originally because it was already on the buses in
the town!

It is emphasised that these are just a selection of the activities, programmes and initiatives that are being
implemented by a wide range of organisations, including the Police, statutory bodies, sports clubs (especially
via NGB Whole Sport Plan funding), youth groups and the like. The eVorts of voluntary bodies such as the
Scouts and Guides as well as interfaith groups should also be recognised.

Will such work reduce crime?

The answer is probably “not on its own” but it will certainly help as part of a co-ordinated approach to
the issues that are highlighted in this short document.

The key is to create the knowledge and confidence to access the available options and to make a positive
lifestyle exciting, cool, challenging and “sexy” enough to be a viable alternative to boredom and crime. In
addition to the challenge of creating such incentives, the co-ordination of such lifestyle initiatives is no mean
target in itself; experience with the sportK partnership, itself deliberately non-constituted, is that partnership
working is only possible if the core objectives of each organisation are being met, often resulting in all sorts
of gaps and overlaps through which many people fall. The need for a simple participation and information
format has long been a priority of sportK and the Active Bradford website (www.activebradford.org.uk) is
a recent step forward in this respect, and this is becoming more comprehensive day by day.

There is also an issue of setting realistic expectations in the young people involved. There is, for most
people, a “glow” that comes from an uplifting and intense experience, one that pretty soon fades when
returning to life’s everyday challenges.

When the schoolgirl above states that she is just like “everybody else” (and this of course is a tremendous
outcome) it is often forgotten that “everybody else”, even in the better oV parts of society, also have their
trials and tribulations and do not spend all their time taking part in adventurous and challenging activities.
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Ice skating, sailing or rock-climbing (the activities that she quotes) are not the cheapest of activities for any
member of society by any stretch of the imagination, especially in terms of travel and equipment required
as well.

Even the sporting experience itself is not without its times of relative “ordinariness”. In order to be able
to do the spectacular or to achieve success, even at a personal level, the sportsman or woman must invest
time, eVort and discipline through training and practice, often when the weather is bad and when they do
not necessarily feel like it. Again, the concept of “getting out only what is put in” needs to be built-in.

There is in a sense here the need to incorporate strongly into programmes the concept of “investment” (of
time, eVort and money) and of “responsibility”—most people have to invest their time and eVorts in order
to create the space and opportunity for doing what they wish to do, and this is especially true of sport where
many people will work all week in order to “get away” at the weekend or on certain evenings in order to
“do their thing”. They will also budget according to their circumstances in order to prioritise such activity
eVectively. This again goes back to the need to resist providing programmes entirely free.

Funding is paramount, but so too is the co-ordination of such funding so that pragmatic and beneficial
programmes with sustainable outcomes are mutually supported and are “built-in” to mainstream services
and thus have long-term prospects. A series of short-term, eVectively “ad-hoc” projects, no matter how
good, cannot seriously expect to fundamentally change the behaviour of existing and future generations.

Specific focus on the relatively small part of the population is obviously necessary in order to change
attitudes, but only in terms of a “contract” to ensure long term participation in activities that are accessible
and viable even without specialist intervention or support. In a more general sense, it is important that the
message that there is “loads to do” and that it is “cool” to do it is disseminated widely and well, especially
to the under 11s and their parents, so that habits start early. There also needs to be careful consideration of
the transition from primary to secondary schools.

This requires new thinking and some longer term commitment in terms of the creation of targets that
actively encourage partnership eVorts, so that measurement of lifestyle changes over a suYciently long
period can be carried out. As stated above, lateral thinking too in terms of the power of social networking
is also required—there is work going on in this respect but it has to move fast to keep up with the young
people who are currently using it!

February 2010

Memorandum submitted by National OVender Management Service

When I appeared before the Home AVairs Select Committee inquiry into Crime Prevention on 19 January,
I was asked to provide the running costs of Category C and Category D establishments.

The direct establishment costs for 2008–09 are:

Category C prison £22,713 per prisoner per annum
Category D prison £19,781 per prisoner per annum (male adult only)
Category D prison £21,848 per prisoner per annum (combined male adult, female, & YOI).

For completeness, figures for all categories are given in Table 1 attached.

The direct establishment cost includes the income and expenditure managed and accounted for at prison
establishment level. If we include other costs met centrally by NOMS, the overall average cost is £41,000 per
prisoner (£3,400 per month); this is not currently broken down by category. In my evidence I said the figure
was less than £40,000, which is no longer the case; the figure for 2007–08 was £39,000 (figures rounded to
nearest £500).

February 2010

Table 1

DIRECT COST PUBLIC & PRIVATE PRISONS—2008/09

(Net)Direct Direct
establishment Direct establishment

Total average resource establishment cost per prisoner
Function name population expenditure cost per prisoner per month

Male category B 4,288 127,272,760 29,683 £2,474
Male category C 23,503 533,815,810 22,713 £1,893
Male dispersal (A) 2,906 155,328,578 53,454 £4,455
Female closed 1,307 55,474,614 42,439 £3,537
Female local 1,926 75,411,724 39,153 £3,263
Female open (D) 191 6,334,267 33,207 £2,767
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(Net)Direct Direct
establishment Direct establishment

Total average resource establishment cost per prisoner
Function name population expenditure cost per prisoner per month

Male closed YOI—Young adults/ 6,875 228,175,383 33,188 £2,766
Young people
Male YOI —Young people 1,442 75,613,346 52,446 £4,370
Male local 30,480 816,149,806 26,776 £2,231
Male open (D) 2,807 55,517,315 19,781 £1,648
Male open YOI (D) 245 8,983,400 36,704 £3,059
Semi open 1,179 31,038,351 26,337 £2,195
Cluster 5,228 114,300,287 21,863 £1,822

0 0 0 £0
Prison Totals: 82,376 £2,283,415,638 £27,720 £2,310

Please note:

1. Displayed figures are subject to rounding.

2. The categories are based on prison establishments and establishments are categorised in these tables by
their main role as at 31.03.09 respectively. Establishments that have more than one role have been placed in
the category that represents the primary or dominant function of the prison. For this reason, each category
can contain a mix of prisoners.

3. The “Net Direct Resource Expenditure” includes costs met locally by the establishments. It does not
include costs met centrally by NOMS (eg. some property costs, central support costs, prisoner transport
service etc).

4. The figures are based on the annual accounts of HMPS Agency or NOMS Agency; they do not include
any expenditure met outside of NOMS, except where income is received by NOMS from the Youth Justice
Board (YJB) for prison places recharged to the YJB, the income is excluded in order to show the gross cost
to NOMS.

5. The figures do not include prisoners held in police and court cells under Operation Safeguard.

6. YOI refers to Young OVender Institutions.

7. Private prisons and public prisons are included. The unit costs are not directly comparable because of
diVerent met hods of financing and diVerent services in scope.

Memorandum submitted by the Youth Justice Board

Further to the evidence I gave to your Committee on 12 January 2010 I would like to provide you with
some additional information and clarification on several points that I raised. For ease of reference I have
included the question number that my comments refer to.

Visit to youth oVending team in Gwent (Q 96)

The member for Monmouth asked me to arrange an unannounced visit to a youth oVending team (YOT)
in the Gwent area. My Head of YJB for Wales has liaised with the relevant local authority on this matter.
The member will be contacted directly to make the arrangements.

Pattern of oVending against age (Q 102)

The OYce for National Statistics’ Focus on Gender series reports that 7% of oVenders sentenced for
criminal oVences in England and Wales in 2006 were aged under 18. Among males the highest rate of
oVending for the most serious (indictable) oVences was among 17-year-olds, while for females it was among
15-year-olds. The following graph clearly demonstrates the pattern of oVending against age and the rapid
decline in oVending rates after the late teenage years.
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The latest Focus on Gender report, published in 2008, is available at http://www.statistics.gov.uk/statbase/
product.asp?vlnk%10923

Number of Youth Rehabilitation Orders (YROs) issued (Q 109)

YROs have been available since 30 November 2009. Data provided to the YJB by YOTs for the period
covering October–December 2009 will be available in the next few weeks and should include the number of
YROs issued since their introduction (subject to completed data being submitted). As the YRO has been
available only for oVences committed on or after 30 November, the number reported for this period is likely
to be relatively low. Also, as this is new data it should be treated as provisional and subject to change. I will
be happy to provide the Committee with this information as soon as it is available.

YJB targets (Q 113)

Reducing reoVending: As Chief Executive of the YJB I am the Senior Responsible OYcer for PSA
23 (Make Communities Safer) indicator 5: Levels of youth reoVending and indicator 6: Youth serious
reoVending.

The MOJ’s 2007 Juvenile ReoVending data reveals that there was a 17.4% reduction in the frequency rate
of youth reoVending between 2000 and 2005. PSA 23 therefore sets a target for a further 10% reduction
against the 2005 baseline by 2011. The 2007 data reports a 7.5% reduction against the 2005 baseline so far,
with data for 2008 due to be published in March 2010.

Frequency of reoffending (per 100 offenders)
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There was a 0.7% fall in the number of oVences classified as most serious (severe) per 100 oVenders
between 2000 and 2005. The current PSA target is for an overall reduction on the 2005 rate. The latest data
shows a reduction of 19.5% between 2005 and 2007.



Processed: 26-03-2010 12:09:25 Page Layout: COENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 442603 Unit: PAG1

Home Affairs Committee: Evidence Ev 127

Serious offences (per 100 offenders)  

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

2000 Q1 2002 Q1 2003 Q1 2004 Q1 2005 Q1 2006 Q1 2007 Q1

First-time entrants to the youth justice system: The YJB also contributes to the PSA 14 (Increase the
number of children and young people on the path to success) indicator on first-time entrants (FTEs) to the
youth justice system.

DCSF national statistics published in November 2009 showed a 21.6% reduction in FTEs in England in
2008–09 compared with 2007–08. The Youth Crime Action Plan set the goal of reducing the rate of first time
entrants by one fifth by 2020.

First-time entrants to the youth justice system have reduced in recent years
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Numbers in custody: There is currently no specific Government target to reduce the number of young
people in custody.

While the YJB has not set itself a specific custody target since 2007–08, “ensuring the safe and eVective
use of custody” is one of the YJB’s four corporate objectives. The last 12 months have seen consistently low
numbers in custody, with the number of under-18s in custody in December 2009 at its lowest point since the
YJB gained responsibility for commissioning secure accommodation for young people in 2000.
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Under 18 Custody Population Trends 2005-06 to 2009-10
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In addition, the YJB sets itself a range of other key deliverables which are reported on in our Corporate
Reports and reviewed quarterly by the YJB Board. Progress against our 2008–09 targets was reported in our
latest Annual Report and Accounts which is available on our website at http://www.yjb.gov.uk/Publications/
Scripts/prodView.asp?idproduct%448&eP

Breakdown of YJB’s prevention budget (Q 117)

The YJB’s prevention budget for 2009–10 is £35.5 million.

Funding is received from the Home OYce (£15 million), Department for Children, Schools and Families
(£6 million) and the Ministry of Justice (£11 million) for YJB crime prevention activities. The Home OYce
has also made £3.5 million available for Preventing Violent Extremism (PVE) funding which is transferred
directly to YOTs.

This budget is allocated into four main streams:

— Direct prevention grants to YOTs % £31.2 million

— Direct PVE grants to YOTs % £3.2 million

— Direct Splash Cymru grants to Welsh YOTs % £0.3 million

— The remaining balance (£0.8 million) used to support programmes and posts supporting
prevention delivery.

The allocation of the YJB’s direct prevention grants to YOTs for 2009–10 is the same as in 2008–09, the
breakdown for which is shown below;

Prevention grants 2008–09

Youth Inclusion Programmes (YIPs) £10.4m
Youth Inclusion and Support Panel (YISPs) £11.4m
Parenting £4.8m
Intensive Supervision Order (ISO) £0.4m
Innovation £0.8m
Safer School Partnership (SSP) £0.2m
Management Information System (MIS) £0.3m
Central Prevention staV £1.3m
Other £1.6m
TOTAL £31.2m

To “match” the funding received by the YJB, YOTs also receive funding from their local authorities for
prevention activities. This funding has grown significantly over the last 10 years, as shown below, resulting
in an expansion of resources available for crime prevention.

2000–01 £5m
2001–02 £7.4m
2002–03 £9m
2003–04 £8m
2004–05 £8m
2005–06 £7.4m
2006–07 £12.4m
2007–08 £15.7m
2008–09 £18m (incomplete figures)
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PSA 14 governance arrangements (Q 120–123)

Please find enclosed a diagram illustrating the governance arrangements of PSA 14 (Increase the number
of children and young people on the path to success) as requested. This includes the oversight of the main
youth crime prevention indicator noted above to reduce the number of first time entrants into the youth
justice system.

I would be happy to provide the Committee with further details about any aspect of our work that may
be helpful. If there is some information that we can provide please do contact me.

February 2010
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Further supplementary memorandum submitted by the Home OYce

This memorandum provides further information on the points raised by HAC during David Hanson’s
oral evidence on 3 February 2010 to the inquiry into “The Government’s Approach to Crime Prevention”.
It also supplements the Home OYce’s written evidence submission of 7 January 2010.

Neighbourhood Watch

1. Background on the membership of Neighbourhood Watch schemes and on Government support for
Neighbourhood Watch are set out at Appendix II of the memorandum of 29 January sent to the Committee
from Joe Tuke, Director, Neighbourhood Crime and Justice Group, in the Home OYce, following Louise
Casey’s oral evidence.

Crimestoppers

2. The Crimestoppers Trust provides a service to all members of the community to enable direct
participation in the reporting and solving of crimes. It operates as a strategic partnership with police,
community and government to meet common goals in building a safer society. Since 2005–06 the Home
OYce has made a £900,000 grant contribution towards the core running costs of the Crimestoppers Trust
to enable it to contribute to the Home OYce crime reduction and community safety objectives. The Charity
has also been (and continues to be) in receipt of additional funding from the Home OYce periodically agreed
for specific projects. We currently provide an additional £85,000 for Crimestoppers to provide extra support
to the 35 CDRP/CSPs who are participating in the Vigilance programme that is tackling burglary and
robbery.

3. Their call centre operation (which is their primary business activity) is delivered in close partnership
with the Police Service and forces make direct service charge payments to the Crimestoppers Bureau. The
service provided to the police forces provided £1.3 million to Crimestoppers in 2008–09. Police forces in
England and Wales also make contributions at a local level for projects; an estimate for 2008–09 is £ 305,000.

4. Further details are available on the Crimestoppers annual report and accounts which are published
annually on their website.

Parenting Orders

5. There is no specific data available which shows the number of parents that have successfully completed
parenting programmes, which can be done either by voluntary co-operation with the agencies outside the
court system or through a parenting order. The Youth Justice Board have data that indicates around 85%
of parents engage on a voluntary basis but data is not collected centrally on the number of programmes
completed.

6. Since April 2000 the Youth Justice Board has collected the number of parenting orders issued by youth
oVending team (YOT) area, as reported to it by YOTs including education-related orders where the YOT
has been involved. Since September 2004, the Department for Children, Schools and Families has collected
data on the number of parenting orders issued in England related to non-attendance of children at school
and exclusion from school at local authority level.

7. The number of parenting orders relating to crime or antisocial behaviour and those relating to
education as reported to the Youth Justice Board by YOT area are shown in the table below (Table 1).
Information showing the number of persons proven at court to have breached a parenting order from
2003 to 2007 (latest available) can be viewed in the second table below (Table 2). It can though be assumed
that a proportion of these will be because they have failed to attend the programmes. However, since the
number of breaches is a tiny fraction of the number or orders made, it may be inferred from this that the
majority of parents co-operate and therefore complete the programme.

Table 1

PARENTING ORDERS BY LEGAL BASIS ENGLAND & WALES YOTS

England and Wales 00-01 01-02 02-03 03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08 Total

Crime 725 807 765 686 979 1,069 1,1014 1,049 7,094
Education 96 276 209 215 237 213 166 230 1,642
Other 158 129 202 197 686
Referral Order 176 183 227 295 881
ASBO 36 33 64 46 179
Sex OVences Prevention Order 0 0 1 0 1
Child Safety Order 0 0 1 0 1
Free Standing—YOT 7 7 16 8 38
Free Standing—LEA 0 0 18 21 39

10,561

* data for Education and Free Standing—LEA categories may not be complete, as YOTs are not always informed of
these Parenting Orders
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Table 2

2NUMBER OF DEFENDANTS PROVEN AT COURT TO HAVE BREACHED A PARENTING
ORDER, UNDER SECTION 9(7) OF THE CRIME & DISORDER ACT 1998, FROM 2003 TO

2007(1)

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

11 20 22 25 31
(1) Every eVort is made to ensure that the figures presented are accurate and
complete. However, it is important to note that these data have been extracted
from large administrative data systems generated by the courts and police
forces. As a consequence, care should be taken to ensure data collection
processes and their inevitable limitations are taken into account when those
data are used.
Source: Justice Statistics Analytical Services—Ministry of Justice. Ref: 555-09

Designing Out Crime

8. The planning system, the building regulatory regime and the Code on Sustainable Homes (the Code)
are all key mechanisms used for delivering designing out crime from places and buildings.

Planning

9. By virtue of s17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, crime prevention and the enhancement of
community safety are already matters that a local planning authority consider when exercising its functions
under planning legislation and crime prevention is a material consideration in the determination of planning
applications. Guidance is set out in a number of Government publications including the joint ODPM (as
was) Home OYce guide: “Safer Places: the planning system and crime prevention”. We are currently
working with the Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment, police, practitioners and
academics on new evidence to inform future guidance on designing out crime.

Building regulations and the Code on Sustainable Homes

10. The Sustainable and Secure Buildings Act 2004 amended the Building Act so that building
regulations can now be made for the purpose of preventing crime. However, rather than propose a new
building regulation for security, CLG opted for a quicker route and included security in the Code. The Code
uses a system of “stars” to communicate the overall performance of a home.

11. Under the Code, builders can gain two credits for meeting security requirements (engaging with a
police specialist crime prevention design advisor—known in some forces as architectural liaison oYcers, and
following their advice on security based on the police Secured By Design guidance).

12. Since June 2008 when detailed information was first collected, consistently over 90% of dwellings
assessed at either the design or the post construction stage have met the security requirements.

13. Currently CLG are consulting on possible changes to the Code—including whether the security
requirements should be made mandatory or whether it would be preferable to remove security from the
Code and potentially introduce new building regulations for security instead. We await the outcome of the
consultation.

Further memorandum submitted by the Youth Justice Board for England and Wales

Introduction

1. The Youth Justice Board for England and Wales (YJB) welcomes the inquiry and the opportunity to
submit written evidence. This submission focuses on measures to prevent youth criminality and youth
reoVending. We would be pleased to provide any further information that may be of assistance.

Background on the Role of the YJB

2. The role of the YJB is to oversee the youth justice system in England and Wales. The statutory
responsibilities of the YJB include:

— Advising Ministers on the operation of, and standards for, the youth justice system

— Monitoring the performance of the youth justice system

— Purchasing secure accommodation places for, and placing, children and young people remanded
or sentenced by the courts to custody

— Identifying and promoting eVective practice

— Making grants to local authorities and other bodies to support the development of eVective
practice
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— Commissioning research and publishing information

4. While the YJB is responsible for overseeing the performance of youth justice services including multi-
agency Youth OVending Teams (YOTs) and secure accommodation providers, YJB does not directly
manage any of the services.

Overarching Approach

4. Central to the YJB’s approach has been to help improve the youth justice system so that it is eVective
at holding young people to account for their actions and protecting the public while at the same time
working with young people to reduce the likelihood of future oVending. As well as supporting reform of the
youth justice system for young people who have oVended the YJB has sought to develop an approach to
the prevention of oVending focusing on targeted work by YOTs and their partners with those young people
in communities identified as at higher risk of being brought into the youth justice system.

5. Overall the YJB is committed to promoting a system that intervenes eVectively before formal
involvement in the criminal justice system through preventative work, during involvement through the
eVective delivery of sentences and after involvement in the criminal justice system through continuing
support and intervention when needed with young people.

6. Drawing on research commissioned early in its development, YJB has taken an approach to prevention
that focuses on the risk and protective factors associated with the onset of oVending and reoVending. The
known individual risk factors can be grouped into four main domains set below.

— Family—poor parental discipline and supervision, conflict, history of criminal activity, parental
attitudes that condone anti-social and criminal behaviour, low income, poor housing

— Education, training and employment—low achievement beginning in primary school, aggressive
behaviour (including bullying), lack of commitment (including truancy), lack of engagement.

— Community—living in a disadvantaged neighbourhood, disorganisation and neglect, availability
of drugs, high population turnover, and lack of neighbourhood attachment.

— Personal—hyperactivity and impulsivity, alienation and lack of social commitment, attitudes that
condone oVending and substance misuse, early involvement in crime and substance misuse,
friendships with peers involved in crime, poor mental health.

7. Longer term sustainable reduction in youth oVending are reliant on local agencies working together
to meet needs based on individual assessment of young people. The key services that are required to both
prevent oVending and reoVending are well established and includes services to engage children and young
people in education, training and employment, appropriate accommodation including supported
accommodation, health and mental health services, substance misuse including alcohol services, and
parenting and family support.

Developments in the Youth Justice System

8. While preventing oVending and reducing re-oVending by children and young people remains a
continuing challenge there have been a number of a major improvements to the youth justice system over
the last ten years as a result of the work of a wide range of partners. YJB continues to work closely with
Government Departments and youth justice services to improve the system including through the work set
out in the Youth Crime Action Plan and the joint YJB-Welsh Assembly Government All Wales Youth
OVending Strategy.

9. National statistics indicate that reductions in the volume of reoVences committed by young people in
the youth justice system have been achieved—the latest data shows that between 2005 and 2007 there was
a 7.5% reduction in the number of reoVences committed. Using a 2000 baseline, the frequency of reoVending
has been significantly reduced, falling by 23.6% between 2000 and 2007.

10. Results from the last spending review period show a 10% reduction in the number of “first time
entrants” coming into the youth justice system according to YOT figures. The most recent figures show over
a 20% reduction in new entrants into the youth justice system in England between 2007-08 and 2008-09.

11. While compared to twenty years ago there has been a significant increase in the use of custody for
children and young people, over the last decade the use of custody for this age range has remained relatively
stable and has not mirrored some of the sharper rises in the adult population. More recently over the last
year there have been reductions in the numbers held in custody and the under 18 custodial population in
November 2009 was at the lowest level for the month of November since 2000.

12. YJB has contributed to a series of reforms over the last 12 years. YJB has supported the rollout and
on-going development of multi-agency YOTs that have been recognised as a successful model of public
service delivery. YOTs have involved community volunteers in their work and also have developed skills to
engage some of the hardest to reach young people.
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13. There has been innovation in developing new models of delivering youth justice services including
targeted prevention programmes (see below), parenting interventions and intensive community
programmes—YJB established the Intensive Surveillance and Supervision Programme (ISSP) as the most
robust form of community penalty, ensuring higher levels of contact for more serious and persistent young
oVenders. In addition, Intensive Fostering is currently being piloted as an additional alternative to custody.

14. The YJB has prioritised work on the key areas of need associated with oVending and reoVending, in
particular education, training and employment, health services and accommodation. While there needs to
be further progress, improvements have been recorded in referral and access to services. YJB has also
supported the professional development of youth justice staV. The YJB established a national approach to
training youth justice managers and practitioners and, in partnership with the Open University, a new youth
justice qualifications framework for youth justice is in place.

14. Alongside this work YJB has led reform of secure accommodation for under 18 year olds remanded
or sentenced by the courts. A more distinct secure estate for children and young people has been established
separate from adults, including new units for girls and young people with higher needs. Standards of care
and regimes have been improved through stronger contractual arrangements with providers and investment
in priority areas such as education and training and substance misuse services.

16. Supporting all this work there has been investment in research and evaluation of projects to improve
understanding of approaches to reduce oVending and reoVending. The YJB uses this to inform its EVective
Practice guidance disseminated to youth justice services.

Preventing Youth Offending

17. As noted, while the focus of the criminal justice system itself is inevitably with young people who have
already oVended YJB has also developed its work to promote interventions with young people at high risk
but who have not yet entered the criminal justice system. Drawing on the available evidence and existing
innovation in the third sector YJB has developed a range of youth crime programmes including Youth
Inclusion Programmes, Youth Inclusion and Support Panels, Parenting Programmes and Safer Schools
Partnerships. Brief details of the programmes are in Appendix A below. These programmes which have been
evaluated are now well developed in many areas and support national and local strategies to preventing
young people entering the criminal justice system—in support of the Government’s PSA 14 (Children and
Young People on the Path to Success) and the All Wales Youth OVending Strategy.

18. Over time YJB has developed a programme methodology and guidance to support these programmes.
At the core of the approach is good quality assessment of young people at risk, multi-agency identification
and co-operation and seeking to ensure young people are re-engaged in mainstream and specialist services
that can improve life chances and reduce the risk of oVending.

19. A significant expansion in funding for targeted prevention programmes was made available from
Government Departments following 2005-06 allowing the YJB for the first time to allocate some prevention
funding to all YOTs in England and Wales. YOTs submitted plans to the YJB for use of the funding choosing
from a “menu” of evidence-based programmes. These YOT plans had to be signed oV locally including both
children’s service and crime reduction partners helping to promote local co-ordination of preventative
services and the YJB’s investment in YOT delivered prevention programmes has drawn in local partnership
funding on top of the national funding.

20. Among the factors that have contributed to the successful delivery of programmes have been the
involvement of the third sector and the existence of a number of dynamic local managers who are skilled at
winning local support through force of personality, sheer persistence and a strong belief in the task.

21. The Government’s Youth Crime Action Plan (YCAP) published in 2008 has further developed
preventative work and many YOTs have been involved directly in the delivery of additional services working
with young people and families. The publication of the YCAP announced more targeting, introduced a
range of enforcement and early intervention initiatives, and linked to key developments that are important
to the prevention agenda—for example neighbourhood policing. Key initiatives include Operation Staysafe
and Triage (YOT workers located in police custody suites to ensure assessment and intervention of young
people starts at the earliest point from arrest) and the further promotion of Safer School Partnerships,
Family Intervention Programmes (FIP) and an increased focus on parenting support. New programmes are
benefiting from existing YJB and YOT developed prevention infrastructure and systems, such as the YJB’s
Onset assessment tool.

22. It is important that youth crime prevention is embedded as part of broader local strategies to prevent
poor outcomes for young people drawing together crime reduction and children’s services at the local level.
The developing role of Children’s Trusts and Targeted Youth Support in England are important in helping
young people to access services. YJB believes that targeted youth crime programmes continue to have a place
as part of a wider spectrum of local preventative services so that some of the most challenging and challenged
young people in communities on the cusp of being drawn into oVending are successfully identified and
engaged. YOTs continue to be well placed to work with both children’s services and crime reduction partners
to ensure local co-ordination and focus on this group of young people.
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Reducing Reoffending

23. Reducing reoVending is at the core of the work of the YJB and the youth justice system. As noted
above YJB has been involved in a range of initiatives to develop the eVectiveness of the system to not only
hold young people to account when they have oVended but to help reduce the likelihood of oVending by
addressing any underlying causes associated with that oVending.

24. The available evidence suggests that eVective interventions rely on a high quality “multi-modal”
approach, i.e. working on a range of identified risk and protective factors in young people’s lives. Three key
elements identified that can reduce their likelihood of re-oVending are the provision of accommodation that
is stable, secure and sustained; engagement in education, training or employment and the existence of
positive adult role models. It is also the case that young people at the greatest likelihood of oVending require
higher levels of intervention than those at lower likelihood of oVending.

25. Interventions designed to support young people and their families (such as intensive fostering and
parenting support) and those engaging young people in education, training or employment are likely to be
particularly eVective. OVending behaviour programmes, particularly those with a cognitive behavioural
(changing thinking and behaviour) basis, are important, but less eVective on their own i.e. if not also working
with the child and family on resolving wider issues in their lives.

26. The availability of skilled, committed staV who like working with young people, is a key factor in the
delivery of eVective interventions, as is the quality and durability of the relationships with young people—
so as to encourage and support change, especially under the most adverse circumstances when likelihood of
reoVending is highest.

27. The YJB’s eVective practice framework centres on a systemic and ongoing review of research in key
areas of practice that drive interventions. This is encapsulated by the YJB’s “Key Elements of EVective
Practice” (KEEPs). The elements of practice covered by the guidance include ‘Engaging Young People’,
‘Education, Training and Employment’, ‘OVending Behaviour Programmes’, ‘Substance Misuse’ and
‘Assessment, Planning Interventions and Supervision’. Together with the National Standards for Youth
Justice and new Case Management Guidance these form the basis for the local delivery of work with young
people who oVend.

28. The YJB is responsible for leading on the delivery of the reducing youth reoVending elements of the
Government PSA 23 Make Communities Safer. As part of this it has drawn up a cross-government delivery
plan. Key strands of the work include continuing to develop and disseminate eVective and emerging practice
and supporting the professional development of the youth justice sector; overseeing the implementation of
its new Scaled Approach programme (a programme to ensure that YOT interventions more closely meet the
assessed risks of reoVending of individual young people); continuing support on the proper compliance and
enforcement of court orders; and improving access to mainstream and specialist services that can help reduce
the risk of reoVending. As part of its work the YJB oversees the performance of YOTs and has developed a
new framework aligned with the wider local government performance frameworks in England and in Wales.

29. YJB is also supporting work on developing out of court disposals for young people including the
recent piloting of the Youth Restorative Disposal (YRD) that seeks to use restorative justice interventions
to respond to low level oVending in a speedy and proportionate way while maintaining the confidence of
victims.

30. As part of the overall approach to reoVending YJB is also taking forward the Youth Crime Action
Plan proposals for the development of resettlement services for young people leaving custody. This includes
the development of two regional Resettlement Consortia pilots designed to promote greater co-ordination
between individual secure establishments and the community services in their area.

31. As part of its work YJB is exploring how the role of local authorities in preventing oVending and
reoVending can be developed further. The YJB has said that in principle it favours improving financial
incentives and promoting justice reinvestment using the budget available for custody. Currently there are
not direct financial rewards for local areas from helping to reduce the use of custody as the budget is held
centrally. YJB has been consulting informally with local government and other stakeholders on the potential
for justice reinvestment models. Any further consultation will be subject to consideration by Ministers of
the potential for taking this forward.

Conclusion

32. The YJB’s objectives are working with partners to achieve a continuing reduction in first time entrants
to the youth justice system; a continuing reduction in the frequency and seriousness of re-oVending; and
improving victim and public confidence in the youth justice system. Overall, YJB is committed to balancing
the need for confidence of the courts, police and public with a continuing focus on meeting welfare and wider
needs of young people.

33. EVective early intervention is clearly in everyone’s interests and, as part of a wider approach to
promoting positive outcomes for young people, targeted youth crime prevention programmes have an
important role to play and promising models of intervention exist. There has been significant progress in the
youth justice system over the last ten years but clearly there is more to do and real opportunities to develop
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the eVectiveness of the system further including building on the Youth Crime Action Plan. Ultimately
eVective intervention with young people is a preventative system for the adult criminal justice system and
successful intervention potentially has a very long term impact.

Appendix A

YJB supported Targeted Youth Crime Prevention Initiatives

Youth Inclusion (YIP)

1. YIP was developed from early work on the “Youth Works Plus” model initiated by the third sector
organisations Crime Concern (now Catch 22) and Groundwork. The programme was a significant departure
from generic youth work, as it is more focused—both geographically and in the young people it engages—
focusing on a core group of young people who are locally identified as the most likely to oVend in a defined
neighbourhood

2. YIP (13-17) and Junior YIP (8-13) focus on a core group of young people at high risk of oVending or
who have already begun to oVend, and a wider group of young people at general risk. YIP is based on multi-
agency identification and persistent attempts at engagement. There are now estimated to be over 130 projects
in England and Wales.

3. The independent evaluation of the programme has identified that those engaged by it have lower rates
of arrest than those not engaged and the second phase of the evaluation found that YIP exceeded their target
on the level of engagement of the “core 50” most challenging young people identified in their project area.

Youth Inclusion and Support Panels (YISPs)
YISPs aim to prevent anti-social behaviour and offending by children and young people who are
considered to be at high risk of offending. YISPs differ from YIPs in their primary purpose i.e. they
are designed as panels rather than projects that deliver services, but some do have commissioning
budgets and can operate in a similar way to YIP. Panels are made up of a number of representatives
of different agencies including police, schools, health and children’s services, aiming to identify
and then plan interventions and support for young people at the earliest opportunity. YISP panels
have become an integrated part of systems to deal with anti-social behaviour in particular.
Parenting support—in the form of contracts and programmes—can also be offered as part of a
range of interventions. There are now more than 200 panels in England and Wales.

Parenting Programmes

5. The YJB has invested in developing parenting intervention capacity to ensure a whole family approach
to young people at risk of oVending or in the youth justice system. Funding and support have been provided
since 2000 and voluntary (through support and contracts) and compulsory (through orders) parenting
intervention work is now a common among YOTs.

6. The YJB’s evaluation in 2002 of its Development Fund parenting programmes found a reduction in
the levels of oVending from 4.4 oVences per young person before parenting interventions were delivered to
2.1 afterwards. Although the study observed a reduction in oVending, the lack of a comparison group meant
that this could not be directly attributed to parenting programmes.

7. The YJB’s experience in funding and supporting parenting programmes has contributed to the
production of the Key Elements of EVective Practice (KEEP) on parenting published in 2008.

Safer School Partnerships (SSP)

8. SSP grew from joint YJB and ACPO work to develop a new policing model for schools and its further
development is now shared by YJB, DCSF, the Home OYce and ACPO. Launched in September 2002, SSP
initially provided a focused approach to address the high level of crime and anti-social behaviour committed
in and around schools in some areas. Broader benefits have since been recognised, including improved
community cohesion and a stronger sense of citizenship among children. A dedicated school-based oYcer
works within a school or a collection or schools with staV and other local agencies. Police Community
Support OYcers are also in schools. Addressing bullying, conflict resolution, and mediation are major
components. Over 450 Safer School Partnerships exist. The Youth Crime Action Plan committed to the
expansion of SSPs, which the YJB is supporting.

Memorandum submitted by the Department for Transport

To reduce fraudulent trade in number plates, DVLA operates the Register of Number Plate Suppliers
(RNPS). All suppliers in the UK must register with DVLA, conduct checks before supplying number plates,
and keep records for inspection by DVLA. Customers purchasing number plates are required to provide
documentary evidence of identity and of entitlement to the registration mark (eg a V5C Vehicle Registration
Certificate also known as a logbook). DVLA RNPS enforcement oYcers work with police colleagues and
Trading Standards oYcers to carry out targeted enforcement against suppliers who may be supplying
number plates illegally. Prosecutions are taken forward to tackle abuse of the rules and to deter the supply
of non-compliant number plates.
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In addition, to reduce number plate thefts DVLA has endorsed a voluntary standard for anti-theft
number plates that cannot be removed in a useable condition. We encourage motorists to have anti-theft
plates fitted as a sensible precaution against vehicle cloning, but in the end the extra expense that this entails
should be a decision for them.

The Jill Dando Institute published a report in 2002 on the UK’s vehicle registration system. One of its 11
recommendations was that the Government should plan to introduce Electronic Vehicle Identification (EVI)
by 2007. Contrary to Professor Laycock’s claim, the Government never undertook to introduce EVI by this
or any other date, but did agree to consider the recommendation and related technical, legal and privacy
issues, as well as the cost of any implementation.

A trial of electronic number plates was conducted by DVLA in 2006, which demonstrated that microchip
technology could be deployed successfully to identify vehicles in traYc. My Department has also been
involved in the development of a European standard for EVI. This has led to the publication of a basic
standard by ISO and a fully featured (4 parts) standard is expected to be published shortly.

DVLA has also conducted a study into the feasibility of using Electronic Vehicle Identification (EVI) for
motorcycles as a supplement to Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) cameras. The study focused
on establishing whether ANPR cameras identify motorcycles as eVectively as other vehicles and whether
EVI could help to address any known diYculties. It also examined the technical and economic implications.

The study concluded that EVI was not justified solely for the identification of motorcycles and would need
to be considered in the wider context of road traYc management.

In conclusion, we have no current plans to introduce EVI in the UK. TfL congestion charge figures show
that around 3 vehicles in every 1000 have forged or stolen plates, which suggests a fairly low level of non-
compliance. We will of course keep this under review.

February 2010

Supplementary memorandum submitted by the Ministry of Justice

When giving evidence to the Home AVairs Select Committee inquiry into the Government’s approach to
Crime Prevention on Tuesday 9 February I agreed to send the Committee some further information on how
many oVenders subject to Community Sentences received a custodial sentence for breaching their order in
each of the last 5 years and what percentage of eligible oVenders breached their licence or community
sentence for each of the last 5 years. The tables presented in the attached annex provide these statistics.

Community orders are rigorously enforced and we have seen increased compliance by oVenders with the
terms of their order or licence- in 2007/08, the measured level of compliance was 72%, this increased to 75%
in 2008/09. EVective enforcement of orders and licences ensures that we are reducing the number of
reoVences committed and reducing risk to the public.

OVenders on licence are recalled when they do not comply with the conditions of their licence or when
they present risks to the public which cannot be managed in the community. It is perfectly appropriate that
action should be taken to return oVenders to custody in these circumstances. We have seen very marked
improvements in probation performance on enforcement when it is necessary to take action. In 2001/02, 53%
of breaches and recalls were dealt within accordance with National Standards. This means that breaches
were listed in court within 10 working days of the actual breach occurring or for licence recalls the request
was lodged with the Recall Section within 24 hours of the breach occurring; in 2008/09 this increased to 95%.

As I said in my evidence session through the eVective enforcement of sentences which act to both punish
and help reform the oVender, we have seen crime drop by over a third since 1997 and the frequency of adult
and youth reoVending faIl 20.3% and 23/6% respectively between 2000 and 2007. We are making good
progress against our targets and we remain committed to building on this work to reduce crime and
reoVending even further.

Receptions into Prison for Breach of Community Sentence 2004 to 2008

YEAR 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Number of prison receptions for breach of a
community sentence 3378 3780 4218 4331 4429
Percentage of total prison receptions 36 4.2 48 48 4.5

The table above is drawn from Table 714 of OVender Management Caseload Statistics (OMCS) 2006 and
from Table 6.12 of OMCS for 2007 and 2008. For 2004 and 2005 some further analysis was required to
obtain the data requested which is consistent with the total number of breach receptions in Table 7.14 of
OMCS for those years. Data for 2009 are due to be published on 30 July2010. The OMCS publications can
be found on the Ministry of Justice website: http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/
prisonandprobation.htm
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Percentage of licences and community orders where breach did not occur
Compliance: Community Orders and Licences Supervised by the National Probation Service

Compliance1

Community Licences Total Target2

Orders

2005-06 65% 92% 70% —
2006-07 67% 91% 72% 70%
2007-08 67% 91% 72% 70%
2008-09 71% 93% 75% —
2009-10 (Apr to Dec) 74% 94% 78% —

1A compliant case is defined as one in which there has been no second unacceptable failure to comply with
an order on the part of the oVender in the period up to the point of monitoring (or no third unacceptable
failure in licence cases).

2Reverted to Performance Indicator status from 2008-09 onwards.

These figures are produced from data returned by the 42 probation areas as part of monthly monitoring
of National Standards. Cases are monitored on a 20% sample asis at the six months stage

March 2010
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